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The Struggle for Iran

The struggle of the Global South for political, economic, and cultural inde
pendence was a defining feature of the post–World War II world, rivaling if 
not surpassing the Cold War in importance.1 Though often treated sepa-
rately from the Cold War, the fight against foreign domination of the Global 
South was an integral part of a larger geopolitical struggle that included 
balance of power concerns, an arms race, and economic and ideological con-
flicts.2 Control of what was then called the Third World, in particular its 
raw materials and strategic locations, had a significant impact on the global 
balance of power, as well as efforts to rebuild and reform the global econ-
omy following the Great Depression and World War II.3 Efforts by nations 
and movements in the Global South to end external dominance deeply af-
fected the United States and its allies, producing conflicts that often allied 
national liberation movements with the Soviet Union or China and ran 
counter to Western capitalist control of the global economy.4 The postwar 
period witnessed the rapid transformation of the global energy economy, 
as oil became the industrialized world’s most important energy source.5 
The importance of oil to modern warfare and its growing importance in the 
world economy, coupled with the uneven distribution of world oil reserves 
and the domination of Anglo-American companies, ensured that the con-
trol of oil supplies and markets would be an important source of conflict in 
international relations.6 Finally, the struggle against foreign domination was 
intertwined with challenges to political structures in Third World societies, 
as imperial powers including the United States often exerted influence or 
exercised control through local elites.

The origins, course, and outcome of the Iranian oil crisis of 1951–54 pro-
vide important insights into the processes that shaped the postwar world. In 
the spring of 1951, Iran’s parliament, the Majlis, passed legislation national-
izing the country’s British-owned oil industry. Newly elected Prime Minis-
ter Mohammed Mosaddeq, an immensely popular nationalist committed 
to governing according to Iran’s constitution, hoped that nationalization 
would free Iran from the intrigues of foreign powers and allow the nation 
to liberalize its political system by reducing the power and prerogatives of 
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the shah, the country’s monarch, and those of the ruling aristocratic elite. 
The Iranian action triggered an international crisis that both reflected 
and shaped the dynamics of international relations in the early Cold War. 
Fearing the loss of their most valuable overseas asset, the British rejected the 
nationalization and, together with the major Western oil companies and 
the tacit support of the U.S. government, enforced a boycott of Iranian oil 
to drive Mosaddeq from power.

Concerned that tension between Iran and Britain could lead to conflict 
and turmoil in the middle of the Korean War, the United States attempted 
to mediate a solution that would recognize the principle of nationalization 
but preserve Western corporate control over Iranian oil. Over time, Ameri-
can policymakers grew worried that pressure from the boycott and grow-
ing political instability within Iran caused by opposition to Mosaddeq’s 
efforts to enact social, political, and economic reforms would lead to eco-
nomic and political collapse and eventually communist control. In early 
spring 1953, the Eisenhower administration concluded that Mosaddeq would 
never agree to an oil settlement that preserved Western control over Ira
nian oil. The United States also believed that his reform efforts were un-
dermining the power of the monarchy, which U.S. policymakers viewed as 
the chief guarantor of Western interests in Iran. These conclusions con-
vinced U.S. officials to support a coup d’état to remove Mosaddeq.

On 19 August 1953, a coup d’état carried out by the Iranian military 
and local elites and organized, financed, and directed by the United States and 
Great Britain overthrew Mosaddeq and replaced him with a new govern-
ment led by Fazlollah Zahedi and Mohammed Reza Pahlavi, the shah of 
Iran. The following year, Iran signed a deal with a consortium of major oil 
companies that returned the nationalized oil industry to foreign control. To 
ensure passage of the agreement and the survival of the new government, 
the United States provided Iran with financial and military assistance and 
supported the shah’s efforts to establish a royal autocracy. The Anglo-
American intervention not only reversed nationalization but also ended 
Iran’s efforts to establish a secular, nationalist, and constitutional govern-
ment. In the wake of the coup, Iran became an authoritarian state supported 
and shaped by revenues from oil and gas exports.

Sources and Limits

Understanding the Iranian oil crisis has been hampered for years by an un-
usual combination of too many and too few primary sources. The volume 
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of documents in the United Kingdom National Archives on the Iranian oil 
crisis and related matters is gargantuan, but the British government has re-
fused to declassify documents pertaining to the activities of its intelligence 
service. Similarly, the National Archives of the United States contains a 
wealth of documents on the crisis housed within several collections, and 
there are key documents in the Truman and Eisenhower presidential li
braries. Large numbers of documents, especially those related to intelligence 
matters, remain classified or are otherwise unavailable, however. The rec
ords of the Anglo-Iranian Oil Company (AIOC, later renamed British Petro-
leum or BP), housed at the BP Archive at the University of Warwick, are 
available to researchers. Although archives in Iran are open to researchers, 
they can be difficult to access. Sources available outside of Iran include 
interviews with relevant figures and memoirs, both of which can be inac-
curate and misleading. Soviet records on the crisis have only recently become 
available.7

In 1989, the U.S. State Department’s Office of the Historian published a 
volume on the Iranian crisis in its venerable Foreign Relations of the United 
States series.8 Though a valuable source of information for scholars study-
ing the crisis, the volume was misleading because the State Department se-
lectively censored its contents to downplay the U.S. role in Iranian politics 
and to avoid any mention of U.S. participation in the removal of Mosaddeq. 
The outcry over the omissions inspired Congress to pass new legislation 
mandating declassification of most government records regarding foreign 
policy within thirty years and specifying standards and processes to accom-
plish this goal.9 In addition, the State Department promised to release a 
“retrospective” volume that would fill the gaps in the 1989 publication. De-
lays, both procedural and political, prevented publication of the volume 
until the summer of 2017. Prior to this release, the main sources from which 
historians could draw substantive evidence on U.S. covert actions were a 
secret Central Intelligence Agency internal history written in 1954 and 
leaked to the New York Times in 2000; unofficial accounts from interviews 
and memoirs; and whatever could be gleaned from the first Foreign Rela-
tions volume, the National Archives in College Park, Maryland, and various 
archival collections.10

The release of the retrospective Foreign Relations volume in 2017 pro-
vided an opportunity to gain a fuller understanding of the oil crisis and 
coup. The volume includes almost 1,000 pages of previously classified ma-
terial related to U.S. policy in Iran from 1951 to 1954, including records on 
CIA operations surrounding the oil crisis, the 1953 coup d’état, and the coup’s 



4 The Struggle for Iran

aftermath.11 The new volume focused on intelligence matters and directed 
scholars to the 1989 volume for coverage of oil matters.12 Although very 
valuable, it is still an incomplete account.13 According to CIA Deputy Direc-
tor Frank Wisner, the operation to remove Mosaddeq produced an “excep-
tionally heavy volume of traffic.” 14 Unfortunately, many of the CIA’s records 
were apparently destroyed in the early 1960s during an “office purge” when 
the agency’s Near East division moved into new headquarters.15 Neverthe-
less, the newly declassified documents from the Foreign Relations volume, 
as well as other material obtained by the National Security Archive based 
at George Washington University in Washington, D.C., have greatly ex-
panded the available source base.16

This study reexamines the crisis in the light of new evidence and places 
it in the broader historical context of the global Cold War, the fight for con-
trol of the natural resources of the Global South, and the struggle over the 
political future of Iran. It draws on new material, four decades of research 
in U.S. and British archives, interviews with former American and British 
officials, oral history interviews conducted by other scholars, and a broad 
range of scholarly studies on the crisis, the global oil industry, the Cold War, 
U.S. and British foreign policy, and Iranian history.17 The internal CIA his-
tory of the coup by Donald Wilber is very informative on the background 
of the coup and a useful corrective to high-ranking CIA official Kermit Roo
sevelt’s 1979 book, Countercoup, which is so full of errors, distortions, and 
misrepresentations that it has been called “essentially a work of fiction.” 18 
There are many valuable books and articles on the Iranian oil crisis and 
coup of August 1953, though most were written before crucial documents 
became available. Although access to Iranian archives was not possible, this 
study addresses this gap by drawing on Persian-language sources available 
in the United States, including memoirs and interviews held by the Foun-
dation for Iranian Studies (FIS) and Harvard Iranian Oral History Project 
(HIOHP) collections.

Approach and Argument

The Iranian crisis involved a host of actors, including the U.S., British, and 
Iranian governments, non-state actors such as major oil companies, inter-
national institutions such as the World Bank, and political actors inside 
Iran. Understanding the crisis requires a multilingual and multi-archival 
approach, representative of the international turn in diplomatic history, 
and careful attention to political economy as well as diplomatic and military 
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issues.19 While it is necessary to recognize the importance of the Cold War to 
the origins, course, and outcome of the Iranian crisis, it is critical to view the 
superpower struggle within the broader context of changes in the postwar 
political economy. Rather than focusing on any single factor, this study 
examines the interaction of a wide range of issues relating to geopolitics, 
political economy (both international and domestic), political developments 
in the Global South, and the rising importance of oil to the global political 
and economic order.20

Locating the Iranian oil crisis in the context of the early Cold War, espe-
cially the growing militarization of the conflict after 1949 and the outbreak 
of war on the Korean peninsula in 1950, remains crucial.21 This period was 
one of heightened tensions, as the United States became more concerned 
about the possible threat of communism in the Global South and expanded 
its involvement in regional affairs, including in the Middle East, hitherto a 
British sphere of influence. The crisis should also be analyzed in the con-
text of movements against European colonialism and domination, includ-
ing the political struggle in Iran against foreign influence and authoritarian 
rule; efforts by the United States, Great Britain, and the major international 
oil companies to maintain control of the oil resources of the Global South; 
and the decline of Great Britain as an imperial power in the postwar Middle 
East.22

The Cold War involved not only Soviet-American military and political 
competition but also competition for control of resources and strategic lo-
cations in the Global South. This competition extended into the sphere of 
local politics, with the United States and its allies “backing elites” who were 
willing to concede control over resources in exchange for external support. 
Following World War II, a privately controlled but government-supported 
petroleum order emerged. By 1951, seven major international oil companies, 
later named the “Seven Sisters” by Italian oilman Enrico Mattei, maintained 
a dominant position in the world’s primary oil-producing regions outside 
the United States and the Soviet Union. They managed the production, re-
fining, and distribution of oil on a global scale, ensuring the flow of oil to 
markets in Western Europe and Japan.23 Although the United States re-
mained the world’s leading major oil producer by a large margin, it still 
sought to control access to Middle East and Latin American oil to facilitate 
the rapid reconstruction of war-torn Western Europe and Japan while de-
nying those resources to the Soviet Union.24 Mosaddeq’s nationalization con-
stituted a threat to the stability of the postwar petroleum order. Were he to 
succeed, other oil-producing states such as Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Iraq, or 
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Venezuela might follow Iran’s example and wrest control of oil from West-
ern corporations.

While the United States was concerned about communism—a concern 
that is immediately evident in the documentary record—policy toward Iran 
was also heavily affected by the desire to control Iranian oil. Throughout 
the crisis, the United States focused on preventing the “loss” of Iran to com-
munism either through Soviet military intervention or internal subversion. 
U.S. officials feared that if the Soviets gained control of Iran, they would 
threaten the security of the Persian Gulf and important U.S. economic and 
security interests in the region. Soviet control of Iran would not only pro-
vide the United States’ chief adversary with Iran’s oil resources at a time 
when the Soviet oil industry had still not recovered fully from the damage of 
World War II; it would also place Soviet forces on the Persian Gulf, where 
they could threaten Western control of the rest of the region’s oil. Loss of 
Iranian oil would retard European and Japanese recovery and impose se-
vere financial hardships on Great Britain, which was deeply dependent on 
foreign exchange earnings from the sale of Middle East oil priced in ster-
ling. Loss of Middle East oil would make the Western rearmament program 
impossible and would disrupt Europe’s economy, which was in the process 
of moving toward a greater dependence on petroleum.25 Finally, the United 
States worried that Iran would “collapse” into internal instability and even-
tually communist rule if it did not receive high levels of revenue from oil 
exports that could fund programs of economic development and reform. 
From this perspective, the flow of Iranian oil, both to meet Western needs 
and to ensure a sound financial basis for Iran’s government, was a key factor 
in maintaining Iran’s pro-Western strategic alignment. Oil and communism 
were closely linked in the U.S. official mind.26

U.S. policymakers believed that Iran was a key objective of Soviet expan-
sion and tended to exaggerate the threat of a pro-Soviet government com-
ing to power. Many officials including President Harry S. Truman initially 
viewed the Korean War as a diversion to mask Soviet aggression elsewhere, 
including an invasion of Iran.27 Although the Soviets had precipitated a cri-
sis in Iran in 1945–46 by refusing to withdraw their forces until Iran granted 
them an oil concession, Soviet foreign policy in 1951 was focused on Eastern 
Europe, Germany, the arms race, China, and the war in Korea.28 In addition 
to the external threat of Soviet invasion, the United States was concerned 
about the possibility of the Tudeh, Iran’s domestic communist party, seizing 
power. The Tudeh had around 20,000 members. It was the only organized 
political party in Iran and was able to stage large demonstrations in Tehran 
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and other major cities. While aligned with the Soviet Union and opposed to 
British and American influence inside Iran, the Tudeh did not support Mo-
saddeq’s National Front coalition, and the two only grew closer in 1953, by 
which point the United States had already set in motion plans to unseat Mo-
saddeq through covert action.29 At no point during the crisis did U.S. intelli-
gence officials believe the Tudeh was capable of seizing power, though that 
did not stop senior policymakers from worrying that an internal crisis might 
occur and allow for a communist takeover.30

British policy during the crisis was closely linked to economic interests. 
AIOC’s operations in Iran, especially the massive refinery at Abadan, were 
crucial to Britain’s balance of payments and aspirations to maintain sterling 
as a reserve currency, which were key components in British hopes of re-
maining a great power. Overseas investments played an important role in 
propping up the British economy and buttressing postwar economic recov-
ery.31 Oil nationalization threatened these interests. Sir Peter Ramsbotham, 
who worked on oil matters at the Foreign Office in this period, pointed out 
in a 1991 interview that British officials feared the loss of Iranian oil revenues 
would be a greater blow to the empire than Indian independence. “Abadan,” 
he observed, was “the real end of empire.” 32 The British were keenly aware 
that decisive action in Iran would not be possible without American coop-
eration and were concerned about the possibility of unilateral U.S. actions 
that went against British interests. Throughout the crisis, both the Labour 
government of Clement Attlee and the Conservative government of Winston 
Churchill worked hard to retain U.S. support.33

Although the U.S. and British governments were both determined to de-
feat nationalization, their views on how to respond to the crisis differed, as 
did their tactics for resolving it. Nevertheless, geopolitical concerns made 
the United States reluctant to pursue policies Britain opposed. Close coop-
eration with Britain was a cornerstone of U.S. foreign policy, especially in 
the Middle East, an area considered to be a British political and military 
responsibility. With its own resources stretched thin, the United States had 
to depend on British support throughout the world, which affected calcula-
tions regarding the Anglo-Iranian oil dispute. As President Truman noted 
in a letter to ex-Ambassador to Iran Henry F. Grady: “We had Israel, Egypt, 
near east defense, Sudan, South Africa, Tunisia, the NATO treaties all on 
fire. Britain and the Commonwealth nations were and are absolutely essen-
tial if these things are successful. Then on top of it all we have Korea and 
Indochina. Iran was only one incident.” 34 Similarly, President Eisenhower 
noted in a National Security Council meeting in March 1953 that while the 
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United States should do what it thought necessary to prevent the loss of 
Iran, “we certainly don’t want a break with the British.” 35 Though the 
crisis strained the Anglo-American relationship, on the key issue of control 
of Iran’s oil, the United States sided with Britain over Iran.

It is impossible to understand the crisis without a firm understanding of 
internal dynamics in Iran. Oil was an issue of immense political and eco-
nomic importance, and historians of modern Iran have long regarded the na-
tionalization period as a pivotal chapter in Iran’s progression through the 
twentieth century. A secular nationalist prime minister who came to power 
supported by a popular mandate, Mohammed Mosaddeq wanted to return to 
the provisions of the 1906 constitution that vested power in the legislature 
and relegated the shah to the role of a constitutional monarch who reigned, 
rather than ruled. The rise of the National Front, Mosaddeq’s political 
coalition, represented a shift away from authoritarianism, empowering Iran’s 
parliament and its rising middle class rather than the traditional centers of 
power such as the shah, the military, the landowning aristocracy, and wealthy 
merchants. Nationalization of the British-owned oil industry not only sym-
bolized Iran’s escape from foreign influence; it was also a movement to re-
store constitutional government, born out of the brief liberal renaissance Iran 
experienced during the 1940s. In the summer of 1953, his popular mandate 
strained by the years-long oil crisis, Mosaddeq adopted undemocratic meth-
ods to retain power in the face of efforts by his domestic opponents and for-
eign powers to overthrow him. His constitutional experiment came to an end 
through the Anglo-American intervention of August 1953 and the rise of an 
authoritarian regime led by the shah and backed by the United States.36

U.S. and British officials feared that democracy in Iran would imperil 
Western strategic and economic interests and preferred an authoritarian 
monarchy based on military power to representative government. Cultural 
prejudices mattered as well. Many U.S. and British officials looked upon 
Iran, as they did other non-European countries and peoples, with an atti-
tude of superiority, affected by notions of Iranian incompetence, irratio-
nality, and vulnerability.37 Mosaddeq appeared to many U.S. and British 
officials to be an absurd figure, and they often described him in feminine 
terms emphasizing his apparent emotionalism.38 Noted  U.S. diplomat 
George F. Kennan shared these views and argued in a 23 January 1952 let-
ter to Secretary of State Acheson and State Department Counselor Charles E. 
Bohlen that Iranian nationalism was immature and fanatical. Like Soviet 
communism, it was “by nature hostile” to the United States and “incapa-
ble of contributing anything positive to the type of world we must back.” 
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Facilities and positions like Abadan and Suez were “strategic assets not 
[for] ourselves alone but [for] the entire Western world,” and the United 
States should not hesitate to use military force to retain control of them.39 
Similarly, a widely distributed report from John Stutesman, counselor at 
the embassy in Tehran until March 1952, focused on Mosaddeq’s alleged 
demagoguery and the “immaturity” of the Iranian people, characterized by 
“peculiar national vanity and political irresponsibility.” Stutesman drew 
connections between the National Front and other “fervent, though usually 
ill-defined, nationalist sentiments in Asia.” 40 British attitudes were even 
more contemptuous and self-serving.

Iran was not an aberration, but rather was typical of U.S. and Western 
policy toward Third World nationalism during the Cold War.41 Fearing that 
nationalist governments might fall to communist influence, the United 
States tended to back right-wing, authoritarian governments that were both 
anti-communist and generally favorable to private capital and foreign in-
vestment.42 The decision to support the shah in Iran mirrored similar trends 
in Iraq, Saudi Arabia, and Venezuela, where the United States and Britain 
supported pro-Western authoritarian governments to protect the positions 
of private corporations.43 When nationalist governments came to power, es-
pecially in countries with strong communist parties, the United States 
used covert action to remove them if economic pressure did not work and 
when alternative sources of leadership, including the military, were avail-
able.44 Thus, the failure of Mosaddeq and his nationalization movement was 
the result of actions undertaken both within the domestic Iranian political 
scene and by foreign actors. The August 1953 coup was the culmination of 
a campaign to restrain liberal Iranian nationalism—the moment when Mo-
saddeq’s enemies, both foreign and domestic, joined forces to thwart him 
and his movement, returning Iran to authoritarian government and Iran’s 
oil to the hands of private Western oil companies.

The Iranian crisis shaped the postwar world and continues to hang like 
a shadow over Iran’s relationship with the West, and the United States in 
particular, contributing to the air of suspicion, hostility, and confronta-
tion that has endured for decades. A thorough understanding of the crisis 
can assist both the United States and Iran in moving past bitter legacies 
while shedding additional light on the ways in which the Cold War, the 
struggle for the natural resources of the Global South, the fight against 
foreign influence and authoritarian government, and the evolution of the 
global energy economy intersected in the mid-twentieth century and created 
the conditions that continue to shape the contemporary world.



1	 A Crisis in the Making, 1901–1951

In the first half of the twentieth century, Iran formed part of a global oil 
economy dominated by private Western corporations. It was also a focus of 
great power competition, and Great Britain and Russia often intervened to 
secure economic concessions and power over Iran’s political system. Within 
Iran, nationalists waged battles against foreign interference and the domi-
nation of the country’s politics by an authoritarian monarchy and elite 
factionalism. The United States entered the struggle during World War II, 
developing a view of Iran as a strategically important country threatened 
by internal instability and communist pressure. In the early Cold War, the 
struggle for oil and the battle over Iran’s political future erupted into crisis 
when nationalist leader Mohammed Mosaddeq led a successful campaign 
to nationalize Iran’s British-owned oil industry. At the heart of the crisis was 
the question of who would control Iranian oil—whether its riches would 
pass primarily to the Iranian people or to foreign actors and Iranian elites 
intent on using them for their own ends.

Oil and Iran

In 1901, British-born Australian mining magnate William Knox D’Arcy 
reached an agreement with the Iranian government for a concession grant-
ing D’Arcy exclusive rights to search for and exploit any oil found within a 
500,000 square mile area that included all of Iran except the five northern 
provinces bordering Russia. The concession would last sixty years. In 
return, Iran’s government and its ruler, the Qajar shah, would receive pay-
ments equal to 16 percent of “net profits,” plus a signing bonus of £20,000. 
The shah signed the agreement under fiscal duress, and D’Arcy’s agents 
reportedly paid large bribes to various government officials to secure 
favorable terms. In 1905, D’Arcy’s company became a subsidiary of the 
British-owned Burmah Oil Company. The company discovered oil at Masjed-e 
Suleiman in the southwestern province of Khuzestan in 1908, and early the 
next year the Anglo-Persian Oil Company (APOC) was formed to exploit 
the new find.1
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The terms of the D’Arcy Concession, which were largely replicated in sub-
sequent concessions throughout the Middle East, allowed APOC a measure 
of autonomy from the Iranian government. The company determined pro-
duction levels and could drill wherever it wished within the concession area. 
It was under no obligation to relinquish unexplored territory to the Iranian 
government. The company could build pipelines and facilities where it 
wanted and was exempt from all taxation. While APOC was obligated to 
pay the Iranian government 16 percent of “net profits,” it calculated these 
profits in secret. The company employed European engineers and Indian ad-
ministrative staff, retaining Iranians only as low-skilled laborers. Mostafa 
Fateh, a former AIOC employee, noted that the Iranian people were mostly 
“unaware” that the oil industry even existed, “except for a few involved in 
the work.” 2

At the time of the D’Arcy Concession, the petroleum industry had grown 
into a sprawling global enterprise encompassing fields in the United States, 
Russia, Galicia, Romania, the Netherlands East Indies, Burma, and else-
where. Demand for industrial lubricants and kerosene drove the industry’s 
expansion, but by the early twentieth century oil had become an important 
source of energy and fuel as the development of the internal combustion 
engine and the emergence of the automotive industry created a new source 
of demand.3 Oil had also taken on strategic significance. In June 1913, First 
Lord of the Admiralty Winston Churchill decided that the Royal Navy should 
switch the battle fleet from coal to oil as its predominant fuel. Motivated 
by technological considerations—oil-fired ships were faster, required less 
fuel and smaller crews, and eliminated dependence on overseas coaling 
stations—Churchill’s decision presented the British government with a stra-
tegic dilemma. While rich in coal, Britain had almost no oil deposits, nor 
were sufficient reserves located elsewhere in the empire. Unwilling to de-
pend completely on foreign oil companies, the British government decided 
to purchase a controlling stake in APOC in 1914. With the acquisition, APOC 
turned from a struggling firm to a quasi-official arm of British imperial pol-
icy. According to Churchill, the government stake in the company gave the 
British government “the power to regulate developments according to na-
val and national interest . . . ​over the whole of these enormous regions.” 4 
Control of oil was thus closely connected to British imperial policy.

Britain was deeply involved in the Middle East in the early twentieth 
century. The region had historically commanded British attention for its 
strategic location athwart the lines of communication linking the British 
Isles to India and East Asia. Iran, or “Persia” as it was still known, was never 
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a formal British colony, but the British regarded it as strategically valuable. 
Iran was a buffer state lying between British India and Russia, and the two 
empires waged a “Great Game” for influence in Iran and Central Asia 
throughout the nineteenth century. Both powers routinely interfered in 
Iran’s internal politics. Qajar statesmen sought to play the great powers off 
one another, a historic form of Iranian diplomacy that would later be known 
as “positive equilibrium.” This allowed Iran to retain its independence, 
though efforts at domestic modernization and reform were repeatedly sty-
mied by resistance from internal actors and pressure from foreign powers.5

While its interests in Iran were diverse, Britain came to value its posi-
tion in southwestern Iran over all other considerations after oil was found 
there in 1908. Support from the British government, plus access to a steady 
supply of Iranian oil, facilitated APOC’s rise from a small and struggling 
firm to one of the largest oil companies in the world. Iranian oil production 
expanded from 249,000 tons in 1913 to 1.7 million tons, or 34,700 barrels 
per day (bpd) in 1921.6 As the company prospered, the returns for the Brit-
ish government also increased. In 1923, Churchill boasted that the gov-
ernment’s stake had appreciated by £16 million, earned £6.5 million in 
dividends, and saved Britain £3 million on fuel costs.7

APOC’s expansion coincided with a period of internal Iranian political 
instability. Though an absolute monarch who ruled as the “Shadow of 
God on Earth,” the Qajar shah governed through alliances and informal 
arrangements with major elite factions.8 National identity formed partly as 
a response to the country’s apparent subjugation to foreign interests. In 
1890, when the government granted a British firm a concession that in-
cluded a monopoly over the production, sale, and export of tobacco, Grand 
Ayatollah Sayyed Mirza Shirazi of Qom, Iran’s most prominent religious 
figure, issued a fatwa, or religious edict, against tobacco use in protest. 
Millions of Iranians abstained from tobacco, and the shah was forced to re-
scind the concession.9 By the early twentieth century, Iranian nationalists 
in the intelligentsia and activists in the clergy had mobilized to demand 
political reform, which the Qajar shah conceded in 1906 in the form of a 
constitution that limited the power of the monarchy and created a parlia-
mentary body, the Majlis. The fight against foreign control was thus closely 
linked to the struggle against autocratic government.10

Foreign intrigues undermined Iran’s Constitutional Revolution. In 1907, 
Russia intervened in Iran in support of the shah, sabotaging the efforts of 
Iran’s reformers. The same year, Britain and Russia agreed to a general rap-
prochement, splitting Iran into formal spheres of influence, with the British 
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dominating the south and Russia the north. During World War I Iran, 
though technically neutral, suffered repeated military interventions by 
British, Russian, and Ottoman Turkish forces. Following the Russian Revo-
lution of 1917, Iran signed a treaty with the communist regime in 1921 that 
settled previous debts while giving the Soviet Union the right to intervene 
in Iran with military force should another power threaten Iran’s indepen
dence. The British, meanwhile, provided arms and support to an enterpris-
ing Iranian military officer, Reza Khan, and encouraged him to seize power 
in Tehran. In February 1921, Reza Khan deposed the feeble Qajar shah and 
established a new government with himself as dictator.11

Reza Shah and APOC

Energetic, imposing, and ruthless, Reza Khan used military power to bring the 
country under his control. For many of Iran’s disgruntled intelligentsia, 
the rise of an assertive nationalistic dictator in the mold of Mustafa Kemal 
Atatürk of Turkey was a welcome change from the struggling constitutional 
government. The new dictator enforced a modernizing regime that had wide 
and lasting effects on Iranian society. These included the nation’s first pub-
lic school system, industrialization and transportation projects, a new legal 
code, the imposition of Western dress and the forced unveiling of women, 
a modern military, and a redesigned national capital. In 1925, the Majlis 
voted to dissolve the Qajar dynasty and named Reza Khan the new shah, 
Reza Pahlavi I. The measure passed with only the deputy from Khorasan, a 
constitutionalist named Mohammed Mosaddeq, offering an objection.12 
After his coronation, Reza Shah began a series of negotiations with APOC 
to gain a larger share of the company’s profits and control over its opera-
tions, but the discussions resulted in stalemate.13

Although the British favored a strong government in Tehran that could 
impose order on the country, the rise of Reza Shah came at a time of new 
challenges for APOC. The company enjoyed booming profits, as it expanded 
Iranian oil production from 2,959,000 tons to 5,358,000 tons (109,361 bpd) 
between 1921 and 1928.14 Output from the Middle East joined a wave of new 
oil from fields in the United States and Venezuela. Most of this output was 
controlled by a small group of private companies. Apart from APOC, there 
was Royal Dutch/Shell, which was Anglo-Dutch in ownership; and five 
American firms: Gulf Oil, the Texas Oil Company (Texaco), the Standard Oil 
Company of California (SOCAL), the Standard Oil Company of New York 
(Socony, later Socony-Mobil), and the Standard Oil Company of New Jersey 
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(Jersey Standard).15 Amid the global Depression of the early 1930s, 
APOC’s profits collapsed as the world was flooded with cheap crude oil. 
Lower profits meant reduced revenues for Iran: from £1.28 million in 
1930, APOC’s payment to Iran fell to £306,872 in 1931. A furious Reza Shah 
canceled the D’Arcy Concession on 28 November 1932.16

Pressured by the British and in need of cash to stabilize his regime, Reza 
Shah ignored advice from his ministers and agreed to the terms APOC chair-
man Sir John Cadman proposed during negotiations in April  1933. Iran 
received combined payments worth £4 million, guaranteed revenues of 
£750,000 per year, a 25 percent share of the company’s annual dividend, 
and a reduction in the concession area to 100,000 square miles. While Cad-
man engineered the agreement to appear favorable to Iran, it was tailored to 
meet the company’s long-term needs. The new agreement closed several 
loopholes in the D’Arcy Concession and extended the concession until 1993. 
A special added article prohibited unilateral cancellation, an important 
legal point the company would use to argue against the nationalization in 
1951.17

Relations between the renamed Anglo-Iranian Oil Company (AIOC) and 
Reza Shah remained cordial for the remainder of the decade, though the 
monarch continued to press the company for more revenues.18 At the same 
time, AIOC began developing oil fields elsewhere. In 1928, along with Shell, 
the French firm CFP (Compagnie française des pétroles), and five U.S. 
companies including Jersey Standard and Socony, AIOC had formed a com
pany, renamed the Iraq Petroleum Company (IPC) the following year, to 
manage a concession in Iraq. In 1934 AIOC won a concession in Kuwait, 
which it split with Gulf Oil. AIOC sought unsuccessfully to gain a concession 
in Saudi Arabia in 1933, but was outbid by SOCAL, which brought in the 
Texas Company as its partner in 1936. As in Iran, the new concessions 
granted the companies sweeping rights to manage the oil fields as they saw 
fit, with little oversight or interference from local governments.19

The companies’ control did not go entirely unchallenged. In March 1938, 
Mexican President Lázaro Cárdenas nationalized the country’s oil indus-
try, seizing the assets of Jersey Standard, Shell, and other foreign firms. 
Although nationalization did not damage the companies’ overall commercial 
position, they boycotted Mexican oil exports and demanded heavy compen-
sation for their lost property. The U.S. government eventually mediated a 
settlement involving U.S. companies in 1941.20 The Mexican nationalization 
(or expropriation, as the companies termed it) established the precedent 
that governments could nationalize foreign-owned oil industries, provided 
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compensation for lost assets was paid. This was very important during the 
Iranian crisis, where the legality of nationalization and the nature (and 
amount) of compensation were both key issues.

Occupation, Oil, and U.S. Policy in Iran

Upon the outbreak of World War II in 1939, Reza Shah resumed Iran’s tra-
ditional neutrality. Having imprisoned, exiled, or executed most of his for-
mer advisors, he now ruled as an autocrat and enjoyed little popularity 
within his country.21 Following the German invasion of the Soviet Union in 
June 1941, the British and the Soviets looked to Iran as a potential supply 
route linking the Persian Gulf to the Soviet Union and issued Reza Shah an 
ultimatum: expel all his German advisors or face invasion. The shah delayed 
responding, and Anglo-Soviet forces invaded, crushing the Pahlavi military 
within days. The Soviets occupied the five northern provinces, while the 
British concentrated their efforts on securing the Khuzestan oil fields and 
AIOC’s refinery at Abadan. Reza Shah was forced to abdicate and sent into 
exile in South Africa, where he died in July 1944. Though they briefly con-
sidered placing the heir to the Qajar dynasty back on the Peacock Throne, 
the British opted for the shah’s eldest son, twenty-one-year-old Mohammed 
Reza Pahlavi, as a suitable replacement.22

With troops from the Indian Army guarding Abadan, AIOC increased 
production. Iran became the main source of oil for countries east of Suez, 
following the Japanese seizure of the Netherlands East Indies in early 1942. 
Output rose from 181,690 bpd in 1940 to 357,605 bpd in 1945. Company profits 
also increased, from £2,843,000 in 1940 to £5,792,000 in 1945.23 The oc-
cupiers inflated the currency to pay for their occupation and sequestered 
Iranian food supplies, leading to bread shortages in major cities.24 Depriva-
tion, famine, disease, and disorder struck most of the country. Karim San-
jabi, then a lawyer in Tehran, recalled how people refrained from riding 
the bus for fear of contracting disease from other passengers.25

In the absence of a powerful central authority, politics became diffuse 
and fluid, with different groups forming to represent the interests of dis-
tinct sections of Iranian society. These groups would play a role in the na-
tionalization crisis and the politics of the Mosaddeq era. At the core was 
Iran’s political elite, the landowning aristocracy. Together with major 
tribes—the Qashqa’i and Bakhtiyari being the largest—the aristocracy 
(sometimes known as the “Thousand Families”) controlled politics in the 
provinces and held most of the seats in the Majlis. Below the elite was Iran’s 
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traditional middle class, consisting of bazaar merchants, shopkeepers, trad-
ers, and guildsmen, and the Shi’a clergy, who also owned land and en-
gaged in commerce. The gradual spread of Western-style education and 
transnational intellectual exchange produced an intelligentsia that, along 
with military officers, civil servants, lawyers, bureaucrats, engineers, and 
other professionals, formed Iran’s “modern” middle class. A small industrial 
working class resided in the major cities (particularly Tehran and the north-
ern city of Tabriz) and in the southern oil fields. The majority of Iranians 
belonged to the rural working class and lived in the country’s 45,000 vil-
lages. Most were illiterate and not active politically.26

In the wake of the occupation and Reza Shah’s abdication, a variety of 
political forces attempted to fill the vacuum left by the absent dictator. 
The elite, clergy, bazaar merchants, and other notables vied for control 
of the Majlis, drawing on support from either the Soviets or the British.27 
New groups expressing alternative social and political ideas emerged from 
the modern middle class. Foremost among them were the Iran Party (origi-
nally known as the Engineers Association), a socialist-technocratic group 
comprising individuals drawn from the professional classes, and the Tu-
deh Party, a leftist organization founded by political prisoners released 
from Reza Shah’s prisons in 1941. The Tudeh leadership accepted Moscow’s 
support in 1943, becoming outwardly Marxist and pro-Soviet.28

Officials in the shah’s government, including the young monarch him-
self, hoped for a third power to balance against the Anglo-Soviet occupi-
ers. The shah was also anxious to recover the power lost after his father’s 
abdication and reached out to the United States for assistance. Concerned 
that disorder within Iran could imperil the security of the supply line to the 
Soviet Union, the United States sent 30,000 troops to assist with the man-
agement of the supply route and several advisory missions to help strengthen 
the Iranian state, reform its finances, and train its armed forces. While 
American oilmen, diplomats, and missionaries had been visiting Iran since 
the nineteenth century, the war marked the beginning of substantive Amer-
ican engagement with the Iranian state and the Iranian people.29

Though U.S. policy in Iran focused on the security of the supply line, poli-
cymakers worried an unstable situation in Iran would threaten the large 
and valuable oil concessions held by American companies elsewhere in the 
region. While many of these fields had not yet entered commercial produc-
tion, a survey of the Middle East’s oil fields by geologist Everette Lee De-
Golyer in 1943 concluded the region would become the new “center of 
gravity” in the global oil industry after the war.30 The United States, which 
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accounted for more than 60 percent of global production, supplied much of 
the oil for the allied war effort. Concerned about the drain on U.S. oil re-
serves due to the war, the U.S. government hoped to secure permanent and 
favorable access to Middle East oil, both to meet domestic demand and to 
ensure that American oil companies were well positioned to exploit major 
fields after the war. As Secretary of State Cordell Hull pointed out to Presi-
dent Roosevelt in August 1943: “it is to our interest that no great power be 
established on the Persian Gulf opposite the important American petroleum 
developments in Saudi Arabia.” 31 Given that the British were already firmly 
entrenched in Iran, Iraq, and Kuwait, Hull’s statement clearly referred to 
the Soviet Union.

Anxious to attract a permanent American interest in Iran, the Iranian 
government actively encouraged U.S. oil companies to seek concessions in-
side the country. Along with Royal Dutch/Shell, an Anglo-Dutch firm, two 
U.S. companies prepared concession bids in 1944. In September 1944, just 
as the U.S. and British companies were preparing to submit their bids to the 
Majlis for consideration, the Soviet Union sent an oil mission to Iran, claim-
ing the right to a concession covering Iran’s five northern provinces.32 The 
Soviet intervention alarmed Iran’s leaders, who feared a Soviet oil conces-
sion in the north might produce a permanent partition of the country. Ira
nian Prime Minister Mohammed Sa’id, with U.S. encouragement, ordered 
a halt in concession discussions.33 In December, Majlis deputy Mohammed 
Mosaddeq—the same deputy who had opposed Reza Shah’s ascension nine-
teen years before—proposed a bill banning all oil concession negotiations 
until foreign troops had left Iranian soil. Iran, Mosaddeq argued, should not 
offer any new oil concessions. Instead, the nation should pursue a policy of 
“negative equilibrium,” remaining neutral while pursuing self-sufficiency. 
The speech struck a chord with Iran’s budding nationalist movement, but it 
drew little attention from the United States, which now refocused its pol-
icy in Iran to combat the apparent increase in Soviet influence.34

The Cold War and Iran: The Azerbaijan Crisis

The Soviet intervention to secure an oil concession in 1944 was in response 
to the growing American presence in Iran, which Moscow viewed with 
alarm. After its bid for a concession in 1944 ended in failure, the Soviet 
Union took steps to solidify its influence in Iran’s northern provinces. In De-
cember 1945, Soviet-backed separatist movements in Azerbaijan formed au-
tonomous republics representing the Kurdish and Azeri minorities. Iranian 
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troops sent to put down the separatists were blocked from entering the 
area by Soviet forces. In March 1946, with British and American forces with-
drawn from Iran, Stalin warned the shah’s government that the withdrawal 
of Soviet forces would be conditional on the offer of an oil concession 
covering the five northern provinces.35

Soviet interests were focused on securing Iranian oil. American intelli-
gence estimated that the Soviet Union would face a deficit of at least 5 mil-
lion bpd once the war ended. Soviet pursuit of a concession in northern Iran 
was motivated by “pragmatic economic interest.” 36 The British also ac-
knowledged this and seemed open to a permanent settlement whereby 
Iran remained divided, à la 1907.37 For senior U.S. policymakers, the Soviet 
move in Azerbaijan added to mounting fears of Soviet aggression and ter-
ritorial ambition and helped to consolidate the view of Iran as a country 
uniquely threatened by Soviet influence. The move seemed to confirm the 
analysis of George Kennan’s “Long Telegram” from February 1946, which 
characterized the Soviet Union as an expansionist power inherently hos-
tile to the global capitalist system.38 In Iran, the stakes included control 
over the oil resources of the Middle East, since a communist government 
in Tehran could potentially threaten U.S. oil concessions elsewhere in the 
region.39

To manage the Soviet challenge, the shah appointed Ahmed Qavam, a 
veteran mainstay of Iranian politics known to be on good terms with Mos-
cow, as prime minister. In negotiations with Joseph Stalin and Soviet Foreign 
Minister Vyacheslav Molotov in Moscow, Qavam insisted that withdrawal 
of Soviet troops from Iran was a prerequisite for settlement of other issues. 
In April, Iran and the Soviet Union agreed to establish a joint Soviet-Iranian 
oil company, with 51 percent Soviet ownership and exclusive rights to de-
velop oil in Iran’s northern provinces. Qavam promised to submit the agree-
ment to the Majlis. Focused on other problems and concerned about lack of 
support in the United Nations, the Soviets withdrew their troops.40

With Soviet forces gone, Qavam moved to consolidate his power domes-
tically. An ambitious, astute, and powerful aristocrat, Qavam took advan-
tage of the country’s unsettled political state and the weakness of the young 
shah to increase the power of his own faction. He announced a program of 
economic development and sought to control the Soviet-backed Tudeh Party 
by bringing three of its leaders into his government. The Tudeh had dem-
onstrated new political strength by organizing a massive strike among AIOC’s 
workers in Abadan in May 1946.41 Though he appeared to be moving Iran 
closer to Moscow, Qavam was practicing positive equilibrium, playing for-
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eign powers against each other. Several months after the strike in Abadan, 
Qavam expelled the Tudeh ministers from his cabinet and cracked down 
on the party at the local level. At the same time, he continued discussions 
with the British and American ambassadors.42

Qavam’s efforts were only partially successful. U.S. Ambassador George V. 
Allen believed that supporting the young shah, with whom he was on 
close terms, was the best way to maintain Western influence in the coun-
try. In October 1946, Allen backed the shah against Qavam when the latter 
attempted to take full control of the government. The shah emerged victo-
rious, thanks in part to Allen’s support—a behind-the-scenes intervention 
by a U.S. official that set the template for future events.43 In October 1947, 
the Majlis rejected the Soviet oil concession, ending the crisis and squash-
ing Stalin’s hope to retain influence in Iran. The Soviets ramped up support 
for the Tudeh and expanded propaganda beamed across the border, but 
otherwise took no action.44

The Postwar Petroleum Order, Iranian Politics, and  
Anglo-American Dynamics

Though it had escaped permanent Anglo-Soviet partition and now enjoyed 
support from the United States, Iran’s government was weak and divided. 
The Majlis dominated politics. Most deputies were landlords, merchants, 
tribal leaders, or major religious figures elected through rigged voting. 
Different factions vied with one another, sharing power with Mohammed 
Reza Pahlavi, who, with U.S. support, forced Qavam out in December 1947 
and began playing a larger role in Iranian politics.45

Born in October 1919, Mohammed Reza was the eldest son of Reza Shah 
and assumed the throne at the age of twenty-one in August 1941 following 
his father’s abdication. Frequently seen as living in his father’s shadow, he 
spent much of his youth abroad, attending boarding school in Switzerland. 
Inexperienced and lacking his father’s ruthlessness, the second Pahlavi care-
fully husbanded his power, building his influence within the military 
(which he led as commander-in-chief) and cultivating U.S. support, partic-
ularly after the Azerbaijan crisis, when Washington viewed Iran as a coun-
try threatened by Soviet aggression.46 While devoted to protecting Iran from 
foreign threats, the shah was personally interested in protecting his own 
position. After surviving an assassination attempt in February 1949, the 
shah capitalized on the subsequent surge in support for the monarchy to 
push through an amendment to the constitution, which gave him the power 
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to dismiss the Majlis and call for new elections by royal decree.47 As the 
amendments were made during a period of martial law and muscled through 
the assembly by the shah’s supporters without a popular referendum, many 
Iranian nationalists considered them unlawful and refused to recognize 
their validity.

The United States regarded Iran as an important strategic asset. Accord-
ing to a report by the Joint Chiefs of Staff in October 1946, it was vital that 
“Soviet influence” be kept as far from the oil fields of the Persian Gulf as 
possible.48 The downfall of Reza Shah had left Iran with a “weak constitu-
tional regime,” for which the Iranians were unprepared “by tradition or 
experience.” A conservative strongman, wrote Ambassador Allen in De-
cember 1947, would be preferable “to the chaotic and corrupt condition we 
now have.” 49 The United States supported the shah, largely due to the mon-
arch’s avowed anti-communism and his willingness to accept American as-
sistance.50 Despite Iran’s strategic importance, President Harry S. Truman 

President Harry S. Truman (left) with Mohammed Reza Pahlavi, the shah of Iran 
(center), and the shah’s advisor and Minister of Court Hossein ‘Ala (right). Truman 
Library, Accession No. 73-3146.
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did not include Iran when he announced major aid packages for Greece 
and Turkey in March 1947. Iran did not face a communist-led insurgency 
like Greece or direct pressure from the Soviet Union like Turkey, and many 
U.S. officials believed that the shah’s demands for aid and military hard-
ware were excessive.51

Rather than direct assistance, the United States supported the shah’s de-
velopment plans, hoping that these would deliver stability and maintain 
the country’s pro-Western strategic alignment. With U.S. support, Iran set 
out on a new economic development program, the Seven Year Plan, and ap-
plied for loans from the World Bank to cover the plan’s $650 million price 
tag.52 The Truman administration maintained the wartime military advi-
sory mission and offered credits to Iran’s government with which it could 
purchase military equipment.53 The United States also increased its covert 
presence in Iran to counteract the spread of Soviet influence. In early 1947, 
John Waller of the Office of Strategic Services, a precursor to the Central 
Intelligence Agency, established an office in Tehran that focused on moni-
toring pro-Soviet groups including the Tudeh Party. OSS efforts included 
efforts to develop a “stay-behind” mission that would mobilize pro-Western 
elements inside Iran if the country fell to Soviet forces.54

By and large, however, the United States left Western policy in Iran in 
the hands of the British. After the September 1947 Pentagon talks, the United 
States and Britain agreed that the Middle East would remain an area of Brit-
ish preeminence.55 British policies after 1946 focused on maintaining Iran’s 
pro-Western strategic alignment, strengthening the shah’s government, and 
protecting the AIOC oil concession.56 AIOC contributed substantial taxes to 
the Treasury; 19 percent of its Iranian production served the British mar-
ket, while 19.3 percent was sold to the Admiralty for a discounted price. Ira
nian oil was sold in sterling, buttressing Britain’s weakening balance of 
payments and supporting sterling as an international reserve currency.57 
Any disruption of the Iranian oil industry could have “disastrous conse-
quences” for the state of British finances.58

The growing importance of oil to Great Britain reflected the broader in-
crease in oil’s significance to the global economy. Working together, the 
U.S. and British governments and the major international oil companies 
erected what historians call the “postwar petroleum order,” a system for de-
livering oil and refined products to Western markets.59 American produc-
tion, which had increased from 3.8 million to 4.7 million bpd during the 
war, began to decline relative to consumption, and in 1948 the United States 



22 Chapter 1

became a net importer of oil.60 Apart from Venezuela, the cheapest and most 
abundant available reserves were in the Middle East. Much of this oil went 
to Western European reconstruction, with the U.S. government facilitating 
purchases of Middle East oil produced by U.S. companies through the Mar-
shall Plan.61 The major international companies cooperated to ensure that 
Middle East oil production increased in a manageable way, without produc-
ing another glut or price collapse.62

AIOC was a key element in this new system. In 1950, AIOC accounted 
for 50 percent of total regional output, with 915,000 bpd out of 1.8 million 
bpd.63 This made the company’s position among the most lucrative and 
important British assets left in the world. The United States considered con-
tinued corporate control over Middle Eastern oil a strategic and economic 
priority. Britain was its most important Cold War ally, and the United States 
depended on Britain to maintain strategic supremacy in the Middle East and 
parts of South and East Asia. In short, both the United States and Great Brit-
ain had a vested interest in maintaining AIOC’s position in Iran.

Middle East and World crude oil production, 1900–1950 (barrels per day)

Iran Iraq Kuwait
Saudi 
Arabia

Total 
Middle 
East*

United 
States

Total 
World

1900 — — — — — 174,289 408,586
1905 — — — — — 369,091 589,285
1910 — — — — — 574,119 897,980
1915 9,899 — — — 9,899 770,146 1,183,652
1920 33,507 — — — 33,507 1,213,504 1,887,353
1925 95,595 — — — 95,595 2,092,447 2,928,584
1930 125,556 2,501 — — 128,058 2,460,304 3,863,115
1935 156,912 75,090 — — 235,468 2,730,400 4,532,864
1940 181,690 66,370 — 13,904 281,345 3,707,436 5,889,921
1945 357,605 96,197 — 58,386 532,214 4,694,945 7,108,753
1946 402,244 97,712 16,249 164,230 702,380 4,750,518 7,521,723
1947 424,652 98,175 44,452 246,170 839,232 5,087,636 8,278,729
1948 521,600 71,548 127,397 391,378 1,141,863 5,534,753 9,405,025
1949 560,855 84,814 246,575 476,734 1,401,389 5,046,411 9,325,584
1950 664,315 136,236 344,444 546,704 1,755,786 5,407,052 10,418,073

*Also includes Bahrain, Qatar, and Turkey.
Source: DeGolyer and MacNaughton, Twentieth Century Petroleum Statistics; Ferrier, 

History of the British Petroleum Company, vol. 1.
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The Oil Issue in Iran

Though not a formal colony of the British Empire, the oil fields of Khuzestan 
in southern Iran and the refinery town of Abadan bore the unmistakable 
signs of colonialism. British staff lived comfortably, with access to ameni-
ties including swimming pools, squash and tennis courts, and a cinema.64 
Conditions for Iranian workers were often very poor. In 1950, 80 percent of 
the company’s non-skilled workers remained without company housing, ac-
cording to a report from the International Labour Office.65 Although com
pany executives touted their achievements in bringing industrialization and 
modernization to Iran, many contemporary observers felt the company men 
were living in a bygone age. According to U.S. Ambassador John C. Wiley, 
“they have continued to celebrate Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee and 
time in its flight has passed them by.” 66 The company ensured its position 
through a system of patronage, bribing Majlis deputies and newspaper 
editors and distributing propaganda advertising the benefits of its opera-
tions for the Iranian people.

Resentment of AIOC was closely connected to the development of Iranian 
nationalism in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.67 Educated 
Iranians questioned the legality of the company’s concession in the 1930s, 
arguing that it violated Iranian sovereignty. As a sovereign landlord that 
owned the oil in the ground, the Iranian state should benefit from its pro-
duction and sale, yet instead it struggled “with the blackest misery and 
hunger,” according to one article in 1931.68 Anger toward the company also 
reflected widespread animosity toward the British, who had interfered re-
peatedly in Iran’s politics since the nineteenth century. These criticisms car-
ried forward into the war years when Iran’s press—liberated after years of 
suppression by Reza Shah—took stridently anti-British positions.69

Galvanized by the oil concession scramble of 1944 and the Azerbaijan cri-
sis of 1946–47, Iran’s small group of middle-class nationalists articulated 
new arguments based around the reduction, or possible elimination, of AI-
OC’s dominance of Iranian oil. This movement grew alongside (but was 
separate from) similar anti-British rhetoric emanating from the Tudeh Party. 
In January 1949, a Majlis deputy accused Reza Shah’s former finance min-
ister of colluding with the British in 1933, prompting the aged minister to 
publicly disavow the agreement.70 Nationalists in the assembly led by ora-
tor and journalist Hossein Makki denounced the 1933 agreement as illegiti-
mate, arguing it had stemmed from Reza Shah’s secret collusion with the 
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British.71 In time, the “oil issue” became the single most important concern 
in the country’s political discourse, until it grew into a force for popular mo-
bilization without precedent in Iran’s modern history.72

Cash-strapped and anxious to secure funding for his development pro-
gram and military mobilization scheme, the shah urged his negotiators to 
secure more favorable terms from AIOC. In addition to the company’s al-
leged abuse of its workers, the government was especially interested in the 
gap between what it received for its oil and what AIOC and the British 
government received. According to published statistics, AIOC’s net profits 
from 1933 through 1948 totaled £115,246,000; British government taxes on 

Abadan, the world’s largest refinery, in 1949. The Bawarda housing estate, with its 
rows of large houses for the British staff, contrasts to the cramped slums nearer the 
refinery. BP Archive 115890 © BP plc.
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AIOC for the same period were £118,320,000, largely due to steep increases 
in taxes during World War II; and AIOC payments to Iran for the period were 
£69,402,000.73 Finance Minister Abbasqoli Golsha’ian pushed for a deal that 
would split profits from oil “fifty-fifty,” an idea modeled after an agreement 
between oil companies and the government of Venezuela in 1948.74

The British government encouraged the company to offer more gener-
ous terms while preserving the basic aspects of the 1933 concession agree-
ment. AIOC felt its track record in Iran was sound and saw little reason to 
satisfy Iranian demands. Fifty-fifty would have been more costly for the 
company and exposed it to higher British taxes as well as increased pay-
ments to Iran because, unlike the U.S. tax code, British tax laws did not 
allow companies to take a credit for taxes paid to foreign governments. 
AIOC’s leadership, particularly Chairman Sir William Fraser, regarded the 
Iranians with condescension and disdain, dismissing Golsha’ian as “nothing 

AIOC profits, British taxes from Iranian oil, and payments to Iran, 1932–1950

Oil Production 
(Thousand 

barrels)

AIOC Net 
Profits 

(Thousand £)
British Taxes 
(Thousand £)

Payments to 
Iran 

(Thousand £)

1932 49,471 2,380 190 1,525
1933 54,392 2,654 460 1,812
1934 57,851 3,183 770 2,190
1935 57,283 3,519 400 2,221
1936 62,718 6,123 1,170 2,580
1937 77,804 7,455 2,610 3,525
1938 78,372 6,109 1,690 3,307
1939 78,151 2,986 3,320 4,271
1940 66,317 2,842 4,160 4,000
1941 50,777 3,222 3,280 4,000
1942 72,256 7,790 6,600 4,000
1943 74,612 5,639 12,070 4,000
1944 102,045 5,677 15,720 4,464
1945 130,526 5,792 15,630 5,624
1946 146,819 9,625 15,590 7,132
1947 154,998 18,565 16,820 7,104
1948 190,384 24,065 18,030 9,172
1949 204,712 18,390 16,930 13,489
1950 242,457 33,103 36,190 16,032

Source: Galpern, Money, Oil, and Empire, 88; Bamberg, History of the British Petroleum 
Company, vol. 2, 325; Elm, Oil, Power, and Principle, 38; DeGolyer and MacNaughton, 
Twentieth Century Petroleum Statistics: Historical Data.
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but a trader” who could be bought off just as Reza Shah had been in 1933. 
Fraser’s negotiator Neville Gass offered Golsha’ian a deal whereby Iran’s 
annual royalty would increase from 4s/ton to 6s/ton, retroactive to 1948, 
plus an increased contribution from the company’s general reserve and 
annual dividend. Total payments covering 1948 and 1949 would increase 
from £22,662,000 to £41,558,000.75 Other than more money, the deal of-
fered Iran little else as AIOC ignored most of Iran’s other demands. The 
terms of the 1933 concession, which was set to expire in 1993, remained 
the same. Facing a mounting budget deficit, the shah forced Golsha’ian to 
accept AIOC’s terms on 17 July 1949. Known as the Supplemental Agree-
ment, the terms would require Majlis ratification before becoming law.

Although the shah and his allies hoped a new oil agreement would pro-
vide financial support for the Seven Year Plan, public opposition to AIOC 
had grown into a groundswell of nationalist anger, and the opposition was 
better organized than the British or royalists had supposed. When the Sup-
plemental Agreement came before the Majlis in late July, a small group of 
deputies led by Makki blocked the deal from proceeding to a vote. Those who 
dared speak out against the agreement, said Makki, did so “at the point 
of the bayonet. . . . ​On this sacred religious night, I pray God to set all 
those who have betrayed this country on the flames of oil.” 76 Other depu-
ties, fearful of appearing overly friendly to British interests, declined to 
challenge Makki. The assembly adjourned on 28 July without ratifying 
the agreement.77

The British embassy blamed the failure on internal divisions within the 
Iranian government and the “irresponsible self-seekers” inside the Majlis.78 
Both AIOC and the Foreign Office believed that the shah would force the 
agreement through the Majlis once elections for a new assembly were com-
plete. The failure to ratify the Supplemental Agreement proved to be a cru-
cial turning point, however. Nationalist animus toward AIOC and the British 
government developed into an organized political movement, one that chal-
lenged the status quo in a way the Pahlavi government and its foreign allies 
proved incapable of managing. Hossein ‘Ala, the shah’s minister of court and 
a reliably pro-Western fixture in Iranian politics, warned the U.S. State De-
partment in early 1950 that unless AIOC quickly agreed to better terms, 
Iran’s government might be forced to nationalize its assets.79 Though ini-
tially discounted by AIOC, the movement to nationalize Iran’s oil industry 
was quickly developing into a powerful political force. At its head was 
Mohammed Mosaddeq, Iran’s most renowned and respected political figure.



The management of the Anglo-Iranian Oil Company (AIOC), 1947. 
William J. Fraser (front row, second from right) was a stubborn negotiator 
who regarded Iran’s claims to national ownership of the oil industry as 
ludicrous. BP Archive 180518 © BP plc.
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Mosaddeq and the National Front

Mohammed Mosaddeq was born on 16 June 1882. Raised among the aristoc-
racy, Mosaddeq was descended from the Qajar dynasty that ruled Iran from 
1796 to 1921.80 Like many young Iranians of his class, Mosaddeq traveled to 
Europe for his education. He became the first Iranian to earn a Ph.D. in law 
from a European university, receiving his degree from the University of 
Neuchâtel in Switzerland in 1913. Mosaddeq first held public office at the age 
of fourteen, serving as the treasurer for the province of Khorasan. During the 
1920s he held a series of government positions, including finance minister, 
foreign minister, governor of Azerbaijan, and minister of justice. Renowned 
for his probity, honesty, and diligence, Mosaddeq was the only Majlis deputy 
to categorically reject Reza Khan’s ascension as Reza Shah Pahlavi I in 1925.81

Periodically suffering from a stomach ailment that would bring on fits 
of dizziness and indigestion, Mosaddeq went into retirement in the 1930s, 
as Reza Shah cracked down on the domestic opposition. He was briefly 

Mohammed Mosaddeq touches the Liberty Bell in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 
during a visit to the United States in October 1951. Truman Library, Accession 
No. 66-8004.
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imprisoned by Reza Shah in 1940, returning to Tehran in 1942 after the 
shah’s abdication. Mosaddeq won a seat in the Majlis in 1944 through a 
free and fair election in Tehran. Then in his sixties, Mosaddeq commanded 
the respect and admiration of the assembly through his oratory, incorrupt-
ibility, and defense of the constitution. His philosophy of negative equilib-
rium, once adapted to the context of the Cold War, presaged the concept of 
neutralism which would gain prominence during decolonization through 
the Bandung Conference of 1955 and the Non-Aligned Movement.82 Other 
political figures in Iran found him “honest, trustworthy, and patriotic.” 83 
Although most foreign observers saw his rhetorical style as histrionic and 
theatrical, it made him very effective in the Majlis and in public fora, where 
he could keep crowds of thousands spellbound. While the British viewed him 
as a dangerous radical, early American assessments of Mosaddeq noted 
his reputation as an incorruptible politician.84

Mosaddeq’s status as the country’s most famous nationalist made him the 
natural leader of the anti-AIOC, anti-British, and pro-constitutional democ-
racy movement that coalesced in 1949. That November, as the shah’s allies 
attempted to rig the Majlis elections, Mosaddeq led his followers to the 
shah’s palace, where they took bast, a protest sit-in reminiscent of tactics 
from the Constitutional Revolution. Once the protest concluded, Mosaddeq 
and his followers adjourned to the house of Hossein Fatemi, Mosaddeq’s dep-
uty, and formed the Jebhe-ye Melli, or “National Front.” The shah relented 
and allowed new elections to be held, and Mosaddeq and ten of his sup-
porters won seats. In a divided assembly where British influence was 
rife—as many as one-third of the deputies were indirectly controlled by 
Great Britain—Mosaddeq and his allies in the National Front formed a 
powerful and influential bloc advocating for national interests.85

The National Front was not a political party, but rather a loose grouping 
of factions united around the ideas of nationalization, opposition to British 
influence, and constitutional government over the dominance of the shah. 
Among the most important members were Mozaffar Baqa’i, a labor leader 
and organizer who founded the Toilers’ Party in 1951 and published the pa-
per Shahed; Hossein Fatemi, editor of Bakhtar-e Emruz, a popular paper 
that became the Front’s major organ; a group of parliamentarians that in-
cluded Hossein Makki, Allahyar Saleh, Ali Shayegan, Mahdi Azar, and 
Abdolhossin Haerizadeh; and the Iran Party, a group of Western-educated 
technocrats from which Mosaddeq would recruit administrators and bu-
reaucrats. Mass politics were key to the Front’s power, as huge crowds 
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came out to see Mosaddeq and others deliver speeches denouncing the Brit-
ish. Baqa’i proved adept at this work, but the Front’s clerical allies, who 
commanded wide audiences through Friday prayer services, had a much 
greater impact. Foremost among them was the Ayatollah Abolqassem 
Kashani, a cleric with a broad popular following.86

According to Mosaddeq’s memoirs, Fatemi suggested the group demand 
nationalization of AIOC.87 With a single action, Iran could take control of 
its most valuable economic asset, expel the British from the southern prov-
inces, and chart a course toward national independence. Karim Sanjabi of 
the Iran Party argued that nationalization was internationally recognized; 
Britain had nationalized many industries, including the coal industry, after 
World War II, and would have to acknowledge Iran’s nationalization so long 
as Iran paid compensation for AIOC’s assets.88 In 1950, the Front began 
disseminating the idea through major newspapers, including Shahed and 
Bakhtar-e Emruz. The coalition behind nationalization was broad and in-
cluded members of Iran’s traditional middle class in the bazaar and clergy 
as well as the intelligentsia. Organizing in the street was matched by the 
Front’s Majlis representation, which soon dominated the assembly and made 
the shah’s efforts to bring the Supplemental Agreement back for a vote vir-
tually impossible.89

Staving Off the Crisis: The Razmara Government

The failure to ratify the Supplemental Agreement and the rise of the National 
Front brought the oil issue to the forefront of national politics. With the gov-
ernment facing a growing budget deficit, AIOC and the British government 
applied pressure on the shah to resubmit the Supplemental Agreement to the 
Majlis.90 In May 1950, Prime Minister ‘Ali Mansur struck a deal with Mosaddeq. 
Rather than force the Supplemental Agreement through the Majlis, Mansur 
formed an oil committee to examine the issue, with Mosaddeq as chair and 
five of its eighteen members National Front deputies. Intended as a stalling 
tactic, this had the effect of giving Mosaddeq a powerful position from 
which to attack the agreement and the British, raising his profile and ensur-
ing the oil issue would dominate Majlis deliberations.91

While the British waited for Iran to act on the Supplemental Agreement, a 
combination of factors compelled the United States to increase its engage-
ment in Iran. By March 1950 there were growing fears that economic prob
lems, the government’s ineptitude, and the public furor over the oil issue 
were causing instability that benefited Iran’s communists and their allies 
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in the Soviet Union. According to the U.S. embassy, the Tudeh Party was 
expanding its influence inside Iran.92 Ambassador John C. Wiley warned 
that “economic deterioration and political helplessness” made Iran “ripe 
fruit for Communist exploitation.” 93 Assistant Secretary of State for Near 
Eastern, South Asian, and African Affairs George C. McGhee spelled out the 
crisis in bleak terms in an April 1950 memorandum to Secretary of State 
Dean Acheson. The shah, once thought of as a possible reformer, “has nei-
ther the character nor the ability to offer his people guidance.” Iranians 
were now “excellent targets for the clandestine but well-organized and well-
financed Communist Party, whose influence appears to be expanding at an 
alarming rate.” 94 Concern with Iran’s internal stability and the expanding 
communist presence reflected broadening worries regarding the Cold War 
in the wake of the Soviet atomic test of August 1949, establishment of a com-
munist government in China in October 1949, and the slowing of economic 
recovery in Western Europe. In the spring of 1950, the head of Truman’s 
Policy Planning Staff, Paul Nitze, drafted NSC 68 (National Security Coun-
cil Paper 68), which called for massive rearmament of the United States as 
a deterrent against growing Soviet influence.95

U.S. officials feared the oil issue and failing economy would lead to a gen-
eral collapse and a communist takeover. According to Acheson, Iran’s first 
problem was “government weakness.” The shah could not offer the neces-
sary leadership, and his refusal to back a powerful prime minister left his 
government rudderless.96 U.S. officials in Tehran may have suggested to the 
shah that Army Chief of Staff ‘Ali Razmara would make a suitable prime 
minister, though the degree to which the U.S. used direct pressure is 
unclear.97 The only other possible choice for prime minister was Mosad-
deq, whose prestige and popularity were on the rise.98 Despite his own mis-
givings, the shah named Razmara the new prime minister on 25 June. The 
need to bolster Iran gained additional urgency following the North Korean 
attack on South Korea the same day.99

Razmara had previously served as minister of the interior as well as chief 
of staff of the army. He was anti-communist, ambitious, assertive, and pro-
American. The shah distrusted Razmara, suspecting that he would use the 
office of prime minister to undermine the authority of the monarchy. How-
ever, the shah felt he had no choice but to back Razmara to retain Ameri-
can goodwill and support.100 The U.S. preference for Razmara foreshadowed 
policy positions that would dominate the oil crisis, including the tendency 
to back figures associated with the military and an emphasis on stabilizing 
Iran through oil revenues—apart from his military background, Razmara 
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appealed to U.S. officials because he seemed capable of pushing the Sup-
plemental Agreement through the Majlis and restarting Iran’s economic de-
velopment plan.

Razmara had a broad agenda. Leaning on advice from the American 
development expert and former oilman Max Weston Thornburg, whom he 
took on as a personal economic advisor, Razmara announced a plan to de-
centralize the government’s development program, refocusing efforts to the 
provinces. This would ensure Majlis deputies from the rural areas, where 
the National Front had little influence, would start to see immediate eco-
nomic benefits and thus be more inclined to support Razmara’s government. 
They would also be more inclined to support the Supplemental Agreement 
when Razmara brought it before the Majlis.101 To accomplish these goals, 
Razmara needed money. He therefore reached out to the British and 
suggested AIOC begin paying higher royalties as mandated by the Supple-
mental Agreement—in other words, act as though the deal had been ratified 
and was in effect.102

Razmara’s plan received the endorsement of the new U.S. ambassador 
in Iran, Henry F. Grady, a well-regarded economist who had spearheaded 
the postwar economic relief effort in Greece and later served as ambassa-
dor there and then in India. Grady, who arrived in July, promised Razmara 
a $25 million Export-Import Bank loan, which Iran could service using 
royalties from AIOC. After several meetings with Razmara, Grady suggested 
AIOC forward the funds available to Iran through the Supplemental Agree-
ment, now approximately £50 million, as a gesture of good will. He agreed 
with Razmara that AIOC would have to offer additional concessions to make 
the agreement palatable to the new Majlis.103 Grady was careful not to 
position himself as a mediator in the dispute and told Razmara that the 
Supplemental Agreement was fair and reasonable. Given the degree of 
anti-British feeling permeating the country, however, attempting to push 
through the agreement in its current form seemed suicidal. The British 
would have to sweeten the deal.104

AIOC Chairman Fraser refused to offer Iran more money. He insisted that 
Razmara ratify the Supplemental Agreement unaltered, suggesting the prime 
minister take some “bold action” and push the deal through the Majlis.105 
While the Foreign Office believed that AIOC should adopt a more flexible 
position, the Treasury refused to countenance a moderate strategy, citing 
Britain’s unsteady balance of payments and the need to maintain access 
to Iranian oil on favorable terms.106 “The company are convinced,” wrote 
Foreign Office official Geoffrey Furlonge, “that more money is actually 
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[Razmara’s] object,” and that with more pressure he would crumble as 
Reza Shah had in 1933.107 Foreign Office officials noted the “insatiable 
appetites of Near East states in matters of this kind,” arguing to their 
American counterparts that Razmara’s desire for funds was tantamount 
to blackmail.108

Frustrated by British intransigence, Razmara threatened to cancel the 
company’s concession, as Reza Shah had in 1932. The United States took 
such threats seriously. Acheson argued that cancellation would have “almost 
total Iranian support,” and he urged the British government to put more 
pressure on AIOC, “[the] last remaining obstacle.” 109 The British dragged 
their feet throughout the summer, maintaining that pressure and time 
would force Razmara to concede and pass the Supplemental Agreement in 
its current form.110 The divisions that appeared between the United States 
and Great Britain in the summer of 1950 foreshadowed the problems that 
would plague the allies during the oil crisis.

Concerned that rising regional nationalism would eventually threaten 
Middle East oil concessions, the U.S. government pressed all the companies 
operating in the Middle East to improve the terms of their concessions. The 
large U.S. concession in Saudi Arabia, where Aramco (owned by Jersey 
Standard, SOCAL, Socony, and Texaco) was under pressure from the Saudi 
government to improve its terms.111 In September, U.S. officials met with 
AIOC executives and tried to impress upon them the importance of reach-
ing a compromise with Razmara. “We have no doubt in our minds,” wrote 
Richard Funkhouser, petroleum advisor, to McGhee in September, “that 
Persian Gulf oil operations have been and continue to [be] exceptionally 
profitable. . . . ​It is sophistry to suggest oil companies can’t pay and do 
much more.” 112 McGhee warned AIOC officials that Saudi Arabia was on 
the verge of making a new agreement with Aramco, one that might ren-
der the Supplemental Agreement obsolete. “Time is running out,” and there 
was no chance of Razmara putting forward the Supplemental Agreement 
without meaningful improvements. The British would only consider a 
small loan of £2–3 million.113 They also sabotaged Grady’s plans for an 
Import-Export Bank loan, refusing to allow Iran to convert sterling to ser
vice the loan payments as a way to pressure Razmara to agree to the Supple-
mental Agreement. All of this proved immensely vexing to Grady. Iran’s 
people lived “in animal-like poverty,” and their government required for-
eign assistance. The United States must draw on all its resources, argued 
Grady, to rescue Iran from falling under Soviet domination “as a result of its 
sins of mismanagement.” 114
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American frustrations stemmed in part from Razmara’s unsuccessful ef-
forts to assert himself over Iran’s fractious political actors. From his seat at 
the head of the Majlis oil committee, Mosaddeq regularly denounced AIOC 
and the Supplemental Agreement.115 The shah, forced to accept Razmara 
through U.S. pressure, intrigued against the prime minister behind the 
scenes. Razmara’s plans to decentralize the development program stalled 
for lack of funds as the economic depression in Iran grew deeper. With little 
support inside Iran and the financial situation growing more desperate, Raz-
mara buckled under AIOC pressure. In October, he abandoned his demands 
for cash payments, appointed a reliably pro-British figure as minister of fi-
nance, and promised to submit the Supplemental Agreement to the Majlis 
at the proper time. Razmara told the British embassy that a “face-saving” 
measure would be needed to mollify Mosaddeq’s nationalists. Yet again, the 
British refused and pushed Razmara to submit the agreement in its exist-
ing form.116

American officials viewed the British approach to the situation in Iran 
with trepidation.117 As McGhee saw it, AIOC was alone “in stubbornly re-
fusing to face up to things as they are.” The “wealthy tenant” was trying to 
outlast the “impoverished landlord.” 118 Grady complained that months of 
pressure tactics from London had convinced him that the British were “bent 
on sabotaging our efforts to strengthen Iran in order to preserve [their] du-
bious supremacy and control.” Further association with the British in Iran 
could become a “serious liability.” 119 American misgivings were not enough 
to deter the British from demanding the Supplemental Agreement be rati-
fied in its existing form. With no alternative, Razmara prepared to push the 
hated agreement through the Majlis, his efforts to fashion a new deal un-
done by British resistance.

Prelude to Nationalization

Attending a meeting of Mosaddeq’s oil committee on 4 November, Razmara 
suggested the Supplemental Agreement would serve Iran’s interests and ar-
gued that the country was not yet ready to run its own oil industry. His 
arguments carried little weight, however, and even the conservative depu-
ties on the committee rejected his claims.120 On 25 November, the commit-
tee released a statement declaring that the Supplemental Agreement did not 
protect Iran’s interests and should be rejected. According to Grady, even the 
committee’s pro-British members refused to support the agreement, “fear-
ing that they would be branded as traitors if they did so.” 121
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Facing mounting opposition from the National Front, conservatives in the 
Majlis, and the shah, Razmara sent his economic advisor Max Thornburg 
to London to meet directly with the British. Thornburg’s goal, as he later 
related to a U.S. Treasury official, was to bring the two sides together around 
a settlement, “[and] head off any thought of Iran taking over the AIOC 
operations.” 122 Thornburg failed to win over AIOC, however, and he left 
the meeting “disconsolate,” complaining to an executive from Royal Dutch/
Shell of the “obdurate attitude” on display inside AIOC’s headquarters at 
Britannic House: “in present world circumstances their standpoint was most 
deplorable.” 123

Thornburg’s mission coincided with stunning news from Saudi Arabia. On 
20 December, the Saudi government and Aramco announced a deal that split 
profits between them according to the fifty-fifty principle. Aramco agreed to 
pay half its profits to the Saudi government with the expectation that the 
payments could be deducted from its domestic tax liability in the United 
States. The “golden gimmick,” as it was later known, meant that the pay-
ments from Aramco to the Saudi government would be borne by the Ameri-
can taxpayer. Such terms were attractive to the U.S. companies and would 
soon become standardized throughout the entire Middle East.124 In the case 
of Iran, however, the Saudi agreement with Aramco meant that the terms of 
the Supplemental Agreement, which did not guarantee a fifty-fifty division, 
were obsolete.

With the British offer discredited, pressure to nationalize became even 
greater. On 21 December, Ayatollah Kashani issued a declaration in Ettel-
aat, a major daily paper, calling for immediate nationalization to “uproot 
English influence which has caused, during the last 150 years, all the evils 
from which we suffer today.” 125 Using talking points prepared in consulta-
tion with the AIOC’s Ernest Northcroft, Razmara’s minister of finance de-
livered a speech to the Majlis defending the Supplemental Agreement on 
27 December. The assembly shouted him down, particularly when he used 
AIOC’s rhetoric to defend the legality of the 1933 concession.126 Once 
again, the company’s efforts to influence matters in Iran proved heavy-
handed and ill-timed. On 11 January 1951, the Majlis officially rejected the 
Supplemental Agreement and began debate on a proposal from Mosaddeq 
to nationalize the oil industry. Two weeks later, a crowd of ten thousand 
met at a large mosque in Tehran to hear speeches in support of national-
ization. In February, a leading cleric issued a fatwa, or decree, condemn-
ing any government that allowed the nation’s wealth to be given away to 
foreigners.127
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AIOC was forced to admit that the Supplemental Agreement was 
“dead.” 128 Grasping for ways to prop up the flailing Razmara, AIOC offered 
Iran £25 million paid over ten months, with the promise of a fifty-fifty agree-
ment at some point in the future.129 AIOC tried more pressure tactics. 
Northcroft gave Razmara an ultimatum: he would receive financial aid if 
and only if he took a public stand against nationalization. Caught between 
his nationalist opposition and AIOC brinksmanship, Razmara had no choice 
but to agree. On 4 March, he addressed the Majlis, giving a speech that had 
been written with “considerable assistance” from Northcroft himself.130 
Razmara argued that Iran could not run the Abadan refinery without for-
eign technicians, and that nationalization would bankrupt the country 
and unleash economic chaos. While the reception from the Majlis was 
muted, both the British and Americans hoped that the prime minister’s 
stand against nationalization would help salvage the situation.131 Instead, 
it cost him his life.

On 7 March, Razmara was assassinated. Although his assassin, Khalil 
Tahmasabi, was a member of the Fedayeen-e Islam, a religious group with 
ties to Kashani, the CIA could not determine who was behind the killing.132 
There is some evidence to suggest that the shah was at least aware of the 
plot against Razmara’s life and welcomed the fall of the powerful prime 
minister. The next day, the Majlis oil committee unanimously approved a 
resolution recommending nationalization. The loss of Razmara, the rejec-
tion of the Supplemental Agreement, and the failure to arrest the country’s 
slide into economic depression had created a situation that the National 
Front would quickly exploit. The conservatives surrounding the shah seemed 
powerless, as were the U.S. and British governments, which remained di-
vided on how best to resolve the issue of AIOC’s concession. The failure to 
pass the Supplemental Agreement, Anglo-American divisions, and AIOC’s 
stubbornness had produced a crisis. For Iran’s nationalists, however, nation-
alizing AIOC represented an opportunity to undo decades of foreign ex-
ploitation. With Razmara gone, the momentum toward nationalization 
became unstoppable.
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In April 1951, Mohammed Mosaddeq became prime minister and Iran nation-
alized the Anglo-Iranian Oil Company. This act set off a struggle pitting Iran’s 
new government against AIOC, which maintained that the nationalization 
was illegal. Each side approached the crisis with distinct interests in mind. 
For Mosaddeq’s nationalists, taking over Iran’s oil industry was an important 
step toward achieving national independence. The economic ramifications of 
disrupting the flow of oil were secondary to the political importance of free-
ing the nation from foreign influence. Though he faced opposition from the 
communist Tudeh Party and Iran’s conservative elite, Mosaddeq enjoyed 
popular support and the backing of the shah, who was not prepared to op-
pose the National Front at a time when public approval for nationalization 
was so strong. The British government supported AIOC and hoped to halt the 
advance of Iran’s nationalization and retain control over Iranian oil. The Brit-
ish tried to use their influence within Iran to organize Mosaddeq’s removal 
from power. They contemplated military intervention as a last resort.

With the Korean War at its height, the United States wanted to avoid an-
other crisis, and U.S. officials worried that nationalization and conflict 
with Great Britain would produce conditions that could lead to communist 
control of Iran. The United States sought to broker an agreement that would 
allow AIOC to remain in Iran, keep the oil flowing, and satisfy Iran’s na-
tionalists. Although the British and U.S. governments were intent on retain-
ing Western control over Iranian oil, they differed on tactics. The early 
months of the struggle for Iran were characterized by Anglo-American dis-
agreement, intensified polarization of internal Iranian politics fueled by 
British covert operations, and high-level negotiations that failed to over-
come the fundamental clash of interests over who would control Iran’s oil.

Conflicting Views

A caretaker government led by the shah’s advisor Hossein ‘Ala took power 
following the assassination of Prime Minister Razmara on 7 March, but the 
issue of oil nationalization continued to dominate Iranian politics. Led by 
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Mosaddeq and other National Front deputies, the Majlis oil committee 
passed a resolution recommending nationalization on 8 March. A key Mo-
saddeq ally, Ayatollah Abolqassem Kashani, organized a pro-nationalization 
demonstration of 15,000 people in front of the Majlis building, and other 
National Front leaders, including the head of the Toilers’ Party Mozaffar 
Baqa’i, held demonstrations throughout the city. On 14 March, the British 
government issued a statement, “phrased with all the patronizing compla-
cency which Foreign Office drafters are capable when they put their minds 
to it,” which maintained that under the terms of its 1933 agreement with 
AIOC, Iran did not have the right to terminate AIOC’s concession unilater-
ally. Instead of slowing the momentum toward nationalization, it further 
inflamed Iranian nationalism. On 15 March, the Majlis approved the nation-
alization proposal from Mosaddeq’s oil committee by a unanimous vote. Five 
days later, the Senate—an upper house dominated by pro-shah figures—
approved a single-article bill nationalizing the oil industry.1

The resolution passed on 20 March was vaguely worded. A compromise 
between the National Front deputies and the Majlis’s conservative major-
ity, it stated that the oil industry was now the property of the Iranian people, 
without offering any guidance on how the process of nationalization would 
be carried out. Conscious of the bill’s limited scope, Mosaddeq drafted a new 
bill that laid out the “repossession” (khal’-e yad) of the oil industry in more 
specific detail, including provisions for the payment of compensation to 
AIOC.2 While Mosaddeq’s nationalists moved forward with their agenda in 
the Majlis, Iran’s oil workers took action against AIOC, which was slow to 
adjust to the changing political climate. Despite pleas from the Abadan re-
finery’s managers, AIOC’s management instituted labor cutbacks in late 
March—part of a multiyear efficiency drive—and canceled extended pay 
provisions.3 The measures, which were regarded by the British consul in 
Khorramshahr as unnecessarily provocative, sparked a series of demonstra-
tions among Iranian oil workers on 22 March. The British government re-
sponded by dispatching warships to the Persian Gulf, and the government 
deployed troops, tanks, and armored cars in Abadan. During the unrest, sol-
diers fired into crowds, killing and injuring a number of Iranian and British 
company employees. ‘Ala was forced to institute martial law throughout 
the oil-province of Khuzestan, as 50,000 Iranian workers went on strike. The 
demonstrations triggered similar actions in Isfahan, where the Tudeh Party 
organized solidarity protests.4

While some officials in London and at the British embassy in Tehran 
acknowledged the political and popular strength of the National Front, 
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British policy was deeply influenced by overriding economic concerns, in-
terest in retaining its strategic position, preoccupation with preserving im-
perial prestige, and cultural prejudices.5 Abadan was Britain’s most valuable 
overseas possession. AIOC’s operations contributed £170 million annu-
ally to the British balance of payments.6 Estimates of the company’s value 
ranged from £81 million (undepreciated book value) to £500 million (re-
placement cost). In addition, the Admiralty bought around 85 percent of its 
oil from AIOC at a substantial discount, paying roughly one-third of what 
the oil would cost on the commercial market.7 According to one projection 
from the Foreign Office, the loss of Iran’s oil would cost the sterling zone 
£100 million a year.8 The British feared that if Iran’s nationalization suc-
ceeded, other British assets, most notably the Suez Canal, would be threat-
ened. Britain’s “paramount objective” was retaining control of Iranian oil 
in British hands.9

The death of Razmara, Mosaddeq’s nationalization bill, and the rising 
violence in the oil fields worried the Truman administration, which feared 
the mounting crisis would end with Iran turning toward communism—an 
outcome that seemed likely if nationalization interrupted the flow of Ira
nian oil, creating internal economic and political disruptions. The strategic 
and economic consequences of such a development would be severe. Loss of 
Iran, the National Security Council (NSC) warned on 14 March, would allow 
the Soviets to threaten the oil-producing areas of the Persian Gulf. Iranian 
oil production in 1950 had been 664,315 barrels per day (bpd), 37.8 percent 
of total Middle East production (1,756,786 bpd) and almost 6.4 percent of 
total world production (10,418,073 bpd). The refinery complex at Abadan 
supplied more than one-fourth of all refined products outside the Western 
Hemisphere. A National Intelligence Estimate from January calculated that 
the loss of Iranian oil, which was sold in sterling, would have to be made up 
by “dollar oil,” increasing the dollar charge to Western Europe by $700 
million. Loss of Iran’s oil would retard European recovery and impose se-
vere financial hardships on Great Britain. Loss of all Middle East oil would 
make the Western European rearmament program “impossible of accom-
plishment” and force “profound changes” in Western Europe’s economic 
structure.10

The NSC recommended that the United States should “take all feasi-
ble steps to assure that Iran does not fall victim to communist control.” 
These steps included accelerated and expanded military, economic, and 
technical assistance, and political support and covert financial and other 
assistance to pro-Western and anti-communist elements in Iran. In addition, 
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the NSC recommended that the United States “press the United Kingdom to 
effect an early and equitable settlement of the Anglo-Iranian Oil Company 
dispute.” 11

With the stakes so high, officials in the Central Intelligence Agency rec-
ommended that the agency finance an “intensified propaganda campaign” 
in support of the shah and ‘Ala. Kermit Roosevelt, chief of the Near East and 
Africa Division of the Directorate of Plans, argued that there was an “im-
mediate” danger of losing Iran.12 The State Department regarded the CIA 
suggestions as “hurriedly prepared,” noting the difficulties in uniting the dis-
parate non-communist groups inside the country.13 Assistant CIA Director 
Allen W. Dulles shared Roosevelt’s views, but saw little role for the agency 
while the State Department controlled policy. “The steps which the CIA 
alone can take,” he wrote to CIA Director Walter Bedell Smith, would not be 
effective without “coordinated planning” with the rest of the United States 
government.14 Much to Roosevelt’s chagrin, an intensified covert campaign 
was not approved.15 Nevertheless, with the State Department’s approval, the 
CIA prepared emergency financial assistance for ‘Ala’s government.16

The central focus of American attention was securing an oil settlement 
that would preserve British control of the industry and contribute to Ira
nian economic well-being and internal political stability. Assistant Secre-
tary of State for Near Eastern, South Asian, and African Affairs George C. 
McGhee, who was on a trip to the Middle East, flew to Iran and conferred 
with British embassy officials and the shah before heading to London, where 
he met with AIOC and government officials. McGhee stressed that Iran was 
the most vulnerable point along the Soviet periphery and a country the So-
viets could conceivably take over without precipitating a third world war. 
With U.S. forces tied down in Korea, European defense arrangements still 
incomplete, and rearmament just getting underway, the United States 
wanted to avoid a crisis in Iran. The best course for AIOC to follow, McGhee 
advised, was to give formal recognition to the principle of nationalization 
while working out a “formula” for retaining effective control and dividing 
profits fifty-fifty. McGhee strongly recommended supporting the shah but 
warned that it was important not to weaken the shah by pressuring him to 
oppose nationalization openly.17

McGhee repeated these arguments in discussions with a British delega
tion in Washington in mid-April. McGhee urged the British to devise a deal 
that paid “lip service” to nationalization, assuaging Iranian nationalism 
without affecting “the actual control of the company’s operations.” The 
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British, however, did not believe it would be possible to make any real con-
cessions to Iranian nationalism without losing effective control of Iran’s 
oil. Control of oil—how much oil to produce, to whom it should be sold, 
and on what terms—was crucial because Iran could meet its foreign ex-
change needs at a much lower level of production and export than Britain 
needed to maintain the value of sterling. The most the British would con-
sider was allowing Iranian participation on the board of a new British-
owned company, which would hold the concession and AIOC’s Iranian 
assets, operate the industry, and share profits equally with Iran according 
to the fifty-fifty principle.18

Rather than negotiate, the British focused on finding a suitable replace-
ment for Razmara. British officials doubted the staying power of the Na-
tional Front. The Foreign Office’s Geoffrey Furlonge argued that the drive 
to nationalize could not maintain its “present pitch,” and that most Irani
ans “did not share the extremism of Mosaddeq’s supporters.” 19 As a replace-
ment for ‘Ala, British Ambassador Sir Francis Shepherd pressed the shah to 
appoint Sayyed Zia, a veteran pro-British politician, as prime minister. 
While wary of the National Front’s growing political support, the shah 
agreed to cooperate with Shepherd and back Zia at the appropriate time.20 
Before the British could arrange Sayyid Zia’s appointment, Mosaddeq and 
the National Front deputies on the oil committee proposed a new bill call-
ing for the liquidation of AIOC’s assets and outlining steps to implement na-
tionalization.21 The bill passed the committee and came before the Majlis 
on 27 April.

After ‘Ala abruptly resigned, Zia and the shah came up with a plan to fix 
matters in the Majlis. Conservative leader and Majlis Speaker Jamal Emami 
would propose Mosaddeq be named prime minister, assuming that Mosad-
deq would refuse the premiership, as he had done in the past. This would 
clear the way for Emami to nominate Zia, who was waiting with the shah 
at the palace. Mosaddeq apparently learned of Emami’s plan and, rather 
than reject the offer, addressed the Majlis and suggested the nationaliza-
tion bill be put to a vote. If it passed, he would accept Emami’s offer. The 
bill passed with a large majority and the Majlis named Mosaddeq prime 
minister on 27 April. The Senate confirmed his appointment the next day. 
The shah accepted Mosaddeq’s nomination and signed the nationalization 
bill, now known as the Nine-Point Nationalization Law, on 1 May.22 There 
was now a legal mandate to implement nationalization, and a government 
in place committed to carrying out that mandate.
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Nationalization: U.S. and British Reactions

Mosaddeq had not expected to become prime minister. The job carried con-
siderable risk—Razmara had been assassinated and no one had lasted more 
than a year in the office since Ahmed Qavam’s tenure in 1946–47. Faced with 
the immense task of successfully carrying out nationalization, many ex-
pected Mosaddeq to fail and leave office in disgrace. Conscious of the need 
to retain the support of the conservative elite, Mosaddeq kept on many of 
‘Ala’s cabinet members, including Finance Minister Ali Varasteh and Inte-
rior Minister Fazlollah Zahedi. Karim Sanjabi later noted that Mosaddeq’s 
cabinet “would appear both radical and monarchical,” thus preserving na-
tional unity at a time of crisis.23 The National Front’s progressive agenda, 
which included labor and welfare reforms, would have to wait. Mosaddeq 
also worked to maintain good relations with the shah, who told U.S. Am-
bassador Henry F. Grady that he “had no alternative” but to accept nation-
alization or risk being branded a national traitor.24 Combining shrewd 
management of Iran’s traditional players with his prestige and popular sup-
port, Mosaddeq came to office with more power than any prime minister 
in recent memory.

The British were hostile to the new government. According to Ambas-
sador Shepherd, Mosaddeq was an irrational “lunatic” representing Iran’s 
backward aristocratic class who had managed to stir up anti-British senti-
ment through demagoguery. Shepherd, an opinionated and somewhat de-
lusional official who had served in the Dutch East Indies in the period 
immediately before its independence and earlier in the Belgian Congo and 
Haiti, wrote that Mosaddeq “looks rather like a cab horse . . . ​[and] diffuses 
a slight reek of opium.” 25 Emami believed his nationalization campaign 
would fail. “Given a little rope,” Emami told Shepherd in early May, 
“Dr. Musaddiq would hang himself.” 26 Shepherd shared this view and be-
lieved Mosaddeq’s government would soon collapse. British assessments of 
the National Front dripped with contempt, and most officials in the Labour 
government regarded Iranian aspirations to run the oil industry as ludi-
crous.27 Foreign Secretary Herbert Morrison, the most aggressive member 
of Clement Attlee’s cabinet, warned on 1 May that Britain was in danger of 
losing prestige, as well as property, if it mishandled the situation. Like Shep-
herd, Morrison supported a policy that would pressure Mosaddeq to accept 
British proposals.28

Although Attlee personally opposed the use of force, the British govern-
ment had been considering military options since the beginning of the 
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crisis. On 20 March, Morrison tasked the chiefs of staff to explore practical 
possibilities for taking military action against Iran. There was widespread 
support for some sort of military response within the government and the 
opposition, as well as among the public. Minister of Defence Emmanuel 
Shinwell warned on 23 May that “if Persia was allowed to get away with 
[nationalization], Egypt and other Middle East countries would be encour-
aged to think they could try things on: the next thing might be an attempt 
to nationalize the Suez Canal.” The chiefs listed three options: a show of 
force in the Abadan area that would stop short of an actual invasion; inter-
vention to protect lives and property in the Abadan area and evacuate Brit-
ish nationals; and an invasion and occupation of Abadan and the oil fields 
in Khuzestan. Britain could send additional warships to the area, but with-
out the Indian Army, which had provided the troops for the 1941 invasion 
of Iran, it did not possess the necessary forces in the region to intervene 
swiftly and successfully. Although Britain possessed a powerful military, 
most of its units were tied up in Korea and Malaya or dedicated to the de-
fense of Western Europe, and its forces in the Middle East did not have the 
training and equipment that would be needed for a successful intervention. 
There was also the problem of what intervention would accomplish. The 
Abadan refinery could be supplied with crude oil brought in from nearby 
Kuwait, but as AIOC’s Chairman Fraser pointed out, its operation would be 
dependent on the cooperation of its 75,000 Iranian employees, which was 
highly unlikely if it were occupied by British troops.29

Although the United States and Britain did not agree on how best to ap-
proach the issue of Iran’s nationalization and the country’s new and asser-
tive nationalist government, the United States, like Britain, had no intention 
of recognizing nationalization in any substantive form. In an interview pub-
lished on 24 May, President Harry S. Truman told journalist Arthur Krock 
that the head of AIOC, Sir William Fraser, looked like a “typical nineteenth-
century colonial exploiter,” and that the British had dealt “ineptly and disas-
trously” with Iran. He cautioned, however, that “if the Iranians carry out 
their plans as stated, Venezuela and other countries on whose supply we de-
pend will follow suit.” Secretary of State Dean Acheson also criticized Brit-
ish policy, noting in his memoirs that “never had so few lost so much so 
stupidly and so fast,” but he consistently worked to maintain Anglo-American 
unity.30 George McGhee was harshly critical of AIOC and British government 
policies in Iran, but he feared permitting Iran to take over AIOC’s concession 
and produce oil independently “would jeopardize oil concessions held by 
the USA, United Kingdom, and other firms around the world.” 31 Paul Nitze, 
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the influential head of the Policy Planning Staff, thought AIOC’s leadership 
was incompetent and Mosaddeq “far preferable to the shah and his regime,” 
but was also determined that nationalization “fail.” 32

In meetings with the British, U.S. officials urged conciliation and cau-
tioned against applying pressure.33 Acheson warned British Ambassador 
Oliver Franks on 27 April that opposition to the nationalist movement would 
provide an opening for the Soviets. The British, according to the U.S. am-
bassador in London, did not appreciate this “unhelpful needling,” as it im-
plied the United States might prioritize assisting Iran over protecting British 
commercial and economic interests.34 The British suspected officials like 
George McGhee and Ambassador Grady hoped to undermine British oil in-
terests, potentially at the behest of American oil companies, though Grady 
regarded Mosaddeq’s act as “confiscation” and like McGhee saw national-
ization as a threat to U.S. interests.35

There was some sympathy for the British desire to remove Mosaddeq, 
particularly at the CIA. Deputy Director Allen Dulles put it in blunt terms 
on 9 May: “Have the shah throw out Mosaddeq,” he told CIA director Smith, 
“close the Majlis and temporarily rule by decree. At a later date a new pre-
mier could be installed with our help.” 36 In contrast, CIA station chief in 
Iran Roger Goiran doubted the “feasibility and wisdom” of any covert ac-
tion to remove Mosaddeq. He regarded the National Front as a potential bul-
wark against communism. In his opinion, the United States should support 
“legitimate indigenous liberal progressive movements,” rather than back the 
aristocracy and elite, who were corrupt and ineffective.37 A CIA report noted 
Mosaddeq’s broad public support and concluded it was “unlikely” that Mo-
saddeq could be overthrown “except by violence or by the establishment of 
a semi-dictatorial regime under the aegis of the shah.” Mosaddeq was not a 
communist and had shown hostility to the Soviet Union in the past.38 U.S. 
officials also believed Mosaddeq would try to retain access to Western mar-
kets to avoid an economic collapse.39

Given these realities, the State Department recommended that the United 
States try to work with Mosaddeq, and perhaps even offer him financial and 
military assistance. Now that nationalization had taken place, American ef-
forts focused on bringing the British and Iranians together in a mutually 
beneficial oil agreement.40 The United States would not oppose nationaliza-
tion publicly. To do so would inflame Iranian nationalism and potentially 
drive Mosaddeq and his supporters toward the Soviets. Britain was an 
important Cold War ally and shouldered a considerable portion of the West-
ern defense burden. U.S. officials also recognized the economic importance 
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of the AIOC concession and especially the Abadan refinery to Britain. “We 
have to remember that we are dealing with Britain’s most important eco-
nomic asset abroad,” McGhee argued during a State Department–Joint 
Chiefs of Staff meeting on 2 May.41

The United States strongly opposed British plans to use military force, 
however. On 11 May, the Foreign Office instructed Britain’s ambassador in 
the United States to ascertain the U.S. attitude on the possible use of force, 
noting that Britain was deeply concerned about the “world-wide con
sequences of our losing control of Persian oil, and the great danger of 
repercussions elsewhere in the Middle East if we tamely acquiesce in ejec-
tion from Persia.” 42 After Ambassador Oliver Franks outlined British plans, 
Acheson replied that while the United States recognized Britain’s right to use 
force to evacuate British citizens whose lives were in danger and would also 
support use of force in the event of open Soviet intervention or of a commu-
nist seizure of power, the United States had “grave misgivings” about the use 
of force in any other circumstances. Acheson also explained that the United 
States could not support any proposals by Britain that did not reflect accep
tance of the principle of nationalization. In the U.S. view, a proposal that did 
not accept that principle would not resolve the crisis.43

Acheson told the National Security Council on 16 May that British plans 
to use force were “sheer madness,” and that he was “unalterably opposed” to 
them. Other members agreed, but also argued that the United States 
“could not afford to be neutral” in the conflict between Britain and Iran 
because nationalization was likely to set a precedent that would lead other 
countries to take similar action. The situation was “highly contagious” and 
had to be contained. The United States should vigorously support British 
efforts to reach an “equitable settlement,” short of assisting them in the use 
of force against the “present Iranian government.” President Truman ap-
proved Acheson’s recommendation the following day.” 44 To make sure the 
British got the message, Acheson and McGhee reiterated their concerns 
about the use of force in meetings with British officials on 16 and 17 May 
and instructed the U.S. ambassador in London to take up the matter per-
sonally with Foreign Secretary Morrison.45

U.S. policy sought to balance British and Iranian interests. Given the po-
tential impact of Iran’s nationalization on other oil concessions, the United 
States also had to consider the interests of the major U.S. oil companies. On 
14 May, McGhee told American oil executives that U.S. objectives (in order of 
importance) were to avoid war, keep Iran on the side of the West, maintain 
the flow of oil from the Middle East, and protect concession rights in the 
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Middle East and other parts of the world. The United States believed that 
nationalization had to be accepted as an accomplished fact. Public support 
for nationalization and hatred for the British ran so deep that “threats to 
boycott Iran” would be ineffective and could threaten access to refined prod-
ucts from the Abadan refinery, which were “irreplaceable” in the global oil 
economy.46

An official U.S. statement released on 18 May made it clear that while 
the United States would not oppose nationalization in principle, it backed the 
British position. The statement condemned “any unilateral cancellation of 
clear contractual relationships,” and argued that the “efficient” operation 
of the Iranian oil industry would require technical expertise, capital, 
transportation, and marketing facilities. Elimination of AIOC would deprive 
Iran of these essentials, and the U.S. companies that possessed these capa-
bilities had “indicated . . . ​that they would not in the face of unilateral ac-
tion by Iran against the British company be willing to undertake operations 
in that country.” The Iranians, who were planning to initiate discussions 
with the British on implementation of nationalization, saw the statement 
as proof of U.S. support for the British. The British, in contrast, objected to 
its tone and complained that it was excessively neutral. Reflecting the po-
larized atmosphere in the United States, Life magazine called for Acheson’s 
dismissal for the imminent “loss of Iran.” 47

The Jackson Mission and the Shutdown of Iranian Exports

On 20 May, Finance Minister Ali Varasteh sent AIOC a letter declaring that 
Iran had nationalized the company’s holdings “in accordance with the acts 
of 15 and 20 March.” Varasteh invited the company to send a delegation to 
Iran to discuss plans to keep the industry operational, in a way that would 
retain “the experience and knowledge of the former oil company.” 48 
Under U.S. pressure, Morrison announced on 29 May that AIOC would send 
a delegation to Iran to begin discussions. While the British could not accept 
the right of the Iranian government to repudiate its contract with AIOC, they 
were prepared to consider a settlement that would involve some form of na-
tionalization, “provided it were satisfactory in other respects.” 49

On 10 June, an AIOC mission headed by its Deputy Chairman Basil Jack-
son arrived in Iran.50 Before leaving London, the AIOC team assembled 
briefs to inform Jackson’s negotiating position. The briefs instructed Jack-
son to emphasize the inability of the Iranians to operate the industry, point-
ing out the “immense complexity” of the Abadan refinery. Jackson should 
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note that 74 percent of Iran’s exports went to AIOC affiliates and the Admi-
ralty, while another 20 percent was sold to other major oil companies. If 
Iran proceeded with nationalization, it would lose access to this expertise 
and the markets, and be left with an unwieldy and expensive industry.51 
Presumably, once the Iranians realized they could not operate the industry 
successfully without British help, they would agree to British proposals that 
left control of the industry in AIOC’s hands.

The Iranian negotiators insisted that AIOC had to abide by the terms 
of the Nine-Point Nationalization Law. AIOC should surrender all proceeds 
earned since 20 March, with 25  percent set aside in an account from 
which AIOC would receive compensation. The company’s staff could con-
tinue to work as employees of the National Iranian Oil Company (NIOC), 
a new state-owned enterprise created by the 1 May nationalization law. 
Contracts, salaries, and benefits under AIOC would be honored by NIOC. 
Varasteh stated that he had no wish to “paralyze the Company’s operations,” 
and once the articles of the Nine-Point Law were executed, business would 
resume “under the same mechanism as had hitherto been in operation.” 52 
None of Jackson’s arguments regarding the operation of the industry per-
suaded the Iranian negotiators. “The Iranian oil industry was a child which 
the Western World would fondly nurture in any circumstances,” said Ka-
zem Hassibi, Mosaddeq’s oil expert. If operating the industry proved ex-
pensive initially, the losses would be made up quickly, as selling oil after 
nationalization would produce “eight or nine times” more revenue than 
Iran had received from AIOC.53

Jackson considered Iranian demands “wholly unacceptable” and refused 
to accept the Nine-Point Law as a basis for discussion. Jackson also rejected 
the Iranian position on British staff, arguing that they were accustomed to 
living and working under British management in a British-run company 
town and would never submit to Iranian supervision. On 19 June, AIOC 
made a counteroffer. It would establish a new company to operate the oil 
industry on behalf of NIOC, with profits shared on a fifty-fifty basis. AIOC 
would forgo compensation in exchange for a long-term contract to operate 
the oil fields and the Abadan refinery on behalf of Iran. AIOC would pay 
£10 million plus £3 million a month until permanent arrangements could 
be worked out.54 In effect, the deal would produce the appearance of na-
tionalization while allowing AIOC to continue in its current position. Am-
bassador Grady felt it to be a “most liberal offer.” 55

The Iranians rejected the British counteroffer and again insisted that 
talks had to be based on the Nine-Point Law. As discussions broke down, 



48 Chapter 2

Acheson pushed Grady to bring the shah into the fray, arguing that it was 
time for Iran’s monarch to “exert his leadership.” Grady met with the shah 
but found him depressed. The AIOC offer, the shah complained, had been 
“unfortunately phrased,” and the British had failed to provide terms with 
which the National Front could agree.56 Despite Grady’s efforts to keep the 
AIOC negotiators in Tehran, the Jackson mission left on 22 June without 
reaching a settlement.57 The company had assumed that Mosaddeq—once 
“educated” on his inability to operate the oil industry without British 
assistance—would capitulate. Once again, AIOC had misjudged the politi
cal strength of nationalization and squandered a potential opportunity to 
resolve the crisis.

The failure of the Jackson mission confirmed the British belief that it was 
fruitless to negotiate with Iran. Mosaddeq and his allies appeared deter-
mined to implement nationalization and place AIOC under Iranian control. 
Rather than pursue further discussions, the British decided to achieve their 
objectives through a combination of economic and political pressure. The 
British believed that cutting off Iranian oil exports would starve the Iranian 
state of revenues, thus demonstrating the dangers of nationalization by iso-
lating Iran from the global oil market and preventing it from profiting 
from its action against AIOC.

A boycott of Iranian oil appeared feasible for several reasons. The Brit-
ish were confident the other major oil companies would show solidarity with 
AIOC and refuse to do business with Iran. Before nationalization, around 
94 percent of the products and crude exported from Abadan were purchased 
by AIOC, its corporate subsidiaries, the Admiralty, or other large compa-
nies. Only 6  percent went to national companies operating in Western 
Europe or Latin America.58 Further strengthening the British position, 
73 percent of the world’s 1,500 tankers were under charter with AIOC or 
other major oil companies. Communist countries and Argentina controlled 
most of the rest.59 While the economic cost to AIOC of losing access to Ira
nian oil would be severe, the loss could be managed by increasing output 
in Kuwait, where AIOC held a 50 percent stake with U.S.-owned Gulf Oil, 
and from Iraq, where AIOC held 23.75 percent of the Iraq Petroleum Com
pany. A boycott could be reinforced with economic sanctions enforced by 
the British government, including freezing Iran’s sterling convertibility priv-
ileges and suspending shipments of strategic materials such as steel. Such 
actions might not prove “catastrophic” for Iran’s economy, which the Brit-
ish felt could withstand an oil shutdown, but would place pressure on the 
government.60
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Officials in the British government’s Persian Oil Working Group recog-
nized that a boycott would not be completely effective at ending Iranian oil 
exports. Peter Ramsbotham of the Foreign Office estimated on 25 June that 
Iran could produce around 265,340 barrels of crude and 102,054 barrels of 
products per day without foreign assistance.61 Although Mosaddeq might 
find some customers by offering oil at reduced prices, the British did not 
believe Iran would sell enough oil to pay for nationalization or affect the 
global oil market. In any event, they believed the pressures from the boy-
cott and sanctions would push Mosaddeq from power before damage to the 
global oil market or Iran’s internal economy became too serious. There was 
widespread skepticism regarding Iran’s ability to handle the industry, owing 
to culturally prejudicial notions of Iranian inferiority and lack of technical 
skill. Indeed, some felt that a few months of “inefficient operation” would 
cause such damage to the Abadan refinery that the Iranians would have no 
choice but to turn to Britain for aid.62

The second pillar of the British strategy was to create circumstances that 
would make it politically possible for the shah to replace Mosaddeq.63 Ann 
Lambton, a British specialist on Iran with close connections to the Foreign 
Office, believed that Britain should undermine Mosaddeq, encouraging the 
prime minister’s opponents to mobilize against him. Dr. Robin Zaehner, a 
British subject of Swiss origin who had headed a successful covert propa-
ganda operation in Iran in 1944, was sent to Iran and tasked with manag-
ing political operations inside the country. Lambton regarded Zaehner, an 
Oxford professor of oriental studies who was fluent in Persian, as a “man of 
great subtlety” who could organize public opinion from the bazaars upward, 
drawing on British assets in the city, including a network of bribery and pa-
tronage run by the Rashidian family, a merchant group that the British had 
cultivated during the war.64 Zaehner shared a room with Norman Dar-
byshire, an MI6 agent attached to the embassy. While Zaehner operated in 
a quasi-autonomous role, Darbyshire reported to Christopher Montague 
“Monty” Woodhouse, the local MI6 head of operations.65 Neither Darbyshire 
nor Zaehner were to inform the ambassador of their activities, and very 
little of their clandestine operations are revealed in Foreign Office records.

Needing the shah’s support to remove Mosaddeq, Ambassador Shepherd 
met with him on 30 June and urged him to replace the prime minister with 
a more pro-British figure.66 Shepherd still believed that Mosaddeq lacked 
staying power. He had become prime minister through “parliamentary ac-
cident,” and Shepherd felt that “respectable” political opinion did not sup-
port Mosaddeq and would revolt against him if granted the opportunity.67 
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While the British believed that the Iranian army would support the shah in 
a showdown with Mosaddeq, it would have to be clear that the shah was 
acting in Iran’s best interests and was not pulling British chestnuts out of 
the fire.68 There was relatively little British interest in continuing negotia-
tions with the Mosaddeq government after Jackson’s failure. Time and pres-
sure, through cutting off Iran’s access to oil revenue and the tactics of 
Shepherd, Zaehner, and Darbyshire, would eventually engineer Mosaddeq’s 
removal from power.

As in May, some within the U.S. government supported the idea of oust-
ing Mosaddeq. A memorandum drafted in the Office of Greek, Turkish and 
Iranian Affairs agreed with the British assessment that “no satisfactory com-
promise” could be reached with Mosaddeq, “[and] that it would therefore 
be most advantageous for that government to fall” as early as conditions 
permitted.69 Max Thornburg, Razmara’s former economic advisor and a 
friend of Allen Dulles at the CIA, told Acheson on 5 July that the shah should 
jail some of the “bad elements” and dissolve the Majlis. Eventually, Mosad-
deq would be forced out.70 In contrast, T. Cuyler Young, an American aca-
demic who advised the State Department on Iranian issues, argued that 
Mosaddeq was a historically popular figure with widespread support and 
warned that the United States would become unpopular if it sided openly 
with the British.71

Unlike the British, the United States had few concrete assets inside Iran 
that could be utilized to remove Mosaddeq. Gerald Dooher of the U.S. em-
bassy had been in contact with the Qashqa’i, a confederation of armed 
tribesmen in southern Iran, since 1948. The Qashqa’i had historically held 
their own against the Iranian military and enjoyed a degree of autonomy 
within their territory. They were anti-communist, and in early 1949 Dooher 
had incorporated the tribes into a “stay-behind” plan, to be implemented 
in the event that Iran was invaded by Soviet forces or fell to a communist 
government.72 On 25 June 1951, Dooher met with Qashqa’i leaders and sug-
gested to other U.S. officials that a lump sum of $1 million would buy their 
support.73 The Qashqa’i were pro-Mosaddeq. They were firmly opposed to 
Pahlavi rule, and they found Mohammed Reza “ridiculous.” They would not 
support a policy that favored the shah.74 The CIA focused on assembling an 
Iranian political force “for the propagation of U.S. views and policies to 
counteract the powerful influence of the Tudeh.” 75 The CIA’s actions were 
coordinated as part of Operation tpbedamn and focused on bolstering 
anti-communist forces, including the National Front, so their assets were 
poorly positioned to support a move against Mosaddeq’s government.
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A move against Mosaddeq appeared unwise due to divisions among ex-
isting pro-U.S. factions, the apparent weakness of the shah, and the strength 
of the National Front. The United States also worried about the impact of 
the cessation of Iranian oil exports and the shutdown of the oil industry. 
Closing the Abadan refinery and ending oil production would throw thou-
sands of Iranians out of work, further exacerbating labor tensions and 
potentially producing a new opening for the Tudeh to organize oil workers. 
The loss of oil revenue could undermine the Iranian government’s efforts 
to maintain order. Without funds the army and civil service would go un-
paid, development work would stall, and the domestic economy would grow 
more depressed, producing the ideal ingredients for a communist takeover. 
The State Department argued that the security of Iran and its continued ori-
entation toward the West were “clearly of paramount importance,” and 
that any solution to the oil controversy had to take these objectives into ac-
count. McGhee recommended letting the British know that if the choice 
was between losing Iran or letting U.S. companies buy Iranian oil and/or 
supply technicians, the United States would choose the latter.76

Meanwhile, while negotiations stalled in Tehran, Mosaddeq established 
a committee to take over the oil industry and operate it on a provisional 
basis according to the Nine-Point Law. The committee, led by National Front 
orator Hossein Makki, arrived in Abadan on 19 June. Makki announced that 
the refinery and oil fields were now the property of the Iranian people be-
fore a massive crowd assembled in front of the company headquarters.77 
Two days later, National Front investigators raided the house of Norman 
Seddon, AIOC’s chief representative in Iran, and discovered a trove of doc-
uments outlining the company’s campaign to influence the Iranian press.78 
The following day Mosaddeq addressed the Majlis and declared that no ne-
gotiations would be possible unless the “former company” accepted the 
terms of the Nine-Point Law. As the assembly cheered his resolve, a crowd 
surged through Baharestan Square, tearing down AIOC billboards.79 Mo-
saddeq, Grady reported, was “riding a wave” of nationalist fervor, and would 
no longer shy away from using “terrorism” against those who opposed him. 
Jackson’s proposals had only fueled the “intense hatred” felt toward the 
British.80

On 25 June, Makki’s provisional committee in Abadan announced that 
“Foreign Staff, who continue to stay in their posts and serve loyally, will 
enjoy the respect and affection of the Iranian people.” Those who were not 
willing to work for NIOC were free to leave.81 In response, AIOC threatened 
to shut down all operations. The Iranians countered with an anti-sabotage 
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bill, which provided stiff penalties for interfering with oil operations, lead-
ing AIOC General Manager Eric Drake to flee to Iraq. Refusing to comply 
with the Iranian demand that tanker captains sign a receipt acknowledg-
ing NIOC’s title to the oil they were loading, AIOC ceased loading oil for its 
affiliates, and AIOC’s major customers began diverting their oil tankers else-
where.82 On 28 June, Foreign Secretary Morrison announced publicly that 
operations in Abadan could no longer continue.83 By 1 July, exports of oil 
and oil products had ceased, though production continued at a declining 
rate while storage tanks remained unfilled in Abadan. When storage tanks 
were full, the refinery would have to shut down.

Harriman Comes to Iran

The United States believed that the British policy of pressuring Iran could 
lead to disaster. Ambassador Grady wrote on 1 July that Mosaddeq enjoyed 
the support of “95 to 98 percent” of all Iranians: “it is utter folly to try 
and push him out.” If the British believed they could remove him through 
economic pressure, they were making a “tragic mistake.” 84 The United States 
feared that the British might intervene militarily. Both sides, Acheson re-
called, were “pressing their luck to the point of suicide.” Alarmed by the 
situation in Iran, President Truman approved a National Security Council 
recommendation that the United States “bring its influence to bear” to ef-
fect a settlement between Iran and the British, “making clear both our rec-
ognition of the rights of sovereign states to control their natural resources 
and the importance we attach to international contractual relationships.” 
Mosaddeq wrote to Truman on 28 June, stating his “readiness to enter into 
negotiations” on the basis of the nationalization law. Truman proposed 
sending veteran statesman Averell Harriman to Iran to find a formula that 
would allow Iran and Britain to resume negotiations.85

The British opposed the idea, arguing that negotiations be paused while 
they awaited a decision from the International Court of Justice (ICJ), where 
they had lodged a complaint in late May charging that the Iranian nation-
alization was illegal. An interim judgment from the Court on 5 July in-
structed each side to abstain from any actions until a ruling had been 
delivered. The British seized on the judgment as a way head off action by 
the United States, providing more time for British agents and supporters in 
Iran to destabilize the government and remove Mosaddeq from office. Am-
bassador Franks in Washington admitted to Acheson on 4 July that his 
government had no concrete plan for new discussions and was content to 
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stall until Mosaddeq fell from power.86 Nevertheless, the British agreed 
to let Harriman try to get talks started again. Truman wrote to Mosaddeq 
on 8 July, urging him to observe the ICJ decision while offering Harriman 
as a mediator “to talk over with you this immediate and pressing prob
lem.” 87 Mosaddeq agreed to receive Harriman, though he refused to accept 
the ICJ’s competence to rule in a dispute between a sovereign nation and a 
private corporation.88

Averell Harriman, son of railroad baron E. H. Harriman, was an experi-
enced diplomat who had served as ambassador to the Soviet Union from 
1943 to 1946 and to Britain from April to October 1946. Acheson instructed 
Harriman to find some “common denominator” to unite the Iranian and 
British positions. To achieve their goal of a settlement that maintained 
AIOC’s presence in Iran, the United States needed to bring the British 
around to recognizing the legitimacy of nationalization, while convincing 
the Iranians to abandon their plans to run the oil industry without British 
management. At the very least, talks could proceed slowly, giving time 
for “sensible” Iranians like the shah to pull Mosaddeq away from his rigid 
position and agree to a settlement that would allow Iranian oil to con-
tinue flowing.89

Harriman’s first job was to get the British onboard. Stopping in Paris on 
his way to Tehran, Harriman met with Hugh Gaitskell, Attlee’s chancellor 
of the exchequer, and assured him that the United States shared Britain’s 
interest in retaining control of Iran’s oil industry. The goal of negotiations 
would be to convince Mosaddeq that oil “could not be sold without British 
help.” Harriman was prepared to make concessions to Iranian nationalism, 
but not at the expense of British economic interests or Western oil holdings 
elsewhere.90 Most British officials expected Harriman’s efforts would fail. 
Norman Seddon of AIOC guessed that Harriman would find Mosaddeq 
overly stubborn. When talks dragged out, “moderates” in the Majlis and 
elsewhere would rally against the National Front and force Mosaddeq from 
power.91 The forthcoming talks were thus one part good-faith effort to bring 
Mosaddeq around to the British and American view and one part delaying 
maneuver designed to give Mosaddeq’s opposition more time to organize 
against him.

Harriman arrived in Iran on 14 July. Accompanying him were oil expert 
Walter J. Levy and interpreter Colonel Vernon Walters, a career army officer 
whose linguistic abilities would take him on many similar “silent missions” 
in the future.92 Conditions in Tehran were tense. On his way from Tehran’s 
airport to the center of the city, demonstrators surrounded Harriman’s car, 
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pelting it with stones and trash. Most of the crowd were Tudeh supporters, 
but some of the demonstrators were probably paid by CIA agents in a “false-
flag” operation meant to draw the city’s security forces into cracking down 
on communist activity. Toilers’ Party chief Mozaffar Baqa’i’s paper, Shahed, 
blamed the violence on AIOC and accused the company of working secretly 
with the Tudeh to sabotage the Harriman mission. Furious at the relative 
passivity of the police, Mosaddeq dismissed Interior Minister Fazlollah 
Zahedi and Tehran’s police chief.93

Brushing off the initial violence of his arrival, Harriman met with 
Mosaddeq on 16 July. Mosaddeq was willing to concede Iran’s inability to 
market oil on its own—despite frequent claims to the contrary, Mosaddeq 
had a fairly firm grasp of the international oil industry—but he refused to 
allow AIOC control over production. The problem with the Jackson 
proposal, Mosaddeq explained, was that it merely replaced AIOC with a 

Averell Harriman (second from left) went to Iran in July 1951 at the request of 
President Truman (second from right), to act as mediator. In reality, he pushed  
for a deal that would benefit the British and tried to convince the shah to remove 
Mosaddeq as prime minister. Also pictured: Secretary of State Dean Acheson  
(first on left) and Secretary of Defense George C. Marshall (first on right).  
Truman Library, Accession No. 65-2759.
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new company. AIOC had offered Iran £10 million pounds “to shut up and 
be quiet.” 94

To Harriman, the situation in Iran appeared increasingly unstable. This 
was partially due to British intrigues against Mosaddeq. Court Minister ‘Ala 
complained that British agents were running rampant, dispensing bribes 
and patronage, while the British military attaché went on “shooting trips” 
in order to meet with tribal leaders and organize unrest in the provinces.95 
Harriman was not impressed with Mosaddeq, whom he found “rigid” and 
consumed with anti-British animus. At the same time, however, the National 
Front appeared to enjoy broad public support. Harriman met with the shah 
and ‘Ala to discuss the possibility of replacing Mosaddeq. They explained 
that this was politically impossible because the country was solidly behind 
Mosaddeq on the oil issue. With the opposition disorganized and the shah 
unwilling to provide leadership, there was no way to engineer Mosaddeq’s 
removal. The only viable course was to settle the oil issue through negotia-
tion, one that would protect British interests without openly contravening 
the principle of nationalization.96

Harriman and Levy worked to bring the Iranians around to proposals 
that would allow AIOC to remain in the country. Levy, an oil industry con
sultant who had worked with the Office of Strategic Services during World 
War II and as an advisor to the Marshall Plan, met with Kazem Hassibi, Mo-
saddeq’s oil advisor. The British derided Hassibi as a “second-rate oil engi-
neer,” but he understood oil production and would not be misled by 
arguments emphasizing British technical proficiency.97 Levy chose to focus 
on the integrated international market for oil. He argued that even if Iran 
could produce its own oil, without the cooperation of the major companies 
it had no way to transport or sell it for a profit. There was an oversupply of 
oil, Levy explained, and if Iranian oil was to “find a place,” the Iranian gov-
ernment must be prepared to act “in a cooperative spirit.” That meant com-
ing to terms with AIOC.98

Harriman presented Mosaddeq with a formula that called for Iran to 
enter into negotiations with the British on the basis of the “principle of 
nationalization” in the 20 March resolution, a much broader and vaguer 
piece of legislation than the Nine-Point Law. Mosaddeq admitted on 23 
July that Iran could not market oil without help from AIOC—a sign that 
Levy’s pressure on Hassibi had been effective. If the British accepted the 
principle of nationalization, Iran would negotiate an agreement that prom-
ised “effective management” of the industry. Mosaddeq agreed to receive a 
British mission, provided they abide by Harriman’s formula.99
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The opening for new negotiations was narrow. Mosaddeq’s ally Kashani 
warned Harriman that “blood would flow” if nationalization was impeded 
in any way.100 Harriman recommended Britain send a “responsible and skill-
ful” negotiator. In a swipe at Ambassador Shepherd, he noted that British 
reports from Tehran had not been “realistic,” while AIOC had exercised “ab-
sentee management” and was giving the British government bad advice.101 
It was crucial that the language of negotiations and the final settlement 
conform “as far as possible to Iranian public sensibilities.” 102 Recogniz-
ing the hatred most Iranian felt toward AIOC, Levy suggested a group 
of companies—organized into a consortium—could manage distribution of 
Iran’s oil exports. AIOC would “dilute” its share of the industry to make 
room for these new partners. He warned that the Soviets could easily step 
in to supply Iran with a market, propping up Mosaddeq indefinitely and 
turning Iran into a “Yugoslavia in reverse,” unless the British made conces-
sions and allowed other companies into Iran.103

The British doubted Levy’s proposals would work. They did not believe 
that private oil companies would put up the capital for a share of AIOC’s 
operation, and they were skeptical that the Iranians would accept it: “It is 
questionable whether dilution, except with Persian blood, would be of any 
interest,” one AIOC analysis concluded.104 Moreover, the “dilution” idea ran 
counter to British interests, as it would limit AIOC’s ability to manage the 
price and production of Iranian oil and reduce the Treasury’s ability to max-
imize the positive benefits from Iranian oil to Britain’s balance of pay-
ments.105 Finally, British officials—again guided by Shepherd’s advice—felt 
that the shah and his supporters would agree eventually to an arrangement 
similar to the Jackson proposal from June. If Britain stood firm, its friends 
in Iran would force Mosaddeq to accept the British offer or resign.106 For these 
reasons, the British ignored Levy’s recommendations. Instead of dilution, 
their offer to Mosaddeq would be based on the Jackson proposal, “dressed 
up” with some “sweetenings” to entice Mosaddeq into accepting it.107

The Stokes Proposal

The Attlee government selected Lord Privy Seal Sir Richard Stokes, a 
businessman with ties to the Labour Party but little knowledge of Iran, to 
head the mission. His mandate was limited: the British government was 
not prepared to entertain terms that went beyond Jackson’s proposal from 
June. Stokes, a businessman more akin to AIOC’s pugnacious Chairman Sir 
William Fraser than to the smooth diplomat Harriman, was not well suited 
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to his task. He was inclined to talk down to the Iranians, considered Mo-
saddeq “feminine” and irrational, and frequently used clumsy and insulting 
language during discussions.108 Meanwhile, Prime Minister Attlee declared 
in the House of Commons on 1 August that Britain would never abandon 
Abadan, and the British kept a military option in reserve should negotia-
tions fail.109

In his first meeting with Stokes on 5 August, Mosaddeq insisted that 
AIOC’s relationship with Iran was over. The “former company” was enti-
tled to compensation, which he was ready to recognize according to existing 
precedents, specifically the British Coal Nationalization Act of 1945. The 
two parties were “divorced”; all that remained was negotiating the terms 
of the separation. Stokes responded that this was more than “divorce”: Iran 
sought to starve its “ex-wife” by making it impossible for AIOC to oper-
ate.110 Stokes made his official offer on 13 August. AIOC assets would be 
transferred to Iran, in recognition of the principle of nationalization, but 

Richard Stokes, Lord Privy Seal (center), at London Airport shortly before his 
departure for Iran. On his right is Sir Francis Shepherd, British ambassador to Iran, 
and on his left Sir Donald Fergusson, Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Fuel 
and Power. BP Archive 78147 © BP plc.
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the industry would be operated by a “purchasing organization” set up to 
buy all Iranian oil for global distribution. An operating company set up by 
AIOC would take care of production and refining. Profits would be divided 
on a fifty-fifty basis, with compensation for AIOC included in operating 
costs. The board of the purchasing organization would include Iranian rep-
resentatives, but the organization itself would function as a subsidiary of 
AIOC.111 Stokes did not offer much beyond Jackson’s proposals of June—
the terms contained the appearance of nationalization with none of the 
substance. As one astute observer later wrote, “the British attitude was 
that, in return for their recognizing the principle of nationalization, the 
Persian government should forgo its insistence on that principle.” 112

Mosaddeq rejected Stokes’s proposal. He felt the arrangement gave AIOC 
an effective monopoly over Iranian oil. Although Harriman admitted pri-
vately that the British plan could result in “camouflage for the complete re-
turn of British control” unless adequate safeguards were included in the 
final agreement, he lobbied vigorously for the plan.113 Mosaddeq charged 
that the British offer failed to conform to the definition of nationalization 
stipulated by the law and by Harriman’s formula. As talks continued, Stokes 
pushed back against Mosaddeq’s presumption that Iran could manage the 
industry without foreign oversight. “No prudent businessman would dream 
of entering into long term contracts that are dependent on an industry run 
by Persians,” he asserted. British control of the oil operations was an “es-
sential safeguard.” 114 Stokes seemed confident that the Iranians would ac-
cept his arguments. “Whilst [Iran] had the oil we had the know-how,” he 
told a group of Iranian senators on 16 August; “they would kill themselves 
if they did not come to an arrangement with us.” 115 Wary of antagonizing 
nationalist sentiment, the shah urged Stokes to accept a deal with Mosad-
deq that would allow the British staff to work under NIOC management. 
Stokes rejected this idea. “None of the British staff,” he said, “would stay 
unless they were under contractual obligations to a predominantly British 
controlled administration.” Meanwhile, British officials discussed plans to 
evacuate the British staff from the oil fields to Abadan. Should Mosaddeq 
respond by canceling British residency permits, “the only means . . . ​of 
hanging on would be to use force.” 116

On 18 August, Iran submitted its counterproposal. NIOC would retain all 
oil assets and sell oil directly to AIOC and other customers, according to 
“ordinary commercial contracts.” Iran recognized the need for foreign tech-
nicians, but rejected the purchasing organization, calling it a ploy “to re-
strict the sovereignty of Persia.” AIOC staff were welcome to remain in Iran 
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and work for NIOC.117 Harriman felt the prime minister’s counterproposal 
was “totally unacceptable.” 118 In his opinion, the Iranian demands ran 
counter to “well-known commercial methods of the international supply 
and distribution of oil.” 119 In other words, Harriman resisted the very idea 
of Iran attempting to sell oil on its own terms. Bringing Stokes and Mosad-
deq together on 19 August, Harriman noted that the United States was anx-
ious to help Iran; Mosaddeq had repeatedly warned that a Tudeh takeover 
was imminent without American assistance, but Harriman emphasized that 
the “whole principle of U.S. assistance . . . ​is to help other countries to help 
themselves.” 120 The implication was clear: unless Mosaddeq agreed to 
Stokes’s proposal, additional help from the United States would not be 
forthcoming.

Stokes and Harriman repeatedly urged the shah to intervene and to re-
place Mosaddeq, but the shah refused to move against his popular prime 
minister.121 On 22 August, Stokes presented Mosaddeq with an ultimatum: 
either accept British management of day-to-day operations or abandon ne-
gotiations. Under mounting pressure from the shah and facing the united 
front of Stokes and Harriman, Mosaddeq offered some new concessions. He 
accepted Stokes’s proposal that Iran’s oil should be managed by a purchas-
ing organization but continued to insist that British staff become employ-
ees of NIOC, pledging that he would guarantee their security.122 Mosaddeq’s 
shift represented a potential breakthrough. Stokes, however, had already 
abandoned hope for a settlement. As he wrote to Attlee: “I felt obliged to go 
as far as possible to meet Musaddiq, if only to convince Harriman and pub-
lic opinion . . . ​I had made every effort.” Stokes believed that if negotiations 
broke down, the failure should rest on “Persian insistence on management 
arrangements which neither the British staff in Persia nor any other staff . . . ​
could possibly be expected to accept.” 123 Stokes rejected Mosaddeq’s final 
offer, and left Tehran on 23 August. At Harriman’s insistence, Stokes’s state-
ment described the talks as suspended rather than broken off, phrasing 
that left the door open for further discussions.124

Harriman blamed Mosaddeq for the breakdown. In his report to Acheson, 
he complained that the prime minister had suggested he was open to having 
AIOC technicians remain in Iran, “and then completely refused to accept 
any arrangement which would make it possible for them to work.” 125 For 
Harriman, the Iranian insistence on national control of the oil industry 
was absurd. For the British, the episode confirmed that Mosaddeq was an 
unreasonable and unreliable negotiator, and that American efforts to use 
“soft soap” and placate Iranian nationalism only encouraged his obstinacy.126 
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Playing on American concerns, Attlee wrote to Truman and argued that 
Mosaddeq’s actions had left Iran more vulnerable to communist pressure. 
The United States should support Britain and force Mosaddeq to yield 
“to the logic of facts.” 127 While Mosaddeq had bent somewhat to the 
Anglo-American terms, Stokes’s refusal to go beyond the Jackson pro-
posals doomed the August talks to failure. The United States, rather than 
act as a neutral mediator, had tried to push Iran closer to the British po-
sition. The result was a breakdown that set the stage for AIOC’s ejection 
from Iran.

Scuttle

While Harriman and Stokes were seeking a negotiated solution, British 
agents and Mosaddeq’s conservative opposition maneuvered to oust him. 
Zaehner made contact with the shah’s Swiss tutor and confidant, Ernest 
Perron, who reported on 27 August that the shah was eager to remove Mo-
saddeq and replace him with Sayyed Zia, now that the Stokes mission had 
failed.128 Zaehner wrote that the British would keep Zia “on the rails,” and 
ensure that he offered AIOC suitable terms for remaining in the country.129 
According to Shepherd, Majlis deputies feared opposing the National Front 
in upcoming elections and wanted Mosaddeq gone before Iranians went to 
the polls in early 1952. Shepherd recommended Britain do nothing “which 
might contribute to [Mosaddeq’s] survival,” including participating in new 
negotiations.130

For the United States, the failure of the Stokes and Harriman missions 
made a bad situation even worse. The United States strongly opposed British 
military intervention, which might trigger a Soviet response and divide 
world opinion. The United States did not favor leaving Mosaddeq in power, 
however. According to McGhee, the United States could “explore every ave
nue leading towards a change in government in Iran,” but should at the same 
time emphasize to Britain that the main goal was “to make sure Iran does 
not fall victim to communism.” 131 Acheson also felt that Mosaddeq should 
not be propped up. He froze progress on the Export-Import Bank loan on 
24 August.132 Proceeding with financial assistance to Iran would place “un-
due strain” on Anglo-American relations.133 When he met Attlee in London 
on 30 August, Harriman suggested they do everything possible to bolster the 
shah “to act when the situation permits.” 134 The United States would neither 
support Mosaddeq nor support direct action to remove him from power.
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With negotiations suspended, tensions between Britain and Iran contin-
ued to increase. On 5 September, Mosaddeq revoked the residency permits 
of AIOC personnel still in Iran. Unless they agreed to work under NIOC, all 
British nationals would have to leave by 4 October. Shepherd approached 
the shah, suggesting that the situation had grown “dangerous,” and imply-
ing that “the use of force” might be necessary. The time had come to dis-
miss Mosaddeq, who had botched the negotiations and forced the oil 
industry to shut down, dooming the country’s economy.135 Facing an elec-
tion in October and feeling mounting pressure from the Conservative Party 
led by a bellicose Winston Churchill, Attlee and Morrison sent four addi-
tional destroyers to the Persian Gulf, bringing the total number of British 
warships threatening Abadan to fourteen. The Bank of England suspended 
Iran’s sterling trade privileges, revoked export licenses, and denied virtu-
ally all its dollar exchange. AIOC issued a statement warning it would 
pursue legal action against any company, government, or individual that 
purchased “stolen” Iranian oil. In the words of a Labour cabinet minister, 
“whoever bought Iranian oil bought a lawsuit with it.” 136

Shepherd believed that the opposition to Mosaddeq was “gradually sum-
moning up [the] courage” to act, “if only the shah can be induced to take a 
strong line.” 137 The State Department disagreed, and informed the Foreign 
Office on 22 September that while it was not U.S. policy “[to] discourage 
the shah from dismissing Musaddiq if he felt politically able to do so,” they 
did not think this was the case.138 Attlee wrote Truman on 25 September, 
warning that Mosaddeq’s actions left him with the choice of submitting to 
the eviction of AIOC’s British staff or intervening to secure Abadan. Sub-
mission to eviction would have dire consequences not only for British in-
terests in the Middle East but for those of the United States as well, Attlee 
argued. It would be a blow to British and Western prestige and influence 
and would leave a vacuum in Iran which the Soviets would seek to fill. As 
an alternative to armed intervention, which Attlee (almost alone in his gov-
ernment) opposed, he implored Truman to back Britain in an urgent effort 
to convince the shah to replace Mosaddeq with a government with which 
Britain could negotiate on a “reasonable basis.” 139

The United States continued to strongly oppose military intervention. Ac-
cording to Secretary of Defense Robert Lovett, British thinking was based 
on “bad intelligence.” If troops were landed in Abadan, they would find the 
situation unmanageable.140 Although the British had improved their capa-
bility to intervene since July, Iran had strengthened its forces in the region. 
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In addition, if British forces attacked Abadan while AIOC personnel were 
still there, there was a high likelihood of significant civilian casualties, not 
to mention damage to the refinery. If they waited until AIOC personnel left, 
intervention would no longer have a humanitarian justification and would 
be seen as an exercise in gunboat diplomacy to protect property. In a larger 
sense, the British inability to utilize force to support its policy without U.S. 
approval and assistance was yet another indication of Britain’s decline as a 
great power.141

Newly arrived U.S. Ambassador Loy W. Henderson and Shepherd met 
with the shah on 26 September and urged him to replace Mosaddeq to avoid 
a permanent shutdown of the oil industry.142 Despite this pressure, the shah 
chose not to dismiss Mosaddeq from office. Doing so on the eve of AIOC’s 
withdrawal and with British warships surrounding Abadan would have in-
vited a fierce nationalist response. The shah also would be abandoning his 
public stance of supporting nationalization to side with the hated British, 
who were once again pushing their favorite Sayyed Zia for prime minister. 
Though he frequently consulted the British embassy, Mohammed Reza 
Pahlavi had a deep and bitter distrust of the British, who had overthrown 
his father in 1941. Ayatollah Hossein Borujerdi of Qom, the marja-e taqlid 
or “figure for emulation” for Shi’a Muslims and the most influential religious 
figure in Iran, published an open letter to the shah on 20 September declar-
ing that all Iranians should stand together against the British invasion 
threat. On 28 September, ‘Ala told Henderson that while the shah hoped to 
remove Mosaddeq, the time had not yet come to do so. The next day, the 
shah himself explained to Henderson his reasoning, pointing out that even 
his father—a much stronger ruler—had only taken action when he knew the 
nation was with him.143

Without the shah, and with the United States still firmly opposed to 
armed intervention, the British were left with no choice but to stand down. 
On 27 September, Attlee’s cabinet agreed that withdrawal from Abadan was 
preferable to an open break in relations with the United States.144 Iranian 
troops entered Abadan that same day and occupied the refinery without re
sistance. Mosaddeq delivered a victory speech to the thousands assembled 
in Tehran’s Baharestan Square. When the crowd began chanting “Death to 
the British,” he urged them to stop and “pray to God Almighty to lead the 
British to the path of justice [and] recognize our lawful rights . . . ​that 
God may open their eyes.” 145 Henderson, however, found Mosaddeq pri-
vately defiant. The Iranian oil industry would now be operated by Iranian 
technicians, he said. If it could find no market, Iranian oil would remain in 
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the ground for future generations. Henderson’s points regarding Iran’s im-
minent loss of oil revenues had little effect.146

On 4 October, the British cruiser HMS Mauritius took on a raft of pas-
sengers from the port of Abadan. The few men, dressed in shirtsleeves and 
khakis, toted their belongings in a handful of valises and hastily packed 
suitcases. The Mauritius would take them fifty miles up the Shatt al-Arab 
to Basra in pro-British Iraq. In a last act of defiance, the passengers, accom-
panied by the ship’s band, sang an unpublished and somewhat obscene ver-
sion of the venerable marching song, “Colonel Bogey’s March.” It was, in 
the words of one Times editorial, “a humiliating defeat.” 147 While only a few 
were aware of it at the time, an important turning point in global history 
had been reached. Iran had bested an imperial power, seized its assets, and 
ousted its nationals. According to Peter Ramsbotham of the Foreign Office, 
the retreat from Abadan—not Indian Independence—marked the real “end 
of empire” for Great Britain.148 Months of negotiations, posturing, pressure 
tactics, and covert maneuvers had failed to save AIOC. The shah’s decision 

The last of AIOC’s staff departs Abadan on HMS Mauritius. BP Archive 64874  
© BP plc.
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to remain inactive and the U.S. refusal to back military action had forced 
the British to withdraw. Fifty years after the D’Arcy Concession, British 
control of Iranian oil had come to an end.

Conclusion

On 26 September, Henry Villard wrote his boss, Policy Planning Staff Chair-
man Paul Nitze, that the British were the single greatest obstacle to resolv-
ing the Iranian oil crisis. Mosaddeq might eventually prove flexible during 
discussions, but the British obsession with removing him would sabotage 
any chance of a settlement. Worse, it might permanently turn Iran against 
the West. “British intrigue,” Villard warned, “is the surest way of increas-
ing Iranian antagonism and preventing any sort of agreement.” 149

Villard’s memorandum represented a strain of frustration running 
throughout the U.S. government. The U.S. position on Iran’s nationalization 
mirrored that of Great Britain: Iran could not be permitted to seize control 
of its oil and had to be forced into an arrangement with AIOC or another 
major oil company preserving private control over its oil resources. British 
inflexibility and behind-the-scenes maneuvers to remove Mosaddeq were 
counterproductive. According to Henderson, the British position had grown 
“unrealistic,” and their public statements indicated they lacked a “grasp of 
the situation.” 150 From the U.S. point of view, the crisis of May had by Oc-
tober become a catastrophe, with the oil industry in Iran shuttered, the shah 
subdued, and Mosaddeq’s National Front triumphant. An oil-less Iran faced 
economic cataclysm, while the continuing dispute with the British would 
aggravate anti-Western sentiment in the country and potentially strengthen 
the Tudeh Party. While the British focused on removing Mosaddeq, the 
United States still sought a solution that would restart the oil industry and 
preserve Iran from communist control while not endangering U.S. interests 
in the region. The struggle for Iran would continue.



3	 Search for a Settlement

The struggle for Iran came before the United Nations Security Council in 
October 1951, pitting British claims regarding the “sanctity of contracts” 
against Iranian arguments supporting the primacy of national sovereignty. 
The United Nations declined to intervene, leading the World Bank to become 
involved in the elusive search for a settlement. American officials also con-
tinued to seek an agreement with Mosaddeq that would resolve the oil dis-
pute, preserve the position of Western corporations, stabilize conditions 
inside Iran, and prevent the country’s fall to communism. A settlement re-
mained out of reach for several reasons. Anglo-American differences grew 
deeper. The British believed that economic pressure from the oil boycott, 
combined with internal political intrigues, would force Mosaddeq from 
power. In contrast, U.S. officials feared that economic pressure would in-
crease Iran’s vulnerability to communist influence. Mosaddeq, meanwhile, 
fought to maintain his position, expand the mandate of the National Front 
through free and fair elections, and bring an end to the oil crisis without 
sacrificing Iranian national interests. Iranian conservatives sought ways to 
force Mosaddeq out of office, while the Tudeh continued to view him as a 
bourgeois nationalist. The shah maintained a middle ground, publicly sup-
porting nationalization even as he conspired against Mosaddeq in private.

Mosaddeq at the United Nations

After abandoning the option to use military force in Abadan, the British 
government decided to take its case to the United Nations Security Council. 
The British believed the move offered potential strategic and legal ad-
vantages. It would allow Britain to argue against Iran in a public forum, 
appealing to global opinion and emphasizing the threat of Iran’s actions to 
the sanctity of contracts. A show of diplomatic strength would offer Britain 
a face-saving maneuver to maintain prestige. Calling out Mosaddeq pub-
licly would weaken his domestic support, while strengthening the resolve 
of the opposition and the shah. Finally, the Labour government, facing an 
election challenge from the Conservative Party in late October, was under 
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immense pressure to maintain the diplomatic offensive against Iran in 
the wake of the humiliating “scuttle” from Abadan.

Although U.S. Secretary of State Dean Acheson had argued that a “new 
element” needed to be injected into the crisis, he believed the move to the 
United Nations was ill-advised. Acheson worried that Mosaddeq would pre
sent damaging evidence of AIOC interference in Iran, mismanagement, 
and political tampering before an international audience. In addition, the 
statements presented to the United Nations would harden each side’s nego-
tiating stance, making it more difficult to find a solution. Even if the British 
had the votes—an outcome few in Washington felt was likely, given the rel-
ative weakness of the British claim—the Soviet Union could veto a motion 
against Iran, producing an embarrassing scenario that allowed the Soviets 
to represent themselves as the champion of small nations. To make matters 
worse, Mosaddeq was planning to come to the United States to defend 
his country at the United Nations. A letter expressing sympathy and sup-
port from President Truman intended for British Prime Minister Clement 
Attlee had been mistakenly delivered to Mosaddeq, giving him the false 
impression that the U.S. government welcomed his visit.1

The apparent show of support from the United States came as the prime 
minister consolidated his political position inside Iran. Mosaddeq now en-
joyed the support of the religious leadership in the wake of a call for na-
tional unity issued in September by the influential cleric Ayatollah Hossein 
Borujerdi. Ayatollah Abolqassem Kashani, a vocal anti-British cleric and an 
important member of the National Front coalition, demonstrated the power 
of his street organization by closing the bazaars on 30 September. The Ma-
jlis voted to table all criticism of Mosaddeq as he prepared to travel to New 
York City to argue Iran’s case before the Security Council. According to a 
5 October report from Tehran, the British position in Iran had “collapsed,” 
with the shah rejecting British entreaties that he rally the opposition behind 
Sayyid Zia, the preferred British candidate for prime minister. Even the Tu-
deh temporarily ceased its press campaign against Mosaddeq. According 
to U.S. Ambassador Loy W. Henderson, Mosaddeq would remain in power 
for as long as the oil issue lay unresolved: neither the British nor Iran’s old 
guard were in any position to challenge him.2 Mosaddeq assembled his clos-
est advisors, including his oil expert Kazem Hassibi and legal counselors 
Karim Sanjabi and Ali Shayegan. They agreed that Britain’s case had no ba-
sis in international law because nationalization was between Iran, a sover-
eign nation, and AIOC, a private corporation.3
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The Security Council discussion of the case began on 15 October. Sir Glad-
wyn Jebb, the British representative, argued that Iran had violated its con-
tract with AIOC and through the confiscation of privately owned assets had 
shattered the basis upon which nations conducted business with one an-
other. Drawing on all his oratorical skills, Mosaddeq condemned AIOC’s 
record in Iran, pointing out that the company had withheld royalties, abused 
its workers, and meddled in Iranian politics. Finally, Mosaddeq called 
upon the United Nations, “the ultimate refuge of weak and oppressed 
nations,” to stand by Iran as it escaped from “centuries of colonial exploita-
tion” and took its place alongside other nations, including Pakistan and 
India, which had been granted their freedom from British colonial rule. 
Growing faint, Mosaddeq delivered the first half of his address in French 
before passing the rest to Allahyar Saleh, a National Front deputy.4 The U.S. 
representative registered his support for the British side on 17 October, 
arguing that the case lay within the Security Council’s competence. It was 
clear, however, that the British lacked the necessary votes, and the debate 
adjourned pending a ruling by the International Court of Justice, which 
was not expected until summer 1952.5

Mosaddeq’s performance before the United Nations created an interna-
tional sensation. According to Acheson, the Iranian prime minister had won 
the day, making his case “with great skill and drama,” becoming a “televi
sion star” practically overnight.6 More significant than Mosaddeq’s sudden 
celebrity were the legal and political implications of the Iranian arguments. 
The Iranian case, meticulously prepared by Sanjabi, Shayegan, Saleh, and 
Mosaddeq, drew a clear connection between the cause of decolonization 
and the concept of permanent sovereignty over oil resources. The idea be-
came a rallying cry for Third World leaders intent on achieving indepen
dence from European imperialism and the dominance of Western capital. 
In the United Nations General Assembly, a fierce debate began in 1952, cul-
minating in a December resolution that declared “the right of peoples . . . ​
to use and exploit their national wealth and resource” free from foreign 
interference.7 Mosaddeq used his visit to the United States to emphasize 
the links between Iran’s struggle against British imperialism and the U.S. 
War for Independence, illustrating the stark paradox in the American 
message of liberty and continued U.S. support of the European colonial 
powers. In Philadelphia, where he gave a speech tying Iran’s fight for inde
pendence to the American Revolution, Mosaddeq passed his hands across 
the Liberty Bell.8
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The Charm Offensive: The McGhee-Mosaddeq Discussions

As the Iranian drama played out before the Security Council, U.S. officials 
sought a new approach to the nationalization question. The key issue was 
whether the United States would assist Iran’s government to prevent fur-
ther economic or political instability, or side with the British and major oil 
companies and pressure Iran into submitting to a favorable oil agreement.

For months, the U.S. government had worried about Iran’s ability to man-
age without an operating oil industry. A statistical picture assembled by 
the U.S. embassy’s Economic Counselor Robert M. Carr in April 1951 con-
cluded that Iran relied on the operations of AIOC for around one-third of 
its state budget and three-quarters of its foreign exchange balance. AIOC’s 
departure and the boycott had placed immense financial pressure on Iran’s 
state budget, while the lack of foreign exchange flowing into the country 
would soon have an impact on business activity and trade. Mosaddeq had 
various emergency financial measures in place to fill the budget gap, but it 
was unclear how long these would last before the government became insol-
vent.9 There was a risk that Mosaddeq would turn to the Soviet Union for 
assistance in breaking the British boycott and relieving the pressure on his 
finances. A CIA study from March 1951 had concluded the Soviet Union could 
move 2.9 million tons of oil and products, both by sea and via rail links, 
bartering locomotives and rolling stock for oil.10 In the wake of AIOC’s re-
treat from Abadan, Henry Villard of the Policy Planning Staff suggested in a 
9 October memorandum that the “main concern” should be to “keep Iranian 
oil moving in the interest of the West,” both to offset the chances of a Soviet 
intervention and to prevent an Iranian economic collapse.11

From the point of view of the major U.S. oil companies, nationalization 
was a threat that could not be permitted to spread to other oil-producing 
areas. They framed their ongoing boycott on Iranian oil as necessary to pre-
serve the “sanctity of contracts,” echoing the language used by Britain at 
the United Nations. Meeting with Acheson on 10 October, the top executives 
of the five U.S. major international oil companies—Jersey Standard, 
Socony, Gulf, SOCAL, and Texaco—argued that losing Iran to the Soviets 
would be preferable to the instability that successful nationalization would 
create. The situation transcended the oil industry, for what was at stake was 
the “sanctity of contractual relations” upon which all U.S. investment abroad 
depended. Acheson, however, countered that the U.S. government also had 
to keep in mind the strategic and political consequences that would flow 
from the loss of Iran.12
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The U.S. military argued that maintaining Iran’s orientation to the West 
was more important than backing the British. In a report to the National 
Security Council on 18 October, the Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS) warned that 
Soviet control of Iran would mean immediate loss of Iranian oil and even-
tual loss of all Middle East oil. Loss of Iran would also outflank Turkey and 
provide the Soviets with a springboard for the domination of the entire 
Middle East and the eastern Mediterranean. From a strict military point of 
view, maintaining Iran’s pro-Western strategic alignment “transcend[s] in 
importance the desirability of supporting British oil interests.” 13 The State 
Department countered that the cooperation of the international oil indus-
try was essential for the efficient operation of Iran’s oil industry and hence 
for Iran’s prosperity and stability. Moreover, a settlement in Iran that un-
dermined U.S. concessions and investments elsewhere in the world was not 
in the U.S. national interest. Thus, while the primary objective of U.S. pol-
icy was maintaining Iran as “an independent country aligned with the free 
world,” the United States should not support a settlement that would seri-
ously injure “the fabric of the world oil industry.” 14The central conflict af-
fecting U.S. policy was the question of how to keep Iran from falling to 
communism without seriously undermining the international oil economy 
or causing major tension in Anglo-American relations.

As the Iranian drama played out before the Security Council, U.S. offi-
cials worked on a new approach to the nationalization question. George C. 
McGhee, assistant secretary for Near Eastern, South Asian, and African 
affairs, led the effort. A former oilman, McGhee had been instrumental in 
forming American oil policy and had helped engineer the Saudi Arabian 
fifty-fifty agreement with Aramco in December 1950. Trusting Ambassador 
Henderson’s judgment that AIOC could not return to Iran and that any deal 
to resolve the crisis had to acknowledge Iranian nationalism, McGhee spear-
headed a campaign in October to negotiate with Mosaddeq one-on-one. 
While he did not believe Iran should control its oil resources, he believed 
that some concessions to Iranian nationalism were necessary to reach a set-
tlement and restart Iran’s oil industry.15

The new approach to Mosaddeq concentrated on finding an amicable 
basis for discussions. There was no British involvement in McGhee’s discus-
sions with Mosaddeq, which lasted throughout the month of October. Dur-
ing this time, Mosaddeq received medical care at Walter Reed Hospital in 
Washington, D.C., and met with President Truman at Blair House, an honor 
accorded to visiting dignitaries of high standing. Urged to prolong his stay 
to facilitate further negotiations, he found time to visit McGhee’s farm in 
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Virginia, where the two men discussed agricultural practices Mosaddeq 
might use on his own estates in Iran.16 The “charm offensive” worked to es-
tablish a rapport lacking in previous discussions. McGhee found Mosaddeq 
“agreeable” and basically “pro-Western,” with a “remarkable sense of hu-
mor.” He later observed that Mosaddeq’s habits—his tendency to hold meet-
ings in bed in his pajamas, to weep during public speaking, or to suddenly 
break out into laughter—belied a “deep firmness, determination, and clar-
ity of purpose.” 17 Unlike previous interlocutors, McGhee made an effort to 
understand Mosaddeq’s arguments and his approach to the oil issue.

McGhee and Paul Nitze, the influential head of the Policy Planning Staff 
who was brought into the talks to emphasize U.S. strategic concerns, stressed 
to Mosaddeq that oil was one of “the sinews of strength of the free nations 
of the world,” and the United States was concerned with ensuring it flowed 
throughout the world, “in adequate quantities.” They also repeatedly made 
it clear that Iran could not expect arrangements better than those received 
by other oil-producing countries. The United States had extensive overseas 
oil interests, and if Iran got an arrangement much better than any other, 
“it would upset the whole pattern of concessions worldwide.” 18

Three weeks of discussions produced a tentative plan, one that would of-
fer Iran nominal control of its industry while ensuring the continued prac-
tical dominance of AIOC over production, refining, and marketing.19 Iran 
would exclude the massive refinery complex at Abadan from nationaliza-
tion and allow AIOC to sell it to a “neutral” foreign company, which was 
assumed to be Royal Dutch/Shell. The National Iranian Oil Company (NIOC) 
would control the oil fields and other facilities and be responsible for the 
production of crude oil. NIOC would be governed by a board composed of 
three Iranians and four foreign neutrals, with a general manager of a na-
tionality designated by the Iranian government but appointed by and re-
sponsible to the board of directors. NIOC would contract with a “large oil 
company (Dutch) with international experience”—in other words, Shell—
to manage the industry and ensure its efficient operation. AIOC would form 
a new purchasing subsidiary to buy, ship, and market most of Iran’s oil on 
behalf of its former customers. Although NIOC would have the right to mar-
ket crude oil in excess of that sold to the purchasing organization for the 
refinery or for export, the price of any direct sales could not be lower than 
prices in the long-term contracts of the purchasing organization.

McGhee’s suggestion that AIOC “sell” the Abadan refinery to a different 
company was a way to resolve the question of compensation. To preserve 
the legality of nationalization, Iran would have to pay compensation for 
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AIOC’s nationalized assets. Initially, Mossadeq offered to pay AIOC com-
pensation based on the stated value of the company’s installations in AIOC’s 
annual statement, around £27 million. This was less than the market value 
of the assets and did not include the value of oil left in the ground, which, 
though legally belonging to Iran, AIOC could have been expected to pro-
duce and sell over the life of the concession. Selling the refinery complex to 
another company greatly reduced the amount of compensation Iran would 
have to pay AIOC. The remaining compensation Iran owed AIOC would be 
offset by Iran’s counterclaims against AIOC for past royalties and other 
matters. Iran would sell a major portion of its output to the new purchas-
ing organization set up by AIOC at prices that allowed AIOC to receive oil 
on roughly the same terms as if it had retained its concession.

The price at which Iran would sell its oil to AIOC’s purchasing organ
ization became a sticking point. To preserve the principle of fifty-fifty 
profit sharing, the United States insisted that Iran could not receive a higher 
price for its oil than other producing countries in the Middle East. Mosaddeq 

Mosaddeq and George C. McGhee. The two met repeatedly during October  
to discuss a possible solution to the oil dispute. Truman Library, Accession 
No. 66-8022.
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argued that Iran should receive the price (at that time around $1.75/barrel) 
at which production companies such as Aramco sold oil to their parent com-
panies’ marketing subsidiaries. In contrast, McGhee insisted that Iran should 
receive no more than $1.10/barrel, the price that producing companies paid 
to host governments. Mosaddeq believed that Iran deserved the same price 
that production companies received because Iran now owned its own pro-
duction facilities. Although the United States mediators believed that Mo-
saddeq did not understand the complexities of oil pricing, the problem was 
really about the distribution of revenue. In cases like Aramco, the same par-
ent companies owned both the production and marketing companies—a key 
feature of the vertical integration and joint-ownership arrangements that 
characterized the major companies’ system of control of the international 
industry.20 What Mosaddeq wanted would have interfered with this arrange-
ment. In essence, the U.S. position on price denied Iran one of the fruits of 
nationalization by giving Iran no more for its oil than other countries re-
ceived, even though Iran now owned the production company as well as the 
oil in the ground.

The Price of a Deal: Backing Mosaddeq or  
Siding with the British?

Mosaddeq was understandably reluctant to accept this reality of the inter-
national oil business. He had demanded in countless speeches that Iran 
should enjoy the full benefits of its oil, and on more than one occasion he 
had stated that if Iran could not get a satisfactory price for its oil, it would 
be better to leave it in the ground for future generations.21 Given the prof-
its derived from controlling the producing end of the business and the ex-
istence of alternative sources of supply, neither AIOC nor any other major 
oil company was likely to agree to a price high enough to be acceptable to 
Iran. Thus, the United States was faced with the decision whether to let Mo-
saddeq go home from his talks with McGhee without an agreement or 
break the line on price and acquiesce to Mosaddeq’s terms.

In a study of the issue that echoed British concerns, the Policy Planning 
Staff (PPS) argued on 24 October that the consequences of yielding to Mo-
saddeq on price were more serious than the consequences that might flow 
from a failure to reach an agreement. Though it might help preserve Iran’s 
pro-Western alignment in the short term by stabilizing the economy, allow-
ing Mosaddeq to win such a victory would be seen as a sign of Western 
weakness and would encourage Iran to take further steps against the West, 
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confident that the United States would bail them out of any difficulties re-
sulting from “reckless, improvident, and irresponsible behavior.” Surren-
dering to Mosaddeq’s demands on price would also encourage other 
oil-producing countries to demand similar terms. The PPS study recom-
mended that the United States permit the negotiations with Mosaddeq to 
end in failure. The United States should inform Mosaddeq that his posi-
tion on price was “unreasonable,” and that while the United States was con-
cerned about Iran’s security and welfare, it was more concerned about 
Anglo-American relations.22 Although he was also concerned about up-
setting the stability of Western oil concessions in the Middle East, McGhee 
believed he could eventually talk Mosaddeq into accepting U.S. views 
on price.23 Acheson submitted McGhee’s proposal for British approval on 
30 October.24

Meanwhile, the British government had been reviewing its policy op-
tions. Sir Donald Fergusson, permanent undersecretary at the Ministry of 
Fuel and Power, was convinced that it would be impossible to reach an 
agreement with Mosaddeq that would not have “disastrous effects” on in-
vestments elsewhere. Though Iranian oil was important to Britain, it was 
not more important than all the rest of Britain’s foreign investments, “on 
which the standard of living of the people of this country, and our ability 
to maintain our freedom and independence depend.” A “bad” agreement 
with Iran could lead “foreign governments, and foreigners generally” to 
conclude that they could unilaterally repudiate contracts with British com-
panies, seize British assets, and pay only as much compensation as they 
wished. Fergusson recommended that Britain stand firm on its rights until 
the Iranians “came to their senses” and replaced Mosaddeq with a more 
reasonable government.25

According to historian Wm. Roger Louis, Fergusson’s views represented 
the mainstream of official British opinion, and they found an especially 
warm reception with the Conservative government that took power after 
general elections on 25 October.26 The new prime minister, Sir Winston 
Churchill, and Foreign Secretary Sir Anthony Eden turned to permanent of-
ficials for advice on how to proceed after the Security Council fiasco. The 
British ambassador to Iran, Sir Francis Shepherd, argued that Britain should 
let the matter “simmer” and “encourage, so far as we properly can, a change 
of government in the near future.” He warned that negotiating with Mo-
saddeq would “hamstring” the opposition and make Mosaddeq’s victory in 
the forthcoming elections “practically certain.” Shepherd felt that if Mosad-
deq returned to Iran empty-handed, his position would weaken. Shepherd 
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and the Treasury also opposed the exclusion of AIOC from operations in 
Iran. Allowing Shell or a group of American companies to manage Iran’s 
nationalized industry would be a serious blow to British prestige, giving the 
impression that Britain was “under the Americans’ thumb.” 27

Many Foreign Office officials believed that AIOC would not be able to 
return to Iran. Under-Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs Sir Roger Ma-
kins argued that AIOC was “bankrupt both in men and ideas.” The com
pany’s irrational stance had cost Britain its most valuable overseas asset. 
It was time to recognize the political power of the National Front and do 
business with Mosaddeq before matters deteriorated further. The Foreign 
Office proposed a plan that called for the creation of a consortium of the 
major U.S. companies and AIOC to take over oil operation in Iran once suit-
able terms had been concluded with Mosaddeq. This approach would guar-
antee a U.S. commitment, satisfy anti-British Iranian nationalists, and ensure 
“efficient management” (a euphemism for foreign control) of the oil indus-
try.28 The Foreign Office argued that although the prospects of Mosaddeq’s 
accepting any settlement were “slight,” some new approach was necessary 
to keep the Americans “in play.” Waiting for Mosaddeq to fall increased the 
risk of Soviet intervention and aided the Tudeh. There was also the danger of 
other oil interests entering Iran at AIOC’s expense, or of Iran producing and 
marketing sufficient volumes of oil to make nationalization a success. It 
could do this on its own or with foreign technical assistance. In this regard, 
a survey of the world tanker fleet concluded that “in the long run,” it would 
not be possible to prevent some tankers from lifting Iranian oil.29

The Foreign Office arguments failed to carry the day. The new Conser-
vative government chose to continue the hardline stance Labour had taken 
earlier. Churchill himself later claimed a withdrawal from Abadan could 
have been avoided with a “splutter of musketry.” 30 The British maintained 
that McGhee’s terms failed to protect Britain’s balance of payments posi-
tion, undercut the fifty-fifty principle, and set compensation too low, which 
would allow Iran to carry out nationalization at little cost and encourage 
other oil-producing countries where British companies held concessions to 
do the same. Finally, the deal threatened other British assets, as it would 
seem to accept the Iranian confiscation of AIOC’s assets as a fait accompli.31 
Accepting the deal, AIOC’s Neville Gass argued during a meeting with the 
Treasury, would cause “other Mosaddeqs” to arise throughout the oil-
producing world. “What would be left of the fabric of the oil industry to 
which the Americans professed to attach so much importance?” 32
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When they met on 4 November, Eden told Acheson that the U.S. proposal 
was “completely unacceptable.” The best course of action was to wait for a 
“more amenable government” to come to power in Tehran.33 He then pre-
sented Acheson with a memorandum outlining the British position. Any set-
tlement with Iran had to provide for fair compensation for concessionary 
rights and properties, agreed through negotiation or arbitration. The amount 
could not be set unilaterally. Second, Iran had to be able to produce and sell 
sufficient volumes of oil to pay compensation. At a minimum, this meant that 
Iran would need to make a deal with a company possessed of “world wide 
markets” acting as distributor. Third, Iran could not obtain “a more favorable 
return” from its industry than other oil-producing nations. Fourth, British 
nationals could not be excluded from a reactivated Iranian industry.34

To Acheson, the meetings illustrated just how wide the gulf between the 
British and Iranians had become. Britain’s new leaders were “depressingly 
out of touch with the world of 1951,” anxious to preserve British prestige 
and unwilling to preside over “the complete dissolution of the empire.” Al-
lowing non-British companies such as the Royal Dutch/Shell to move into 
Iran without AIOC would, the British believed, be “like asking us to step 
aside in favor of Guatemala.” 35 For Acheson, the British were being “incred-
ibly light-hearted” about the risk of losing Iran to communism. “They are 
perfectly prepared . . . ​to take all the risks of doing nothing,” he said, “hav-
ing in mind the possibility . . . ​of drawing us in.” 36

Despite Acheson’s frustration, there was no way to move forward with 
McGhee’s plan without British cooperation. On 9 November, McGhee in-
formed Mosaddeq that his proposal to the British had been rejected. Mo-
saddeq appeared disappointed, though in McGhee’s recollection he accepted 
the news “quietly, with no recriminations.” 37 The sticking points were fi-
nancial, but in reality the issue was political. Mosaddeq would not agree to 
terms that renewed British dominance of Iran’s oil industry, while Britain 
would accept nothing less than arrangements that would constitute a re-
turn to the status quo pre-nationalization. In addition, both the U.S. and 
British officials were unwilling to entertain Mosaddeq’s proposal to sell Ira
nian oil at a higher price than what prevailed among the major interna-
tional oil companies or in a manner that undermined the existing price 
structure. McGhee was willing to accommodate Iranian concerns by remov-
ing AIOC from the equation in favor of a different oil company, but the 
need to maintain Western control (or “efficient management,” as U.S. and 
British officials termed it) remained paramount.
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After leaving the United States on 18 November, Mosaddeq stopped 
briefly in Cairo, where thousands turned out to catch a glimpse of the fa-
mous Iranian who had stood up to Britain in the United Nations.38 Yet, while 
his international prestige had reached its apex, Mosaddeq would be return-
ing home without an oil settlement. U.S. efforts were at a standstill, the 
British oil boycott was holding strong, and Mosaddeq’s political opponents 
in Iran were beginning to remobilize. Without a solution to the oil question, 
Mosaddeq faced renewed threats to remaining in power.

The Political Impact of the Oil Boycott

The political situation in Iran grew more uncertain following Mosaddeq’s 
return from the United States. The conservative opposition, which included 
the country’s traditional elites, Anglophile politicians who hoped for a re-
surgence in British influence, clerics who feared Mosaddeq was encourag-
ing the growth of secularism, and bazaar merchants worried over the 
economic ramifications of the oil shutdown, resumed their activities in 
the Majlis and Senate, Iran’s upper house. Behind the scenes, MI6 agent 
Robin Zaehner distributed money and bought influence in Tehran’s anti-
Mosaddeq political circles. Mosaddeq estimated that at least one-third of all 
Majlis deputies received bribes from the Rashidian family, the principal 
British agents, who controlled or influenced twenty newspapers and had 
numerous contacts within the army and police.39

Key figures in the opposition included Sayyed Zia, the most pro-British 
politician in the country; activist anti-Mosaddeq clerics including Ayatol-
lah Sayyed Abdullah Behbahani; and anti-Mosaddeq members of the Maj-
lis and the Senate. Ahmed Qavam, an aged though ambitious Iranian 
politician and a mainstay of the old guard who had held the premiership 
four times since 1920, was also involved. Acknowledging the weakness of 
Zia, whose British affiliations were well known, Zaehner and the Rashidi-
ans shifted their support to Qavam. In late 1951, Zaehner met with a Qa-
vam supporter who assured him that once in power, Qavam would prioritize 
reestablishing ties to the British, rather than the Americans, “who were fool-
ish and without experience” and would come to a quick oil settlement 
along lines the British would accept.40

In November, senators attempted to delay the forthcoming Majlis elec-
tions, under the belief that Mosaddeq would manipulate the results and re-
turn a house dominated by National Front deputies. On 6 December, a 
crowd of students from Tehran University broke the ban on demonstrations 
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and clashed with police forces, while right-wing groups used the opportu-
nity to stage counterdemonstrations, looting the offices of the Tudeh Party. 
Followers of Mozaffar Baqa’i, head of the Toilers’ Party and an ally of 
Mosaddeq who had grown discontented with the prime minister’s leader-
ship, were also actively involved. Some of the more violent anti-Tudeh ac-
tivists were led by Sha’ban “Brainless” Jafari, a popular figure among the 
zurkhaneh (wrestling houses) in the city, and a man known to be a thug for 
hire. In a thunderous address to the Majlis on 11 December amid a bitter 
assembly debate, Mosaddeq denounced the opposition. The Senate’s attempt 
to postpone elections failed as the Majlis delivered a unanimous vote of con-
fidence in the prime minister.41

Mosaddeq also faced a challenge from the Tudeh Party. While still tech-
nically illegal, the Tudeh expanded its organizing and media activities in 
the latter half of 1951, and by December had positioned itself to challenge 
the National Front in the forthcoming Majlis elections. The Tudeh was a 
“relatively small conspiratorial party . . . ​highly concerned about secu-
rity,” and the CIA lacked precise information on its leadership, size, and 
military capabilities. In the fall of 1951, the CIA estimated that it had around 
4,000 active members and somewhere between 20,000 and 40,000 members 
and sympathizers. Although Tudeh rallies in the summer had drawn around 
10,000–20,000 participants, recent Tudeh demonstrations in Tehran never 
had more than 5,000 participants and demonstrations in provincial cen-
ters had been “markedly smaller.” The CIA emphasized the party would 
likely only become a “critical factor” in Iranian politics if it succeeded in 
taking over the National Front through success in the Majlis elections. By 
leveraging support in cities and the southern oil fields, the Tudeh could poten-
tially gain up to twenty out of the total 136 seats and pursue a popular front 
strategy with the National Front, following the Soviet strategy in Czechoslova
kia from 1945 to 1948. A direct takeover of the government lay outside the 
party’s reach, as it lacked support within the military.42

Part of Mosaddeq’s strength came from the continued reluctance of the 
shah to oppose him openly. Mosaddeq was very popular, and the shah be-
lieved he was the only politician who could bring the nationalization crisis 
to a successful conclusion. The pro-British affiliation of many opposition fig-
ures also repulsed the shah, who was deeply suspicious of the British. Con-
versely, the shah feared Mosaddeq’s expanding political powers, and had 
historically sought to undermine powerful prime ministers. The shah re-
mained above the fray, choosing inaction even as his advisors, including 
Hossein ‘Ala, urged him to take action against Mosaddeq.43



78 Chapter 3

Internal conditions in Iran created considerable concern among U.S. of-
ficials, who believed that economic distress increased the Tudeh threat.44 
Although Ambassador Henderson felt that Mosaddeq’s nationalism repre-
sented “a real and potent force,” he warned that changing circumstances 
could see nationalist support swing behind a pro-Soviet platform. The shah, 
usually regarded as a bulwark against communist influence, appeared to 
have “no confidence in his own influence” and was following Mosaddeq’s 
lead. The security forces, though still loyal to the shah and influenced by 
U.S. advisory missions, were “weak reeds” to rely on. The lower ranks were 
“discontented and ill-paid,” the junior officers “receptive to Commie propa-
ganda,” and the senior officers “often incompetent and corrupt.” Although 
the British had been “shortsighted” at times, Henderson noted that British 
influence had been effective in the past in keeping the Soviets from gain-
ing control of Iran. British influence had declined, but the British still had 
“powerful unseen support which might be effectively mobilized in certain 
circumstances.” The best hope for Iran’s future, he concluded, was to end 
the “running sore” of the oil dispute with Britain.45

Restarting the oil industry was essential to provide the resources nec-
essary to keep Iran from falling into Soviet hands. According to the U.S. 
embassy in Tehran, oil provided “40  percent of [the] total budget,” and a 
government capable of delivering economic development and lasting reforms 
“must have funds . . . ​the best source of income is from the country’s vast oil 
resources.” Henderson felt that Iranian nationalism remained an important 
factor to consider. If the economy disintegrated, however, he thought it likely 
that most Iranians would embrace communism rather than submit to Anglo-
American pressure. It was possible that Iran “would fall victim to interna-
tional communism without any overt intervention on the part of Russia.” 46

While Truman administration officials were compelled by a sense of ur-
gency, the British were more sanguine. British officials argued that the Tu-
deh was not the only alternative to Mosaddeq. George Middleton, chargé 
d’affaires and ranking British diplomat in the country, told Henderson on 
7 November that Iranian nationalism had been “artificially stimulated,” 
and that if Mosaddeq failed to obtain an oil settlement, his government 
would be replaced by one led by a traditional old guard politician such as 
Sayyed Zia, the perennial British favorite. The British were less concerned 
about the economic effects of the boycott, believing financial pressure 
would push Mosaddeq out before it damaged Iran’s primarily agricul-
tural economy. While the United States hoped for a negotiated settlement, 
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Henderson noted that the British “seem to be placing their hope on 
remov[ing] Mosaddeq.” 47

Henderson bluntly informed to the shah on 7 December that the time 
had come to replace Mosaddeq, and on 22 December warned him that Iran 
“was headed towards destruction” if it failed to reach an oil agreement 
and suppress the Tudeh.48 The shah, unsure about what course to take, 
wanted to wait to see the outcome of the forthcoming Majlis elections. If 
the elections went poorly for the National Front, Mosaddeq might resign, 
in which case he would be replaced by a trusted loyalist like ‘Ala or an old 
guard figure like Zia or Qavam. It was likely that such a successor would 
face resistance from Mosaddeq, a proven master at opposition politics, and 
an invigorated Tudeh Party. The new government would need to rule by 
martial law.49 Henderson, however, worried about the result of elections 
and felt there was a danger of “irresponsible elements” coming to power and 
dominating the Majlis, but he also feared that direct U.S. intervention would 
shatter American prestige, “regardless of whether or not . . . ​Mosaddeq’s 
overthrow was effected.” 50

The British, as usual, were more optimistic. Middleton reported on 19 No-
vember that prospects for forcing Mosaddeq out through elections were 
“reasonably promising,” and that Qavam had a chance of supplanting Mo-
saddeq, “if the Americans would give a little shove in the right direction.” 51 
Qavam’s supporters were already approaching Henderson and arguing that 
it was time for “strong” leadership amid the growing risk of a Tudeh vic-
tory in the elections. Henderson was reluctant to back Qavam, a figure “so 
tricky [that] no one knew exactly what he would do if once in power.” The 
shah, moreover, had told Henderson that he would only support his Court 
Minister ‘Ala to replace Mossadeq; he considered Qavam “untrustworthy.” 52 
Any effort to remove Mosaddeq through parliamentary means would re-
quire the shah’s cooperation, so there was little chance Qavam or a similar 
figure who the shah opposed would be able to take office, even with British 
support.

Before leaving the United States, Mosaddeq told McGhee he would ask 
President Truman for a loan of $120 million, and that he intended to pur-
sue the long-delayed $25 million Export-Import Bank loan from 1950.53 
Based on estimates provided by Robert M. Carr at the U.S. embassy in Teh-
ran, Iran needed $30 million in budgetary support and $30 million in de-
velopment funding for 1952, with another $100 million in 1953.54 Once back 
in Tehran, Mosaddeq hinted to Henderson on 14 December that if the British 
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oil boycott was not lifted or if U.S. aid was not forthcoming, he would 
begin offering Iranian oil at a discounted price to any interested custom-
ers, including Eastern Bloc countries. Henderson felt that Iran might not 
have the capacity to send oil to the Eastern Bloc, but he did not doubt 
that the Soviets would place large orders “for propaganda purposes,” to 
embarrass the British and position themselves as champions of Third 
World nationalism. Mosaddeq also began to question continued U.S. mili-
tary aid to Iran, which he regarded as wasteful and undermining Iranian 
neutrality.55

Nitze and Acheson felt that large-scale aid for Mosaddeq would be a 
tactical mistake. Nitze warned on 21 November that U.S. aid would allow 
Mosaddeq to return to his people “as a hero, and we might never get him 
out.” 56 Limited assistance, however, might mitigate the worst effects of 
the oil boycott without entrenching Mosaddeq. The United States had al-
ready pledged around $23 million for technical assistance projects in Iran 
through Point Four, the global technical assistance initiative President 
Truman had launched in 1949. Truman wrote to Mosaddeq, promising to 
give his requests for aid “careful consideration,” Although limited aid 
would still infuriate the British and might encourage Mosaddeq to be 
more intransigent during negotiations, providing Iran with the “bare min-
imum” needed to keep its economy going, “so pressure to settle the oil 
dispute [would] not be relieved,” appeared the best option. The $23 mil-
lion Iran would receive in 1952 paled in comparison to the $300 million 
Britain received from the United States to help cover the increased dollar 
cost of replacing Iranian oil.57

Mosaddeq’s request for aid, his threat to seek Soviet assistance, and his 
threat to end U.S.-Iranian military cooperation put the United States in a 
difficult position. Since coming to office, Mosaddeq had tried to exploit U.S. 
fears of communism to gain American support. If Mosaddeq chose to ac-
cept aid from Moscow, it would violate the terms of U.S. Mutual Security 
Act and force the United States to withdraw its aid and weaken the Iranian 
military, which the United States regarded as an important pro-Western 
force.58 To prevent Iran from turning toward the Soviets, the United States 
might be forced to offer emergency assistance. Another option would be to 
break the British boycott and offer to buy Iranian oil or support a unilat-
eral oil deal that excluded the British and allowed Mosaddeq’s government 
to remain in power. Both entailed conflict with the British. There was, how-
ever, a third option.



Search for a Settlement 81

The World Bank Intervention

The failure of the U.S. efforts to mediate an agreement left the way open 
for a third-party actor to enter the arena. During Mosaddeq’s visit to the 
United Nations, Pakistani Ambassador Habibollah Isfahani suggested that 
the World Bank involve itself in the dispute. Robert L. Garner, vice presi-
dent of the Bank, met with Mosaddeq on 10 November and proposed an in-
terim arrangement whereby the Bank would operate Iran’s oil industry 
and arrange for the distribution and sale of Iranian oil for a designated pe-
riod of time. Profits would be split into separate accounts: Iran and AIOC 
would each receive a share, while a third account would be managed by 
the Bank, holding the funds pending a final settlement. Though vague, the 
idea appealed to Mosaddeq, and he suggested Garner approach the British. 
After consulting oil expert Walter Levy, Garner traveled to Rome on 26 No-
vember to pitch his plans to Acheson and Eden, who were attending a 
North Atlantic Council meeting. Both encouraged Garner to proceed. AIOC 
also felt there were “considerable possibilities” in the World Bank’s interim 
proposals.59

Despite Garner’s hopes, there were problems with his approach. First, the 
terms needed to match Mosaddeq’s stated requirements, which included a 
prohibition on employing British nationals. Though he had initially offered 
AIOC staff the opportunity to remain in Iran in the wake of nationaliza-
tion, after the company’s withdrawal from Abadan, Mosaddeq had adopted 
a much firmer position, pressured in part by the left flank of the National 
Front coalition and partly because some British staff were in fact British in-
telligence operatives.60 Readmitting British nationals to operate the oil in-
dustry was out of the question. Garner’s proposal would have the Bank 
handle distribution of Iran’s oil, which would be sold at a discount and the 
proceeds divided according to the fifty-fifty principle after a deduction for 
operating expenses. This would leave Iran $0.58/barrel, far below the price 
of $1.75/barrel which Mosaddeq had insisted upon during his discussions 
with McGhee. The British were also adamant that any interim settlement 
handled by the Bank could not prejudice their case before the International 
Court of Justice, which they hoped would determine AIOC’s right to “full 
compensation” for the loss of its assets and its oil concession. The terms, in 
other words, were unlikely to please either side, though there was a chance 
that the Bank, acting as a neutral third party, would find room for a 
compromise.61
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The World Bank was a commercial organization approaching a problem 
that was essentially political. Garner, a former executive for General Foods 
and a Wall Street banker, was no diplomat. He had some experience with 
Iran, which had attempted at several points between 1946 and 1951 to ob-
tain loans from the Bank. During these negotiations, Garner blamed Iran’s 
economic and political problems on the “habitual lethargy and weakness 
for action of the Iranians,” and held firm to the Bank’s conservative philos-
ophy, refusing loans until the country had proven its creditworthiness.62 
According to Acting Secretary of State Robert Webb, Garner appeared 
“very sensitive” to how an Iranian settlement might affect “other oil ar-
rangements,” but seemed less aware of the “political risks” of reaching a 
bad deal with Mosaddeq.63 Garner explained the Bank’s motivations dur-
ing a meeting of the Council on Foreign Relations in March  1952, citing 
concern over Iran’s “collapse” without oil revenue, the global oil market’s 
need for Iranian oil, and the worry that “some unscrupulous operator” 
might take over the Abadan refinery and oil fields “and upset the pattern 
of the industry.” According to Garner, the Bank “was not interested in re-
warding Iran” for ending its contract with AIOC but hoped to return Iran 
to “some semblance of stability” while preserving the global oil industry 
from further disruption.64

These problems were compounded by the fact that Garner, who was no 
oil expert, turned to the British for advice on what to offer Mosaddeq. Gar-
ner traveled to London and met with Eden and other officials on 30 Novem-
ber. The priority, according to Eden, was protecting other concessions: the 
terms offered by the Bank could not exceed those existing in other coun-
tries. Garner understood this and seemed convinced that the issue of man-
agement “did not preclude the employment of a considerable proportion of 
AIOC staff . . . ​provided that a neutral façade was maintained.” 65 Eden was 
encouraged by Garner’s ideas and recommended he seek further advice 
from AIOC. Garner dutifully met with the AIOC’s Neville Gass on 1 Decem-
ber, and Gass explained how the “posted price” was a bit of accounting 
make-believe, “a somewhat arbitrary formula” designed to produce a fig-
ure that could then provide the basis for a fifty-fifty division. To calculate a 
practical price for Iranian oil exports, Gass suggested the Bank consider add-
ing considerable production and depreciation costs, “in view of the pre-
carious nature of the investment in a foreign country.” He also argued that 
the value of the Abadan refinery was at least £250 million, based on annual 
output, and estimated Iran needed at least 1,100 foreign technicians to man-
age the oil fields and refinery—figures that were wildly at odds with other 
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estimates.66 While the British had hoped to delay the mission, the terms Gar-
ner intended to offer suited their interests, even if there was only a slim 
chance Mosaddeq would accept them.67

The British went along with the Bank’s intervention because time ap-
peared to be on their side. British strategy remained one of strategic pa-
tience and “masterly inactivity,” running out the clock while keeping 
Anglo-American unity intact. During a series of joint government talks in 
early January, Churchill repeatedly emphasized the importance of strength-
ening the “special relationship,” particularly in the Middle East, where 
Britain faced pressures related to the Iranian crisis, rising nationalism in 
Egypt, and a general decline in prestige. If only the United States “would 
stand solidly with the British,” Churchill argued, “the Iranians would come 
to terms in short order.” Acheson argued that if they continued down their 
present course in Iran, “we would be like two people locked in loving em-
brace in a rowboat . . . ​about to go over Niagara Falls.” 68 He suggested they 
work with a plan put forward by Mosaddeq, whereby Iran would pay £100 
million in compensation while waiving the £49 million owed under the 
Supplemental Agreement—money that Mosaddeq had previously argued 
belonged to Iran. This would put total compensation at around $400 mil-
lion. The main drawback, Acheson admitted, was that once Iran had fin-
ished paying compensation, Mosaddeq might seek to disrupt the world oil 
industry by selling oil at cut-rate prices. The British, however, insisting on 
giving the Bank plan a “full run” before coming up with a new proposal.69

Try as he might, Acheson could not get the British to view matters in Iran 
from the U.S. perspective. Ambassador Henderson believed neither Mosad-
deq nor the British were ready to negotiate on a realistic basis. “Iran is [a] 
sick country,” he wrote, and Mosaddeq was “one of its most sick leaders.” 
Discovering a solution to the crisis would require “patience even in the face 
of considerable provocation.” The Bank’s representatives, however, had 
come to Iran expecting a leader “who might be swayed by representations 
of logic and reason.” Moreover, their proposals reflected “the unrealistic 
atmosphere . . . ​[that] still seems to be pervading London.” The British did 
not seem to be negotiating in good faith, and Henderson felt it might soon 
be time for the United States to consider “whether it can afford . . . ​to defer 
to British leadership in this area.” 70 According to Paul Nitze, who spent much 
of January and February meeting his counterparts in London, the British 
felt American assessments of the situation in Iran were “excessively cata-
strophic,” and that Mosaddeq’s incompetence, rather than economic factors, 
was the prime reason the Tudeh Party had grown more active.71
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A Bank delegation arrived in Iran on 31 December 1951. The mission con-
sisted of Hector Prud’homme, a loan officer with knowledge of Iran, and 
Torkild Rieber, former chairman of Texaco and a personal friend of Bank 
Vice President Garner. Rieber had earned notoriety for selling oil to Franco’s 
Nationalists during the Spanish Civil War and was a controversial figure 
within the oil industry.72 The Bank laid out its terms in a 28 December 
letter to Mosaddeq, which stated the Bank would offer a temporary solu-
tion to the crisis, one that would “restore large scale oil operations” in or-
der to provide Iran a “steady stream of revenues, without prejudicing the 
rights of the interested parties.” The Bank would have effective control over 
operations and would “engage non-Iranian personnel only to the extent it 
considered necessary.” 73 Rieber felt there were grounds for a compromise. 
Prud’homme agreed. “The crucial part of the problem is not one of sub-
stance but all of approach.” Mosaddeq was wheeling and dealing but could 
be made to see reason: “as [Rieber] says, an avowed crook is easier to deal 
with than an honest fanatic.” 74

Prud’homme and Rieber presented the Bank’s proposals to Mosaddeq on 
2 January. The discussions did not go well. Mosaddeq argued that “the Bank 
apparently desires [an] oil concession from Iran.” He felt that essential ques-
tions of ownership, operations, and compensation had been settled in Gar-
ner’s original proposal; all that remained was agreeing on a price. While 
he was open to a commercial discount for oil offered on the open market, 
any oil delivered to AIOC would have to be sold at the full posted price and 
credited toward compensation claims. He felt that the proposals revealed 
the Bank to be a “British tool.” 75 Mosaddeq told Prud’homme that Iran 
did not need to produce 30 million tons, that 5 million tons a year were 
enough to cover its financial needs, and rejected the idea that AIOC act as 
distributor, suggesting instead he would sell to Eastern Bloc nations. Rieber 
thought this was an empty threat, noting that there were not enough “free” 
tankers available to move even small quantities of oil.76

After finding Mosaddeq unwilling to accept AIOC’s terms, Prud’homme 
concluded that the prevailing logic in London was “unrealistic,” as there was 
no way Mosaddeq would agree to distribution through AIOC or to employ-
ing British technicians.77 Before leaving Iran, Prud’homme and Rieber vis-
ited the oil fields and the Abadan refinery. They were surprised to find the 
facilities in excellent physical condition, lacking only a few spare parts. Ira
nian engineers possessed the skill to operate most of the refinery’s compo-
nents, and foreign technicians were needed only for the most sophisticated 
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processes.78 Rieber later concluded that Iran possessed the technical means 
to produce 15–20 million tons of crude and 6 million tons of products a 
year without the assistance of foreign technicians.79 Prud’homme suggested 
that the best course of action would be to let Iran “run its own show” and 
learn the difficulties of selling oil internationally firsthand; this would “teach 
the Iranians a lesson” and bring them back to the negotiating table.80

The End of the World Bank’s Efforts

After the Bank’s delegation left Iran to prepare fresh proposals, Mosad-
deq met with Henderson and warned of a communist revolution within 
thirty days unless Iran received emergency financial aid.81 To place added 
pressure on the United States, Mosaddeq continued to reject U.S. military 
assistance, which was formally suspended on 8 January. The following 
day, Mosaddeq delivered a speech in which he accused British consulates of 
tampering with Iran’s upcoming elections. To prevent further interference, 
Mosaddeq had the British consulates in the provinces closed, leaving 
only the embassy in Tehran. He told Henderson that if no aid arrived by 
18 January, he would reach out to the Soviets.82 Henderson felt the time 
was right for emergency action and proposed a plan whereby Iran could 
sell the oil it held in storage at Abadan at a 30 percent discount while agree-
ing to a binding arbitration agreement with AIOC. Henderson felt that the 
British “would be lucky to get as much out of [the] AIOC wreck as this 
arrangement might give them.” 83

With the Bank’s intervention stalling and instability inside Iran on the 
rise, U.S. officials once again considered unilateral aid. Henderson’s recom-
mendation received support from Defense Secretary Robert A. Lovett, who 
felt the United States should provide “substantial, immediate economic as-
sistance to Iran.” The British methods carried “extremely serious risks” of 
a communist seizure of power. Increased U.S. aid to Iran, he thought, would 
push the British toward a more flexible stance in oil negotiations.84 A CIA 
analysis, however, concluded that emergency aid would do little to avert a 
crisis. Furthermore, it would alienate the British and discourage the shah 
and the opposition from moving against Mosaddeq, who would appear to 
have U.S. support. If no aid was forthcoming, Mosaddeq might turn to the 
Soviets, but the CIA now estimated that the Soviets lacked the tanker ca-
pacity to move more than a small amount of oil.85 The U.S. embassy in Lon-
don, which tended to take a pro-British view, rejected the idea of offering 



86 Chapter 3

aid to an “irresponsible fanatic who has consistently jeopardized West-
ern interests.” 86 State Department officials were also hesitant to give in 
to Mosaddeq’s demands, fearing that such a course would “open the door to 
demands by other small countries.” 87

The sense of urgency compelling U.S. policy had waned, for several rea-
sons. First, the crisis in global oil appeared over by the end of 1951. Through 
the efforts of the Petroleum Administration for Defense (PAD), a special 
division within the U.S. Department of the Interior, as well as the major 
companies and the U.S. and British governments, major shortages of crude 
oil and products had been averted.88 PAD had devised a plan that allowed 
U.S. oil companies to cooperate with AIOC to replace Iranian oil ex-
ports. Utilizing the power of the Defense Production Act (DPA), the Truman 
administration offered the companies immunity from antitrust action. 
Increased production in Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, and Iraq replaced Iranian 
crude oil, while construction of new refineries gradually replaced refined 
products previously supplied from Abadan. AIOC was able to maintain 
supplies to established customers, and while its profits before taxes fell 
from £84 million in 1950 to £47 million in 1952, net profits only declined 
from £33 million to £25 million as a result of lower British income taxes.89 
A paper from the World Bank completed on 28 January concluded that 
available supplies of crude oil “are more than adequate to meet expected 
demand,” and that new refineries would meet demand for products, even if 
Abadan remained idle.90 While the British faced a drain on their dollar re-
serves in the short term, overall the global oil economy would survive the 
loss of Iranian production.

Second, the United States was beginning to realize that pressure from 
the oil boycott would not trigger an immediate economic collapse inside 
Iran. Although some American officials exaggerated the importance of oil in 
Iran’s economy, which they viewed “through the lens of an industrialized 
nation,” most officials in Tehran, London, and Washington recognized that 
the Iranian economy was largely agricultural. Iran also possessed a large 
gold reserve and a strong currency, which would allow it to absorb a for-
eign exchange shock as a result of the shutdown.91 It was becoming clear 
that Iran could go without oil for a length of time, perhaps indefinitely, de-
pending on how effectively the government managed the transition. In Oc-
tober 1951, Robert M. Carr at the U.S. embassy in Tehran reported that Iran’s 
economy appeared to be shouldering the impact of the oil shutdown, “due 
to its predominantly agricultural character,” and had not yet shown the 
signs of rising prices, inflation, or slowing activity.92
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By late January, the State Department had concluded that although “fi-
nancial difficulties would provide an early and severe test” for Mosaddeq’s 
government, they probably would not cause permanent damage to the Ira
nian economy.93 Acheson began to realize that Mosaddeq’s apocalyptic pre-
dictions were largely a negotiation tactic—that the Iranian economy could 
survive for “considerably longer” than he was intimating, and that the dan-
ger of a collapse (and subsequent communist takeover) was being invoked 
for tactical reasons.94 On 17 February, Nitze admitted to British officials that 
Iran’s economy seemed in better condition than they had initially assumed. 
Continued large budget deficits, however, were bound to cause problems for 
Mosaddeq eventually.95

Despite frustration over the British position and a clear lack of enthusi-
asm for the Bank proposal, the United States did not actively intervene in 
the dispute or break with the British. Acheson and Truman took no action 
on aid to Iran and allowed the Bank discussions to run their course. Hen-
derson informed Mosaddeq of Truman’s decision on 29 January and said 
that any U.S. aid would have to be tied to an oil agreement. Mosaddeq re-
quested a clarification, which Truman sent on 11 February. The U.S. gov-
ernment could not justify a loan to Congress “at a time when Iran has an 
opportunity of obtaining oil revenues of a very great magnitude.” The re-
sponse was calculated to reach Mosaddeq just before Garner arrived in Iran 
to continue discussions on the Bank’s proposal, a fact that was not lost on 
Mosaddeq, who charged that it was part of a ploy “to put him in such a po-
sition that he would have no choice” but to accept Garner’s terms.96 By re-
fusing to offer Mosaddeq aid or urge the Bank to adjust its terms, the United 
States was, in effect, adopting the British position. The only plausible out-
come of this policy was a breakdown in the oil negotiations, potentially 
leading to Mosaddeq’s fall from power.

Acheson, Nitze, and the rest of the U.S. policymaking community did 
not think the Bank’s proposals stood a chance of convincing Mosaddeq. 
Garner’s terms were too inflexible, and his position too closely aligned 
with the British, for his mission to succeed.97 Nevertheless, the U.S. embassy 
put on a show of support for Garner, who arrived in Iran with Prud’homme 
on 12 February. Henderson did his best to prepare the ground, urging 
Mosaddeq to set aside political questions and consider the Bank’s propos-
als as “a business proposition.” 98 Garner stuck to what had been offered 
to Mosaddeq in early January. The Bank would operate Iran’s oil indus-
try, ensuring “efficient management” and hiring foreign technicians. Oil 
would be sold at a discount to a distribution company owned by the Bank 
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with profits split three ways—for AIOC, Iran, and an account for paying 
compensation.99

Garner’s first meeting with Mosaddeq hit a snag immediately. Mosaddeq 
would not accept Garner’s proposal to include British nationals among the 
technicians employed by the Bank to restart the oil industry. He also re-
jected Garner’s proposed discount on the price, which after a fifty-fifty di-
vision would give Iran roughly $0.50/barrel. In addition, Garner rebuffed 
Mosaddeq’s requests for economic aid. The Bank would only put forward 
the capital needed to restart the industry. If Iran needed financial relief, it 
would have to be realized through oil sales.100 Talks broke down completely 
on 19 February, when Garner refused to accept an aide-mémoire drafted by 
Iran that indicated the Bank would be operating “on Iran’s behalf,” argu-
ing that it placed the Bank on one side of an ongoing commercial dispute. 
Garner’s inflexibility shocked both Prud’homme and Henderson, who noted 
that Stokes’s proposal had accepted nationalization, “[and] Iran has appar-
ently made surprising concessions,” including allowing the Bank effective 
control over the industry.101 For Garner, Mosaddeq’s continued rejection of 
the British technicians “had no logical basis,” and seemed grounded in “fear, 
resentment, and suspicion.” 102 Garner left Iran on 20 February, though 
Prud’homme remained for several more weeks to keep talks going.

There was simply no bridging the gap between the Bank’s proposals—
which largely reflected British needs—and the political realities inside Iran. 
Mosaddeq would not permit British technicians to return to Iran, fearing 
it would allow AIOC to continue to meddle in internal Iranian politics. Nor 
would he allow Iranian oil to be sold at a discount that in his view dispro-
portionately profited the British or other major oil companies. Prud’homme 
found the Iranian approach to the problem of restarting the oil industry 
“stubborn, difficult, and unrealistic,” though privately he worried over the 
vagueness of the Bank’s ideas: “We have not been able to give Iran a com-
plete picture why we want British technicians and how many.” 103 For Gar-
ner, the issue of the technicians remained one bound by commercial 
considerations. “The practical fact,” he explained to Arthur L. Richards, the 
U.S. chargé d’affaires in Tehran, was that the Bank could see no alterna-
tive to hiring large numbers of British technicians, “who are available 
and know the property. This is not a matter within our control.” 104 Garner 
believed that Iran faced a “breakdown” in five months without an oil 
agreement, claiming that Mosaddeq was already “selling the carpets in the 
government offices” and had put the army on half pay to cover his budget 
gap.105 Nevertheless, he refused to change course and wrote to Mosaddeq 
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on 1 April: “If Iran is to really benefit from its oil resources, the industry must 
be operated on a business-like basis,” free from the influence of boards or 
committees “influenced by political rather than economic considerations.” 106 
With such priorities at the forefront of the Bank’s considerations, Garner’s 
approach was doomed to fail. On 3 April, the bank announced the end of its 
efforts.107

Conclusion

Throughout the search for a settlement in late 1951 and early 1952, the United 
States focused on Iran’s internal political stability. The British, in contrast, 
were content to let matters drift as they prepared the ground for Mosad
deq’s exit. As Harold Linder, Nitze’s economic advisor, wrote to Acheson on 
14 February, the British plan was to “go slowly, hoping for a break.” 108 De-
spite their differing assessment of the strength of Iranian nationalism, both 
the British and the United States agreed that further nationalizations would 
be immensely disruptive and could threaten Western access to Middle East-
ern oil. While the primary objective of U.S. policy was maintaining Iran as 
“an independent country aligned with the free world,” the United States 
would not support a settlement that might threaten “the fabric of the world 
oil industry.” The United States was not prepared for a general war with 
the Soviet Union in late 1951 and needed to retain British cooperation in the 
Middle East, the Far East, and elsewhere. Breaking with the British was not 
an option.

The threat of instability on the world oil market faded by early 1952, as 
did U.S. fears of an economic collapse inside Iran. Following the World 
Bank’s failure, the struggle for Iran entered a period of “static trench war-
fare.” 109 Negotiations in Tehran were suspended, and though discussions be-
tween the United States and Great Britain continued intermittently, the 
struggle turned into a war of attrition, with Mosaddeq and the British wait-
ing to see who would crack first.



4	 The July Uprising

Following the failure of the World Bank intervention, the United States and 
Great Britain stepped up their efforts to convince the shah to replace Prime 
Minister Mohammed Mosaddeq with someone willing to settle the oil dis-
pute on terms that would preserve Western control of Iran’s oil. Mosaddeq 
disrupted these plans when he unexpectedly resigned on 16 July after the 
shah refused to relinquish control of the armed forces to the Majlis. After 
the shah selected veteran statesman Ahmed Qavam, whom the United States 
and Britain favored, as Mosaddeq’s successor, massive popular opposition to 
Qavam forced the shah to withdraw his support. Qavam resigned after only 
five days in office, and Mosaddeq returned to power triumphant and deter-
mined to enact a program of social, economic, and political reforms. The 
“Qavam debacle” and the July Uprising led the British to conclude that 
the only way to replace Mosaddeq was through a coup d’état. In contrast, the 
United States concluded that there was no acceptable alternative to Mosad-
deq, and the best option was to stabilize his government without under-
mining the postwar petroleum order. The British sabotaged U.S. attempts 
to reach an interim settlement, but their efforts to promote a coup failed 
and Iran broke relations with Britain and expelled British diplomats in late 
October 1952.

Searching for an Alternative

The World Bank effort roughly coincided with elections for the Seventeenth 
Majlis, held between January and April 1952. The elections were an impor
tant test for the National Front, which had to vie with Tudeh challenges in 
the major cities and entrenched elite opposition, as well as British subter-
fuge and election tampering in the provinces. National Front candidates 
won all twelve seats in Tehran, a rare instance of direct democracy in 
Iranian history. Mosaddeq’s faction also secured seats in several other cit-
ies, while the Tudeh failed to win a single seat. According to a Central In-
telligence Agency report, the government manipulated elections in Tehran 
to prevent any Tudeh candidates from winning. The government did not 
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tamper with elections in the provinces, where vote rigging and intimida-
tion by the army and local elites remained the norm. In this case, Mosad
deq’s commitment to free elections proved counterproductive to his 
political aims, as around forty-nine of the deputies elected were landlords 
or pro-British figures hostile to the National Front. After it became clear 
that his foreign and domestic opponents were conspiring to tip the Majlis 
balance against the government, Mosaddeq suspended voting. The Seven-
teenth Majlis would consist of only seventy-nine deputies—the minimum 
required to constitute a quorum. Mosaddeq could count on around twenty-
five to thirty deputies who were aligned with the National Front, making 
him dependent on Kashani’s ten supporters and “independents” to achieve 
a majority, though most deputies were hesitant to oppose him on the oil 
issue or on questions of foreign, especially British, influence.1

Despite his success in retaining a hold over the Majlis, Mosaddeq’s po-
sition by the spring of 1952 was coming under considerable pressure. The 
breakdown in the World Bank talks ended hopes for an oil settlement. 
While Mosaddeq used emergency financial measures to plug the budget 
hole in 1951, available sources were nearly exhausted. A monthly deficit of 
350–400 million rials could be met through deficit financing or drawing 
down the country’s gold reserves, which were valued at over $100 million. 
The Majlis refused to provide Mosaddeq with the power to enact fiscal 
measures, however, and Iran’s central bank warned that the government’s 
credit would soon run out.2

A CIA estimate in late March concluded that opposition to Mosaddeq was 
growing stronger: “there appears to be at least an even chance that Mosad-
deq will fall from power within the next two months.” The keys were the 
shah, who would have to play a “significant role” in any change of gov-
ernment, and the armed forces, whose leaders were “almost exclusively” 
opposed to Mosaddeq.3 The U.S. ambassador to Iran, Loy W. Henderson, 
disagreed, arguing on 10 April that Mosaddeq would most likely continue 
in office for “at least for several months.” On 14 April, the CIA issued a re-
vised estimate: while there had been a revival of anti-Mosaddeq agitation 
and activity by “more conservative elements,” Mosaddeq would be able to 
gain Majlis support for measures to avert a fiscal breakdown through the 
summer, and the shah was unlikely to take any initiative to remove him.4

Aware that opposition forces were mobilizing against him, Mosaddeq 
agreed to allow U.S. military aid to Iran to continue, a move calculated to 
win favor with the shah and assuage the armed forces. After Eden com-
plained that the aid agreement gave Mosaddeq a new lease on life and 



92 Chapter 4

created the impression that the United States and Britain were divided 
over policy toward Iran, the United States assured the British that the ac-
tion was taken to bolster the shah and the Iranian armed forces and that it 
was limited to military aid. In addition, the United States issued a press 
statement reiterating its policy of not providing additional financial aid to 
Iran while the oil dispute remained unsettled.5

Finally giving up on Sayyid Zia, the British tried to convince the opposi-
tion to rally behind veteran politician Ahmed Qavam, whose supporters, 
including the shah’s mother, sister, and half brother, were “working like 
beavers” on his behalf. Qavam contacted British officials in early 1952. At a 
clandestine meeting in Monte Carlo, the former premier suggested he would 
reinstate the Qajar dynasty, which the shah’s father had supplanted in 1925.6 
Qavam met with U.S. diplomats in Paris in March, hinting that he would 
soon be returning to Iran to form a new government, so long as he had U.S. 
support and assurances that the shah would not undermine him. Noting that 
Qavam, who was in his eighties, “appeared old but not extinct,” a U.S. em-
bassy official reported the former prime minister’s desire to work with the 
United States to “save” Iran. After a meeting with Qavam’s supporters at 
the end of March, Ambassador Henderson felt that of all the candidates who 
had been mentioned as a successor to Mosaddeq, Qavam would be the most 
effective, despite his age.7 Qavam returned to Iran in April 1952 and began 
working through a network of former supporters in the Majlis and Senate. 
The British believed that Qavam was keen to reach an oil agreement and 
would be prepared to dissolve the Majlis and arrest dissident elements, in-
cluding Mosaddeq and Kashani, if necessary.

To become prime minister, Qavam would need the support of the shah. 
Mohammed Reza Pahlavi distrusted Qavam, as well as the British, and 
argued that it would only be safe to replace Mosaddeq after he had been 
thoroughly discredited. Qavam and the shah had fought for control of Iran’s 
government during the Azerbaijan crisis, and in 1948 the shah branded 
Qavam a traitor and banished him from the political scene. Although sev-
eral of the National Front’s leaders, including Hossein Makki and Mozaf-
far Baqa’i, had connections to Qavam’s old political party, it was not clear 
whether they would support him. Ayatollah Kashani, Mosaddeq’s most 
powerful supporter, hated Qavam with a passion. As prime minister, Qa-
vam had ordered Kashani jailed for anti-British activity, and later exiled him 
to Lebanon.8

The increasingly uncertain political environment and mounting fiscal 
problems stemming from the ongoing British boycott raised questions about 



The July Uprising 93

how long Mosaddeq would be able to remain in power. A joint appraisal of 
the financial, economic, and political situation in Iran by the U.S. and Brit-
ish embassies in early May concluded that while support for Mosaddeq had 
declined, “the most probable development” was that he would remain in 
power until after the International Court of Justice ruled on Britain’s com-
plaint against nationalization in June. Although “ultimate financial and eco-
nomic collapse” was “inevitable in the absence of the restoration of oil 
income,” the government could probably find sufficient funds to continue 
to function for several months. Mosaddeq’s personal prestige remained high, 
the opposition was uncoordinated, and the shah, who Henderson had 
derided as a “Persian Hamlet,” was “weak and vacillating.” An opposition 
government would need the full support of the shah and the army, and it 
would be very difficult to convince the shah to act “unless considerable pres-
sure were exerted” to convince him of the dangers of inaction and “the 
concrete advantages to Iran and to himself to be derived from his inter-
vention.” Even if the shah agreed to use the army to support a weak prime 
minister, a weak government would be short-lived, and the shah was “no-
toriously reluctant” to support a strong prime minister.9

The British and U.S. governments drew different conclusions from the 
joint appraisal. The British were encouraged that Mosaddeq’s popularity 
was declining and downplayed U.S. fears of an economic collapse, arguing 
that Iran could meet its financial needs for several months by revising its 
currency rules. If Mosaddeq was unable to do this, his failure would lead to 
his removal by the shah as soon as it became impossible to pay the army. The 
British also tried to counter the joint appraisal’s warning that Mosaddeq, 
“if driven into a corner,” might turn to the Soviets for support. The British 
argued that Mosaddeq was unlikely to turn to the Soviet Union, and that any 
pro-Soviet or Tudeh moves would spur the shah to move against him. Both 
Britain and the United States agreed that there was little prospect of the 
Tudeh taking over because its appeal was limited to a few urban areas and 
because the army was still loyal to the shah. Nevertheless, the United States 
stressed that without a settlement of the oil dispute, Iran’s financial and po
litical situation could continue to deteriorate, and the Tudeh would gain in 
strength. The United States also pressed the British to develop a long-range 
solution to the oil dispute, warning that if the situation in Iran deteriorated to 
the point that U.S. interests and those of the “free world” were threatened, it 
might become necessary for the United States to extend financial aid to Iran.10

Despite this disagreement, both the United States and Great Britain 
wanted the shah to dismiss Mosaddeq. The question was who should replace 
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him. On 16 May, the head of the State Department’s Office of Greek, Turk-
ish, and Iranian Affairs met with the delightfully named Launcelot Pyman, 
the outgoing oriental counselor at the British embassy in Tehran, to discuss 
possible candidates for prime minister should Mosaddeq resign or fall. Py-
man suggested Qavam, a military figure like former general Fazlollah Za-
hedi, or a National Front figure like Hossein Makki. Noting Qavam’s poor 
relationship with the shah, Pyman thought Zahedi would be a good choice. 
In addition to his appeal as a military strongman, he was an experienced 
politician and had connections with the National Front, having served as 
Mosaddeq’s interior minister in 1951. He would also seek to settle the oil dis-
pute on a “realistic” basis.11

Communicating with the shah through Court Minister Hossein ‘Ala, Am-
bassador Henderson made it clear that the United States felt a solution to 
the oil dispute was impossible as long as Mosaddeq was prime minister. Al-
though Henderson declined to recommend a successor, he let ‘Ala and the 
shah know that he did not believe that Iran Party head Allahyar Saleh, who 
the shah was considering, was a suitable replacement. Saleh had cooper-
ated with the Tudeh in the past, had been hostile to the Point Four program 
and U.S. military assistance, and held views similar to Mosaddeq on the oil 
question. While prepared to provide up to $60 million in additional aid to 
Iran to ensure the survival of a successor government, Henderson stressed 
that the United States would insist that any aid to Iran would be contingent 
on Iran’s willingness to negotiate “realistically” on the oil question.12

Henderson met Qavam on 10 June. After the ambassador made it clear 
that the United States would not provide financial assistance unless it was 
convinced that Iran was doing everything possible to help itself, Qavam re-
plied he would do “everything within reason” to reach an oil settlement 
with the British and emphasized that it was “extremely important” for him 
to know what the British wanted in a settlement. Impressed by the elderly 
leader’s good health and by his determination to reach an oil settlement, 
Henderson briefed George Middleton, chargé d’affaires at the British 
embassy, and stressed that the shah as well as Qavam wanted to know if a 
new government would receive “friendly and reasonable” treatment from 
Britain.13

Two days after his meeting with Qavam, Henderson called on the shah. 
While his report was careful not to make this explicit, their discussion cen-
tered around the question of how to replace Mosaddeq as prime minister 
and thus resolve the oil dispute. Henderson explained that the United States 
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was forced to deal with Mosaddeq as Iran’s prime minister; rumors that the 
United States secretly supported Mosaddeq were without foundation. Hen-
derson reminded the shah that on numerous occasions he had made it clear 
that the United States believed that Mosaddeq was leading Iran to ruin, 
and that the shah should face up to the responsibility for a change in gov-
ernment. The shah argued that he would be taking a great risk moving 
against Mosaddeq unless he had assurances that the new government would 
receive financial assistance from the United States or Britain. The British 
could not insist on impossible terms for an oil settlement because no gov-
ernment could survive unless it respected the nationalization laws. Hen-
derson assured the shah that the United States would not let a pro-Western 
government fall if it were “energetically and sincerely” trying to settle the 
oil dispute. Henderson opposed Saleh or any National Front figure as a suc-
cessor to Mosaddeq and informed the shah that he had met with Qavam, 
who had assured him that he was too old to have any personal ambitions.14

Along with his doubts regarding Qavam, uncertainty about what kind 
of oil settlement Britain would make with a new government was a key 
factor in the shah’s hesitation to move against Mosaddeq. AIOC no longer 
needed Iranian oil as much as it had previously due to increased production 
in other countries. The company was building new refinery capacity to re-
place Abadan. In these circumstances, the British were determined not to 
jeopardize their other holdings just to reach an agreement that would sta-
bilize Iran. According to the Foreign Office, if the Iranians wanted a settle-
ment, they had to “face facts” and create conditions that would make Iranian 
oil attractive to potential purchasers.15 Referring to the deadly British attack 
on an Egyptian police station in the Suez Canal Zone, Prime Minister Win-
ston Churchill wrote Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden on 17 June that “if 
we had fired the volley you were responsible for at Ismailia at Abadan, none 
of these difficulties and great losses to our hard-pressed country would 
have occurred.” Churchill told Eden that there was no need to be in a hurry 
to reach an oil settlement: “by sitting still on the safety valve and showing 
no weariness we are gradually getting them into submission.” Britain could 
wait out Iran on the oil issue because “to us it is a fraction, to them it is 
their all.” 16

Middleton met with Qavam on 14 June and explained that Britain wanted 
an oil settlement that would not endanger its interests elsewhere. The eco-
nomics of any settlement would be governed by the terms prevailing in the 
oil industry, so the best Iran could expect was a fifty-fifty profit-sharing 
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arrangement. Qavam asked if Britain preferred a parliamentary or author-
itarian government, to which Middleton replied that Britain wanted a sta-
ble government able to exercise its authority. It was up to the Iranians to 
work out the details. After Qavam noted that he was counting on British 
help, Middleton replied, “God helps those who help themselves.” 17

Although the British believed that Qavam would be the best alternative 
to replace Mosaddeq, the shah continued to resist, reportedly telling Hasan 
Emami, the Imam Jum’eh or Friday prayer leader of Tehran, that it was fine 
to bring Qavam to power, “but how are we going to get rid of him when we 
want to do so?” 18 After meeting with the shah on 16 June, Middleton con-
cluded that Britain could expect no assistance from him unless the United 
States applied additional pressure. Even then, Middleton warned, “a joint 
appeal might have to be accompanied by virtual threats that he must bear 
the consequences if he does not follow the advice given him.” 19 Henderson 
agreed and informed the State Department on 27 June that even though the 
shah realized that the time had come to take action, he (Henderson) had 
“considerable doubt” that the shah had the “hardihood to do anything really 
constructive.” 20

The United States did not expect Mosaddeq to fall before August, but it 
wanted the British to be ready to negotiate quickly and reasonably if the 
shah should move against Mosaddeq. An acceptable settlement plan was not 
only necessary to ensure the survival of the government that replaced Mo-
saddeq; the prime minister’s enemies, including the shah, were reluctant 
to act until they knew what kind of deal they would receive from the Brit-
ish. In ministerial talks in London, the British agreed, in the event of a 
change in government in Iran, to offer Iran a long-term settlement based 
on a non-British firm composed of several oil companies under contract to 
the National Iranian Oil Company (NIOC) managing Iran’s oil industry. 
AIOC, under a different name, would purchase the bulk of the oil produced. 
Although AIOC could not return to its former position in Iran, there had to 
be British participation at the managerial as well as the technical level in 
the managing agency. Most importantly, Iran would have to compensate 
AIOC not only for physical assets but also for the loss of its concession. 
The British were not prepared to go beyond this broad outline. Neither the 
United States nor Great Britain expected any further progress on the oil 
issue while Mosaddeq remained in office. “He would have to be pushed,” 
Eden argued on 28 June, “and the one person who could do this was the 
shah.” 21
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Mosaddeq’s Resignation and the July Uprising

While the British, Americans, and Iranian opposition were preparing for his 
eventual fall from power, Mosaddeq traveled to The Hague, where the In-
ternational Court of Justice was hearing Britain’s May 1951 petition that the 
court rule nationalization of AIOC violated Iran’s treaty obligations to 
the United Kingdom and was therefore illegal. At the public hearing on 
9 June, Mosaddeq made an impassioned political and moral argument de-
fending nationalization. He returned to Iran, leaving the legal case to re-
nowned Belgian lawyer Henri Rolin. Iranian newspapers carefully followed 
the case, and enthusiastic crowds greeted Mosaddeq on his return to Teh-
ran.22 Acutely aware of the political sensitivity of the case, the shah wanted 
to postpone a decision on replacing Mosaddeq until the Court had ruled. 
If the decision went against Iran, it would be easy to remove Mosaddeq. If 
the Court found in favor of Iran, Mosaddeq would be a hero and it would 
be dangerous to oppose him.23

Despite evidence of his continued popularity, the National Front prime 
minister faced an atmosphere of mounting crisis. On 18 June, Ettelaat ran 
an interview with Mosaddeq’s finance minister, who admitted the gov-
ernment faced a 3 billion rial deficit.24 On 1 July, the Majlis elected Hasan 
Emami, a popular cleric and conservative supporter of the shah, as its 
speaker. Though the assembly’s attitude seemed to be turning against Mo-
saddeq, the shah hesitated to intervene directly, instead indicating he would 
wait for the Majlis to push Mosaddeq out through a vote of no confidence.25 
Henderson was not certain Mosaddeq would fall as a result of financial pres-
sure, as the British hoped. On 14 July he reported that Mosaddeq “should be 
able to print enough bank notes to finance the government for months to 
come.” Until circumstances improved, he warned the next day, any attempted 
intervention by Britain and the United States “might do more harm than 
good.” 26

The situation took a dramatic turn on 16 July when Mosaddeq presented 
his new cabinet list and program to the shah for royal approval. To deal with 
the fiscal crisis and enact his social and economic agenda, Mosaddeq re-
quested six months of emergency powers and full authority over the fields 
of justice, finance, economics, administration, and personnel. What shocked 
the shah most of all was Mosaddeq’s request that he take the portfolio of 
minister of war for himself. Traditionally (though not constitutionally), the 
shah controlled the War Ministry and appointed his own chief of staff of 



98 Chapter 4

the armed forces, acting in his capacity as commander-in-chief. Mosaddeq’s 
request threatened the shah’s dominance over the military, the chief source 
of his power and influence within politics. The shah refused Mosaddeq’s 
request. Finding the monarch implacable, Mosaddeq resigned from office at 
8:00 p.m. on 16 July. In a statement published the following day, Mosaddeq 
announced he would step down “and permit someone who enjoys royal 
confidence to form a new government. . . . ​In the present situation, the 
struggle started by the Iranian people cannot be brought to a victorious 
conclusion.” 27 Mosaddeq withdrew to his estate at Ahmadabad and refused 
press interviews or public appearances.

It is not clear if Mosaddeq’s resignation was premeditated or if he acted 
on impulse. According to Baqa’i, “absolutely no one knew” in advance about 
the prime minister’s choice to resign. In his memoirs, Mosaddeq regretted 
his decision. Homa Katouzian, the memoirs’ editor, argues that Mosaddeq’s 
resignation “unwittingly played right into the shah’s hands.” Alternatively, 
the U.S. embassy believed that Mosaddeq, recognizing his position was 
becoming untenable, manufactured the crisis so he could leave office on a 
suitable pretense, one that would “place the responsibility for his fall on the 
Shah rather than on his own policies.” 28 This seems the most likely answer: 
knowing he would need full control over the government to resolve the fiscal 
crisis and preserve his political position, Mosaddeq chose to gamble.

Despite pressure from Kashani to agree to Mosaddeq’s demands, the shah 
accepted the prime minister’s resignation and instructed the Majlis to choose 
a successor. Although Mosaddeq’s supporters boycotted the closed session of 
the Majlis held on 17 July, thus denying it a quorum, forty of the forty-three 
remaining deputies voted in favor of Qavam. After Speaker Emami calmed 
the shah’s fears that Qavam’s selection would lead to a revolution, the shah, 
without waiting for the Senate’s approval, issued a firman appointing Qa-
vam prime minister. Qavam learned of his election during a meeting at his 
home in north Tehran with the chief of police and the military governor of 
Tehran, whom he expected “to maintain complete law and order.” Discuss-
ing the situation with the shah over the telephone, Qavam received assur-
ances of trust and loyal cooperation. Qavam also sent a message to the U.S. 
embassy that stressed his desire to “gradually bring Iran into full and 
unequivocal alignment with the West,” and that he needed U.S. financial 
assistance to “save” Iran.29 The following morning, Radio Tehran issued the 
new prime minister’s first address. Qavam emphasized a commitment to 
“law and order,” denounced “black reaction and outdated superstition,” and 
vowed to keep religion out of politics.30 Qavam also denounced the Tudeh 
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and the National Front, particularly Kashani’s wing of the coalition, which 
he expected would be in ascendance now that Mosaddeq had withdrawn 
from the scene. While it was calculated to please conservatives and reassure 
Mosaddeq’s opponents, the speech enraged National Front supporters.31

The sudden turn of events apparently caught Britain and the United 
States by surprise. Both had been pressing the shah to remove Mosaddeq, 
but neither expected matters to come to a head before August at the earli-
est. MI6 operative C. M. Woodhouse had already decided that a coup would 
be necessary to remove Mosaddeq but was apparently still “working out the 
details.” Woodhouse writes in his memoirs that he and his CIA colleague 
were out of Tehran fishing at the time of Mosaddeq’s resignation.32 Hender-
son met with Middleton, and together they prepared a joint recommenda-
tion calling for U.S. financial assistance to Qavam’s government. Assistance 
would be necessary, Henderson wrote, to allow Qavam “to remain in power 
and work out [an] agreement with [the British].” Assistant Secretary of State 
for Near Eastern, South Asian, and African Affairs Henry A. Byroade ex-
plained that Qavam was showing “strength of character and determination” 
and was “sticking his neck out” to reach an oil settlement. It was important 
for the United States to support him without delay. The U.S. government 
quickly approved the joint recommendation.33

British officials argued that aid had to be contingent on an oil agreement. 
“We regard this as an opportunity for settling the oil dispute,” Roger Ma-
kins of the Foreign Office told the U.S. ambassador in London, “and [are] 
determined to seize it.” 34 Although the British in late June had agreed to an 
arrangement that called for a new company to run Iran’s oil industry under 
contract with the NIOC, AIOC was unwilling to accept any plan that did not 
allow it to dominate Iran’s oil industry. AIOC’s obstinacy, backed by the Min-
istry of Fuel and Power and the Treasury, infuriated Foreign Secretary 
Eden, who had been pressing unsuccessfully for a reorganization of the com
pany and the replacement of AIOC head Sir William Fraser. Fraser, who 
Eden complained was “in cloud cuckoo land,” apparently saw the sudden 
turn of events in Iran as a vindication of his policies and as an opportunity 
to get AIOC back into Iran. Despite the Foreign Office’s efforts to seize the 
opportunity for a settlement, Fraser continued to hold up agreement on a 
settlement plan.35

While the British quarreled over what terms to offer Qavam’s new gov-
ernment, the political situation in Iran rapidly spun out of control. In Teh-
ran, National Front–affiliated bazaar guilds shut down the market and 
suspended commercial activity as the coalition’s leaders organized protests. 
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“Mosaddeq or death!” was a common slogan. Kashani delivered a blistering 
tirade against Qavam, “a traitor and gangster,” and declared jihad, or holy 
war, against the new government. At a press conference, Kashani invited 
all opposition groups, including those associated with the Tudeh, to unite 
against Qavam, whom he regarded as an “imperialist tool.” Shahed and 
Bakhtar-e Emruz published statements by the National Front imploring the 
police and soldiers not to use force against demonstrators. “The acts of 
Ahmed Qavam,” declared Kashani in Kayhan, “must not be carried out 
through you and must not make you responsible for the shedding of blood 
and injustice.” 36

On 19 July, Qavam met with Henderson and complained that agitators 
were hiding behind parliamentary immunity “to break down law and or-
der,” and noted that he might be forced to dissolve the Majlis. In a carefully 
worded response, Henderson said that world opinion would not expect the 
government “to tolerate [a] situation in which it was paralyzed.” Qavam 
pointed out that it might be necessary to undertake “certain strong mea
sures,” and that he might have to proceed in an “undemocratic manner . . . ​
in order to save democracy.” Henderson registered no objection, suggest-
ing Qavam could act with “firmness and restraint” while maintaining his 
“reputation” in the eyes of the West. Henderson also clearly and carefully 
linked U.S. aid to Qavam’s willingness to settle the oil dispute. Qavam as-
sured Henderson that he intended to move as quickly as conditions permit-
ted to solve the oil problem on a “reasonable and fair basis.” 37

Though Qavam was ready to use force to preserve his government’s 
position, the extent of the opposition to Mosaddeq’s removal gave the shah 
pause. Some of the demonstrations in Tehran and other cities began to take 
on a revolutionary flavor, assuming an anti-monarchical as well as an anti-
foreign and anti-Qavam attitude, and the shah feared backing Qavam could 
threaten his throne. On 19 July, the shah refused Qavam’s request to dis-
solve the Majlis and permit him to rule by decree for three months. Long 
suspicious of Qavam’s designs against the Pahlavi dynasty, the shah further 
feared granting Qavam such sweeping powers lest they be turned against 
the monarchy. Lacking what he considered the necessary powers to deal 
with an increasingly difficult situation, and with no nationwide organization 
to counter the National Front, Qavam lapsed into inaction.38

At dawn on 21 July 1952—30 Tir 1331, according to the Iranian calendar—
Tehran was silent. All stores and workshops were closed, as the bazaar 
guilds held a general strike of all commercial activity. By midmorning, both 
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the National Front and Tudeh marshaled their street organizations. Hours 
of street combat ensued as the police and armed forces used live ammuni-
tion to suppress the crowds. According to British accounts, the crowds were 
chanting “Down with the shah” as well as “Death to Qavam.” At least one 
statue of the shah’s father was torn down. Mehdi Azar, a doctor in Tehran, 
recalled leaving his shift at the hospital and seeing mounted police “gallop-
ing towards the crowd” and fighting them off, only for the crowd to surge 
again and drive the security forces as far as Baherastan Square. The shah’s 
brother narrowly escaped with his life after his chauffeur mistakenly drove 
his car into a National Front demonstration. A Majlis deputy who called for 
calm was pelted with stones, and 600 detainees broke out of the city’s jails 
to join the protesters. Twenty-nine people died and hundreds were injured 
as National Front and Tudeh demonstrators battled the city’s police and mil-
itary garrison.39

Qavam went to the royal palace early on 21 July intending to request 
emergency authority to put down the crowds with brute force. The shah, 
who was meeting with representatives from the National Front to negoti-
ate an end to the demonstrations, refused to see him. Qavam returned to 
his house and “a state of complete passivity,” according to Henderson. Mid-
dleton and Henderson tried to convince the shah to support Qavam, argu-
ing that the Tudeh was backing Mosaddeq and if Mosaddeq got back into 
power with their support, the authority of the government and the posi-
tion of the monarchy would be “fatally impaired.” According to Middleton, 
Henderson gave the shah “categorical and forceful advice” not to be too 
“scrupulous” and allow concerns about the constitution to keep him from 
authorizing necessary measures.40

The shah refused to back Qavam. After some army units ceased their 
efforts to resist the protesters, the shah ordered all soldiers to return to 
their barracks. Qavam submitted his resignation, which the shah accepted 
at 5 p.m. Before the shah could name a replacement, news that the Interna-
tional Court of Justice had ruled in Iran’s favor arrived. By a vote of nine to 
five, the Court ruled that the 1933 concession represented “a contract be-
tween a government and a foreign corporation,” and did not constitute 
“treaties and conventions,” which fell under the Court’s jurisdiction. The 
British judge ruled with the majority, while the American judge sided with 
the minority.41 Although the British government declared that its legal posi-
tion was unchanged and did not relax its efforts to prevent the sale of Ira
nian oil, the Court’s decision was hailed as a personal victory for Mosaddeq.42 
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When the Majlis reconvened on 22 July, sixty-one of the sixty-four deputies 
present voted in favor of Mosaddeq. Left with little choice, the shah signed 
the firman confirming Mosaddeq as prime minister.

The events of July 1952 marked an important turning point in the strug
gle for Iran. As Middleton wrote on 28 July, for decades Iranian politics had 
been dominated by a small elite, with the shah acting as “umpire.” That elite 
was now marginalized.43 Qavam, a thirty-year veteran of Iranian politics, 
fled Iran and died in obscurity in 1955. Richard Cottam, a CIA officer at the 
time and later a scholar of Iranian history, wrote in 1988 that the uprising 
was “one of the really great outpourings of popular sentiment” in Iranian 
history.44 At the time, however, the events of July 1952 apparently led the 
CIA to conclude that control of “the street” was the key to power in Iran.45 
The events displayed the organizational prowess of the Tudeh. A faction 
within the party’s leadership advocating for greater cooperation with the 
National Front won out over hard-line Marxists who had rejected Mosad-
deq as a bourgeois “American tool.” 46 Most significantly of all, however, was 
the precipitous decline in the prestige and influence of the shah. Once he 
returned to office, Mosaddeq won control of the War Ministry (which he re-
named the Defense Ministry) and the freedom to select his own chief of 
staff. The shah still held influence in the armed forces, but his practical au-
thority (which, according to Iran’s constitution, was fairly limited) drasti-
cally declined in the wake of the July Uprising.

Considering a Coup: Anglo-American Positions  
after the July Uprising

Firmly back in power after the events of 21 July, Mosaddeq met with Mid-
dleton on 25 July and suggested a fresh attempt to resolve the oil dispute. 
Mosaddeq argued the two sides should settle the remaining outstanding 
issue—compensation for AIOC’s lost assets—through arbitration. Iran and 
Britain would each appoint an arbitrator, with a third arbitrator to be cho-
sen jointly. Iran would remain in full control of its industry. While Iran 
would work with AIOC and other companies on the distribution of its oil, 
foreign companies would not be allowed to operate in Iran, which would 
sell no more oil than was necessary to balance its budget and pay compen-
sation. Mosaddeq reminded Middleton that Iran faced severe financial dif-
ficulties and would need immediate assistance from Britain. Unless oil 
revenues were restored, Mosaddeq warned, Iran’s drift toward a commu-
nist revolution would be difficult to halt.47



The July Uprising 103

Mosaddeq’s move put the British on the spot. The offer to Middleton up-
held the principle of negotiated compensation and might open the door to 
the return of AIOC and other oil companies to Iran if arbitration set com-
pensation at so high a level that Iran would need outside help in selling 
enough oil to pay. On the other hand, Mosaddeq’s proposal did not get Ira
nian oil flowing again in large quantities or provide for “efficient manage-
ment,” the favored British euphemism for foreign control, and thus did not 
ensure substantial oil revenues, a key U.S. concern. It also did not neces-
sarily provide large quantities of sterling oil for Britain. Negotiating with 
Mosaddeq would further discourage the opposition and strengthen Mosad-
deq’s hold on power. Nevertheless, Middleton argued that outright rejection 
of the proposal would only prolong the deadlock and thereby increase the 
danger of a communist seizure of power. Although Foreign Secretary Eden 
initially agreed that Britain had to consider Mosaddeq’s proposals, “vague 
and unpalatable” as they were, the British did not respond to Mosaddeq’s 
offer.48

The United States believed that Mosaddeq’s proposal represented the 
last opportunity for Britain to salvage a settlement of the oil dispute that 
offered compensation and a role for AIOC in the distribution of Iranian oil. 
Moreover, failure to respond favorably to the offer would strengthen the 
extremists in the National Front and the Tudeh. After an “exhausting and 
depressing” meeting with Mosaddeq on 27 July, Henderson lamented that 
a “person so lacking in stability and clearly dominated by emotions and 
prejudices should represent the only bulwark left between Iran and com-
munism.” Nevertheless, Henderson argued that Mosaddeq and the Na-
tional Front, despite their faults, represented the only political force, “aside 
from the small likelihood of a military coup,” that could successfully chal-
lenge the Tudeh. Henderson warned that the National Front would succumb 
to the better-organized communists if Britain and the United States did not 
work to keep Iran on a friendly basis with the West. In the U.S. view, the 
alternatives in Iran were either reaching a settlement with Mosaddeq, a 
gradual breakdown of the oil boycott, or continued deadlock with an in-
creasing trend to the left and a great risk of a communist takeover. Hen-
derson believed that the overriding policy objective of saving Iran from 
communist domination took precedence over “business” considerations.49 
State Department counselor and noted Soviet specialist Charles Bohlen em-
phasized the folly of the British policy in Iran to one Foreign Office repre-
sentative, arguing that the obsession with avoiding an unsatisfactory oil 
settlement blinded the British to the risk of losing Iran and the entire Middle 
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East to communism. In that event, the region’s oil resources would be lost 
forever. It was therefore more important to keep Iran in the Western camp. 
Commercial concerns were secondary.50

Mosaddeq had demanded that the British reply to his proposal by 28 July. 
When the British failed to respond, he withdrew the offer and informed 
Middleton that Iran would pay compensation according to the Nine-Point 
Nationalization Law, which only covered physical assets. Mosaddeq’s 
move angered the British, who had hoped to link arbitration with arrange-
ments for controlling Iran’s oil industry. In any event, the British were fol-
lowing a different path. With Zaehner’s departure, covert operations in 
Iran were now led by Sam Falle, a junior officer fluent in Farsi.51 Falle con-
cluded that the conservative, pro-British parliamentary opposition to Mo-
saddeq had been routed, and that the only solution was a “coup d’état with 
or without the consent of the shah.” On 27 July, Falle and Middleton met 
with Fazlollah Zahedi and proposed a “coup d’état” against Mosaddeq, 
drawing on support from the army and “among the mullahs.” Explaining 
his reasoning, Middleton maintained that Mosaddeq’s “record, his charac-
ter and capacity as a statesman and the balance of forces which keep him 
in power all lead me to believe that he is unlikely to prove a very effective 
barrier to the growth of Communist strength in Persia.” The only thing to 
stop Iran from falling into communist hands, Middleton argued, was a 
coup d’état, though he could not “at present see anyone who might play the 
role of strong man.” 52

In addition to discussing the possibility of organizing a coup with Gen-
eral Zahedi, Sayyid Zia, the Rashidian brothers, and other opposition ele
ments, the War Office instructed the British military attaché in Iran to assess 
the loyalty of the armed forces to the shah, which side the armed forces 
would take in a confrontation between the government and the shah, and 
the extent of Tudeh penetration of the armed forces. The War Office also 
wanted an assessment of the capability of the armed forces to mount a suc-
cessful coup given the morale of senior officers, Tudeh penetration of the 
lower ranks, and possible opposition in the military to a coup.53

Although the United States was not yet ready to sponsor a coup against 
Mosaddeq, Byroade noted that “unorthodox measures” might be necessary 
to prevent Iran’s fall to communism. He agreed that the U.S. and British em-
bassies in Iran, in addition to discussing means of reaching an oil settle-
ment with Mosaddeq, should explore the option of removing Mosaddeq, 
including recommendations as to possible alternatives, what methods might 
bring such alternatives to power, and the type of encouragement and 
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support that would be necessary for an alternative leader to be successful. 
According to Secretary of State Dean Acheson, the United States believed 
that no “constructive alternative” to Mosaddeq existed but felt that “every 
possibility should be re-explored.” 54

On 31 July, Henderson informed the department that he and Middleton 
had concluded that it was not likely that any alternatives to Mosaddeq could 
be brought to power, and neither he nor Middleton knew of any military 
leader who had the “strength, standing, or intelligence necessary for assur-
ing success” of a coup, or for governing Iran if the coup succeeded. Accord-
ing to a joint U.S. and British assessment, the shah’s “indecision” had been 
the prime reason for Qavam’s failure in July.55 Henderson felt a coup would 
need to be carried out in the shah’s name, but it would have to happen with-
out his knowledge, since the shah “would probably not have the stamina to 
see it through and might at [a] certain stage weaken and denounce its lead-
ers.” Moreover, a successful coup would “almost certainly” result in Tudeh 
control of the nationalist movement, and a military dictatorship would find 
it very difficult to control the country and enact a constructive program. 
According to Henderson, Middleton agreed with him that “neither British 
nor American government should undertake to encourage or support a coup 
d’état and that our two Embassies should not become involved in any way.” 56 
Since Middleton was involved in such activities, it appears that he was not 
being candid about his government’s policy. The CIA agreed that there were 
no figures “around whom a coup could be engineered” who were not already 
aligned with Mosaddeq. The agency had assets including the Qashqa’i, a 
powerful tribal confederation in southern Iran, but the Qashqa’i supported 
the National Front, were fiercely anti-British, and did not trust the shah.57

While the British continued to try to organize a coup, the United States 
moved in the opposite direction. The United States believed that it was 
highly unlikely that the shah and conservative elements would regain po
litical power and concluded that providing limited financial support to Mo-
saddeq and the National Front was the only viable option for preventing 
economic chaos and the danger of the Tudeh eventually coming to power. 
Support would have to be designed so that it would preserve the princi
ple of compensation for the nationalization of AIOC. It would also have 
to be acceptable to public opinion in the United States and Britain and would 
have to provide for the resumption of oil revenues to Iran.

With these criteria in mind, the United States proposed a plan whereby 
it would provide Iran with $10 million in grant assistance, out of the 
$26 million the United States had planned to make available to Qavam; AIOC 
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would buy the oil in storage at Abadan at a “suitable discount”; Mosaddeq 
would agree to submit the question of compensation to international ar-
bitration; and negotiations on permanent arrangements for distributing 
Iranian oil would be undertaken promptly. Neither the U.S. grant nor the 
British purchases would be held up pending the arbitration, and the British 
boycott of Iranian oil would end. The United States believed that these 
were the minimum conditions that Mosaddeq was likely to accept, and the 
best the British could get given the circumstances. If the British refused to 
work with the United States to negotiate a settlement, Acting Secretary of 
State David Bruce told the National Security Council on 6 August, the 
United States “might have to go it alone” and prop up the Mosaddeq gov-
ernment with unilateral aid or oil purchases.58 Meanwhile, Mosaddeq pub-
lished a note on 7 August demanding AIOC return all unpaid royalties to 
Iran, end the boycott, and begin discussions with Iran on a compensation 
award. The note contained strong language denouncing the British record 
in Iran and hinted that failure to negotiate might result in severing diplo-
matic relations.59

Keeping the Americans “in Play”

The British were not pleased with the shift in U.S. policy. While it did not 
appear possible to unseat Mosaddeq in the near term, the British believed 
that he would never accept their terms on compensation and continued their 
efforts to organize a coup. They opposed providing Iran with financial as-
sistance since this would bolster Mosaddeq’s position. The British position 
in Iran had weakened in the wake of the July Uprising. Though the embassy 
remained open, consulates in the provinces had been closed in January and 
Zaehner’s intelligence network was in tatters.60 Since a fresh attempt to dis-
lodge Mosaddeq would require U.S. assistance, Falle suggested a change in 
tactics. Rather than emphasizing the oil issue, Britain should take a “slightly 
self-sacrificing line” and instead emphasize the risk of Iran falling to com-
munism if Mosaddeq remained in power.61

The British also argued that there were alternatives to tolerating Mosad-
deq. Drawing on the reports from Falle and Middleton, Eden argued there 
was a chance that a “local Neguib” could be found, a reference to the re-
cent military coup in Egypt that suggested a military leader might succeed 
in overthrowing Mosaddeq.62 Whereas Henderson had reported that the 
army was inclined to back Mosaddeq as long as he did not challenge its 
authority or that of the shah, Eden claimed that the army’s morale remained 
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strong, and if army commanders challenged the government, the Majlis 
would rally to its side.63 Worried that the United States might ignore their 
objections, the British decided to go along with the U.S. plan, “if only to gain 
time” while they worked with Zahedi to mobilize another attempt to oust 
Mosaddeq.64

The issue of compensation took center stage in oil negotiations. Mosaddeq 
argued that compensation should only cover AIOC’s physical assets, 
pointing out that oil in the ground legally belonged to Iran. The British 
opposed such terms, arguing that accepting them would allow Iran to profit 
from its nationalization, thus establishing a precedent that might encourage 
other countries to nationalize their own oil industries. Instead of physical 
assets, the British insisted on compensation terms covering the future profits 
AIOC would have earned under the 1933 concession, which was to remain in 
force until 1993. In 1951, AIOC calculated that the profits from the remaining 
concession years would equal at least £1 billion, whereas physical assets 
were valued at only £26 million.65 The British also insisted that AIOC should 
receive compensation for the “loss and damage caused to the company” by 
nationalization.66 The British demand for broad arbitration terms covering 
compensation reflected a shift in their tactics away from questioning the le-
gality of nationalization and toward bringing about a settlement that would 
saddle Iran with a heavy compensation obligation, thereby requiring a re-
sumption of Iranian oil exports handled either by AIOC or a group of West-
ern oil companies, or by a reversal of nationalization.

The British knew that Mosaddeq would probably reject such harsh terms. 
Middleton pointed out that the proposed terms would “fatally prejudice the 
chances of Persian acceptance.” 67 British tactics were not meant to produce 
a settlement, though the British were open to negotiations if their goals 
could be accomplished. As one Foreign Office official noted, “we cannot in-
sist in the presence of third parties that Musaddiq is ‘unnegotiable,’ even 
though we may ourselves think that he is.” 68 Meanwhile, the British pushed 
Falle’s “self-sacrificing line,” emphasizing Mosaddeq’s weakness as a barrier 
to communist control. Ambassador Oliver Franks met with Acheson over 
dinner and argued that Mosaddeq’s recent alliance with the Tudeh “lessened 
his power to be a bulwark against Communism.” Franks also argued that 
Henderson’s reports “did not exclude the seizure of power by someone else, 
as happened not too infrequently in Middle Eastern countries.” 69 The appar-
ent openness to negotiations was yet another British stalling tactic, designed 
to preserve Anglo-American unity and prolong the oil crisis until Mosaddeq 
could be forced from power.
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The British approach irritated the United States. President Truman com-
plained of “this type of usual delay on urgent problems” and stated that “if 
it proved impossible to get together with the British on Iran, we would have 
to see what we could do unilaterally.” 70 Acheson told Ambassador Franks 
on 11 August that the only resemblance he could see between the U.S. pro-
posal and the British reply “was that they were both written on paper with a 
typewriter.” In contrast to the British claim that Mosaddeq might be replaced 
by a “better” government, the United States believed that any change that 
might occur, “by coup or otherwise,” would not produce an Iranian govern-
ment that could accept proposals as stringent as the British had outlined.71

Mosaddeq seemed ready to negotiate. He met with Middleton on 14 Au-
gust in what the diplomat described as “the most hopeful and productive 
meeting I have yet had.” Mosaddeq explained that his 7 August note had 
been phrased to satisfy Iranian public opinion. As the American had sur-
mised, Mosaddeq was feeling pressure from Kashani and others intent on 
punishing the British, and he was anxious to reach an oil settlement that 
would allow him to deal with Iran’s domestic problems. He was therefore 
willing to send the issue of compensation to arbitration through the ICJ, 
provided Iran secured financial relief in the short term. He suggested that 
arbitration terms remove any mention of the 1933 concession or the Nation-
alization Law.72

To provide an incentive for the British to negotiate, Mosaddeq had in-
vited W. Alton Jones, president of Cities Service, an Oklahoma-based oil 
company, to come to Iran to inspect the production facilities and the Abadan 
refinery and offer advice on how to restart the industry. There was little 
the U.S. government could do to prevent private citizens from doing busi-
ness with the Iranian government, the recognized owner of the nation’s oil 
industry. On 13 August, Jones told President Truman, Secretary of the Inte-
rior Oscar L. Chapman, and Acting Secretary of State David Bruce that he 
planned to offer Mosaddeq advice and would stress the need for Iran to 
reach a deal with AIOC.73 Nevertheless, if independent and state-owned oil 
companies began buying and distributing Iranian oil, the resulting revenues 
would strengthen Mosaddeq’s government and eliminate the need for an oil 
settlement. Britain’s entire position would collapse.

Acting as his own foreign secretary while Eden recovered from surgery, 
Churchill warned Truman on 16 August that allowing Jones to enter Iran 
and turning AIOC’s oil over to American oil interests would deeply damage 
Anglo-American relations. Truman assured Churchill that the United States 
did not wish “to profit by your present difficulties,” and urged him to accept 
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Iran’s nationalization law and moderate his position on compensation. “If 
Iran goes down the Communist drain,” Truman wrote, “it will be of little 
satisfaction to any of us that legal positions were defended to the last.” The 
best way to prevent oilmen like Jones from flocking to Iran and shattering 
the British boycott was to negotiate with Mosaddeq.74

In an effort to keep the Americans “in play,” Churchill suggested to Tru-
man on 20 August that they make a joint proposal to Mosaddeq. “We are 
dealing with a man on the very edge of bankruptcy, revolution, and death,” 
he wrote, displaying his talent for rhetorical flourish, “but I still think a man. 
Our combined approach might convince him.” Churchill proposed framing 
compensation for AIOC in terms of the losses caused by “the nationaliza-
tion of the enterprise . . . ​and the termination of the 1933 Concession Agree-
ment, having regard to the claims and counter-claims of both parties.” In 
any event, the terms must not prevent Britain “from maintaining . . . ​the 
validity of the 1933 Concession and claiming damages for its unilateral ab-
rogation.” 75 Churchill insisted on a joint approach. “I thought that it might 
do good,” he wrote to Truman, “if we had a gallop together such as I often 
had with F.D.R.” 76 Churchill leaned on the legacy of the wartime alliance, 
but his overture was motivated by the British need to prevent the United 
States from any action that would interfere with Britain’s plans to organize 
Mosaddeq’s downfall. According to one Foreign Office official, it was cru-
cial “that we should not lose momentum. . . . ​At any minute Musaddiq or 
the State Department may have another bright idea.” 77

U.S. officials were under no illusions as to why Churchill suggested a joint 
proposal. Secretary of Defense Robert A. Lovett noted the danger of “being 
tied to the umbilical cord of the British Empire” at a time when the British 
position in Iran had collapsed and their prestige throughout the Middle East 
seemed to be in free fall. Rather than a joint message, Lovett suggested the 
United States and Britain send parallel messages, delivering the same pro-
posal through separate means.78 To preserve Anglo-American unity, how-
ever, Truman agreed to a joint offer that called for Iran and the AIOC to 
sign a sales agreement allowing AIOC to handle Iranian oil exports. Com-
pensation would cover “the nationalization of the enterprise of the AIOC in 
Iran.” 79 If Mosaddeq agreed to these terms, he would receive $10 million 
in interim aid from the United States, a figure the U.S. embassy calculated 
would cover Iran’s budget expenses for about one month.80

The Foreign Office believed that these terms would safeguard British in-
terests in the unlikely event Mosaddeq accepted the offer. Even if Iran suc-
ceeded in selling oil outside of its deal with AIOC, other producers would 



British Prime Minister Sir Winston Churchill (center) and Foreign Secretary 
Sir Anthony Eden (left) spearheaded an effort in August 1952 to keep oil 
talks going while covert assets were organized to oust Mosaddeq. Truman 
Library, Accession No. 2013-2147.



The July Uprising 111

remain deterred “by the heavy compensation which Persia would have to 
pay.” 81 Meanwhile, Jones, who arrived in Iran on 23 August, told Mosad-
deq that for Iranian oil to flow once more, a cooperative arrangement with 
AIOC would be necessary. The Foreign Office thought he conducted him-
self “sensibly and helpfully.” 82 British fears dissipated. “I have had a try with 
Truman over Persia,” Churchill wrote to a convalescing Eden, and the at-
titude at Whitehall was “quite content.” 83

Mosaddeq received the Truman-Churchill joint proposal on 27 August 
and found many problems. He recognized that the opening paragraph, 
which stipulated that AIOC should receive compensation for its “lost assets 
and concession,” opened the way to a settlement covering the company’s 
future profits under the 1933 concession. Against the threat of a crushing 
compensation burden, the U.S. offer of $10 million was wholly inadequate: 
Mosaddeq also suspected the money would come “with strings attached,” 
guessing that further aid would be contingent on an oil deal that favored 
the companies over Iran’s needs. Iran wanted only money that belonged to 
it “by right,” and he demanded that AIOC hand over the £49 million shown 
on the company’s balance sheet as being due to Iran under the never-ratified 
1949 Supplemental Agreement.84

While Churchill argued the proposal should stand, Truman suggested a 
redraft allowing the ICJ to determine compensation terms, with neither 
party questioning “the validity of the nationalization laws,” to make them 
more palatable to Mosaddeq.85 The British had to be careful not to overplay 
their hand. Middleton reminded Eden of the need to compromise with 
the Americans to keep negotiations going. Mosaddeq knew that “we are 
on the horns of this dilemma and feels that he is in a strong bargaining po-
sition.” Falle’s work with Zahedi was still in its early stages, and a concrete 
plan for a military coup was nowhere near completion. “I place no reliance 
whatsoever on . . . ​intervention by the shah,” Middleton wrote, noting that 
there were “all kinds of anti-Musaddiq plots” popping up in the capital, 
“[but] I do not consider them significant.” 86 In Washington, Ambassador 
Franks continued to warn against actions that might fray the Anglo-American 
alliance: “There is considerable risk that the Americans will say that the 
joint operation is finished . . . ​[and] go off on their own.” 87

Nevertheless, British leadership refused to agree to any changes to the 
27 August joint proposal. Eden accused Mosaddeq of using “blackmail tac-
tics,” and Churchill declared, “[w]e have decided to offer what is right and 
fair. Let the world judge.” Eden instructed Franks to tell the Americans that 
any change would constitute “weakness in the face of Persian pressure.” 88 
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The United States relented, and Middleton and Henderson resubmitted 
the proposal to Mosaddeq on 30 August and released the text to the press the 
same day.89

Mosaddeq was outraged, but probably not surprised. Once again, the 
British were trying to force Iran to agree to compensation terms that would 
prevent Iran from gaining economically from nationalization. The sales 
agreement seemed a front to return AIOC to its former position in control 
of Iranian exports. “Iranians were not donkeys,” he told Henderson. The 
only reason the United States offered such terms was that they sought “to 
get rid of him and bring in another government.” While he regarded the 
terms as wholly inadequate, Mosaddeq suggested he would have the Majlis 
consider them when it convened in September.90

Eden believed the joint proposal had served as a “valuable demonstra-
tion” of Anglo-American unity. Pending further developments, he instructed 
Franks to point out “that there is still no evidence that financial difficulties 
have played any part in the increased Communist threat to Persia,” as a 
way to dissuade the United States from taking unilateral action.91 Complain-
ing that Mosaddeq seemed incapable of “rational thought,” Middleton argued 
that the next few weeks would be decisive, as Mosaddeq would be forced 
to deal with his mounting political challenges without the benefit of an oil 
settlement. “I only hope we have not missed any tricks.” 92 The British gov-
ernment had not yet abandoned hope of altering the political circumstances 
inside Iran and remained opposed to any terms that would imperil other 
oil concessions. Vigilance would be necessary to maintain Anglo-American 
unity and prevent the United States from making offers of its own.

Zahedi’s Coup Plans and the British Expulsion

While he negotiated with the Americans and the British over the oil issue, 
Mosaddeq consolidated his control over the government in the wake of the 
July Uprising, drawing on the emergency powers he had secured from 
the Majlis. These powers gave him the authority to select cabinet ministers 
and enact legislation without a Majlis vote—though Mosaddeq, as a staunch 
constitutionalist, continued to permit open debate and a free press. He 
nevertheless used his new authority to adjust the makeup of his government. 
After July  1952, the government was dominated by a larger progressive 
contingent, with a mandate to undertake sweeping reforms to Iran’s labor 
laws, justice system, military, and land tenure. Control over the Majlis and 
the central bank also allowed Mosaddeq to cover the government’s budget 
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deficit by issuing new banknotes, part of new “oil-less” economic strategy 
designed to help the economy withstand the effects of the British boycott.93

Despite his success at retaining power, Mosaddeq faced new challenges 
from within his original circle of supporters. A diverse coalition of politi
cal figures and groups, the National Front had never been particularly 
cohesive. Its unity before July  1952 stemmed from its commitment to 
nationalization and its members’ loyalty to Mosaddeq. After the July Up-
rising, that loyalty began to crack. Mozaffar Baqa’i, Hossein Makki, and 
other National Front leaders grew frustrated with Mosaddeq, who they be-
lieved was hoarding power to himself. Some were opposed to Mosaddeq’s 
reform legislation, which threatened the power of the entrenched elite. The 
prominence of Iran Party members within the post-July government pro-
duced “anger and jealousy” among the original National Front coalition, 
particularly Makki, Baqa’i, and Kashani.94 At the same time, the rise of the 
Tudeh Party as a force in politics and the simultaneous decline of the shah 
and the conservative opposition left a vacuum in politics that formations 
like Kashani’s street network or Baqa’i’s Toilers’ Party were eager to fill.95

On 7 August, Kashani left Tehran, ostensibly embarking on a hajj pilgrim-
age to Mecca. Middleton reported it was due to “serious disagreements” 
over Mosaddeq’s cabinet appointments.96 Rumors reached Henderson in late 
August that the cleric was planning a coup against the government once he 
returned from his pilgrimage.97 Facing unrest within his coalition, Mosad-
deq also had to contend with challenges from the left and right. On 18 Au-
gust, a few days after Mosaddeq ended martial law in the capital, fighting 
broke out between the Tudeh, right-wing demonstrators, and religious 
groups, forcing Mosaddeq to reinstate martial law on 20 August.98 On 23 Au-
gust, he used his authority as war minister to retire 136 high-ranking and 
pro-shah military officers, many of whom then joined the ranks of Zahedi’s 
supporters in the Retired Officers Association and the Devotees of the Shah, 
two groups established by the former general to organize anti-Mosaddeq 
opposition within the military.99

The plotting continued as talks over the joint proposals reached an im-
passe in September. Baqa’i, who had contacted Zahedi in July, met with CIA 
agents and discussed a break between his Toilers’ Party and Mosaddeq.100 
According to one account, the CIA encouraged Baqa’i to distance himself 
from the prime minister and even offered him money.101 Baqa’i also sought 
support from the Rashidians.102 Kashani continued to marshal street sup-
port through the bazaar guilds, clerical organizations, and within the Maj-
lis. Rumors suggested he was also making inroads with the Qashqa’i, or 
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possibly even the Tudeh.103 Further reports of a possible Kashani-Tudeh al-
liance came from the CIA and Point Four mission chief William E. Warne.104

Though he was successful at warding off political challenges and sta-
bilizing the government’s financial position, Mosaddeq continued to re-
gard the resolution of the oil issue as his chief objective. On 16 September, 
Mosaddeq sent a message to the Majlis via Finance Minister Baqer Kazemi 
stating he was willing to agree to arbitration by the ICJ for compensation 
covering AIOC’s former assets, with payment of compensation “based on 
any law followed by any country for nationalization” that AIOC found ac-
ceptable. Discussions would depend on the payment of the £49 million AIOC 
owed Iran. If Britain did not accept these terms, “the continuance of diplo-
matic relations will be of no use to either party.” The deputies declared their 
support, denounced the joint offer, and delivered a vote of confidence for 
Mosaddeq by sixty votes to one.105

Mosaddeq formally rejected the joint proposal on 24 September. Acheson 
still felt that a change from Mosaddeq “could only be a change for the worse.” 
Truman agreed, and he turned down Churchill’s offer of another joint mes-
sage. Further pressure on Iran, he warned, “will hasten [Iran’s] disintegra-
tion and loss.” 106 On 5 October, Henderson and Middleton submitted their 
respective governments’ response to Mosaddeq’s statement separately. Mo-
saddeq pointed out that both messages lacked any mention of his request 
for funds and declared “it is all finished.” There was no point in further 
negotiations: “It was no good negotiating with a dead man and without 
money Persia would soon be dead.” 107 Mosaddeq still wanted AIOC to send 
representatives to Iran to begin new discussions.108 Eden, however, believed 
“a breach of relations” was preferable to abandoning the joint offer, which 
had maintained AIOC’s claim to compensation for future profits. Dragging 
their feet, the British did not respond to Mosaddeq’s request until 14 Octo-
ber, dismissing the £49 million as a “fictitious debt” and insisting again on 
compensation for the “unilateral termination of the 1933 Concession.” 109

With the joint proposal discussions going nowhere, Mosaddeq chose to 
strike directly at the opposition forces arrayed against him. On 13 October, 
he had the Rashidian brothers and a notable pro-British general arrested 
on charges of conspiracy. Zahedi, Kashani, and Baqa’i were also involved, 
but escaped arrest due to their parliamentary immunity. Foreign Minister 
Hossein Fatemi announced to the press that the conspirators had been work-
ing with a “foreign embassy.” Available sources suggest that Falle and Mid-
dleton encouraged Zahedi, though they did not rate his chances of success 
very highly.110 Falle had met with Zahedi on 12 October, finding him 
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“bubbling with optimism” at the thought of working with Kashani and 
Baqa’i. The degree of Falle and Middleton’s support of Zahedi is not known, 
but Falle noted after this meeting that Zahedi, “whatever his chances of 
success,” was performing a “useful task in uniting the discouraged and 
dispersed opposition.” Baqa’i had been meeting with the CIA as well as op-
position figures, but there is no evidence of any formal U.S. participation in 
the incipient October coup, though local agents may have been involved 
under the umbrella of the tpbedamn program.111

On 15 October, Zahedi addressed the Senate, denouncing Mosaddeq’s 
“dictatorial government,” while extolling his own credentials as a military 
commander and former minister of the interior.112 Since Zahedi was a sen-
ator and immune from arrest or prosecution, Mosaddeq chose not to take 
action against him. On 22 October, however, he made good on his threat 
from 7 August and ordered the British embassy to close and all British citi-
zens to leave Iran. The next day, the National Front deputies in the Majlis 
ordered the Senate to dissolve, arguing that the body had exhausted its con-
stitutional term.113 In a single stroke, the prime minister crippled Britain’s 
ability to interfere in Iran’s internal politics and neutralized another source 
of opposition.

Conclusion

The break in relations and the closing of the British embassy were a direct 
result of the British efforts to force Mosaddeq from power. After Octo-
ber  1952, London would play a much smaller role in Iranian affairs. Al-
ready expelled from their dominant position astride the Khuzestan oil fields 
and the Abadan refinery, the British found themselves in a position of sec-
ondary importance to the United States, now the preeminent power in Iran.

Securing American cooperation had always played an important role in 
British strategy, and the loss of their position in Iran forced the British to 
rely even more on U.S. help. The British nevertheless held fast to the princi
ples laid out in the joint offer. AIOC had to receive compensation for loss of 
the concession as well as physical assets, and any agreement had to include 
provisions that enabled Iran to earn sufficient revenue to pay compensation, 
which in practice meant a continued role for AIOC. The British also contin-
ued to insist that Mosaddeq was dangerous, unreliable, and ought to be re-
placed. Following Falle’s “self-sacrificing line,” they argued that leaving 
Mosaddeq in power would lead to communist control, in the hope that this 
would galvanize the United States into action.
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The events of July–October 1952 forced a change in U.S. policy. A report 
filed by the CIA on 14 October just hours after Mosaddeq disrupted the Za-
hedi coup attempt estimated that the prime minister would remain in 
power “at least for the next six months.” He had subordinated the shah and 
controlled the army, but his position was precarious, and should he fall from 
power he would almost certainly be replaced by Kashani or the Tudeh.114 
Neither of these outcomes was acceptable, and with the situation in Iran 
deteriorating, the United States decided to take a more active role in the 
search for a settlement to the oil dispute. According to Acheson, he and his 
colleagues concluded that the British were so determined on a “rule or ruin” 
policy in Iran that the United States would have to take independent steps 
to salvage the situation, or risk losing Iran to communist control and put-
ting the rest of the Middle East and its oil in danger.115
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Following the British withdrawal from Iran in October 1952, the United 
States launched another effort to resolve the oil dispute. Analysis of the sit-
uation convinced U.S. policymakers that any attempt to remove Mosaddeq 
through a coup would probably fail due to the weakness of the opposition 
and the unreliability of the shah. Even if it were possible to oust Mosaddeq, 
the most likely beneficiary would be Ayatollah Abolqassem Kashani, who 
U.S. analysts believed would follow policies that increased the chances of 
a Tudeh takeover. In its final months in office, the Truman administration 
hoped to boost Mosaddeq’s financial position enough to keep him in power 
and agree to an oil settlement. The U.S. plan called for reviving the Iranian 
oil industry through an arrangement that left production and refining under 
Iranian control but allowed AIOC and the other major oil companies to dis-
tribute Iranian oil to international markets, thus providing Iran with suffi-
cient revenues to stabilize its economy and pay AIOC compensation. The 
plan hinged on Britain and Iran reaching agreement on the compensation 
issue.

According to Secretary of State Dean Acheson, the negotiations “came 
very close” to a final settlement.1 Progress during the grueling and complex 
discussions was slowed by British intransigence on the issue of compensa-
tion. The British insisted that AIOC had to be compensated not only for phys-
ical assets but also for the profits the company would have earned had its 
concession been allowed to run until 1993. The British knew that Mosaddeq 
would never accept this condition, but they stuck firmly to their position. 
British intransigence on the compensation issue ensured that oil negotia-
tions would fail. In addition, an Iranian political crisis in late February 1953 
revealed deep divisions between Mosaddeq and the shah, with many of 
Mosaddeq’s former supporters turning against him. U.S. interest in finding 
a negotiated solution faded away amid a growing belief that only interven-
tion and regime change could solve the stalemate over oil and preserve the 
position of the monarchy. The changing calculus surrounding Iranian oil 
and the Iranian political situation were crucial in producing the U.S. deci-
sion in early 1953 to support a coup to remove Mosaddeq from power.



118 Chapter 5

Looking for Alternatives, September 1952

In mid-September 1952, as the prospects for a negotiated settlement faded, 
U.S. policymakers concluded that a change in policy was necessary to pre-
vent the loss of Iran. The British strategy of applying economic and political 
pressure to force a change in government had failed. Rather than replac-
ing Mosaddeq, British policy had increased the influence of Iranian nation-
alism, undermined the position of the traditional elite and the shah, and 
strengthened the Tudeh. The likely outcome of such policies would not be 
Mosaddeq’s capitulation, but the collapse of his government and a Kashani 
succession, followed closely by a Tudeh takeover. Given these circumstances, 
the United States began exploring alternative ways to prevent the loss of 
Iran to communist control.2

One option was to back the shah. On 22 August, Ray Allen, director of 
the Psychological Strategy Board, had met Max W. Thornburg, former ad-
visor to the Iranian government, and discussed Thornburg’s views about a 
coup. An oilman who had worked for SOCAL during the 1930s and the State 
Department during World War II, Thornburg had enjoyed a lucrative ten-
ure as economic counselor to the shah’s government before nationalization.3 
Arguing that the oil question “could not be settled until there were a gov-
ernment in Persia that wanted to settle it,” Thornburg contended that the 
way forward would be to remove Mosaddeq and replace his government 
with one committed to economic development. As oil was the only sizable 
source of income from which Iran could fund such projects, the new gov-
ernment would be compelled to enter into an agreement that would restart 
the flow of Iranian oil along terms the British and major companies would 
find acceptable. “The most promising figure around whom a responsible 
government can be built,” Thornburg concluded, “is the shah.” 4 Thornburg 
believed the shah should exercise dictatorial powers, closing newspapers, 
arresting dissidents, declaring martial law, and ruling by decree. With back-
ing from the United States, the shah would become the critical actor in 
Iran, “regardless of who is his Prime Minister.” 5 What Thornburg was ad-
vocating was a return to Iran’s pre-1941 regime, an authoritarian govern-
ment run by the shah and backed by the army.

Thornburg had powerful supporters, most notably the deputy director 
of the CIA, Allen W. Dulles. A State Department Middle East specialist be-
fore the war, Dulles served as an agent for the Office of Strategic Services 
(OSS) during World War II. After the war he worked as a lawyer for the firm 
Sullivan and Cromwell alongside his brother John Foster Dulles. He worked 
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briefly with Thornburg’s company in Iran, Overseas Consultants Inc., in 
1949.6 According to an internal CIA history of the agency’s operation in Iran, 
Dulles tended to rely on “personal acquaintances” like Thornburg for analy
sis of the situation in Iran, rather than intelligence specialists in the CIA or 
State Department. Dulles regarded Thornburg as an expert on Iranian af-
fairs, even though Thornburg had never studied Iranian history, culture, or 
language, and he encouraged Thornburg to draft a longer “think piece” out-
lining the ideas he presented in August.7

Thornburg’s ideas found little support elsewhere in the U.S. govern-
ment. John H. Leavitt, chief of the CIA’s Iran Branch, believed that it was 
“extremely unlikely” that the shah would agree to support such an opera-
tion, due to his personal indecision and the risks involved. Leavitt, who 
believed that a functional democracy would not emerge in Iran for many 
years, recommended that the CIA should build a network “dedicated to 
maintaining the loyalty of the Army to the Shah,” before attempting to push 
Mosaddeq from power through a military coup.8 Donald Wilber, a former 
OSS operative and scholar of Persian architecture who worked with Leavitt, 
also felt that the shah’s “record for indecision” meant he could not be trusted 
to support a military coup.9 Arthur L. Richards in the State Department’s 
Office of Greek, Turkish, and Iranian Affairs also found Thornburg’s faith in 
the shah “ill-informed and unrealistic.” 10

The British tried to convince the Americans that a coup was necessary 
to save Iran, and on 8 October sent the State Department a paper, “The Com-
munist Danger to Persia.” Instead of emphasizing the threat of nationaliza-
tion to British interests, the paper focused on the communist threat and 
argued that since Mosaddeq had been prime minister the Tudeh had greatly 
expanded its influence, while the influence of the shah and the army had 
been “seriously undermined.” Should current trends continue, the Tudeh 
would inevitably come to power. This outcome could be prevented by back-
ing a military government to supplant Mosaddeq. “Absolute Anglo-United 
States solidarity” was essential, for without such unity Mosaddeq would be 
able to play the United States and Britain against each other.11 Assistant Sec-
retary of State for Near East, South Asian, and African Affairs Henry A. 
Byroade worried that the paper did not “come to grips with the true nature 
of the Iranian problem.” The British view of Mosaddeq as “the worst pos
sible Premier Iran could have” was significantly at odds with the views of 
U.S. officials, who believed that Mosaddeq’s nationalist government “at 
least [had] a chance . . . ​to combat Tudeh rule,” as there was no better 
alternative in sight.12



120 Chapter 5

Other options also faced obstacles. Kermit Roosevelt, chief of the CIA’s 
Near East Division, put great stock in the CIA’s ability to train and arm guer-
rillas from the Qashqa’i tribe, part of the “special political measures” cited 
in a National Security Council policy statement draft circulating in early 
October.13 The CIA recognized that such plans were “insufficient to prevent 
a Tudeh coup,” and an internal assessment concluded that the CIA was “not 
in a position to influence the Iranian government” in any meaningful direc-
tion.14 Short of a military invasion, the United States did not have the means 
to change the government inside Iran, according to the Joint Chiefs of Staff.15

Another option was to stabilize Iran by restoring Iranian oil exports. Al-
though the British-led boycott, coupled with the limited number of oil 
tankers available outside the control of AIOC and the other major oil com-
panies, had effectively shut down exports, the International Court of Jus-
tice decision from July  1952 had weakened the legal foundation of the 
boycott. Most U.S. experts believed that it would become progressively more 
difficult to prevent independent and state-owned oil companies from buy-
ing Iranian oil.16 A State Department analysis estimated that Iran would be 
able to sell around 100,000 to 150,000 barrels of oil per day to independent 
and state-owned companies. The alternative to allowing Iranian oil back 
into world markets, Director of the Policy Planning Staff Paul Nitze argued 
on 22 September, was the “inevitable loss of Iran to the free world,” as the 
financial pressure would eventually force Mosaddeq to turn to the Soviets 
for help or facilitate his fall and the rise of a new Tudeh-led government.17

Independent oil companies were very interested in Iran. Cities Service 
head W. Alton Jones traveled to Iran in mid-August, met Mosaddeq and 
other prominent Iranians, and toured oil facilities. Although Jones recom-
mended to Mosaddeq that Iran settle with AIOC, he also made it clear that 
Cities Service was ready to supply technicians to help Iran run the Abadan 
refinery and to buy Iranian oil if it were clear that no settlement between 
AIOC and Iran were possible.18 Byroade recommended that the United States 
cease discouraging U.S. oil companies from getting involved in Iran. While 
the reappearance of Iranian oil in world markets would lead to price com-
petition, Byroade argued that such a policy would not encourage other com-
panies to nationalize foreign oil concessions. The psychological damage 
had already been done, and the amounts Iran would be able to sell were 
significantly less than what the other major Middle Eastern producing coun-
tries were selling, thus lessening incentives to follow Iran’s example.19

The British vehemently objected to the U.S. government giving a “green 
light” to purchasers of Iranian oil in the absence of a settlement on 
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compensation. The major U.S. oil companies were very concerned about 
the threat of renewed Iranian exports to the oil price structure, and they 
also opposed the plan. In addition, selling oil in small volumes to indepen
dent and state-owned companies at steep discounts would not deliver suf-
ficient financial relief for Iran or leave it with enough money left over to 
pay “adequate” compensation to AIOC. What was needed was a way to al-
low Iran to export more oil without disrupting pricing arrangements. In 
light of these problems, the State Department put the idea of relying on 
independent oil companies to revive Iranian oil exports on hold.20 Warn-
ing that the situation in Iran had become critical, Nitze argued in early 
October that it was crucial to find a “road to a solution” or face “a further 
dramatic turn towards eventual Communist control of Iran.” 21 He therefore 
began work on a new plan to get Iranian oil flowing again.

The Consortium Approach: Breaking with the British

Nitze’s plan, which he and other U.S. officials presented to the British in a 
series of meetings in mid-October, called for the formation of a consortium 
of the major international oil companies, including AIOC, to purchase and 
distribute Iranian oil. The consortium would purchase 25 million tons of oil 
from Iran over the course of fifteen years at a price that would result in a 
fifty-fifty division of profits. To meet Iran’s immediate needs, the plan ini-
tially called for the consortium to advance Iran $100 million against future 
purchases of oil. Subsequent versions of the plan called for the U.S. govern-
ment to make the $100 million advance against future deliveries of oil 
through the Defense Materials Procurement Agency. The plan addressed 
the compensation issue by proposing that AIOC receive 10 million tons of 
“free oil” per year for three years, which worked out to be around $420 
million. AIOC would pay Iran £20 million (approximately $56 million) to 
settle counterclaims. The consortium would manage marketing and distri-
bution, while Iran would remain in control of production and refining. The 
British did not like these terms. They especially objected to idea of a lump 
sum of $420 million for compensation, which they argued was far too low. 
They continued to insist that compensation be set through arbitration, with 
terms of reference that included compensation for lost profits.22

Problems of a different sort arose with the U.S. Department of Justice. 
President Truman, over the objections of the State Department, had au-
thorized the Justice Department to begin a grand jury investigation of 
the major international oil companies in June 1952. Utilizing a report by the 
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Federal Trade Commission, the Justice Department charged that the larg-
est companies acted as a cartel and controlled the world oil industry through 
a series of agreements to divide markets, fix prices, control production, and 
monopolize reserves.23 After Secretary of State Acheson outlined Nitze’s 
plan during a meeting on 8 October, Attorney General James McGranery 
argued that it would be “most difficult” to pursue the consortium approach 
(which would require cooperation between the major companies) and Jus-
tice’s antitrust action at the same time. Secretary of Defense Robert Lovett 
thought the antitrust investigation was “a mistake,” while General Omar 
Bradley, chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, warned that pushing the anti-
trust investigation risked access to overseas reserves of iron and oil by mak-
ing the major companies seem like “criminals.” Acheson argued that Nitze’s 
plan recognized the realities of the world oil economy. “One of the concrete 
problems” in bringing Iranian oil back into the market “is determin[ing] 
whom it is we can count on. . . . ​The independents are not in position to give 
us any real help.” Only the majors, including AIOC, were capable of moving 
Iranian oil in the volume necessary to deliver financial relief to Mosaddeq’s 
government.24

The situation in Iran prompted Secretary Lovett to recommend on 
24 October that the United States provide Iran with immediate economic 
assistance and help Iran start up its oil industry and find markets for its oil. 
Such action would be “tantamount to the extension of the Truman Doctrine 
to Iran,” and should be taken independently of the British “if necessary.” To 
minimize the risk of damaging relations with the British, Lovett recom-
mended that the United States should do its best to ensure that AIOC re-
ceived “reasonable compensation for the loss of their properties.” 25 Acheson 
replied on 4 November that Britain was “the most important element” in 
the Western alliance, and unilateral action by the United States “could do 
deep and lasting harm” not only to relations with Britain but to relations 
with the other NATO allies as well. Therefore, the objective of U.S. policy 
had to be “to save Iran without unnecessarily damaging our relations with 
the United Kingdom.” Lovett agreed but contended that the United States, 
“with or without British approval,” needed to be ready to take action in Iran 
before a military intervention became necessary—a situation, Lovett noted, 
“for which we are not prepared.” 26

Acheson informed President Truman on 7 November that the State 
Department plan required the cooperation of the major U.S. oil compa-
nies. The president would have to authorize their participation under the 
Defense Production Act to protect them from antitrust action. President 
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Truman approved the plan the same day.27 Acheson and Truman met with 
President-Elect Dwight D. Eisenhower on 18 November to brief him on the 
situation. Acheson explained that both sides in the oil dispute had proven 
intransigent, requiring the United States to develop a new plan to break the 
deadlock. The new plan was dependent on British cooperation because AIOC 
would be needed to provide markets for large volumes of Iranian oil. Al-
lowing U.S. companies to take over AIOC’s former markets would bring 
them into “violent competition and conflict” with the British, disrupting 
world oil markets and undermining Anglo-American unity.28 Although the 
United States was prepared to pressure the British to cooperate, in the final 
analysis, the United States would have to acquiesce if the British refused to 
change their policy.

Despite U.S. plans to provide financial assistance to Iran, it would be 
a mistake to characterize U.S. policy as anti-British or pro-Mosaddeq. 
Although the United States did not support the British plan for a coup 
d’état, Acheson continued to prioritize maintaining Anglo-American unity. 
U.S. reluctance to back a coup at this time was not due to lack of will but 
rather to strong doubts that a coup would succeed. Moreover, military options 
to intervene in Iran were limited. General Omar Bradley warned the National 
Security Council on 19 November that the United States could not move 
troops to Iran without disrupting commitments in other areas, including 
Korea, pointing out that a “substantial augmentation” of U.S. forces (likely 
requiring a draft) would be necessary to maintain all commitments.29 Finally, 
the U.S. government did not want to restart Iranian oil exports in a way that 
would disrupt the major companies’ control of global oil markets and re-
garded the antitrust laws as an inconvenient obstacle to resolving the crisis.

The National Security Council approved Nitze’s plan on 20 November in 
a policy statement that highlighted rising instability in Iran and the need 
for U.S. intervention. The National Front had vanquished all opposition 
other than the Tudeh Party, and while it appeared likely that Mosaddeq 
would retain power through 1953, “present trends in Iran were unfavorable 
to the maintenance of control by a non-communist government for an ex-
tended period of time.” The failure of Mosaddeq’s government to restart the 
oil industry was “likely to produce a progressive deterioration of the econ-
omy.” Since it was clear that Great Britain no longer possessed the capabil-
ity of maintaining stability in Iran, the United States had to intervene and 
do what was necessary to prevent the loss of Iran to communism, including 
“special political measures” (covert action) if the communist threat became 
more acute.30
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Moving swiftly to implement the policies approved by the National Se-
curity Council, Acheson informed British Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden 
on 21 November that the United States was planning to undertake “a new 
and more vigorous effort” to salvage the situation in Iran. While the United 
States would always consult with Britain and try to find a solution accept-
able to the British government, “in the last analysis . . . ​the US government 
may have no alternative but to move forward in a manner best designed in 
its opinion to save Iran.” 31 Acheson later recalled that “the first and [most] 
pressing problem” was getting money to Iran; resolving the Anglo-Iranian 
oil crisis on terms that would be acceptable to the British was the second 
concern.32

The British viewed the U.S. decision to proceed with a new oil proposal 
as a setback. Conversations with President-Elect Eisenhower and his Secre-
tary of State–Designate John Foster Dulles gave the British hope, however, 
that Republican sympathy for big business and concern for U.S. overseas 
investment, coupled with a desire to show some quick successes against 
communism, would lead the new administration to take a strong line with 
Mosaddeq. On the other hand, the British were concerned about the influ-
ence of independent oil companies on the new administration and whether 
“Mr. Dulles’ somewhat tortuous mind” would reach the correct conclusion 
on how to deal with Mosaddeq. It would be necessary to “keep the Ameri-
cans in play” until the policies of the new administration could be assessed, 
one British official noted.33

The Treasury and Ministry of Fuel and Power continued to stress the im-
portance of the compensation issue and warned that surrendering to Nitze 
and Acheson’s lump sum idea would leave the door open “to other coun-
tries to follow Persia’s example in breaking their concession contracts.” 34 
The British government remained determined to hold the line on the oil is-
sue, waiting out the Truman administration’s final effort. Worried about 
losing U.S. support, Eden agreed to the rest of the plan on the condition that 
Mosaddeq accept suitable terms for compensation. Though he continued to 
regard Mosaddeq as a “reckless fanatic,” Britain, he promised, would not 
stand in the way of U.S. discussions with Mosaddeq.35

The British also stepped up their efforts to convince the Americans that 
removing Mosaddeq was both possible and necessary “to save Iran.” Since 
their embassy in Tehran had been closed, the British would need extensive 
American cooperation in the effort to unseat Mosaddeq. On 22 October, Brit-
ish officials met with Roosevelt of the CIA and John Jernegan of the State 
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Department. The British argued that the greatest danger did not lie in Iran’s 
“bad financial situation,” but in Mosaddeq’s “unwillingness to take mea
sures to check the growth of communist strength.” According to the mem-
oirs of former MI6 Tehran station chief Christopher Montague (“Monty”) 
Woodhouse, emphasizing communism was a premeditated tactic for gain-
ing American support for the British coup plan, codenamed Operation Boot. 
Unfortunately for them, it was not very effective. To the British arguments 
that Mosaddeq could survive financially, the U.S. officials countered that if 
the army went unpaid, “it would in time disintegrate and thus destroy the 
last concrete barrier against the Tudeh.” Mosaddeq could cover his budget 
deficit by printing new notes and raiding Iran’s gold reserves, but U.S. offi-
cials were wary of allowing Iran’s economy to slowly disintegrate, arguing 
that financial assistance or a deal to restart the oil industry and renew the 
flow of revenues to the Iranian state was necessary to arrest Iran’s slide into 
communism.36

When Woodhouse and Sam Falle, an MI6 operative and former oriental 
counselor of the British Embassy in Iran, arrived in Washington in Novem-
ber to discuss potential operations, they found support in the CIA, where 
Deputy Director Allen Dulles, head of covert operations Frank Wisner, and 
Near East and Africa Division chief Kermit Roosevelt all responded favor-
ably. The State Department, however, remained skeptical. Byroade felt that 
the British plan was “full of dangers and uncertainties,” which would not 
end even after the successful execution of a coup. Moreover, the United 
States was preparing a “new approach” for reaching a settlement. There-
fore, Byroade told the British that while the United States did not want to 
dismiss their plan entirely, it would not consider such a course of action until 
“at least one more effort” had been made to reach an oil agreement.37

Getting the Companies on Board

The key assumption behind the U.S. plan was that of the limited options 
available, Mosaddeq was the best barrier to the spread of communist in-
fluence inside Iran. The U.S. plan did not offer Mosaddeq carte blanche re-
garding the oil issue. Iran would not be permitted to sell oil freely. Rather, 
the plan, known as the “package proposal,” sought to tie Iran back into the 
global oil economy dominated by U.S. and British oil companies. AIOC 
would take at least half of Iran’s oil exports and distribute them through its 
global commercial network. Before receiving $100 million in U.S. aid, 



126 Chapter 5

Mosaddeq would have to accept third-party arbitration to resolve compen-
sation for AIOC on terms the British could accept. Though in many respects 
a favorable deal, the plan did not grant Iran the freedom to sell its oil in 
quantities and at prices of its own choosing. To pay compensation at the level 
the British demanded, Iran would have to work with AIOC and the other 
major international oil companies to sell large quantities of oil and would 
probably have little left over for its own needs. The package proposal contin-
ued the pattern initially set by the offers of the Jackson, Harriman, and 
Stokes missions in 1951: it recognized the principle of nationalization with-
out actually allowing Iran full control of its oil industry.

Nitze met with the companies on 21 and 29 November, while Acheson 
joined him for discussions on 4 and 9 December. According to Acheson, 
these discussions “were perhaps the longest and most difficult” of the entire 
oil crisis.38 The companies refused to cooperate without written protec-
tion from the attorney general shielding them from antitrust action. Nitze 
promised protection under the Defense Production Act. Acheson focused 
on the broader strategic concerns. The goal was “to save Iran from going 
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Communist.” Although Acheson disparaged the Iranians, claiming that 
they were led by “emotions” and the “foment of nationalism,” he insisted 
that Iran was poised on the brink of a “real revolution,” and it was necessary 
to restart the flow of oil to stabilize its economy and government. The oil 
executives worried that the terms of Nitze’s plan would undermine fifty-fifty 
contracts, warning that if Iran received terms better than those in Saudi 
Arabia or Kuwait, it would have “cataclysmic results” for U.S. oil conces-
sions. The oil executives regarded the “sanctity of contracts” as the primary 
issue and argued that Iran should seek a new concessionary agreement with 
AIOC and pay adequate compensation. Acheson “recognized that this was 
not a very attractive business,” but stressed that the United States required 
their assistance to get Iran “out of the danger zone.” 39

The meetings revealed the issues separating the American policymakers 
from their counterparts in the oil industry. While Nitze and Acheson were 
willing to make certain concessions to restart Iran’s oil industry, the compa-
nies were resistant to upsetting the pre-nationalization status quo. The For-
eign Office learned that the companies were “intensely” opposed to the State 
Department’s proposal and would cooperate “only as instructed.” 40 Like the 
British, the companies were preoccupied by the question of compensation. 
Meeting privately with Nitze, Eugene Holman, head of Jersey Standard, 
argued that compensation would have to include “some consideration for 
losses” beyond physical property, including “rupture of contract.” 41 Overall, 
the companies seemed more interested in defeating nationalization and 
punishing Iran for its challenge to the global oil order than preventing even-
tual communist control. Nevertheless, the companies agreed to Nitze’s plan 
for AIOC to take 10 million tons of oil from Iran in the first year, with U.S. 
companies taking another 10 million tons. The volumes were necessary to 
provide for repayment of the $100 million aid package, while leaving enough 
revenues available for Iran to cover compensation for AIOC, which would be 
determined through arbitration.42

As it prepared for negotiations to start again, the United States made tac-
tical maneuvers designed to increase its leverage over the British in case 
they dragged their feet on the package proposal. On 6 December, the State 
Department announced that it no longer objected to U.S. companies pur-
chasing oil from Iran.43 On 10 December, Henderson met with the chairman 
of the Export-Import Bank, suggesting it would be “extremely helpful” if 
the Bank reconsidered the $25 million loan originally offered to Iran in 
1950.44 The British were categorically opposed to offering new aid to Mo-
saddeq, and Eden protested any move to extend loans while Mosaddeq kept 
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to his “rigid” negotiation stance.45 Another factor in compelling British co-
operation was Alton Jones, the independent oilman who had visited Iran 
in the summer, and who was a friend of President-Elect Eisenhower. Jones 
began making plans to visit Iran again in early 1953. The State Department 
agreed to delay further discussions with the Export-Import Bank but was 
prepared to move forward on the loan if the British proved uncooperative.46 
If negotiations failed, a possible backup plan proposed supplying Mosad-
deq with enough aid to keep his government afloat for the next twelve to 
fifteen months.47

With only a few weeks left in office, the Truman administration was de-
termined to bring the talks to a successful conclusion. While the coopera-
tion of the companies and the British would be needed to make the package 
proposal work, negotiations to secure Mosaddeq’s agreement to the plan 
were also necessary. Ambassador Henderson briefed the senior staff of the 
National Security Council and members of the incoming Eisenhower admin-
istration, including future Secretary of State John Foster Dulles, on 2 De-
cember. The Iranians, he contended, were “emotional to an almost suicidal 
degree,” and it was nearly impossible to guess how the situation in Iran 
would evolve. The shah was now a “negligible influence,” while General Fa-
zlollah Zahedi, the leader in October’s unsuccessful military coup, did not 
have “any real following” in the army. Continuing oil discussions appeared 
the only acceptable path forward.48 According to an analysis from John 
Stutesman in the State Department, Mosaddeq was firmly in control but had 
come under pressure from the “irrational political and psychological atti-
tudes of his nationalist supporters.” It was vital that a new offer be made 
soon, before the prime minister buckled under this pressure and either suc-
cumbed to the wishes of his leftist supporters or stepped down to make 
way for Kashani.49

The Package Proposal: “Finding the Right Words”

The package proposal assembled in late 1952 was the most detailed attempt 
to resolve the oil crisis. The United States was prepared to concede Iran’s 
ownership of its oil industry, Iranian management of oil production and re-
fining, and even Iran’s right to sell oil independently, provided it entered 
an agreement to sell a large amount of oil to a consortium of the major in-
ternational oil companies, including AIOC, and agreed to pay adequate com-
pensation to AIOC. The terms offered to Mosaddeq were more conciliatory 
than any that had come before, but on the key issue of compensation, the 
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United States and Great Britain continued to insist that payment could not 
be limited to physical assets but also had to cover lost future profits. The 
British insisted on making this condition explicit in the agreement, but U.S. 
policymakers worried that stating such terms would doom an agreement 
with Mosaddeq, who was understandably wary of any deal that might saddle 
Iran with a heavy debt burden.

Henderson returned to Tehran and met with Mosaddeq on 25 December. 
The meeting was secret. Mosaddeq agreed to meet with Henderson without 
any of his advisors present, and no news was leaked to the Iranian press. 
Henderson laid out the terms of the package proposal. The United States 
would offer Iran $100 million in exchange for 20 million tons of oil, to be 
distributed by the major companies through a sales agreement with the Na-
tional Iranian Oil Company (NIOC). Iran would be left “master of its own 
oil industry.” In return, Mosaddeq would agree to third-party arbitration 
to settle AIOC’s compensation award, using Britain’s 1945 Coal Nationaliza-
tion Act as a basis. The use of this law was intentional. In a message to 
Mosaddeq on 3 December, Henderson had pointed out that the Coal Act took 
into account earnings the owners of the nationalized property “might rea-
sonably be expected to earn in the future.” Using the law was thus a tactic 
meant to bring Mosaddeq into an agreement that would allow Britain to 
claim compensation for the value of its concession and its lost future prof-
its.50 Henderson asked Mosaddeq if he realized that the Coal Act had cov-
ered compensation for loss of future profits. Mosaddeq replied that if the 
arbitrator decided to use that law as the basis for determining compensa-
tion, “he would not object.” Henderson stressed that “practically the whole 
business world” would reject terms of reference that limited compensation 
to only physical assets. Although Henderson believed he had tricked Mo-
saddeq into agreeing to British demands, Mosaddeq had a doctorate in in-
ternational law and probably knew that the Coal Act would not guarantee 
AIOC compensation for loss of future profits. The Coal Act provided for com-
pensation for lost profits to the owners of the nationalized assets. In the 
British case, private companies owned the coal reserves. In contrast, AIOC 
had a concession to produce and export Iranian oil, but ownership of sub-
soil oil reserves remained in the hands of the Iranian government.51 Mo-
saddeq therefore accepted the Coal Act on the belief that it would not 
undermine Iran’s position on compensation or offer extra benefits to the 
British.

Acheson felt the discussions with Mosaddeq were a “constructive step.” 52 
Mosaddeq’s willingness to conduct them in secret was evidence of his 
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desire to come to an agreement. Acheson wrote to Eden that it was im-
perative they take advantage of the “change in [Mosaddeq’s] attitude.” 53 
On 2 January Mosaddeq agreed to enter into talks with a group of major 
companies including AIOC for a sales agreement once he had received U.S. 
financial aid.54 The British regarded Mosaddeq’s tactics as blackmail.55 They 
were determined to have payments to Mosaddeq linked to a long-term con-
tract with AIOC, one that would guarantee British control of the flow of 
Iranian oil and ensure Iran possessed the means to pay compensation.56 The 
British government, which had already stated its willingness to let Iran sell 
oil once the arbitration agreement was in place, also argued it was absolutely 
necessary that both be concluded simultaneously.57 The British insisted that 
Mosaddeq explicitly commit to arbitration terms based on the Coal Act, in-
cluding provisions for compensation “on the loss of future profits.” 58

Henderson grew impatient with the “leisurely” pace in London. Like 
Acheson, Henderson thought it encouraging that Mosaddeq kept details of 
his meetings out of the press. Tehran dailies like Ettelaat and popular weekly 
magazines like Tehran Musavvar could only speculate as to the substance 
of the oil negotiations.59 “His tenacity in maintaining this secrecy under 
pressure,” wrote Henderson, “is an indication to me of his real desire for an 
oil settlement.” 60 Calling on the prime minister on 8 January, Henderson 
found him depressed, anxious, and suspicious of British delays. He expressed 
his readiness to return Anglo-Iranian relations to a “friendly” basis and 
stated once again his commitment to a suitable commercial agreement, as 
the oil problem “would not be solved if Iranian oil did not return to world 
markets.” 61 The prime minister promised swift Majlis ratification for their 
agreement once he received concrete terms outlining how compensation 
would be handled.62

The British remained focused on the protection of their commercial 
interests. Moreover, they continued to believe that Mosaddeq could be 
removed from power. As a result, discussions in London proceeded slowly. 
Henry A. Byroade, leading the U.S. team in London, insisted to Eden that 
Mosaddeq would not accept terms that explicitly covered loss of future prof-
its. The utility of the Coal Act lay in its vagueness, which Mosaddeq could 
use as a shield against Iranian public opinion.63 The British, however, had 
begun to back away from the Coal Act, complaining that it was “a badly 
drafted law filled with ambiguity.” They now insisted on adding new word-
ing that would provide a “proper basis” for determining compensation.64 
The Foreign Office’s legal counsel pointed out on 13 January that the Coal 
Act did not cover a concession to exploit a natural resource, but rather “the 
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physically enumerated assets, including the coal deposits themselves owned 
by private companies” that had been nationalized. Therefore, the British 
would have to insist that any agreement on arbitration had to include ex-
plicit language acknowledging AIOC’s right to claim compensation for the 
loss of its “rights and interests” in Iran as well as for loss of property.65 Other
wise, an arbitration ruling might find that the nationalized assets did not 
include future profits, AIOC would get a smaller compensation award, and 
other countries might consider nationalizing their own oil industries. The 
stakes for Britain were thus very high and hinged on the specific language 
used in the compensation terms.

British officials handed Byroade a draft on 11 January indicating the 
Coal Act would provide the “principle,” rather than the “basis,” for deter-
mining compensation. Byroade recognized that the change was “designed to 
give loose and more vague terminology [to] the terms of the reference.” 66 
Henderson, kept informed of discussions in London, felt this would be unac-
ceptable to Mosaddeq in light of the “public relations” problems he would 
face selling the deal to his supporters.67 Though he agreed with Hender-
son, Acheson was sympathetic to British concerns and suggested that arbi-
tration terms be crafted to offer the British “an even broader and more 
comprehensive formula.” If the terms were not acceptable, Acheson sug-
gested, Henderson could pursue a lump sum compensation deal that by-
passed arbitration, even though this was an approach the British previously 
opposed.68

The threat of unilateral U.S. action forced the British to come up with 
new terms. According to Archibald Ross of the Foreign Office, the terms 
had to satisfy Mosaddeq “and still leave no doubt . . . ​that claims for loss of 
future profits are admissible.” 69 After discussions with Eden on 13 January, 
Byroade agreed to terms that provided for compensation for AIOC’s “loss of 
enterprise,” with the arbitration tribunal employing the “principles” of any 
British law nationalizing any industry in the United Kingdom. A British note 
emphasized that these new terms would include consideration for future 
profits, “without mentioning the UK Coal Act.” 70 Byroade accepted this for-
mula. The U.S. desire to keep the British on board trumped their worries 
over Mosaddeq’s “public relations” problems. Although based in extensive 
research in British records, previous accounts of the negotiations do not dis-
cuss the British shift from reliance on the Coal Act to insisting on accompa-
nying terms that explicitly included loss of future profits.71 They thus give 
the erroneous impression that it was Mosaddeq rather than the British who 
backtracked and reinforce the conceit that he did not understand the issues.
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The wording would prove decisive. For the British, American acceptance 
of “loss of enterprise” constituted an important victory. Eden wrote to 
Churchill, then in Jamaica, that the final terms “contain no disagreeable 
departure from our previous plans.” Should Mosaddeq accept them, the 
terms offered a satisfactory conclusion “both financially and politically on 
this long and troublesome business.” 72 With the final barrier removed, the 
proposal was sent to Henderson on 14 January, with Byroade wishing him 
“Good luck!” 73

Meanwhile, in Washington, the Truman administration took action to 
provide U.S. oil companies with protection against the Department of Jus-
tice antitrust suit. In a 6 January report to the National Security Council, 
drafted with the assistance of Aramco lobbyist James Terry Duce, the 
Departments of Defense, State, and the Interior argued that the security and 
prosperity of the United States and its allies depended on maintaining access 
to foreign oil. The major international oil companies provided this access, 
and “they alone” were capable of maintaining and expanding access in the 
future. The antitrust case threatened national security by harming the repu-
tations of the major companies and increasing the risk that they would be 
expelled from the major foreign oil-producing countries. The Department of 
Justice countered with the argument that cartelistic activities by the major 
companies were a greater threat, as they promoted ill feeling among produc-
ing nations and accelerated the trend toward nationalization.74

The National Security Council discussed the issue on 9 January, and 
three days later President Truman, apparently convinced by General Brad-
ley’s warning that a criminal case against the companies was a “serious 
threat to national security,” ordered Attorney General McGranery to drop 
the criminal case in favor of a civil suit.75 On 14 January, the National Se-
curity Council requested antitrust protection for U.S. companies “to partici-
pate in an international consortium to purchase oil,” reactivate the Abadan 
refinery, “and provide therefore to the friendly government of Iran substan-
tial revenues on terms which will protect the interests of the Western world 
in the oil resources of the Middle East.” 76 The package proposal needed the 
support of the major companies, which would be responsible for moving and 
marketing Iranian oil, delivering the financial aid Iran needed, and they 
would not cooperate without protection from the antitrust laws. The U.S. 
decision not to proceed with antitrust action was thus closely linked to the 
Iran oil crisis. Much, however, hinged on whether or not Mosaddeq would 
accept the new British compensation terms.
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 “Loss of Enterprise”: Oil Negotiations, January–February 1953

Mosaddeq understood that “loss of enterprise” was a legal construction 
designed to ensure AIOC received a massive compensation award, a move 
that would limit the success of nationalization and threatened to restore the 
pre-nationalization status quo. Such an outcome was intolerable. From 
the very beginning, nationalization had been primarily a political project, 
rather than an economic one. While Mosaddeq was not opposed to selling 
oil to foreign companies, he prioritized Iran’s independence from foreign 
control over the perceived economic rewards that might come from coop-
erating with the major international oil companies. He tried to convince 
Henderson that such terms were impossible for him to accept, but he was 
in a precarious political situation and did not want discussions to end pre-
maturely, as continued talks allowed him to claim U.S. support for his 
government.

Mosaddeq wanted to maintain U.S. support for a number of reasons. 
Though he prioritized the political aspects of the oil issue, Mosaddeq needed 
financial relief. While his “oil-less” economic reforms had been somewhat 
successful at boosting exports, cutting imports, and preserving the coun-
try’s stock of foreign exchange, the government had been covering its 
budget deficit by printing new currency. Like most of his contemporaries, 
Mosaddeq feared the return of wartime inflation, when Iran’s currency had 
depreciated by more than 1,000 percent. Selling Iran’s nationalized oil on 
terms deemed acceptable to his supporters would constitute a major victory 
and solidify Mosaddeq’s political position while bolstering the country’s 
finances and cooling rising labor tensions in the oil fields. Although the 
Tudeh Party had supported his return in July 1952, Mosaddeq maintained 
his distance from Iran’s communists. He also avoided a closer relationship 
with the Soviet Union, which continued to regard him as a bourgeois na-
tionalist, denying a Soviet request to renew their fishing concession in the 
Caspian Sea.77 His willingness to negotiate a new oil deal, and his evident 
eagerness to secure new U.S. aid, demonstrated his desire to cement ties 
with the West, though he still wished to preserve Iran’s independence 
according to the principles of negative equilibrium.

Mosaddeq had to balance the demands of the conservative and progres-
sive elements of his coalition. He drew support from a small group of advi-
sors, his deputy and foreign minister Hossein Fatemi, and the army, which 
remained loyal to the government so long as the prime minister maintained 



134 Chapter 5

cordial ties with the shah.78 Mozaffar Baqa’i and Ayatollah Kashani feigned 
allegiance to Mosaddeq while plotting behind his back, but other National 
Front leaders such as Majlis deputies Abdolhossin Haerizadeh and Hossein 
Makki were openly critical of the government. While there were ideological 
disagreements, personal politics were also at play as these luminaries chafed 
under Mosaddeq’s domination and hoped to carve out their own positions of 
influence. On 26 December, an angry row had broken out in the Majlis, with 
Makki accusing Mosaddeq of passing him over for a position atop the NIOC 
hierarchy.79 Makki resigned from the NIOC council the following day.80

Mosaddeq’s reform programs aimed at improving conditions for work-
ers and peasants but shied away from sweeping social or economic changes 
advocated by his more progressive supporters. Third Force leader Khalil 
Maleki, a key Mosaddeq supporter, advocated for women’s suffrage through-
out December  1952, which Mosaddeq declined to support for fear of at-
tracting the opposition of Iran’s clerical leadership.81 Kashani demanded 
stricter religious laws and called for state persecution of the Baha’i, a reli-
gious group which Shi’a clerics had been trying to suppress since the nine-
teenth century.82 Karim Sanjabi later recalled how Kashani’s two sons, who 
were both politically active, would demand new regulations on dress and 
consumption, “which were either impractical or illegal.” 83 The differing in-
terests and objectives of Mosaddeq’s rivals and allies threatened to under-
mine the government’s effectiveness.

As he negotiated in secret with Henderson, Mosaddeq maneuvered to 
retain his position. On 5 January, he gave a blistering speech in the Majlis, in 
which he denounced his enemies as “foreign hirelings.” He secured a vote 
of confidence from sixty-four supporters, with one abstention, out of the 
seventy-person assembly. Four days later, Mosaddeq surprised the Majlis 
and his own advisors by requesting a twelve-month extension of his emer-
gency powers, which were set to expire on 9 February. Kashani, the Majlis 
speaker, declared the request unconstitutional, and debate raged over 
whether the prime minister’s request was lawful.84 Mosaddeq’s supporters 
organized a week of strikes in Tehran, as crowds chanted “Mosaddeq or 
death!” in front of the Majlis building. Kashani relented, and on 21 January 
Mosaddeq secured twelve more months of emergency powers.85 The an-
nouncement brought condemnations from the opposition press, including 
the Tudeh papers.86 While the vote was a victory for the prime minister, it 
marked his first major public break with Kashani.87

In this tense and fractious political environment, Henderson presented 
Mosaddeq with the complete package proposal on 15 January. It provided 
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for U.S. aid for Iran in exchange for acceptance of the British arbitration 
terms, coupled with a commitment to enter into talks with a consortium of 
oil companies, including AIOC, at a later date. Mosaddeq examined the pro-
posal in detail. He objected to Great Britain acting as a party in the dis-
pute, insisting that only Iran and AIOC were involved, but then insisted he 
would not enter into an agreement with AIOC, as from his point of view 
the company had been nationalized and “did not exist.” According to Hen-
derson, the prime minister “reached the zenith of his emotions” when he 
came to the British terms of reference governing arbitration, which included 
a suggestion that compensation cover “loss of enterprise.” He suggested a 
simpler phrasing, with the arbitration tribunal determining compensation 
in accordance with any British law governing nationalization. When Hen-
derson responded that the British would reject such terms as “inflexible,” 
Mosaddeq responded that “inflexibility” was his intention. He did not want 
the British “to take advantage of flexibility of wording in order [to] broaden 
basis for determining compensation.” 88 While making small concessions 
on the issues of price, interest payments, and the formation of the arbitra-
tion panel, Mosaddeq refused to budge on the terms of arbitration, and 
refused to accept paying compensation for AIOC’s “loss of enterprise.” 89

While the British had succeeded in bringing the United States closer to 
their position on compensation, Mosaddeq’s efforts had the opposite effect. 
Henderson left the 15 January meeting very discouraged. The prime minis-
ter’s comments were a “confused, meaningless mass of disjointed state-
ments,” and his objections—which were as minute and technical as the 
British comments—were “of such petty character as not to be worth detailed 
mention.” 90 Despite his frustration, Henderson could see that the British 
terms of reference were “the most acute problem,” and suggested they be 
abandoned.91 The British resisted any change to the terms, revealing their 
recent reservations regarding the reliability of the Coal Act, which was “am-
biguous” on the question of compensation for an oil concession. The Brit-
ish believed that Mosaddeq clearly understood their concerns and despite 
U.S. entreaties to alter the wording refused to back away from the phrase 
“loss of enterprise.92 Henderson therefore tried to convince Mosaddeq to ac-
cept the British phrasing, spending an hour on 19 January arguing that 
“loss of enterprise” ought to be included within the arbitration terms and 
warning Mosaddeq that rejection would lead to a breakdown in negotia-
tions. Mosaddeq countered that the British were using the issue as an ex-
cuse to avoid a settlement.93 Henderson reported to Washington that Iran 
was trying to avoid “a hundred years” of compensation payments to the 
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British.94 Given British intransigence on this issue, Henderson doubted 
whether an agreement with Mosaddeq would be possible.95

The British were optimistic that the new U.S. administration, which took 
office on 20 January, would be less willing to “give away” aid to Mosaddeq.96 
In a lengthy note to the new secretary of state, John Foster Dulles, Foreign 
Secretary Anthony Eden argued that Mosaddeq was using the negotiations 
to extort “more attractive proposals” from the United States.97 Initially, 
Dulles deferred to Byroade, who was trying to persuade the British to with-
draw “loss of enterprise” from the arbitration terms. Byroade believed it 
was “inconceivable” that an impartial body would not rule in the company’s 
favor regarding compensation for future profits: “[the] legal case is clearly 
on side of the British.” 98 Sir Roger Makins, the new British ambassador 
to the United States, noted that the United States shared British concerns 
about the impact on oil concessions outside of Iran, and recommended pa-
tience “so as to be sure that we carry the Americans wholeheartedly with 
us at this crucial point.” 99

American enthusiasm for negotiating with Mosaddeq had begun to ebb. 
On 24 January, Henderson laid out his thoughts on the situation for the new 
secretary of state in a long telegram that highlighted commercial issues 
rather than the strategic risks of losing Iran to communism. Delivering aid 
or buying oil without a suitable arbitration agreement would allow Iran to 
profit from its oil and flout “the principles on which stable international eco-
nomic relations must be based.” It would mean “deserting the firm ground 
of principle for a morass” in which the U.S. would become “deeply entan-
gled.” Henderson recommended that the United States remain “firmly and 
calmly on the rock of principle,” exploring remaining options through ne-
gotiation but rejecting additional unilateral aid.100 Secretary Dulles found 
his message “timely and very helpful.” 101

On 28 January, Mosaddeq categorically rejected the idea of compensa-
tion for lost future profits. If future profits were included, he argued, Iran 
would be forced to pay £150 million each year for thirty-two years.102 
Though he was clearly frustrated with Mosaddeq, Henderson knew the 
prime minister could not agree to a compensation settlement with payments 
stretching “indefinitely into the future.” An Iranian government that agreed 
to those terms “would not be likely to survive long.” 103 Mosaddeq sought to 
bolster his position on 4 February, telling Henderson that he would prepare 
a bill for the Majlis empowering the government to sell oil “to any customer 
who might come.” 104 Henderson, however, responded by recommending 
that the 15 January proposals be dropped and the negotiations terminated.105 
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On 1 February, Makins assured Eden that they could endure the “twists and 
turns,” and eventually “bring the state Department along with us,” given 
sufficient time.106

In June 1952, Royal Air Force fighters forced the Rose Mary, a ship carry
ing 1,000 tons of Iranian oil bound for Italy, into a port in British-controlled 
Aden. The cargo was impounded and in January 1953 a British court ruled 
that the oil still belonged to AIOC. Despite this outcome, efforts by inde
pendent oil companies to buy and transport Iranian oil continued, raising 
concerns that the British boycott was weakening.107 A former corporate 
lawyer who was very familiar with the international oil industry, Dulles felt 
it was an “inescapable fact” that a large number of tankers would soon come 
on the market as long-term contracts with the major companies expired. 
This would enable Iran to sell large quantities of oil with little difficulty and 
without the assistance of the major international oil companies.108 Though 
Nitze and Byroade wanted the United States to make one final offer, with a 
few minor changes to the 15 January proposals, there were clear concerns 
that any action that destabilized the world oil market “might in the long 
run have even more serious consequences” than failing to aid Mosaddeq.109 
On 14 February, during a meeting with Henderson, Mosaddeq stated that if 
the British offer on compensation did not improve by 21 February, he would 
make a speech to the Majlis announcing plans to sell oil at a 50 percent dis-
count.110 The CIA concluded that Iran could sell 3–3.7 million tons a year 
by making use of available tankers and by offering oil at cut rates to Ar-
gentina, Italy, or the Eastern Bloc nations.111

British officials worried that if the package proposal failed, the United 
States would give up on negotiations and “pursue its own policy with little 
reference to the United Kingdom.” 112 Dulles discussed the possibility of buy-
ing oil from Mosaddeq or allowing the American oilman Alton Jones, a 
personal friend of Eisenhower, to travel to Iran with a team of technicians 
to restart the Abadan refinery.113 The British did not think Mosaddeq’s 
threats to sell oil were credible, but their chief concern was that the United 
States would give in to Mosaddeq’s ultimatum and offer him aid.114 Rather 
than break with the British, Dulles suggested they resubmit the proposal of 
15 January, with some minor changes. “We believe the British . . . ​have now 
come to a point where we can no longer press them,” and he suggested that 
Mosaddeq might yield to “sustained firmness,” a line of reasoning that mir-
rored the position the British had taken since May 1951.115 Dulles also sent 
Henderson a British note for delivery to Mosaddeq that maintained the 
prime minister was being “unreasonably suspicious.” The offer that had 
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been made was “just and equitable” and constituted the final offer Britain 
and the United States were going to make.116 Byroade was not certain the 
British approach would work, but he told Henderson to deliver the terms 
however he chose.117 The State Department was done making concessions 
to Iran.

Henderson delivered the message to Mosaddeq on 20 February. It con-
tained the same terms of reference related to compensation for AIOC’s “loss 
of enterprise,” and though Mosaddeq said they were unacceptable, he de-
clined to reject them entirely, telling Henderson he would consult his advi-
sors before making a final decision.118 Although negotiations were officially 
on hold, for all intents and purposes, the package proposal was a dead let-
ter. The British were pleased that the Eisenhower administration policy-
makers had adopted “a much more robust attitude” than their Truman 
administration predecessors.119 The British strategy of delaying discussions 
and holding hard to their line on compensation had worked and the Ameri-
cans were moving away from the idea of offering Mosaddeq aid.

9 Esfand: The Shah and Mosaddeq Break

As the oil negotiations reached their denouement, a major political strug
gle was developing between Mosaddeq, the shah, and former members of 
the National Front. Months of infighting and mounting frustration with Mo-
saddeq’s leadership culminated in a split in the original National Front 
coalition. On 6 February, a group of National Front deputies—including 
Haerizadeh and Baqa’i—left the group’s Majlis faction, protesting the dom-
inance of “subversive elements” over the government. Mosaddeq retained 
support from the Third Force and Iran Party, as well as key bazaar trade 
guilds. However, according to Mosaddeq loyalist Ali Shayegan, by mid-
February the National Front no longer existed.120

While Baqa’i had lost much of his former political power, he retained his 
paper Shahed, which became a platform for anti-Mosaddeq rhetoric. The 
Tudeh-inspired press also attacked the government, focusing on Mosadd-
eq’s willingness to negotiate an oil deal and his retention of the U.S. military 
advisory mission. Mosaddeq, committed to maintaining a free press, did 
nothing to suppress this criticism.121 In addition to the parliamentary oppo-
sition, some clerics and bazaar groups were coming out against the govern-
ment, arguing that Mosaddeq’s economic policies were harming their 
interests. Mosaddeq fortified his position in Tehran, replacing the pro-
Kashani chief of police with his own loyalist, Lieutenant General Mahmud 
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Afshartus. Stung by his failure to prevent Mosaddeq from renewing his 
emergency powers, Kashani gravitated toward the conservative circle of 
clerics surrounding Fazlollah Zahedi. Other National Front figures, such as 
Makki and Haerizadeh, had also begun to align themselves with Zahedi.122

The opposition lacked a uniting figure or force around which politicians, 
disgruntled military officers, bazaar merchants, and Shi’a clerics could 
rally. Their natural leader was the shah, Mohammed Reza Pahlavi, whose 
political influence had declined precipitously since July 1952. Though Mo-
saddeq continued to confer with the shah and maintained amicable relations 
with the court, the shah no longer met with foreign officials and played an 
incidental role in public affairs. According to one biographer, the monarch 
passed his time playing poker, listening to music, and driving his Packard 
convertible to his estate on the Caspian Sea.123

On 14 February, Bakhtiyari tribesmen ambushed an army column in the 
oil fields of Khuzestan. The attack left forty-two officers and enlisted men 
dead. Though the British were no longer officially present in Iran, the CIA 
reported “British intrigues” among the tribes—evidence of Rashidian 
involvement—and warned that the situation in Iran was “highly danger-
ous.” 124 The attack infuriated Mosaddeq, who told Henderson on 18 Febru-
ary that the British were coordinating “tribal elements, fanatical religious 
groups . . . ​reactionary elements in [the] army and bureaucracy, discarded 
politicians and Communist front organizations” to remove him from power. 
He stopped short of accusing the shah, who was connected to the Bakhti-
yari through his wife, Queen Soraya.125

At a press conference, Deputy Prime Minister Hossein Fatemi stated that 
Mosaddeq was suffering from exhaustion and had been mandated bed rest 
by his doctors. Mosaddeq feared assassination and seldom left his home, a 
gated compound a short walk from the shah’s palace and the Majlis cham-
bers.126 Rumors now spread that Mosaddeq suffered from “acute nervous 
disorder.” 127 Henderson worried that Mosaddeq’s mental condition was “de-
teriorating,” and even the prime minister’s advisors like Baqer Kazemi felt 
that his resignation was only “weeks away.” 128 On 22 February, Ardeshir Za-
hedi, the son of the opposition leader and an assistant to the Point Four tech-
nical advisory mission, told Commander Eric Pollard, naval attaché at the 
U.S. embassy, that Kashani and most of the old National Guard leadership 
had rallied behind his father, who expected to be named prime minister 
within a few days by the shah and Majlis after Mosaddeq was forced out.129

As in July 1952, Mosaddeq chose to act first, rather than wait for the op-
position to make their move. On 20 February, as he received the final 
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proposal from Henderson, Mosaddeq demanded the shah end his politi
cal intrigues, surrender control of his estates, and subordinate himself to the 
government. According to Sanjabi, both Court Minister Hossein ‘Ala and 
the shah were astonished by Mosaddeq’s threat, which had also caught his 
allies off guard.130 At a lengthy meeting on 21 February, ‘Ala told Mosaddeq 
that the shah would end his intrigues in the army, but offered only to negoti-
ate on surrendering his financial prerogatives.131 Mosaddeq told Henderson 
on 23 February that he would not discuss his dispute with the shah, which 
Henderson guessed was the reason why he had delayed issuing any response 
to the 20 February oil proposals.132 The shah, eager to avoid a serious 
break, offered to leave the country, remaining abroad “until [Mosaddeq] 
requested his return.” 133 During a four-hour meeting on 24 February, 
Mosaddeq told the shah it might be appropriate for the shah to leave “tem-
porarily,” undertaking a religious tour of Iraq and then a brief sojourn in 
Spain, returning to Iran when the political situation had stabilized. In his 
memoirs, Mosaddeq wrote that it was the shah who first proposed leaving 
the country, and that he told the shah that leaving during a time of crisis 
was not advisable. He acquiesced once the shah continued to insist it was 
necessary, in part because the shah and Queen Soraya hoped to consult 
medical professionals in Europe.134

These meetings sent shock waves through political circles in Tehran. 
Seizing on reports that the shah would soon leave the country, the Tudeh 
and elements of Iran’s left-wing intellectual community called for an end 
to the monarchy and the creation of a republic. Conservatives worried that 
the shah’s departure would fatally undermine the monarchy, and Kashani 
and Makki urged the shah to hold firm against Mosaddeq’s demands. To pre-
empt a potential coup, Mosaddeq had Police Chief Afshartus arrest Zahedi 
on 25 February. The CIA concluded Mosaddeq was demonstrating his 
“complete control of the government,” both to bolster his position against 
opponents and to prepare the country for his rejection of the package pro-
posal, which still remained under consideration.135

The shah’s willingness to leave the country appeared genuine. In her 
memoirs, Queen Soraya recalled that the shah had grown “very depressed,” 
and viewed his presence in the country as a “form of support for [Mosad-
deq’s] policies.” ‘Ala told Henderson the shah was “delighted” to leave and 
was open to having one of his half brothers appointed regent in his absence. 
According to ‘Ala, the shah had succumbed to a “nervous breakdown.” His 
departure was tantamount to a formal surrender. To Henderson, it was noth-
ing less than the first step toward “the abolition of the monarchy.” 136
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The U.S. ambassador was an ardent anti-communist. Like most U.S. of-
ficials, he was inclined to support Iran’s monarchy as a pro-Western and 
anti-communist institution. He had intervened during the July 1952 crisis, 
attempting to influence the shah into taking direct action. He did so again 
in February 1953. “I dislike remaining inactive,” Henderson wrote in a tele
gram that remained classified for more than fifty years, “when [the] mo-
narchical institution . . . ​regarded as stabilizing influence [in the] country 
is in grave danger.” Henderson sent a message to the shah urging him to 
remain in the country. In the meantime, embassy officials would “discreetly” 
try to determine if there were sufficient forces left in the country to oppose 
Mosaddeq “in the name of the shah.” 137

After receiving Henderson’s message, the shah told him that he did not 
“really intend” to leave but was “pretending for [Mosaddeq’s] benefit.” 138 
One of the shah’s biographers contends that the shah believed Mosaddeq 
was engineering the end of the monarchy, despite the fact that the prime 
minister had come around to the idea of the shah’s departure only after their 
meeting on 24 February.139 Another account contends he fully intended to 
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leave, because he was “no longer sure of his standing with the people.” 140 
According to his own account, the shah decided to leave temporarily “to 
have a little respite from [Mosaddeq’s] intrigues.” 141 ‘Ala reported that the 
shah planned to fly to Baghdad with his wife and a small entourage, before 
departing for Spain. Henderson suspected his travel plans were genuine.142

On February 27, Henderson went to the palace “to effect cancellation or at 
least postponement” of the shah’s departure, claiming that a “very impor
tant personage” wanted the shah to remain in Iran.143 When he learned that 
the shah was still determined to leave, Henderson, in a breach of protocol, 
told the shah that he had received no orders from his government, “but 
I knew U.S. government policies sufficiently well” to be confident that no 
one in Washington would support his departure “so hastily in present cir-
cumstances.” He argued that the shah’s flight would weaken the forces in 
support of the monarchy. The shah insisted that he must go to prevent 
Mosaddeq from issuing proclamations against him and his family. ‘Ala con-
fessed to Henderson in private that the situation was hopeless.144

Kashani seized the opportunity provided by the rift between Mosad-
deq and the shah. Working with another activist cleric, Ayatollah Mo-
hammed Behbehani, who possessed a large following in Tehran, Kashani 
summoned gang leaders, including notable figures like Sha’ban “Brainless” 
Jafari and Tayyeb Haj Reza’i, to his house and gave orders to close the 
bazaar and gather a crowd outside the shah’s palace. Zahedi’s retired officers’ 
association worked in his absence to coordinate with the cleric-affiliated 
mobs.145 On the morning of 28 February, or 9 Esfand according to the Ira
nian calendar, Baqa’i and Kashani each addressed the Majlis and spoke in 
support of the shah. A group of deputies marched to the palace to deliver 
a message of support.146 At the same time, a high-ranking general sent a 
separate message to the shah claiming that a mass resignation of officers 
would follow his departure.147 Ardeshir Zahedi was present outside the 
palace as the opposition’s crowd began to gather. Included in the throng 
were students, disgruntled government workers, bazaar traders, followers 
of Kashani and Behbehani, and street toughs.148 By midday, the crowd 
outside the palace had grown to between 1,000 and 3,000 people. Mosad-
deq arrived to meet with the shah for a farewell lunch before the shah 
departed. The crowd then grew violent, and Mosaddeq left through a pas-
sage at the rear of the palace.149

Once home, Mosaddeq received Henderson, who had requested a meet-
ing. Mosaddeq warned that if the shah did not leave, the government would 
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be forced to issue a statement accusing the court and the royal family of 
interfering in internal affairs. Henderson stated his concerns and delivered 
a note regarding minor changes to the 20 February package proposal. As 
he left, Henderson saw “groups of persons in a surly mood” collecting out-
side Mosaddeq’s house.150 These were the street thugs hired by Kashani and 
Behbehani, and shortly after Henderson left they attacked the house, crash-
ing a jeep into the gate and attempting to storm the compound. Soldiers 
guarding the prime minister’s residence tried to disperse the mob but were 
unsuccessful. According to Henderson’s report, Mosaddeq fled the scene by 
climbing over the wall into the Point Four headquarters next door. Mosad-
deq went first to Army Chief of Staff Taqi Riahi, then to the Majlis, where 
he rallied the National Front deputies and began organizing counterdemon-
strations. That night, the shah issued a statement announcing that he had 
decided not to leave the country, citing the “sincere wish of the people” that 
he remain in Iran.151

Conclusion

The events of 9 Esfand constituted an important turning point in the strug
gle for Iran. Kashani and Behbehani demonstrated their ability to summon 
hundreds of street toughs and organized crowds, in conjunction with Za-
hedi’s retired military network. The shah, though a marginal figure in the 
day’s proceedings, had demonstrated his value as a rallying point. The frag-
ile unity of the National Front had been shattered. Mosaddeq remained in 
power but was more isolated from his former supporters and in open con-
flict with the monarchy. The events caught many off guard. Anthony Eden 
found reports of Kashani’s evident support of the shah against Mosaddeq 
“puzzling.” 152 The Tudeh Party had demonstrated against the shah, joining 
the pro-Mosaddeq forces as they had done in July 1952, and the CIA worried 
that loss of Kashani’s “street machine” could potentially force Mosaddeq to 
lean on further support from the Tudeh in the future.153

By the end of February, the struggle for Iran had reached a critical junc-
ture. The attempt to reach a settlement looked dead and Secretary Dulles 
had decided against breaking with the British on the oil issue. Mosaddeq’s 
opponents tried to remove him but failed. Ambassador Henderson had in-
tervened in Iran’s internal affairs and backed the shah against Mosaddeq, 
in effect choosing monarchy over representative government. The State De-
partment concurred with Henderson’s actions during the crisis, “believing 
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that risk involved was worth taking.” 154 Although the shah remained in Iran 
and on the throne, the power and influence of the monarchy appeared to 
be in decline and in danger of disappearing. The Eisenhower administra-
tion now faced the choice of whether to continue efforts to prop up Mosad-
deq or commit to a covert operation that would remove him from power.



6	 28 Mordad
The Coup against Mosaddeq

Financed, guided, and supported by U.S. and British agents, the anti-
Mosaddeq opposition successfully overthrew the National Front government 
on 19 August 1953 (28 Mordad, according to the Iranian calendar) in a violent 
coup d’état combining indigenous forces with foreign actors. U.S. policymak-
ers had long believed that without the substantial oil revenues that the inter-
national oil companies could provide, Iran would descend into economic and 
political chaos, leading eventually to communist control. In March 1953, U.S. 
policymakers became convinced that Mosaddeq would never accept a “rea-
sonable” oil settlement with the British and that allowing him to remain in 
office would lead to disaster. From April to August 1953, the United States, 
Great Britain, and their Iranian allies worked to weaken Mosaddeq in prep-
aration for a coup d’état. Great Britain had been attempting to organize 
Mosaddeq’s ouster since he first came to power and eagerly supported the 
American effort. Internal opposition to Mosaddeq, particularly military offi-
cers led by General Fazlollah Zahedi, sought out and accepted foreign assis-
tance. The final and key element was the shah, who reluctantly agreed to 
participate once he received assurances of U.S. and British backing.

The Coup Decision: March 1953

Mosaddeq’s rejection of the “final” offer in February 1953 convinced many 
officials in the Eisenhower administration that further oil negotiations with 
his government would not succeed, and that without an oil agreement, Iran 
would edge closer to collapse. Moreover, the February crisis and its after-
math exacerbated concerns that Mosaddeq intended to undermine the shah, 
who U.S. officials viewed as the main guarantor of Western interests in 
Iran. The Eisenhower administration was also concerned that Mosaddeq’s 
threat to sell oil at cut-rate prices would destabilize the global oil market. 
These concerns featured heavily in reports and meetings and produced the 
decision to remove Mosaddeq by covert action. Recently declassified U.S. 
documents made it possible to trace this process in detail.
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In a report to the president on 1 March, Central Intelligence Agency Di-
rector Allen W. Dulles stated that the possibility of a communist takeover 
had increased in the wake of Mosaddeq’s showdown with the shah. Although 
Mosaddeq would probably remain in power, his position had weakened. 
Ayatollah Abolqassem Kashani, who an earlier CIA report had described as 
“dangerous and irresponsible,” had emerged as a serious threat to the prime 
minister. If Mosaddeq was removed, Kashani could come to power, which 
would increase the chances of the Tudeh gaining control. Although the cri-
sis had shown that the institution of the monarchy “may have more popu
lar support than expected,” Dulles concluded the shah’s record “does not 
suggest that he will act.” 1

Secretary of State John Foster Dulles was even more pessimistic. Brief-
ing notes for Dulles warned that Mosaddeq “appeared to be winning the 
struggle” against the shah. Ambassador Loy W. Henderson, with the State 
Department’s approval, had been working to convince the shah to remain 
in Iran. Although the Tudeh had not created the February crisis or played a 
decisive role in its outcome, it was actively supporting Mosaddeq to get rid 
of the shah, whom they had opposed for years.2 According to Dulles, Mo-
saddeq was becoming increasingly dependent on Tudeh support. Although 
many military and civilian leaders were loyal to the shah and would act if 
he gave them “positive leadership,” the shah was maintaining a policy of 
“complete inaction.” As a result, these “substantial and relatively coura-
geous opposition groups” were afraid to act. Dulles thought it “likely” that 
Mosaddeq would retain power; “this would mean early disappearance of 
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[the] shah from [the] Iranian political scene, rapid deterioration in relations 
between Iran and West and greatly increased possibilities of Communist 
takeover.” 3

Briefing the National Security Council on the situation in Iran on 4 March, 
CIA Director Dulles lamented that “the shah had once more missed an op-
portunity to take control.” Dulles predicted that Mosaddeq would curtail 
the shah’s power, resulting in a dictatorship with Mosaddeq in command. 
This would not be a threat so long as Mosaddeq remained in power, but if 
he were assassinated or otherwise removed, the resulting power vacuum 
would provide an opening for the Tudeh to seize power. Dulles warned that 
if Iran were lost to the Soviets, there was little doubt that the rest of the 
Middle East, with around 60 percent of world oil reserves, would quickly 
fall under communist control. Secretary Dulles then laid out three options 
for dealing with the situation. The United States could recall Ambassador 
Henderson, who had openly backed the shah over Mosaddeq during the Feb-
ruary crisis. The United States could try to improve its position in Iran by 
“disassociating” itself from British policies, though breaking with the Brit-
ish in Iran risked losing essential British support in other parts of the world. 
Finally, the United States could provide Iran with financial assistance to deal 
with its budgetary problems, purchase large amounts of Iranian oil for its 
own use, and allow U.S. oil companies to buy Iranian oil and provide tech-
nical assistance to Iran to revive its oil industry.4

In the discussion that followed, President Eisenhower noted that unlike 
earlier offers, the latest British proposals had been “wholly reasonable.” The 
United States needed to respect the “enormous investment” the British had 
in Iran. After discussing the difficulties involved in defending Iran from a 
Soviet attack, Eisenhower stated: “If I had $500,000,000 of money to spend 
in secret, I would get $100,000,000 of it to Iran, right now.” The National 
Security Council recommended that the United States explore a solution 
with the British, one that would allow the United States to put the Iranian 
oil industry back into operation “without prejudice to an ultimate settle-
ment of the Anglo-Iranian controversy” and look into providing limited eco-
nomic assistance “to strengthen Mosaddeq’s position.” 5

While the assessments in Washington seemed gloomy, reports from the 
U.S. embassy in Tehran were more mixed. On 2 March, Ambassador Hen-
derson noted that while there was no evidence that Mosaddeq had aligned 
with the Tudeh, he was capable of doing so to stay in power. Reconciliation 
between the shah and Mosaddeq would only happen if the shah capitulated 
to Mosaddeq’s demands.6 Two days later, Mosaddeq told Ambassador 
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Henderson that if the United States was really interested in preventing Iran 
from falling to the communists, it would stop supporting the British block-
ade of Iranian oil and buy oil from Iran without insisting that Iran agree to 
British demands on compensation. Henderson rebuffed Mosaddeq’s request, 
explaining that the United States had to support the sanctity of interna-
tional agreements like the AIOC concession contract.7 Henderson reported 
on 6 March that Mosaddeq continued to consolidate power, arresting mili-
tary officers thought to be loyal to the shah. Although the shah was alleg-
edly in contact with the opposition, he had chosen temporary passivity for 
fear of moving before the time was right.8 There was “still some possibil-
ity” that the shah’s authority had not “disappeared.” Though many army 
officers were disturbed by the shah’s continued inaction, they had not given 
up on the idea of making a move on his behalf, according to Henderson.9

Dulles met with Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden on 6 March to gauge 
British interest in some new approaches to the oil issue. According to the 
Foreign Office, the Americans appeared to be “in one of their periodic pan-
ics” about what to do in Iran.10 Dulles told Eden that the authority of the 
shah had “disappeared” and that Mosaddeq would remain in power. Al-
though the United States did not contemplate providing Iran with large-
scale financial assistance or purchasing large volumes of Iranian oil, it would 
consider minor measures, such as allowing technicians from Cities Service 
to assist Iran in restarting the Abadan refinery, to keep Mosaddeq “barely 
afloat.” Eden stressed that any aid the United States provided Iran should 
not include purchases of oil or reactivation of the refinery. Even a few Amer-
icans in Abadan would do considerable harm to Anglo-American relations. 
Dulles countered that the United States had no desire to reward Mosaddeq 
but had to take action to prop him up and “avoid the disastrous possibility 
of the Communists replacing him.” 11 Following the meeting, the British gov-
ernment issued a communiqué declaring its intention to stand by its offer 
of 20 February, which the U.S. government regarded as “reasonable and 
fair.” 12 Eden concluded that the United States and Britain should focus on 
finding “alternatives to [Mosaddeq] rather than trying to buy him off.” 13

Eden raised the possibility of supporting Kashani as an alternative to 
Mosaddeq in a meeting with Under Secretary of State and former CIA Direc-
tor Walter Bedell Smith and State Department official Henry A. Byroade on 
9 March. The British claimed that while Mosaddeq was “unnegotiable,” 
Kashani had “less history behind him” on the oil issue, and it might be pos
sible to negotiate a deal with him once he became prime minister. Byroade 
responded that the United States was no longer thinking in terms of any 



urgent need to find a successor to Mosaddeq.14 Turning to the oil dispute, 
Byroade stressed that the United States was very concerned about the 
increasing number of independent oil tankers and the fall in tanker rates. 
Countries like Italy and Argentina and smaller U.S. oil companies might 
take advantage of the situation and start buying oil, especially since Mo-
saddeq was offering a 50 percent discount. Large-scale deals would have 
a “very serious impact on the world oil situation.” Smith also assured 
Eden that the United States would stand with Britain on the 20 February 
proposals.15

U.S. officials believed that resolving the nationalization crisis, ending the 
British boycott, and restarting the flow of Iranian oil were all crucial to en-
suring Iran’s stability and continued pro-Western alignment. Yet a negoti-
ated solution appeared unlikely, largely due to American unwillingness to 
break with the British. On 9 March, Mosaddeq told Henderson that he would 
reject the 20 February proposals, citing the British stance on compensation. 
Once again, he asked Henderson if the U.S. government would aid Iran by 
buying substantial quantities of oil. Henderson argued that the British had 
made “important concessions” during the latest round of talks, a point that 
Mosaddeq denied.16 The following day, Henderson warned that Mosaddeq 
was preparing to move against the shah, “whom he regards as the weak-
ling son of an upstart tyrannical imposter.” The shah, though passive, was 
“holding his ground.” 17

On 11 March, in advance of another meeting of the National Security 
Council, Henderson reiterated his strong opposition to the United States pro-
viding Iran with financial assistance if Mosaddeq rejected “a fair and rea-
sonable settlement” of the compensation problem, claiming that American 
public opinion would reject a deal that appeared to reward Iran’s national-
ization.18 The State Department had already recommended that the United 
States adopt the approach Henderson suggested in late January and pro-
vide only limited economic and military aid to Mosaddeq, rather than oil 
purchases. Forsaking the principle of compensation for lost future profits 
would “undermine United States commercial interests abroad” and dam-
age relations with Britain.19 A CIA report on 11 March concluded that it was 
“extremely unlikely” the opposition would be able to remove Mosaddeq on 
their own. On the bright side, the National Front government appeared to 
have the Tudeh under control.20

On 11 March, the National Security Council concluded that the United 
States should reject Mosaddeq’s request for aid. Purchase of Iranian oil with-
out a compensation agreement would be “a terrific blow to the British,” 
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Secretary Dulles argued. In addition to the compensation issue, the British 
were concerned about their prestige, having suffered “terrific” blows in 
Egypt, Sudan, and elsewhere. Secretary of Defense Charles E. Wilson agreed 
that the United States had to say “no” to Mosaddeq’s proposals, in order to 
defend the “sanctity of contracts.” President Eisenhower doubted that the 
United States could work out a deal with Mosaddeq, and even if it did it 
would harm U.S. oil concessions in other parts of the world. Robert Cutler, 
Eisenhower’s assistant for national security affairs, warned of what would 
happen if Iran, “as it easily could,” slashed the price of its oil to entice buy-
ers. Unlike the situation in 1951 and 1952, there were plenty of oil tankers 
available for hire. Such a move would upset markets and affect the major 
companies’ ability to supply the West with oil.21

On 13 March, Dulles instructed Henderson to halt all negotiations with 
Mosaddeq. The United States would not buy Iranian oil, though limited aid 
would continue “as evidence of our continued interest in [the] welfare of 
Iran.” 22 This would include the Point Four technical cooperation mission 
and the military advisory mission. Cities Service’s head and Eisenhower’s 
friend Alton Jones did not go to Iran.23 Although there was no obvious choice 
to replace Mosaddeq, the CIA decided on 18 March that it should preserve 
any assets that could be rallied to support a replacement.24 Mosaddeq for-
mally rejected the package proposal on 20 March but left the door open to 
further negotiations provided the British stated their maximum aims re-
garding compensation. The British had already rejected such an idea.25 A 
20 March report to the National Security Council continued the alarmist 
strain from earlier in the month, warning that a communist takeover could 
occur imperceptibly over a long period of time, and recommended intensi-
fying operations aimed at counteracting Tudeh influence.26

While closing the door to further progress on the oil issue, the United 
States continued to pay close attention to the position of the shah and the 
anti-Mosaddeq opposition. On 5 March Mosaddeq had appointed a commit-
tee of eight Majlis deputies to study the constitutionality of the shah’s con-
trol of the army. The Committee of Eight concluded on 12 March that the 
shah should accept his position as constitutional monarch “for the conduct 
of all civil and military affairs.” Opposition in the Majlis prevented the re-
port from receiving a full hearing and a vote.27 The shah confided to a CIA 
source (possibly his secretary, Ernest Perron) that his “duty to his people 
was making him a virtual prisoner,” and that his true desire was to leave 
Iran and live “like a human being.” The agency concluded that the shah’s 
departure would bring about a tribal “dog-fight” that would incapacitate 



Iran’s internal security forces and precipitate a Tudeh seizure of power.28 
On 30 March the shah’s Minister of Court Hossein ‘Ala told Henderson 
that the rift between the shah and Mosaddeq was too great to be closed. 
Leading opposition figures believed that General Fazlollah Zahedi was 
the best candidate to replace Mosaddeq. After ‘Ala said the opposition 
wanted to know the U.S. attitude about their plans, Henderson assured him 
that the United States was not supporting Mosaddeq and stressed that while 
the United States could not be associated with a coup, if “patriotic Iranians” 
believed a coup was necessary to save Iran, they should act.29

The United States preferred the shah and had tolerated Mosaddeq in the 
absence of any viable alternative. It strongly opposed Kashani. The State 
Department Office of Intelligence and Research argued in a 31 March re-
port that replacement of Mosaddeq by Kashani would be “disadvantageous 
to Western interests.” Should Kashani come to power, it would cause greater 
internal instability and potentially push Iran closer toward communist rule, 
because Kashani did not possess Mosaddeq’s prestige and would be forced 
to lean on Tudeh support. Kashani had supported nationalization of the oil 
industry, wanted to eliminate British influence in Iran, and hoped to dis-
place the traditional governing groups. He also supported violent political 
methods, including assassination, to achieve his ends. The report conceded 
that “power to choose the Prime Minister resides in the Majlis,” and it was 
unlikely that the shah would risk another “Qavam incident” by appointing 
anyone “who did not have controlling Majlis support.” 30

Available evidence suggests the Eisenhower administration began plan-
ning to remove Mosaddeq from power in April 1953, even if it had not yet 
fully committed to doing so. The reasons were linked to the failure of the 
package proposal, concerns that Iran’s internal political situation teetered 
on the brink of collapse and would lead to a Tudeh government in the ab-
sence of U.S. action, and the desire to resolve the oil crisis and restart the 
flow of Iranian oil. Faced with a breakdown in oil negotiations and unwill-
ing to push the British any further or offer Mosaddeq financial aid, the 
United States began exploring covert means of removing Mosaddeq. Draw-
ing on Max Thornburg’s argument in February that the solution to the cri-
sis was to “bolster up a government” in Iran that would reach an oil 
agreement, the covert operation that began in April was meant to create 
conditions that would allow such a government to take power.31 According 
to Donald Wilber, who played a key role in planning the coup, the central 
idea was to force the Iranian people to choose between the shah and the 
monarchy and Mosaddeq and an unknown future.32 Although Wilber was 
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referring only to Iranians, U.S. leaders and the shah should also be included 
among the people who were being forced to choose.

Setting the Stage: Assets and Actors in TPAJAX

In mid-March, CIA Deputy Director Frank Wisner reached out to British in-
telligence and suggested discussions on tactics. The Foreign Office agreed 
to begin these discussions by mid-April.33 Clearance for “psychological mea
sures” and special political operations outlined earlier in NSC 136/1 were 
approved on 3 April.34 The following day, the CIA released funds for an op-
eration to remove Mosaddeq. An internal history of the operation by Don-
ald Wilber, a scholar of Persian architecture and agency operative, suggests 
the initial budget was $1 million.35 By mid-April, Wilber and other CIA op-
eratives were producing reports on how best to marshal assets to be used 
for a coup, “upon the premises that U.S. interest and policy requires the re-
placement of [Mosaddeq].” 36

The CIA’s Directorate of Plans had warned on 3 March that the agency’s 
assets in Iran, though not inconsiderable, were “far from sufficient in them-
selves” to prevent a Tudeh assumption of power. Moreover, the key assets 
in Iran were poorly positioned to take on the Mosaddeq government.37 In a 
16 April report entitled “Factors Involved in the Overthrow of Mossadeq,” 
Wilber echoed these conclusions, noting that “agency assets in Iran are not 
by themselves capable of overthrowing Mosaddeq’s Government” and that 
an alliance of Iranians and foreigners would be needed to unseat the still 
popular prime minister.38 In Tehran the CIA relied on two assets, Ali Jalali 
and Faruq Keyvani, code-named “Nerren” and “Cilley,” who had received 
training on covert operations in the United States. They organized crowds 
and instigated street demonstrations against the Tudeh as part of the agen-
cy’s tpbedamn operation.39 They received $600,000 out of a total budget 
of $1 million (about 1 percent of the CIA’s total budget for clandestine op-
erations in 1952) and employed around 130 subagents including newspaper 
editors, publishers, and activists.40

The United States possessed some influence within the Iranian military 
through the advisory mission headed by Brigadier General Robert A. Mc-
Clure. Iran’s army was approximately 125,000 strong and consisted of eight 
divisions, nine independent brigades, and one military police brigade. The 
army’s primary task was ensuring internal stability, and for that reason 
most units were in major cities, including the capital Tehran, while troops 
were stationed in Khuzestan to secure the oil fields, pipelines, and Abadan 



refinery. Additional troops were positioned in the southern provinces to 
keep an eye on the Qashqa’i and Bakhtiari tribes. Most divisional com-
manders and much of the officer corps were believed to be pro-shah even 
though Mosaddeq had removed some of the shah’s loyalists and placed his 
own supporters in positions of authority after taking control of the War 
Ministry in July 1952.41 Many officers within Iran’s security forces were on 
the CIA payroll. The CIA had also cultivated anti-Tudeh forces in the south, 
mainly among the Qashqa’i tribe, as part of a stay-behind operation. By 
early 1953 the agency had enough weapons to outfit a Qashqa’i army for six 
months.42 British assets in the country included the Rashidian family and 
its network of agents, who were well represented in the bazaar guilds, 
clergy, street gangs, and newspaper publishers. The British also possessed 
an informal network of supporters in the army, inside the Majlis, and among 
the political elite. These assets lacked formal direction, however, due to the 
closing of the British embassy in October 1952.43

The acknowledged leader of the opposition was retired Major General 
Fazlollah Zahedi. Known to be ambitious and unscrupulous, Zahedi had 
been arrested during the war for pro-German activities and had a history 
of anti-British politics. He served as Mosaddeq’s interior minister until his 
dismissal in July 1951, at which point he began organizing anti-Mosaddeq 
opposition forces, concentrating on former military officers Mosaddeq had 
cashiered or forced out. Following the fall of Qavam in July 1952, Zahedi 
became the favored British choice to succeed Mosaddeq. By early 1953 he 
had emerged as the de facto head of the opposition.44 Reports on his activi-
ties reached the U.S. embassy via Zahedi’s son Ardeshir, who worked for 
the U.S. Point Four technical cooperation mission and often met in secret 
with Commander Eric W. Pollard, the embassy’s naval attaché.45

From the point of view of the British and Americans, Zahedi represented 
the best of limited options. Sam Falle of MI6 regarded Zahedi as “compara-
tively strong . . . ​in this country of weak men.” 46 The fact that he had been 
imprisoned for anti-British activities during the war made him attractive, 
as he would not be labeled as a British tool. Wilber wrote that Zahedi was 
“the only major personality in undisguised opposition to Mossadeq.” 47 Al-
though Henderson felt that Zahedi “might be no improvement over Mosad-
deq,” citing the former general’s ambition and incompetence, he accepted 
that risks were necessary “since [Mosaddeq] seems persistently to be lead-
ing Iran towards disaster.” 48

Most of the anti-Mosaddeq opposition had rallied around Zahedi by 
the spring of 1953, including nearly half the Majlis, led by house Speaker 
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Kashani, who regarded himself as the real power behind Zahedi and clearly 
had ambitions to succeed Mosaddeq as leader of the country.49 Some smaller 
groups with anti-Tudeh orientation were also counted among CIA assets. 
These included the Pan-Iranist Party and SUMKA, Iran’s national socialist 
party. The country’s senior Shi’a cleric Ayatollah Borujerdi remained neu-
tral, though members of the opposition attempted without success to elicit 
his cooperation. ‘Ala told Henderson on 31 March that he had met with Boru-
jerdi two days before to gauge the cleric’s support for Zahedi. Borujerdi 
“had not committed himself, but reportedly had seemed sympathetic.” 50

The opposition argued that Mosaddeq had failed to resolve the oil is-
sue, that he was destroying the economy, that he was too permissive toward 
the Tudeh, and that he acted as a dictator through his use of emergency 
powers.51 The opposition worked to stymie the government’s parliamen-
tary agenda. Kashani used his position as Majlis speaker to launch investi-
gations into Mosaddeq’s programs, while deputies absented themselves to 
deny the Majlis a quorum.52 When the Majlis Committee of Eight recom-
mended the shah give up his power over the military, Kashani organized 
the deputies to block the committee’s resolution.53 As part of the plotting 
against Mosaddeq, Kashani and Zahedi drafted a firman, or royal decree, 
dismissing Mosaddeq from office and appointing Zahedi in his place.54 
The shah refused to sign, however, even after ‘Ala warned him that Mosad-
deq’s supporters might succeed in stripping him of his power by passing 
the Committee of Eight resolution.55 The shah’s caution reflected his dis-
trust of Zahedi and the others, who he felt were using him to advance their 
own agendas. Court Minister ‘Ala told Henderson on 15 April that the shah 
suspected Great Britain was plotting against him, and he did not wish to be 
a “cat’s paw.” 56 In contrast, American officials interpreted the shah’s caution 
as evidence of indecision and cowardice. Wilber’s April report character-
ized him as “vacillating, hesitating and indecisive.” 57

On 15 April a Tudeh mob attacked an American technical assistance head-
quarters in Shiraz. The opposition press used the incident to emphasize the 
government’s alleged alliance with the Tudeh. Mosaddeq declared martial 
law in Shiraz and sent a letter to William E. Warne, head of the technical 
assistance mission, reaffirming his desire for friendly relations with the 
United States.58 Despite this violence, which was chiefly directed at the U.S. 
presence, the Tudeh avoided directly opposing the government. The party’s 
leadership was divided over whether to openly back the prime minister or 
adopt a more neutral position. According to CIA reports, “the Party does 



not yet deem circumstances favorable for [the] seizure of power,” suggesting 
their alignment with Mosaddeq was tactical.59 Although Mosaddeq per-
mitted the Tudeh to begin demonstrating publicly, his Minister of the 
Economy Ali Akbar Akhavi explained to Warne that the prime minister 
knew that the Tudeh were enemies, “but right now they are not fighting 
him.” 60 Should the party threaten the government, Mosaddeq and his al-
lies felt it could be suppressed quickly—an assessment that was proven to 
be accurate after the coup, when the shah’s military crushed the Tudeh with 
relative ease.61

While the shah remained hesitant, the successful stymieing of the Com-
mittee of Eight’s resolution compelled the conspirators toward bolder ac-
tion. On 23 April, Tehran’s police chief and important Mosaddeq supporter 
Mahmud Afshartus disappeared. Four days later his body was found in the 
slums of south Tehran. According to MI6 operative Norman Darbyshire, 
Afshartus was shot by one of the officers who kidnapped him, allegedly 
for making anti-shah comments. However, the press reported the cause of 
death to be strangulation.62 A government investigation uncovered a con-
spiracy to kidnap several high-ranking officials, including Army Chief of 
Staff General Taqi Riahi.63 Although the Afshartus affair demonstrated the 
opposition’s ability to challenge Mosaddeq, they failed to capitalize on 
the situation. Baqa’i was implicated in the kidnapping, but his immunity as 
a Majlis deputy prevented the government from prosecuting him. Zahedi 
took shelter in the Majlis building, protected by Kashani.64 The CIA station 
speculated that the outcome of the month’s events “may signal the end of 
Zahedi as an immediate threat” to Mosaddeq’s government.65

Disturbed by the public elimination of a powerful supporter, Mosaddeq 
put more pressure on the shah. He removed ‘Ala as court minister and re-
placed him with Abolqassem Amini, a well-connected courtier with ties to 
the Qajar dynasty and the Qashqa’i whose brother, General Mahmud 
Amini, was head of the gendarmerie.66 Meeting with Henderson in early 
May, Amini argued that the government faced a “serious financial crisis” 
and would have to “make radical changes” if it hoped to remain in power. 
Amini’s ideas included patching things up between Mosaddeq and the 
shah, placing members of his own family in positions of power, and elimi-
nating the influence of the Iran Party and its allies, including Army Chief 
of Staff Riahi. It was clear to Henderson that Amini had his own agenda 
and could possibly move against Mosaddeq if he sensed an opportunity to 
do so.67
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Approaching the Shah

While the opposition maneuvered in Tehran, Anglo-American coup plan-
ning reached an advanced stage. In late April, Wilber traveled to Cyprus, 
where he met Norman Darbyshire, head of the Iran branch of MI6. Expelled 
from Iran in October 1952, the British lacked the means to influence matters 
there directly. According to Wilber’s report, Darbyshire was “perfectly con-
tent” to follow the CIA’s lead and agreed to pass control of the Rashidian 
network and other MI6 assets over to the CIA. Without such coordina-
tion, it is doubtful that the Rashidians—who were pro-British but skeptical 
of the United States—would have agreed to cooperate.68 The British also 
backed Zahedi, and by June had paid him 4–5 million rials (roughly 
$50,000) through the Rashidian network.69 Zahedi made contact with the 
U.S. embassy in mid-May. He promised embassy officials that once he be-
came prime minister, he would pursue an oil settlement with the British, 
crush the Tudeh, and pass social and economic reforms. Zahedi stressed 
that he needed U.S. support, “because Iranians cannot save themselves.” 70

While Wilber coordinated with Darbyshire in Nicosia, Kermit Roosevelt, 
chief of the Near East and Africa Division of the CIA’s Directorate of Opera-
tions, managed operations.71 Grandson of President Theodore Roosevelt, 
Kermit Roosevelt had a background in covert affairs and was familiar with 
Middle Eastern politics, having written a book on the subject in 1947.72 
Impetuous and self-important, with a highly tuned sense of the dramatic, 
Roosevelt viewed his work from the romantic vantage of the adventurer-spy. 
Unlike Wilber and Darbyshire, he did not speak Farsi.73

Efforts to settle the oil dispute continued, though they produced no sub-
stantive outcome. Discussions around the oil issue revealed a sense of hesi-
tancy among some U.S. officials regarding the wisdom of the coup plan. On 
5 May, the British government rejected a proposal sponsored by Secretary 
of the Treasury George  M. Humphrey that called for a group of U.S. oil 
companies to buy AIOC’s interests in Iran. President Eisenhower noted in a 
letter to Prime Minister Churchill on 8 May that the British seemed to 
believe the situation in Iran was “absolutely hopeless” and preferred to risk 
losing the entire Middle East to Soviet domination than to try a new ap-
proach. The tone of the letter suggested Eisenhower was not yet fully com-
mitted to ending negotiations with Mosaddeq. While assuring Churchill that 
the United States appreciated British concerns about the sanctity of con-
tracts, Eisenhower stressed his concern that the situation was a “potential 
disaster for the Western world.” 74



Henderson was reluctant to embrace the coup plan and instead suggested 
“one more energetic effort” in early May to resolve the nationalization cri-
sis through a lump sum compensation award for AIOC, rather than an agree-
ment sending compensation to arbitration. A lump sum agreement, he 
argued, would mollify Mosaddeq’s fears of an open-ended compensation 
award for AIOC. “I do not believe the problem can be solved merely by at-
tempts to unseat Mosaddeq,” he wrote.75 Walter Levy, the oil expert who 
had accompanied Averell Harriman to Iran in 1951, also suggested that the 
United States approach Iran with a lump sum compensation offer, propos-
ing the 1947 settlement between Britain and Mexico over Mexico’s 1938 
nationalization of British oil interests could be used as a basis.76

Henderson repeated his concerns about supporting a coup during a meet-
ing with Secretary Dulles in Karachi on 19 May. The chief factor pushing 
Iran toward communism was the “absence of an oil settlement.” An attempt 
to change the government “by foreign intrigue” was very risky, and there 
was no figure who could rival Mosaddeq’s prestige.77 This was probably 
when Henderson learned of the coup operation. Henderson’s arguments 
failed to convince Dulles, who had already concluded that it was no longer 
necessary to press for an oil settlement with Mosaddeq.78 Dulles was par-
ticularly interested in seeing a pro-Western government placed in Tehran 
as part of new strategy emphasizing a “northern tier” of Middle Eastern 
states containing the spread of Soviet influence, now that nationalists had 
assumed control of Egypt and planned to prevent the use of the Suez Canal 
Zone as a base for Western forces.79 State Department officials waited al-
most a month to reject Levy’s idea, arguing it would be “unfortunate” to 
give the prime minister “any ammunition which would strengthen his po
litical position.” 80

Levy and Henderson’s ideas for a lump sum agreement were incomplete 
solutions to the key problem facing the United States: how to restart the flow 
of oil revenues to the Iranian state. While a lump sum agreement would 
have solved the problem of compensation, it did not address the problem of 
returning large volumes of Iranian oil to world markets, nor did it provide 
Iran the revenues the United States believed were necessary to meet the 
country’s economic needs. Henderson’s doubts about the viability of a co-
vert operation stemmed from his lack of confidence in the shah, who in mid-
May had not backed the opposition but was instead suggesting Mosaddeq 
was “desperate” for a deal that would allow him to retain U.S. support.81

On 20 May, Mosaddeq told Henderson that it was clear that the British 
were not interested in an oil settlement, and he asked Henderson to convey 
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a request for aid to Secretary of State Dulles. Mosaddeq pledged to “do [his] 
utmost” to preserve good relations with the United States but warned a 
negative U.S. response on aid would harm Iran politically and economically. 
After Henderson delivered a noncommittal reply on 26 May, Mosaddeq 
asked him to stress Iran’s difficulties in “maintaining political and economic 
stability in an effort to stave off chaos, Communism, and British control” 
during the ambassador’s upcoming visit to the United States.82 In a letter to 
Eisenhower, Mosaddeq emphasized his ongoing economic problems and 
his belief that further “disintegration” could only be halted through oil sales 
or emergency aid from the United States “if the American government is 
not able to effect a removal” of the boycott.83

Mosaddeq’s requests for aid fell on deaf ears. The Eisenhower adminis-
tration’s focus was now fixed on the coup plan then in progress. On 30 May 
Henderson met with the shah. Henderson considered this conversation so 
sensitive that he did not send it as a telegram or embassy dispatch, instead 
filing it as a confidential memorandum.84 Henderson was clearly familiar 
with the coup operation by this point, and he tried to determine what would 
be needed to secure the shah’s cooperation. Knowing that the shah’s reti-
cence stemmed from his suspicion that the British were plotting against him, 
Henderson told the shah that British Prime Minister Churchill offered his 
personal assurance that the British government supported the monarchy.85 
When asked if General Zahedi was acceptable as a replacement for Mosad-
deq, the shah replied that Zahedi would be acceptable on three conditions: 
he would have to come to power through legal means, not through a coup; he 
would have to have broad popular support; and the U.S. and British gov-
ernments would have to offer their support to the new government, includ-
ing substantial financial aid. Henderson reassured the shah that the British 
and U.S. governments would welcome a new government headed by Za-
hedi and would give it their full support.86

Backtracking, the shah qualified his conditions, saying that he would sup-
port Zahedi even if the general came to power through a coup if it was 
clear Zahedi had a “strong array of political leaders as well as considerable 
popular support” behind him. Henderson suggested that it might be “ex-
tremely difficult” for Zahedi to be brought to power by “ordinary Parlia-
mentary methods,” and pointedly asked the shah what he would do if a 
majority of Majlis members requested Zahedi through a petition, but the 
National Front blocked Majlis action through a boycott, preventing a quo-
rum. The shah refused to commit himself in advance and repeated his be-
lief that Mosaddeq was still best positioned to reach an oil settlement. Given 



the dangerous economic situation in Iran, it would be best for the United 
States to provide Iran with aid even if this temporarily strengthened Mo-
saddeq’s position. Finally, the shah suggested that he might leave Iran 
because it was “too humiliating” for him to remain. Henderson warned the 
shah that leaving the country would be seen as “a sign of weakness and de-
feat,” and reassured him that the U.S. government regarded him as a force 
for stability and did not want him to leave.87

On 31 May, Henderson made it clear to Mosaddeq that the United States 
would not provide financial and economic assistance unless Iran settled the 
compensation issue on a “realistic” basis, in line with what the British had 
asked for in February. Henderson reported that the talk left him more pes-
simistic than before about the possibility of an oil settlement so long as Mo-
saddeq remained in power.88 Talk of new oil negotiations went nowhere, as 
none of the options appeared favorable to U.S. officials, who were unwill-
ing to break with the British. Focus remained fixed on removing Mosaddeq 
through a coup d’état.

Planning and Politics, June–July 1953

Wilber’s discussions with Darbyshire in Nicosia produced an outline of an 
operational plan on 1 June.89 The outline emphasized the need for psycho-
logical warfare to prepare public opinion and laid out a scheme whereby 
an organized crowd overwhelmed the Majlis and forced its members to ap-
prove a vote of no confidence against Mosaddeq. Once the vote passed, the 
shah would sign firmans, or royal decrees, removing Mosaddeq and appoint-
ing Zahedi. If this “quasi-legal” method failed, a military coup would fol-
low “in [a] matter of hours.” 90

The CIA consulted Henderson upon his arrival in Washington in early 
June. Fresh from his 30 May meeting with the shah, Henderson believed it 
would be very difficult to convince the shah to take part. He suggested that 
if the shah refused to participate, planners should consider “replacing . . . ​
[him] with one of his brothers.” 91 Henderson stressed the importance of pro-
viding the new government with “immediate budgetary and economic 
support in substantial quantities” once the coup was complete. This would 
allow it to suppress further dissent and maintain government spending until 
an oil agreement could be concluded.92 Henderson also suggested approach-
ing Court Minister Amini, who had ties to the army through his brother 
and was known to be in contact with members of the National Front. How-
ever, Henderson later told the British ambassador to the United States that 
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he did not trust Amini, noting that Amini and his brother were “just as likely 
to doublecross us as the Shah and [Mosaddeq].” 93

While the precise contours of the coup plan remained in the planning 
stages, the United States took public steps to distance itself from the Mosad-
deq government. After a month of silence, Eisenhower replied to Mosaddeq’s 
request for aid. Drafted by Henderson, the president’s reply argued that “it 
would not be fair to the American taxpayer to extend any considerable 
amount of economic aid” since Iran could have access to large oil revenues 
if it would reach a “reasonable” agreement with Britain on compensation. 
There was “considerable sentiment” in the United States that compensation 
only for the loss of physical assets would undermine international trade 
and investment. The State Department released the president’s letter to 
the press, publicizing the U.S. rejection of Mosaddeq’s plea to isolate the 
prime minister in advance of the coup operation.94

Following meetings in Beirut in mid-June, Wilber and Roosevelt traveled 
to London to meet former MI6 Tehran chief Christopher Montague (“Monty”) 
Woodhouse and Darbyshire.95 The group produced a “London Draft” of the 
operation that outlined three stages. First, the CIA would distribute propa-
ganda undermining Mosaddeq, tying his government to the Tudeh and al-
leging he was planning to rule as a dictator. Second, hired mobs would 
converge on the Majlis and force its members to vote Mosaddeq out of of-
fice. Third, pro-shah military units would seize control should Mosaddeq, 
as was expected, refuse to step down. The shah would sign two firmans: one 
dismissing Mosaddeq and the second appointing Zahedi in his place.96

It is difficult to determine precisely when the United States officially 
approved the plan, code-named tpajax. In his account, Roosevelt de-
scribes a meeting on 25 June where the plan was supposedly discussed in 
detail, but no record of such a meeting has been found.97 A chronology 
found in CIA records indicates Secretary Dulles gave his approval to the 
operation on 11 July. No written authorization from President Eisenhower 
has been found and presumably does not exist. According to one CIA his-
tory, “[t]he President knew what was going on but preferred to keep him-
self out of all formal deliberations. His orders and briefings were given 
orally with no record kept.” Churchill approved the plan by 1 July.98

The coup plan required a critical mass of anti-Mosaddeq deputies in the 
Majlis, and the Rashidians had begun distributing bribes to deputies. Al-
though Kashani lost reelection as speaker to a Mosaddeq ally, opposition 
deputies were able to elect Hossein Makki as special overseer of the gov-
ernment’s budget, which enabled them to paralyze activity in the Majlis.99 



Outside the assembly, Mosaddeq’s allies rallied large crowds in support of 
the Committee of Eight recommendation to limit the shah’s powers. “The 
shah must reign, not rule” was the most popular slogan. The opposition con-
tinued to block a vote on the committee’s resolution; had it passed, the 
shah likely would have left the country and the conspiracy against Mosad-
deq would have collapsed.100 Before the opposition could fully mobilize 
against him, Mosaddeq acted. On 14 July, all National Front deputies re-
signed, leaving the Majlis without a quorum.101 The move effectively dis-
solved the assembly. Mosaddeq planned to ask for the people’s support for 
the Majlis’s dissolution through a referendum, despite concerns from some 
of his supporters that such an action was unconstitutional.102

Mosaddeq’s move was a response to the mounting conspiracy against 
him. In his view, his actions were legal according to Iran’s 1906 constitution, 
which had vested executive power in the Majlis, because foreign intrigues 
and the shah’s interference had rendered the current body dysfunctional. 
His opponents in 1953, however, denounced both the Majlis dissolution and 
the planned referendum as violations of the constitution and evidence of 
Mosaddeq’s tyranny.103 On 22 July the Tudeh and National Front held dem-
onstrations to commemorate the one-year anniversary of Mosaddeq’s re-
turn to power. The embassy estimated the crowd exceeded 50,000 people. 
New York Times correspondent Kennett Love claimed it numbered 100,000 
and was primarily communist, an exaggeration that supported the opposi-
tion’s claim that Mosaddeq was becoming more dependent on the Tudeh.104 
According to the U.S. embassy’s ranking officer, Chargé d’Affaires Gor-
don H. Mattison, Mosaddeq was erecting a leftist dictatorship “with little 
remaining [of] outward democratic forms.” 105 Mosaddeq’s maneuver in 
the Majlis, while necessary to maintain his government’s hold on power 
in light of foreign and domestic subterfuge, became ammunition in the coup 
plan to discredit him and tie his government to communism. With CIA pro-
paganda depicting him to be a communist sympathizer, the need to re-
move him to prevent Iran’s fall to communism constituted a self-fulfilling 
prophecy.

The Coup Plan, July–August 1953

While it helped strengthen the opposition’s argument for his ouster, Mosad-
deq’s dissolution of the Majlis presented a problem for the coup planners. 
The London Draft included a Majlis vote against Mosaddeq, facilitated by 
pressure from paid crowds. This vote would give the coup a gloss of legality 

28 Mordad 161



162 Chapter 6

and provide cover for the military coup that would follow if Mosaddeq did 
not acquiesce to the vote. More importantly, a Majlis vote would help the 
conspirators secure the support of the shah, who was reluctant to move 
against Mosaddeq without Majlis support. Mosaddeq’s success at retaining 
power despite mounting foreign pressure and internal intrigue added ur-
gency to these efforts, and agents began distributing propaganda on 22 July, 
accusing Mosaddeq of holding communist beliefs, acting as a secret British 
agent, and concealing Jewish ancestry.106 This campaign aimed at isolat-
ing and weakening Mosaddeq and turning average Iranians away from the 
government, thus mitigating the chances of a violent street response to Mo-
saddeq’s fall, as had occurred in July 1952.

A second element of the plan focused on securing the support of pro-shah 
military officers, particularly in units stationed inside Tehran, who could 
lead troops against the government forces. George Carroll, a paramilitary 
expert at the CIA fresh from active duty in Korea, arrived in Iran on 21 July. 
After Carroll “painfully confirmed” that Zahedi’s claims to influence within 
the military had been wildly exaggerated, he drew up a list of military fig-
ures who might be willing to take part in the operation.107 Zahedi had not 
established a military secretariat, so Carroll and Roosevelt set one up for 
him. They focused their attentions on Colonel Ne’matallah Nassiri, com-
mander of the shah’s Imperial Guard, and other officers stationed within 
the city.108

Eventually, Roosevelt and Carroll produced a list of officers who were 
prepared to participate, brought them into contact with Zahedi and his dep-
uties, and confirmed their participation. As soon as the firmans dismissing 
Mosaddeq and appointing Zahedi were delivered, military units would seize 
key points, including the radio station, army headquarters, and the prime 
minister’s residence, and arrest Mosaddeq, other government officials, and 
pro-Mosaddeq officers.109 Timing would be crucial: “success might depend,” 
Wilber later noted, “upon whether or not General Riahi, the army’s chief of 
staff, succeeded in arresting our friends before we arrested his.” 110

The shah’s cooperation was essential. The shah’s signature would be 
needed to validate the firmans, which were necessary to give the operation 
a shred of legality, and military forces would probably not act without his 
support. The shah continued to move cautiously, in part because he believed 
he could not directly command any military units, since he was no longer 
in the chain of command.111 The shah would occasionally threaten to leave 
Iran, though Mattison guessed he was “telling different stories to different 
people” in order to conceal his real motives.112 He had been encouraged by 



Eisenhower’s letter denying Mosaddeq aid and had resolved to remain in 
the country.113 Allen Dulles told his brother the secretary of state on 24 July 
that shah was an “unaccountable character” and might “pull out at the last 
minute.” 114

Arthur L. Richards of the State Department believed there were two key 
criteria that would have to be met before the plan proceeded. First, the United 
States would have to be ready to offer Iran substantial aid, in the range of 
$60 million, to stabilize the post-coup government. Second, the British 
would have to provide a firm commitment to be flexible in subsequent ne-
gotiations to resolve the oil issue. “No commercial concessions,” concluded 
Richards, “or special political privileges should be asked of Iran.” 115 The 
British accepted these terms on 23 July, though they insisted that any future 
oil agreement had to include a provision covering compensation through 
arbitration and could not “provide a reward for the tearing up of contractual 
obligations.” 116

The coup planners hoped that a series of visits from notable representa-
tives would convince the shah to take part in the coup. The first envoy 
was the shah’s twin sister Ashraf. Exiled in 1951 and barred from returning 
to Iran by Mosaddeq, Ashraf took up residence in France. Approached by 
Darbyshire and Colonel Stephen Meade of the CIA in June, Ashraf agreed 
to undertake a trip to Iran, provided the United States guaranteed her 
brother an income if the coup failed.117 She arrived on 25 July and met with 
the shah four days later. Though their meeting was “stormy,” Ashraf deliv-
ered a letter preparing the shah for further visits by Asadollah Rashidian 
and Brigadier General H. Norman Schwarzkopf, who had headed the U.S. 
mission to the Iranian gendarmerie during World War II. Rashidian visited 
the shah on 30 and 31 July and assured the suspicious monarch that the 
British were not conspiring against him and that the United States and 
Britain were working together against Mosaddeq and the communists.118

Schwarzkopf’s mission was to acquire firmans dismissing Mosaddeq and 
appointing Zahedi, as well as a letter requesting all military officers remain 
loyal to the crown.119 According to Wilber, Schwarzkopf took to his task 
“with relish” and met with the shah on 1 August.120 The shah feared audio 
surveillance, so they spoke at a small table in the middle of a grand ball-
room. Arguing that he could no longer depend on the army’s loyalty, the 
shah refused to sign the firmans. He also insisted that he had to approve a 
full cabinet in accordance with the constitution and not simply a prime min-
ister. If Mosaddeq held his referendum, however, then the shah believed he 
would have the authority to dismiss him.121
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The referendum took place on 3 August. Mosaddeq defended his deci-
sion in a radio address, asking the people to choose between him and the 
“moribund” Majlis.122 The opposition boycotted the vote and ballot boxes 
were strategically placed to ensure a positive result for the government. The 
outcome was as Mosaddeq intended: 99 percent of those voting approved 
dissolving the Majlis. According to the CIA, support from the Tudeh was 
crucial to the success of the vote. A report warned that the prime minister 
“may already be reassessing his policy toward the United States,” though it 
offered little evidence to support this conclusion.123 While there had been 
some communication between Mosaddeq and the Soviet ambassador, So-
viet records suggest Moscow continued to view the prime minister as pro-
American and remained aloof.124

The United States took further steps to isolate Mosaddeq and emphasize 
the communist danger in Iran in advance of the coup operation. On 28 July, 
John Foster Dulles gave a press conference where he made several prepared 
comments alluding to the “growing activity of the supposedly illegal Com-
munist party” in Iran, “which appears to be tolerated by the Iranian gov-
ernment.” 125 President Eisenhower suggested that Mosaddeq’s referendum 
to dissolve the Majlis was “supported by the Communist party” during a 
public event on 4 August and declared that the United States would not sit 
“idly by” while Iran fell to communists. As with Dulles’s comments on 28 
July, the president’s statement had been drafted ahead of time with CIA as-
sistance and was designed to illustrate U.S. displeasure with Mosaddeq’s 
government while hinting at the rising threat of a communist uprising.126 
The CIA also planted a story in Newsweek warning of the danger of a com-
munist takeover in Iran.127 The New York Times ran an editorial on 15 Au-
gust characterizing the prime minister as a “ruthless demagogue . . . ​
trampling over the liberties of his own people.” 128 Despite intelligence re-
ports that concluded the Tudeh remained too weak to attempt a takeover 
of the government, actions by the coup planners and rhetoric from U.S. lead-
ers had manufactured a communist threat in order to justify an extreme 
response.

The First Attempt

Following his meeting with Schwarzkopf, the shah met with Kermit Roose
velt several times, but he still refused to sign the firmans. Though Zahedi 
was ready to act, the military attachés at the U.S. embassy warned that army 



units would obey orders from Mosaddeq, “[who] has political and actual 
control of the army,” unless they received contradictory instructions from 
the shah, to whom they owed their allegiance. Riahi, the current chief of 
staff, was a Mosaddeq loyalist, but his officers would back a replacement 
“in the name of the shah.” 129 An Iranian colonel involved in the operation 
provided the shah with a list of forty military officers who had sworn alle-
giance to the monarchy rather than to Mosaddeq. Still, the shah hesitated.130 
On 12 August the shah left Tehran for his retreat on the Caspian Sea.131 Col
onel Nassiri of the Imperial Guard joined him that afternoon. According to 
Nassiri’s account, the shah did not sign the firmans but rather two blank 
sheets of paper, on which the firmans were later printed.132 This implied that 
the shah did not himself write the firmans, thus rendering their constitu-
tional authority suspect.133 In any event, signed documents were in Zahe-
di’s possession the following day. “Al Homdulillah,” cabled Roosevelt: Arabic 
for “Praise Be to God.” 134

According to Roosevelt, he turned over control of the operation to Za-
hedi once the firmans were in hand. Zahedi and the coup’s military partici-
pants held clandestine meetings between 11 and 13 August. The original plan 
was to deliver the firmans to Mosaddeq and seize control of the city on the 
night of 14 August, but Zahedi delayed a day, giving rumors of the impend-
ing coup time to circulate throughout Tehran.135 Zahedi revealed details 
about the operation to General Mohammed Daftari, who may have leaked 
the information.136 The Tudeh Party probably learned of the coup through 
their network inside the Iranian armed forces and published a warning in 
Shojat, a party daily, on 13 August. The party’s senior leadership called Mo-
saddeq and offered their assistance in combating the coup.137

Forewarned of the operation, Mosaddeq strengthened his position. Riahi 
put troops on high alert and stationed a large contingent at the prime min-
ister’s residence. When Nassiri led a heavily armed convoy to the prime 
minister’s home, arriving there around 2:30 a.m. on 16 August, he met a su-
perior force and was arrested.138 A column of Zahedi’s allies arrived to take 
over the army headquarters but found it too heavily defended and retreated. 
The attempt collapsed in a matter of hours.139

Radio Tehran reported at 5:45 a.m. that an attempted coup had taken 
place.140 The Tudeh daily Shojat published a report arguing (accurately) that 
it had been a U.S.-supported plot to replace Mosaddeq.141 The government 
arrested several of the military officers involved in the coup attempt and 
initiated a citywide manhunt for Zahedi. Government forces arrested Court 
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Minister Amini, the shah’s personal secretary Ernest Perron, and dozens of 
others.142 Foreign Minister Hossein Fatemi gave a press conference at which 
he denounced the opposition and the shah: “the people . . . ​want to drag 
you from behind your desk to the gallows,” he declared.143 Riahi gathered 
the general staff and reaffirmed the army’s loyalty to the people, “[who] 
came before Shah or any particular government.” He refused to comment 
on whether the firmans existed.144 Under interrogation, several of the coup 
participants divulged more details on the scope of the plot, including its con-
nections to foreigners.145

Mattison felt the operation had failed due to “Iranian incapacity for large-
scale organized effort[s].” 146 Wilber later blamed leaks from within the 
coup’s “inept” military contingent.” 147 The operation had failed, in other 
words, because Iranian participants failed to maintain operational secu-
rity. Roosevelt later admitted he only learned of the failure at 5:50 a.m. on 
16 August when he heard the announcement over the radio.148 He then drove 
to Shimran in north Tehran to meet with Zahedi. They agreed the situation 
could be salvaged, provided public opinion could be turned against 
Mosaddeq.149

The shah did not share their confidence. Upon learning of the operation’s 
failure, he flew his wife on a private plane to Baghdad in neighboring Iraq, 
ruled by the pro-British Hashemite monarchy, arriving at 10 a.m. the morn-
ing of 16 August. His departure was not planned: “he just took off,” Roosevelt 
later reported.150 The U.S. ambassador to Iraq, Burton Berry, found the 
shah tired from three sleepless nights, “utterly at a loss to understand why 
the plan failed.” He was now making plans to take his family to Europe, 
where he would be “looking for work . . . ​he has a large family and very 
small means outside of Iran.” Berry told the shah never to reveal that “any 
foreigner had had a part in recent events,” and the shah agreed.151 The shah 
spoke to the Arab press on 17 August and argued that Mosaddeq remained 
in office illegally. Taking no chances, he then left for Rome.

Some National Front leaders interpreted the shah’s flight as an abdica-
tion and argued that the throne was now vacant. The Tudeh called for the 
end of the monarchy and the establishment of a republic.152 Denunciations 
of the shah and calls for a republic also ran in left-leaning papers like Mar-
dom-e Iran.153 In the evening of 16 August, National Front groups rallied out-
side the Majlis building to hear speeches from Fatemi and others. The rally 
was large but orderly, suggesting the government still retained considerable 
support from major bazaar trade unions. The rally ended with a resolution 



to form a regency council. Behind closed doors, Mosaddeq rejected Fate-
mi’s call for a republic, reminding Fatemi that he had taken a vow on the 
Qu’ran to uphold the monarchy.154

Mosaddeq’s insistence on retaining the monarchy stemmed, in part, from 
personal conviction; he supported the institution and did not wish to see it 
eliminated. It was also based on his evaluation of what the Iranian people 
would and would not accept.155 Moreover, Mosaddeq’s position seemed se-
cure. He had vanquished his opponents, the shah had fled, and the army 
appeared loyal. He looked ahead to new Majlis elections and the consolida-
tion of power by the loyal remnants of the National Front, possibly with 
some involvement of the Tudeh Party. What he and his supporters did not 
anticipate was further aggression from the conservative opposition. Appar-
ently, neither Mosaddeq nor his advisors realized that a second coup at-
tempt was underway.156

The Hybrid Coup: Planning a Second Attempt

Roosevelt was not ready to abandon the operation. He proposed a new nar-
rative, that of a royalist countercoup. According to Roosevelt, by reject-
ing the firmans and remaining in office, Mosaddeq had carried out a coup 
against the shah. Pushing this narrative would force Iranians to choose be-
tween Mosaddeq, and by extension the Tudeh Party, and Iran’s monarchy. 
The key, Roosevelt believed, was a strong indication from the shah that Mo-
saddeq was no longer the legitimate prime minister.157 To disseminate this 
version of events, Ardeshir Zahedi met with Kennett Love of the New York 
Times and a journalist from the Associated Press on 16 August and passed 
them copies of the firmans, complete with the shah’s signature. The New 
York Times published the firmans and ran a version of Roosevelt’s counter-
coup narrative that argued Mosaddeq was no longer the legal prime minis-
ter.158 The plan was to inspire opposition to Mosaddeq, particularly within 
the military, where pro-shah sentiment was believed to be strong. Roosevelt 
argued that the shah also had the support of the clerical community and 
proposed a second military coup attempt if popular opposition could be 
rallied.159

Roosevelt suspected skeptics in the State Department would be eager to 
begin new oil negotiations. “Past Dept. of State policy can only end in loss 
of Iran,” he warned.160 Both the CIA and State Department hesitated to sup-
port Roosevelt’s recommendations. State Department guidance noted that 
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unless there was a “real and significant possibility of decisive action in Iran, 
the Department does not wish to become associated with the reckless back-
ing of a hopeless cause.” 161 Similarly, the CIA’s Office of National Estimates 
concluded that Mosaddeq’s non-communist opposition had been dealt “a 
crippling blow.” 162 The British also had doubts. Ambassador Roger Makins 
told Under Secretary Smith that it might be necessary “to cultivate good re-
lations with Musaddiq” in order to keep Iran from going communist.163 
Smith suggested in a note to the president that the United States might have 
to “snuggle up” to Mosaddeq now that the coup had failed.164 On the morn-
ing of 18 August, the CIA cabled Roosevelt: “all operations against Mosaddeq 
should be discontinued.” 165 It is not clear if Roosevelt ignored this instruc-
tion or if new orders were sent later that day or the following morning. He 
later admitted during his debriefing that he declined to communicate fur-
ther with CIA headquarters, focusing instead on continuing the operation.166 
In any event, Roosevelt, Zahedi, and others within the opposition had al-
ready set in motion a second coup attempt scheduled for 19 August.

The failure of the conservative opposition to oust Mosaddeq apparently 
encouraged the Tudeh Party to take action to advance its agenda. As a 
result, the party made tactical errors that ultimately benefited the oppo-
sition.167 The Tudeh-affiliated press began calling for the declaration of a 
republic on 16 August. That night, Tudeh crowds appeared throughout 
the city, throwing stones at mosques and tearing down statues of the 
shah’s father, Reza Shah. Some of these crowds were infiltrated by people 
organized by CIA assets Jalali and Kayvani at a cost of about $50,000.168 
The night’s violence, Fatemi’s denunciation of the shah, and the news 
that the government would soon be holding elections for a new Majlis 
created a confused and volatile situation in Tehran and laid the ground-
work for the events of 19 August.169

After meeting in a “council of war” on 18 August, Zahedi, Roosevelt, Car-
roll, and the Rashidians agreed that a second attempt would be made the 
following day.170 According to Wilber, the plan would be for “soldiers and 
the people to rally in support of their religion and their throne.” The Rashid-
ians and CIA assets Jalali and Keyvani would assemble crowds with help 
from the coup’s clerical allies. Organized mobs would march on the city cen-
ter chanting pro-shah and pro-Islamic slogans. They would be joined by 
pro-shah military units, which would then move against government forces, 
using the crowds as cover.171 The planners also contacted military units out-
side of Tehran led by commanders believed to be loyal to the shah. These 
forces would march on Tehran and assist local units.172 As historian Ali 



Rahnema notes, the plan was a hybrid model, combining the military ele
ment of the first attempt with the “street” forces mustered by the Rashidi-
ans, CIA assets Jalali and Keyvani, and the coup’s clerical allies.173

The coup organizers hired street toughs from the city’s wrestling houses 
(zourkhaneh) and instructed them to organize mobs the following morning. 
The thugs were paid in cash or promised valuable import licenses once the 
coup was successful.174 The propaganda arm of the coup operation dispersed 
materials designed to turn more of the city against the government. These 
included an interview allegedly given by General Zahedi, though in fact 
given by his son Ardeshir to New York Times correspondent Kennett Love, 
arguing the firmans made Mosaddeq’s government illegitimate, as well as 
copies of the firmans themselves, which were printed in large numbers and 
distributed throughout the city by Jalali and Keyvani.175 According to Roo
sevelt, these activities had “a tremendous effect,” particularly in the army.176 
To muster more force behind the demonstrations, Ayatollah Behbehani so-
licited support from Ayatollah Borujerdi, requesting he issue a fatwa de-
nouncing communism and Mosaddeq’s rejection of the firmans. There is no 
record that Iran’s most important cleric responded. Although Borujerdi re-
leased a decree calling for all Iranians to support the shah after the coup 
had succeeded, it appeared too late to influence the events of 19 August.177

After the failure of the first attempt, Henderson, who had been in Beirut 
awaiting the outcome of the operation, returned to Iran and participated 
in the planning for a second attempt to remove Mosaddeq. In an hour-long 
meeting with Mosaddeq the evening of 18 August, Henderson complained 
about reports of violence against Americans in Tehran and elsewhere. Mo-
saddeq reportedly replied that such attacks were “almost inevitable,” lead-
ing Henderson to threaten to withdraw the U.S. military advisory and Point 
Four missions from Iran unless the government took action to protect Amer-
ican citizens. According to Henderson, Mosaddeq agreed to ensure the 
safety of U.S. citizens and take the necessary steps to restore order. Mosad-
deq explained the Majlis had been dissolved because at least thirty depu-
ties “had been bought outright by the British.” Dissolving the assembly was 
the only way to prevent further British interference. Henderson then asked 
about the effort “to replace him with General Zahedi.” Mosaddeq replied 
that the British had prompted the shah to send Nassiri to arrest him. Mo-
saddeq said he had seen no firmans, but in his view the existence of such 
documents was immaterial because the shah’s powers were “ceremonial.” 
The meeting ended with a tense exchange over the presence of “political 
refugees” at the U.S. embassy.178
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Henderson later claimed that the prime minister phoned the chief of 
police and ordered the streets cleared of demonstrators during their meet-
ing. Other accounts confirm that the order came after or during their meeting, 
implying that Henderson’s threats convinced the prime minister to move 
against the Tudeh.179 Whether Mosaddeq acted in response to Henderson’s 
threats is difficult to determine, but the prime minister ordered the streets 
of Tehran cleared that night. Henderson later reported that police and mil-
itary units fanned out across the city, using brutal methods against any-
one chanting pro-Tudeh, pro-republic, or anti-shah slogans. Tehran was 
engulfed in clouds of tear gas, as security forces clashed with the Tudeh.180 
In his debriefing, Roosevelt called the action “a spontaneous thing” that 
gave the operation “tremendous encouragement,” and argued that it dem-
onstrated the depths of anti-Tudeh and pro-shah sentiment within the se-
curity forces.181 Ironically, Mosaddeq’s decision to crack down on the Tudeh, 
which illustrated his anti-communism and his desire for U.S. support, 
helped seal his fate and allowed the coup to succeed.

The Second Attempt

On the morning of 19 August, the center of Tehran was quiet. Neither the Tu-
deh nor the National Front was present, both having suffered from the 
previous night’s crackdown. The opposition, meanwhile, mobilized its street 
assets. In the south of the city, crowds gathered under the direction of thugs 
hired by the coup planners. Later in the morning a prison break released 
hundreds of other ruffians, including popular zourkhaneh fighter Sha’ban 
“The Brainless” Jafari. The Rashidians and Jalali/Keyvani contributed to 
these crowds, which included elements of the Pan-Iranist and SUMKA par-
ties, groups the CIA had infiltrated during tpbedamn operations.182 The 
crowds numbered between 1,000 and 2,000 individuals. Precisely who led 
the organizing is not clear. It is likely that all the coup’s participants worked 
together to amass the mobs, with some encouragement (material and other
wise) from British and American agents.183

These groups were initially “disorganized and milling about aimlessly” 
until people with prior knowledge of the coup began directing crowds toward 
targets in the city’s center.184 Around 9 a.m. Riahi ordered troops to disperse 
the crowds, but most of the officers in charge of the effort were reluctant to 
act. “We had no dispute with the protesters,” explained one commander, 
who dismissed his troops rather than proceed with aggressive action.185 



Tehran’s chief of police also declined to put down the demonstrations, which 
began to swell in size by midday, chanting “Marg bar Mosaddeq! Zendebad 
shah!” [Down with Mosaddeq! Long live the shah!]. Meeting no police or 
military resistance, the crowds marched on the center of Tehran.186 They 
were joined by units that distributed weapons, allowing the crowd to occupy 
government buildings. Trucks and jeeps brought reinforcements from south 
Tehran, and by 10:00 a.m. police and soldiers joined the crowds, allowing 
them to overpower government forces guarding the ministerial offices.187

Aided by military units and meeting very little resistance, the crowds 
set to work destroying anything associated with the Mosaddeq govern-
ment. They ransacked the offices of Bakhtar-e Emruz, the Third Force, and 
the Iran Party.188 By noon the crowds and military units moved toward 
more heavily guarded targets, including Mosaddeq’s residence.189 Intense 
fighting ensued as royalist forces clashed with government troops. Tehran 
Radio, a crucial prize necessary to solidify the coup’s success outside of 
Tehran, fell at 2:12 p.m. The station had been playing music and reporting 
on grain prices all morning, but after the takeover it began broadcasting 
pro-shah messages, including a reading of the firmans.190

At this point Roosevelt traveled from the embassy to Zahedi’s safe 
house.191 He assisted the general in finding a suitable escort to the radio sta-
tion. Zahedi left on a tank and arrived at the radio station in the after
noon.192 At 5:25 p.m., Zahedi delivered an address that included a message 
to pro-shah units outside the capital. Colonel Teymur Bakhtiar in Kerman-
shah had mobilized his armored brigade and made for Tehran, passing 
through Hamadan and breaking up a Tudeh rally then in progress.193 Roo
sevelt sent a cable to the CIA: “overthrow of Mossadeq appears on verge 
of success.” 194 The embassy reported “truckloads of soldiers, civilians, and 
six tanks seen roaming the city.” 195 Other accounts put the number of royal-
ist tanks at twenty-four, while the government mustered only five.196

Within several hours the remaining National Front positions collapsed. 
Riahi surrendered in the late afternoon. Though they initially repulsed the 
royalists, heavy fire from Sherman tanks forced the troops guarding Mo-
saddeq’s residence to surrender.197 Mosaddeq escaped as the mob ransacked 
his house, but the police captured him and several of his advisors the next 
day.198 By the evening all the major government institutions were in the 
hands of the coup’s participants and Zahedi appeared to be in “definite con-
trol” of Tehran.199 Estimates put the day’s casualties at around 100–300 
dead and injured.200
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Accounting for Success and Assigning Agency

How did the coup attempt on 19 August—28 Mordad, according to the Ira
nian calendar—succeed after the failure three days earlier? Who overthrew 
Mosaddeq: was it foreign agents, indigenous Iranian actors, or a combina-
tion of both? In memoirs and interviews, Ardeshir Zahedi contended that 
the events of 19 August were the result of spontaneous action without any 
foreign element.201 Darioush Bayandor, a former diplomat and official in the 
shah’s government, argues that the 16 August operation constituted the end 
of U.S. involvement.202 Historian Ray Takeyh admits that Mosaddeq’s Ira
nian opposition conspired with Anglo-American agents, but emphasizes 
local agency over the foreign contribution, concluding “it was more an Ira
nian plot than an American one.” 203 The United States denied official in-
volvement in the coup. In a telegram on 20 August that summarized the 
previous day’s events, Henderson avoided any mention of U.S. involvement, 
probably to provide a sanitized official record.204

While it is clear that the coup would not have succeeded without the ac-
tive participation of Mosaddeq’s Iranian opposition, accounts that ignore or 
minimize the role of U.S. and British covert operatives are not credible.205 
The United States contributed significantly to the coup before, during, and 
after the operation. This includes the production and distribution of propa-
ganda designed to undermine Mosaddeq and exaggerate the Tudeh threat, 
as well as involvement in organizing the crowds that contributed to the 
violence of 17–18 August.206 The United States used its contacts within 
the Iranian military and information provided by the British to establish a 
military secretariat for Zahedi, enlisting officers believed to hold pro-shah 
or anti-Mosaddeq sentiments.207 Roosevelt ensured that copies of the 
shah’s firmans were delivered to press correspondents, published in Teh-
ran’s newspapers, and publicized abroad. Zahedi and others were given 
sanctuary at American residences. Had Zahedi been discovered and cap-
tured, the coup probably would have fallen apart, because the firmans 
signed by the shah named Zahedi as prime minister and could not be al-
tered.208 The shah would not have participated in the coup had the United 
States not been involved. Without the direct participation of the shah, it is 
unlikely either Zahedi or Kashani would have succeeded in removing Mo-
saddeq, as neither possessed sufficient popular backing to manage such an 
operation without the shah’s support.

The British also played an important role. Their network in Iran, which 
they passed to the CIA in spring 1953, was broad and included elements from 



the clergy, the bazaar, the Majlis, and the military. The precise extent of 
this network is difficult to determine since the British government has re-
fused to declassify documents related to intelligence operations. American 
coordination ensured that British assets were used along with CIA forces, 
while visits from U.S. proxies reassured the shah of U.S. and British sup-
port, thus ensuring his cooperation in the first coup attempt. Events like the 
18 August “council of war” illustrate the U.S. role as an organizing agent 
that could bring together the clerical, military, and civilian components of 
the coup operation. Plans for the military mobilization had been “thor-
oughly laid” before 19 August, indicating the “multifaceted nature” of the 
operation.209

Once news of the coup’s success reached Washington on 19 August, the 
United States moved immediately to support Zahedi’s regime with economic 
aid.210 Zahedi received $5 million in cash from the CIA and $45 million 
in emergency aid in September. The United States would dispense nearly 
$1 billion in economic and military aid to Iran over the course of the next 
decade.211 To not count this expense as part of the total cost of the opera-
tion ignores the significance American policymakers placed on such aid. 
While it is possible, though highly improbable, that the coup would have 
succeeded without U.S. involvement, it is unlikely the Zahedi government 
would have survived without the assistance of the U.S. government.

Foreign actors worked with Iranian elements to bring about the over-
throw of Mosaddeq’s government. They were assisted in this venture by a 
combination of skill, luck, and miscalculations by their opponents. The Tu-
deh Party’s demonstrations on 17–18 August resulted in a violent crackdown 
by Tehran’s police and the military that put the party out of action.212 After 
the failed coup of 16 August, Mosaddeq, Riahi, and others did not antici-
pate another attempt. According to Sanjabi, Mosaddeq refused to call out 
National Front or Tudeh demonstrators, fearing it would lead to civil war.213 
At an October 2003 conference at Georgetown University, Nasser Jahan-
bani, a relative of Mossadeq and son of one of the shah’s military support-
ers, confirmed that Mosaddeq rejected requests by Tudeh leaders to provide 
them with arms to resist the coup.214 The diverse nature of the 19 August 
operation—essentially a military coup that used the mobs created by 
Kashani, Behbehani, the Rashidians, and Jalali/Keyvani as cover—caught 
the Mosaddeq government by surprise. Mosaddeq’s decision to clear the 
streets on 18 August may have been due, at least in part, to pressure from 
Henderson, who was aware of plans to launch a second effort to overthrow 
the government.
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Regardless of whether the U.S. or British involvement in the coup deter-
mined its outcome, that outcome was precisely what the United States and 
Great Britain had intended. Mosaddeq was gone, replaced by a military re-
gime tied to the shah. While fears of Iran turning communist or collapsing 
into anarchy played a part in motivating the coup, the immediate goal of 
the operation was to end the oil crisis. American policymakers worried that 
without a functioning oil industry and the benefits of revenues generated 
through the operations of the major oil companies, Iran would succumb to 
internal instability and eventually collapse. Once Mosaddeq was out of 
power, the American and British governments set about bringing the long-
running nationalization crisis to an end, completing the victory they 
achieved on the streets of Tehran on 28 Mordad.



7	 Oil and Autocracy

Although the 28 Mordad coup successfully removed Mosaddeq, it did not 
mark the end of the struggle for Iran. The new government had to establish 
itself and deal with pressing economic and political problems, most impor-
tantly settling the oil dispute and consolidating its position against the Tu-
deh and remnants of the National Front. In addition, the shah was determined 
to reassert his control over the military and play a much larger role in the 
government than before the crisis.1 An oil settlement faced many other ob-
stacles including British determination to get the best deal possible for AIOC, 
U.S. and British efforts to protect their oil interests in other nations, the state 
of the global oil economy, and the influence of the major oil companies.

Just as the shah and his allies had needed U.S. help in ousting Mosaddeq, 
they needed U.S. support to overcome both internal and external obstacles 
in the wake of the coup. The United States used its leverage to accomplish 
its own agenda. U.S. officials wanted a stable, prosperous, and Western-
aligned Iran as a barrier to the expansion of Soviet influence in the Persian 
Gulf. Rejecting the movement toward constitutional democracy, the United 
States backed an authoritarian government and helped the shah and Za-
hedi manipulate elections to ensure a compliant Majlis. In exchange, the 
shah and Zahedi accepted an oil agreement that effectively reversed nation-
alization. Although the United States forced the British to moderate their 
demands, it also insisted on an oil settlement that supported the interests of 
the international oil companies and was compatible with the privately man-
aged postwar petroleum order. The result was an agreement that ensured 
Western control of Iran’s oil for another two decades while providing the 
basis for an authoritarian state dominated by the shah and the military.

A New Regime Takes Over

For the Eisenhower administration, the first step toward stabilizing Iran was 
to provide the new government with economic assistance. Henry A. By-
roade, the influential head of the Bureau for Near Eastern, South Asian, 
and African Affairs, recommended that the United States move rapidly to 
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provide “substantial” aid to the new government.2 Conceding that Iran 
needed economic assistance, the British warned that generous or long-term 
aid would remove incentives for the Iranian government to reach an oil set-
tlement.3 U.S. Ambassador Loy W. Henderson and other U.S. officials ar-
gued that Iran did not need elaborate social or economic programs before 
an oil settlement was concluded. They wanted the government to focus on 
suppressing the Tudeh, the National Front, and other sources of dissent, to 
ensure it would be able to pass an oil agreement.4

Zahedi sent a formal request for assistance to President Dwight D. Eisen-
hower on 26 August, assuring the president that his government would 
settle disputes with other countries “in accordance with accepted principles 
of international intercourse,” a veiled reference to the oil dispute. Eisen-
hower carefully repeated this assurance in his response the same day. Draw-
ing on a study completed before the coup and recommendations from CIA 

Ambassador Loy Henderson (second from left) sits with General Fazlollah Zahedi 
(second from right) in the aftermath of the August coup. Seated with them are 
William E. Warne (first on right), head of the Point Four technical cooperation 
mission to Iran, and Norman Paul (first on left) from the Foreign Operations 
Administration. Photo by William Arthur Cram.
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officials, the United States rushed $45 million in interim emergency aid 
to Iran, an amount that, in addition to existing aid plans, was calculated to 
keep the government going for around a year in the absence of an oil set-
tlement. The aid would be disbursed in monthly packages of $5 million.5

The new regime moved swiftly to suppress the Tudeh. The party had not 
mobilized its members on 19 August, but after the coup it had begun to col-
lect weapons and hold meetings among its leadership.6 Government secu-
rity forces raided party cells and shut down party publications. By late 
September the government had arrested some 1,300 Tudeh members and 
discharged around 3,000 government workers suspected of harboring Tu-
deh sympathies.7 The new government also took action against the National 
Front, arresting and imprisoning prominent figures such as Khalil Maleki, 
Ali Shayegan, Kazem Hassibi, and Karim Sanjabi. Foreign Minister Hossein 
Fatemi evaded capture for several months but was eventually found and ex-
ecuted in November 1954.8 Former National Front figures Hossein Makki, 
Mozaffar Baqa’i, and Ayatollah Abolqassem Kashani, who had broken from 
Mosaddeq and cooperated with the coup, remained active in politics, though 
the military’s crackdown on street activities blunted Kashani’s principal 
source of power, and his influence within Iran’s political system declined 
rapidly.9

The staunchly pro-Mosaddeq and well-armed Qashqa’i tribe represented 
a key source of potential opposition to the new regime. While the Qashqa’i 
lacked the strength to march on Tehran, a major uprising in the southern 
provinces would require a military response and might motivate uprisings 
elsewhere. On 3 September, Zahedi sent Makki to meet with the tribe’s 
leaders in the southern city of Shiraz and negotiate a truce.10 The director 
of the U.S. technical cooperation mission in southern Iran also met with 
the Qashqa’i chiefs and assured them of U.S. support.11 The U.S. embassy 
concluded that the tribe would not take action against the new govern-
ment “unless they are subjected to punitive action.” 12 On 23 September, 
Qashqa’i leaders relayed a message to the CIA station. If the shah pardoned 
Mosaddeq or allowed him to peacefully retire to his estate, the Qashqa’i 
would be prepared to support the new government. Despite frequent ru-
mors of a Qashqa’i alliance with the Tudeh, the tribe took no action against 
Zahedi or the shah.13

Mosaddeq posed a particular difficulty for the new regime. The shah 
wanted to have the deposed prime minister tried for treason, but he and 
Ambassador Henderson worried about putting Mosaddeq back in the spot-
light and making him a martyr for the nationalist cause.14 In contrast, 
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Kermit Roosevelt believed that delay in bringing Mosaddeq and his advi-
sors to trial was encouraging the Tudeh and National Front remnants to 
mobilize against the government.15 Roy Melbourne, first secretary and 
counselor of the U.S. embassy, argued that the government should “convict 
Mosaddeq and his advisors of their crimes as soon as possible” as a way 
to combat growing public support for Mosaddeq.16 The shah eventually de
cided that Mosaddeq should stand trial before a military tribunal, though 
his trial did not begin until November.17

The shah and Zahedi were unsure of what to do with the Majlis. A rump 
parliament of only twenty-one members remained from the Mosaddeq 
era, and the shah would need to dissolve the assembly, hold elections, and 
convene a new Majlis to pass legislation, including, eventually, an oil deal. 
Although Henderson warned that the government could run into prob
lems if elections were not held quickly, the shah argued that it would be 
“dangerous” to hold elections without a substantial economic development 
program underway. Concerned that the shah’s argument was a ploy to se-
cure more financial assistance, Henderson stated that the United States 
would not provide more aid until an oil agreement had been reached and 
ratified by the Majlis. Henderson suggested that that “an undemocratic 
independent Iran” would be preferable to a “permanent undemocratic Iran 
behind [the] iron curtain.” 18

Byroade noted that the shah was “deeply distrustful” of strong leaders 
and would probably undermine Zahedi.19 Despite Henderson’s advice, the 
shah worked actively to constrain Zahedi’s authority, particularly in mili-
tary matters, and lobbied constantly for more military aid, arguing that 
“his” army should be strong enough to resist a Soviet invasion.20 Some U.S. 
officials worried that a rift between the shah and Zahedi would imperil the 
new government’s shaky hold on power.21 Although he recognized that 
the shah was subordinating Zahedi, Secretary of State John Foster Dulles 
believed it was important for the shah to cement his “personal hold over 
the people.” 22 In general, U.S. officials like Henderson and Dulles focused 
on stabilizing Iran and did not oppose the shah’s efforts to reimpose a form 
of autocracy modeled after his father, Reza Shah.

Restarting Oil Negotiations

While the U.S. assisted with the shah and Zahedi’s consolidation of power 
within Iran, discussions between the United States and Britain focused on 
how best to resolve the oil dispute. At a meeting of the National Security 
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Council on 27 August, the CIA deputy director said there was “real hope” 
for stability in Iran. The most urgent problems facing the new government 
were economic and financial, and the best way to address them was through 
settlement of the oil dispute. Secretary Dulles believed that the coup had 
given the United States a “second chance” in Iran and suggested that the 
president appoint a special representative to take charge of finding a solu-
tion to the oil dispute.23

The British presented a paper to the State Department on 11 September 
outlining their position. Any settlement of the oil dispute had to include 
compensation to AIOC not only for physical assets but also for loss of its con-
tractual rights under the concession—the “loss of enterprise” principle that 
the British had insisted upon during the package proposal talks of the pre-
vious winter. The British also insisted that Iran should not receive better 
terms than its neighbors, which had signed fifty-fifty profit-sharing 
agreements with the major companies. In addition, any new arrangement 
must not damage AIOC markets or Britain’s foreign exchange position, 
which in practice meant guaranteeing AIOC rights to buy a large portion of 
Iranian exports. Drawing on a Foreign Office study, the paper suggested that 
the February 1953 proposals, which provided for “adequate” compensation 
and access to Iranian oil without the complications and costs of restarting 
the industry, offered the best starting point for negotiating a settlement. 
Henderson agreed that it would be “fatal” for Zahedi to accept anything that 
appeared “less advantageous” than the offers made to Mosaddeq.24

Herbert Hoover Jr., son of the former president and a prominent oil con
sultant, who the State Department selected to lead U.S. efforts to facilitate 
a settlement between Iran and Britain, opposed using the February propos-
als as a basis for a settlement.25 In response to the British paper, Hoover 
argued that when those proposals were drafted, alternative sources of 
oil and refinery construction programs were not fully developed and the oil 
industry wanted access to substantial amounts of oil from Iran. World mar-
kets now faced an oversupply of oil, and the “complete cooperation of the 
entire petroleum industry” would be needed to fit substantial amounts of 
Iranian oil into world markets without causing massive disruption. Hoover’s 
solution was the establishment of a new company, half-owned by the major 
U.S. companies and half-owned by Shell and AIOC, with AIOC’s share no 
larger than 25 percent, to operate the Iranian industry. The other compa-
nies would pay AIOC for their share, thus eliminating the need for com-
pensation payments by Iran to AIOC. The new company would exercise 
“effective management” of all operations and control all producing and 
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refining facilities. Iran would receive 50 percent of profits after the deduc-
tion of operating expenses and depreciation. Hoover estimated that the new 
company could probably find markets for around 400,000 barrels of oil a 
day (bpd) the first year, which would provide Iran with around $100 mil-
lion in revenue.26

Hoover’s recommendations were based not only on the “realities” of the 
world oil market, but also on concerns about the security of Western invest-
ment in raw materials in the Global South. He told a British delegation in 
Washington that U.S. oil companies believed the February proposals, which 
accepted Iranian control of the oil industry if Iran paid acceptable compen-
sation to AIOC, would have “extremely serious repercussions” on operations 
elsewhere in the world and would lead to nationalization of most Middle 
Eastern and South American sources of oil “within a relatively short time.” 
Although he recognized that his proposal entailed at least a “partial nega-
tion of nationalization,” it was “highly doubtful” that the oil companies 
would accept a settlement that “placed a premium upon nationalization” 
and threatened the loss of concessions elsewhere.27

The British were open to Hoover’s idea of setting up “an international 
syndicate” to run the Iranian oil industry. They had agreed to the February 
proposals only under pressure from the United States, in the belief that they 
would be rejected by Mosaddeq due to their insistence on compensation for 
lost profits. Under Secretary of the Ministry of Fuel and Power Victor But-
ler, who led a British delegation visiting Washington, noted that AIOC 
“in its heart of hearts” recognized that it could not regain its previous posi-
tion in Iran. Bringing in other companies would provide additional markets 
for Iranian oil and spread the cost of renovating the Iranian oil industry, an 
important consideration since such investment would entail substantial dol-
lar costs.28 At the Foreign Ministers Conference in London on 17 October, 
Dulles told Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden that if the shah’s government 
collapsed, the West would not get another chance in Iran. Eden agreed that 
Hoover should go to Iran to explore possible solutions but insisted that the 
immediate aim should be to restore relations between Britain and Iran so 
that Britain could negotiate directly with Iran.29

Hoover arrived in Iran on 17 October and briefed Zahedi on the global 
oil supply and demand situation. His presentation, which he also made to 
the shah and to an oil commission appointed by Zahedi, made it clear that 
Iran had limited leverage and would have to defer to the major international 
oil companies. There was a “substantial surplus” of oil in the Middle East; 
any one of the other three main producers in the region—Saudi Arabia, 
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Kuwait, and Iraq—had sufficient reserves to meet any foreseeable demand 
for Middle East oil “entirely by itself.” No company would pay Iran more 
than it paid other countries in the Middle East. If Iran wanted to export 
“an appreciable amount” of oil, it would have to work with the large com-
panies that already had stakes in Middle East oil fields, because smaller 
companies did not have large outlets available. In contrast, the major com-
panies could provide markets for around 20 to 40 million tons annually 
(between 408,219 and 816,438 bpd) within three years, which would pro-
vide Iran with around $100 million to $200 million a year at prevailing 
prices. Although the Abadan refinery, the largest in the world, was a source 
of pride for Iranians, it was outdated, and the trend in refining had been 
toward refineries located close to consumption centers rather than in pro-
ducing countries, so that the demand for refined products from the Middle 
East, and consequently the income from refinery operations there, would 
decline.30 Hoover and Ambassador Henderson stressed that Iran could not 
expect to receive additional aid from the United States and warned that fail-
ure to reach a settlement of the oil issue “within next few months” would 
bring disaster to the country.31

Though it was dependent on U.S. support, the Iranian government was 
intent on securing the best possible terms. On 1 November, Foreign Minis-
ter Abdullah Entezam gave Hoover an unsigned statement outlining Iran’s 
position. The opening paragraph excoriated AIOC for “its uniformly colo-
nial aims in Iran” and concluded that it was “impossible for the former com
pany to return to Iran.” The statement endorsed the idea of working with a 
“group of large international companies having previous experience” in the 

Middle East and World crude oil production, 1950–1955 (barrels per day)

Iran Iraq Kuwait
Saudi 
Arabia

Total 
Middle 
East*

United 
States Total World

1950 664,315 136,235 344,443 546,704 1,755,786 5,407,052 10,418,073
1951 338,389 178,416 561,397 761,542 1,919,569 6,158,112 11,733,504
1952 21,369 386,575 749,131 827,016 2,083,832 6,273,523 12,379,756
1953 25,753 576,076 861,895 844,641 2,423,934 6,457,759 13,146,438
1954 58,904 625,841 959,772 961,213 2,736,802 6,342,433 13,747,780
1955 330,306 688,235 1,103,882 977,161 3,247,997 6,806,652 15,413,838

*Total also includes Bahrain, Qatar, and Turkey.
Source: DeGolyer and MacNaughton, Twentieth Century Petroleum Statistics:  

Historical Data.
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region to transport and distribute Iranian oil purchased from the National 
Iranian Oil Company (NIOC), which would oversee production. AIOC could 
participate but would not be permitted to dominate the group, while total 
British participation could not exceed 50 percent. The companies purchas-
ing Iranian oil would be responsible for paying AIOC compensation, and 
“no claims for loss of profits should be taken into account.” Finally, the state-
ment sought to finesse the question of fifty-fifty profit sharing by stipulat-
ing that the Iranian government’s income “should at no time be less that 
the maximum accruing to others,” in effect making fifty-fifty a floor rather 
than a ceiling.32

Hoover arrived in London on 4 November and briefed the British gov-
ernment and AIOC on his talks in Iran. The British regarded the Iranian 
memorandum as “entirely unacceptable.” The British proposed a limited bi-
lateral settlement that left Iran in control of its oil industry in return for 
heavy compensation and British handling of Iranian exports. Echoing Am-
bassador Henderson, Hoover warned that any attempt at a bilateral settle-
ment would lead to disaster for the Iranian government and the shah, as it 
would prompt an immediate public response. He also warned that allow-
ing Iran control over production and refining would give an “irresistible 
impulse” to nationalization in other oil producers and repeated his earlier 
proposal for a consortium of companies to run Iran’s oil industry. Hoover 
argued that neither the Iranian government nor public opinion in Iran 
would accept more than 25  percent for AIOC or more than a total of 
50 percent participation by British companies, but the British insisted that 
51 percent British participation in any consortium was the minimum they 
could accept. Otherwise, it would establish a precedent for countries to 
dispossess one foreign company and transfer its rights to a foreign consor-
tium of their own choosing.33 Hoover pointed out that Zahedi had refused 
deals with U.S. independents and Italian and Japanese companies, but he 
might change his mind if he could not reach a settlement with AIOC.34 
There were dangers, therefore, in pushing Iran’s government too far past 
the point that public opinion would accept.

Although AIOC and British officials often stated that the best solution 
would be for AIOC to regain its previous position in Iran, they knew this 
was not possible. They recognized they could achieve their key goals through 
a consortium with the major U.S. oil companies, though they insisted that 
AIOC have a 50 percent share. The other consortium members could help 
finance the heavy capital expenditures needed to reactivate the oil indus-
try and modernize the Abadan refinery and would have to pay AIOC for 
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their share in the consortium, which would help ensure fair compensation 
for AIOC’s original concession. They possessed existing marketing networks 
needed to handle Iranian exports, and they could reduce production in their 
other holdings to make room for Iranian output.35 The British insisted that 
a resumption of diplomatic relations had to precede any substantive oil 
talks. While there was strong opposition to resuming relations, particularly 
from former National Front leaders like Kashani, the United States con-
vinced the shah and Zahedi that no progress could be made on the oil issue 
until diplomatic relations were resumed. The Iranians acquiesced, and Iran 
and Britain resumed diplomatic relations on 5 December.36

Returning to Autocracy

By late October, U.S. officials had become concerned that pressures were 
building on Iran’s new government. Earlier in the month, a group of former 
National Front members had organized a brief boycott of the Tehran bazaar 
in opposition to Zahedi, and pro-Mosaddeq remnants of the National Front 
had organized a new coalition, the “National Resistance Movement,” fo-
cused on petitioning for Mosaddeq’s release.37 Kermit Roosevelt warned 
that the shah’s position was “by no means secure,” pointing to the “squall 
of opposition” from disgruntled elites and the remnants of the Tudeh.38 Ten-
sions with the Qashqa’i also flared up, prompting Zahedi to send represen-
tatives to negotiate a new accord with the tribe’s leaders near Shiraz.39

A National Intelligence Estimate produced on 16 November concluded 
that despite these problems, the chances of a “relatively moderate govern-
ment” remaining in power in Iran throughout 1954 were good. While con-
frontations between Zahedi and the shah had become fierce, they had not 
yet impaired the military’s ability to suppress the Tudeh or maintain inter-
nal security. Zahedi’s cabinet was dominated by the “old ruling class,” how-
ever, and the government was unpopular and incompetent. The oil issue 
was still explosive, and no Iranian regime could survive if it appeared to be 
compromising the provisions of the oil nationalization law or retreating far 
from Mosaddeq’s key demands. Henderson argued that although an author-
itarian regime could force through an unpopular oil settlement, it would 
not last long if it did so. From the U.S. point of view, a satisfactory oil set-
tlement was the single most important element in stabilizing Iran.40

After conversations with the shah about military assistance, Henderson 
recommended that the United States provide more aid so that Iranian po-
lice and military forces would be capable of delaying enemy forces in the 
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event of an invasion as well as maintaining internal order. Roosevelt agreed, 
noting that increased aid would “cement the loyalty of the strengthened 
Army” and bolster the shah, “the one element . . . ​we feel is unequivocally 
committed to the West.” 41 Drawing on these recommendations, the CIA and 
the State Department in mid-November called for a change in U.S. policy 
to facilitate the rearming and reorganization of the army so that it would be 
capable of “strong withdrawal-delaying action” should Iran be invaded by 
“the armed forces of international Communism.” These changes would 
also “increase the prestige, influence and actual power of the Shah,” who 
the United States considered “the most effective instrument for maintain-
ing and strengthening Iran’s orientation toward the West and resisting pres-
sures from within or without by international Communism.” 42

After many weeks of delay, Mosaddeq’s trial began on 8 November. He 
was charged with treason, illegally printing currency and destroying the 
economy, subverting the constitution, and leading his followers into insur-
rection.43 Mosaddeq used his oratorial skills and expert knowledge of Iran’s 
constitution to discredit the government’s case against him, turning the trial 
into a public circus. “Throughout my whole life I have had only one aim,” 
he declared, “that the people of Iran enjoy independence and dignity.” He 
went on to add that his struggle against foreign powers and the major oil 
companies “has broken, and will break, the chain of colonialism in the 
Middle East.” 44 The trial ended on 21 December, and rather than follow 
the spectacle with a severe punishment, the shah chose to have Mosaddeq 
sentenced to three years in prison, followed by house arrest on his estate in 
Ahmadabad.45

The shah used the occasion of Mosaddeq’s sentencing to issue a firman 
dissolving the Majlis and calling for new elections. He assured Ambassa-
dor Henderson that the elections would be carefully managed so that 
government-supported candidates won their seats.46 Though he complained 
Zahedi supported candidates whose only qualification seemed to be loyalty 
to him, the shah was also “pulling strings” to ensure the election of people 
he trusted.47 Henderson concluded that it might be necessary for the em-
bassy to “make certain moves” toward getting more suitable candidates on 
the ballot.48 The CIA station in Tehran was “very active” in selecting candi-
dates, and was confident the agency could produce a Majlis “favorable to 
our purposes.” 49

With the Majlis dissolved, former deputies such as Makki, Kashani, and 
Baqa’i lost their parliamentary immunity. The shah threatened to arrest 
them if they became too critical of the government.50 The Qashqa’i sent a 
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delegation to Tehran in December to make their peace with the new gov-
ernment, and in early January agreed to swear oaths of loyalty to the shah.51 
On the other hand, CIA head Allen W. Dulles warned the National Security 
Council at the end of December that while the government had arrested 
some Tudeh leaders and many party members, it had made little or no pro
gress on crucial economic and social reforms. Although the Iranian econ-
omy was doing reasonably well due to U.S. aid, long-term stability hinged 
on achieving an oil settlement that allowed Iran to receive substantial rev-
enues from its oil industry.52

Getting the Companies and the British on Board

In late November and early December, Hoover met with British officials. He 
warned that the Iranian government would exhaust U.S. emergency aid by 
the end of March and was likely to be overthrown if it could not show pro
gress on an oil settlement. Hoover again pointed out that independent and 
state-supported oil companies were trying to gain access to Iranian oil. So 
far, Zahedi had rebuffed them, but at some point, Iran could make deals 
with such companies. In meetings with Hoover, Eden conceded that AIOC 
probably would not be able to regain its previous position in Iran and that 
discussions about setting up a consortium should begin.53

The major U.S. companies claimed that they did not want to participate 
in a consortium to run the Iranian oil industry and insisted that they would 
only do so at the request of the U.S. government. The U.S. companies prob
ably preferred that AIOC resume its exclusive position in Iran, which would 
leave AIOC responsible for cutting production in its other holdings and mak-
ing the investments necessary to modernize the Abadan refinery. The U.S. 
companies had access to plenty of oil from other sources and did not need 
oil from Iran, nor were they interested in investing the capital needed to 
restart Abadan, a refinery which changes in the industry had made obso-
lete. On the other hand, they recognized that Iran was unlikely to allow 
restoration of AIOC’s original position and were concerned that without a 
settlement, Iran could cut prices and sell enough oil to threaten the price 
structure and force them to cut back production in their holdings in the re-
gion. A settlement with Iran that came with short-term costs was better 
than the alternative of leaving Iranian oil outside their control. Given this 
danger, they were willing to participate.54

The U.S. companies were also concerned that joining an international 
consortium to control Iranian production would strengthen the Justice 
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Department’s case in its antitrust suit. In mid-November, Hoover had in-
formed the Department of Justice that the only solution to the oil dispute 
that would provide revenues sufficient to stabilize Iran would involve oper-
ating and offtake agreements among the major international oil companies 
to integrate Iranian oil into Eastern Hemisphere markets. Although this 
could raise antitrust concerns, Hoover argued that forcing Iranian oil into 
Western Hemisphere markets, which independent companies were likely 
to do, would result in “severe economic and political repercussions.” 55 After 
AIOC’s chairman William J. Fraser sent a letter to the heads of the major oil 
companies—Royal Dutch/Shell, Jersey Standard, Socony, SOCAL, the 
Texas Company, and Gulf—on 3 December inviting them to come to London 
for discussions, the companies demanded assurances that participation 
would not expose them to legal problems. The State Department argued 
that a solution to the Iranian problem was in the national interest and that 
participation in the proposed consortium was essential. The Justice De-
partment acquiesced, though it reserved the right to rule on the legality of 
any agreement that might result.56

Joined by principals from the French-owned Compagnie française des 
pétroles (CFP), the heads of the major international oil companies met in 
London for three days of talks beginning 14 December. Hoover attended as 
the U.S. government representative. Fraser informed the assembled execu-
tives that AIOC intended to insist on a 50 percent share in the consortium. 
In addition to compensation from the other companies, Iran would have to 
pay compensation to AIOC. The other companies did not comment on Fra-
ser’s demands but insisted that the consortium had to control production 
and refining as well as distribution and marketing of Iranian oil to protect 
their investment and ensure adequate production to meet their needs. To 
deter other countries from nationalizing their industries, they insisted any 
agreement’s terms should not be more favorable than those in place in other 
countries. The U.S. companies insisted that the U.S. government officially 
request them to participate so they would have some cover against U.S. an-
titrust laws.57

In a 23 December report to the National Security Council on his trip to 
Iran earlier in the month, Vice President Richard Nixon praised Zahedi as 
a “strong man,” but argued that things would be better if the shah exercised 
more leadership. Nixon directed his sharpest criticism at the British, who 
were “showing the same intransigence as before.” The chances of getting an 
oil settlement were slim “unless somebody topside in Britain puts the screws 
on.” 58 The Department of Defense and the Department of the Treasury urged 
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“independent action” by the United States if the British stood in the way 
of an oil settlement. Harold Stassen, director of the Foreign Operations 
Administration, argued that if a settlement were delayed beyond April or 
May of 1954, the United States would risk the stability it had built up 
through its assistance to Iran.59

A National Security Council paper in early January underlined the ur-
gent need for an oil settlement that would allow Iran to receive substantial 
revenues from its oil resources. Without such revenues, the Iranian gov-
ernment would lurch from crisis to crisis, increasing the likelihood of a 
communist takeover. Although continuing substantial U.S. economic and 
military assistance might allow the Iranian government to survive, it could 
also make Iran less interested in an oil settlement and encourage other coun-
tries to emulate Iran and nationalize their oil industries. The United States 
believed that foreign control of Iran’s oil industry was necessary to meet 
Iran’s revenue needs and stressed that a settlement must not establish a pre
cedent harming the international oil industry and U.S. foreign investments 
in natural resources. While the United States would maintain full consulta-
tion with Britain and avoid “unduly impairing” relations, it should not per-
mit Britain to veto any action the United States considered essential. The 
president possessed the authority to grant exceptions to antitrust laws in 
the interest of national security. The report also recommended increased 
U.S. military assistance to Iran to improve the ability of Iran’s armed forces 
to maintain internal security, offer some resistance to external aggression, 
and eventually participate in regional defense plans. Increased military aid 
would also increase the power and prestige of the monarchy. The shah was 
the “most effective instrument for maintaining Iran’s orientation toward the 
West,” and the military was his “only real source of power” remaining in 
the country.60

With the United States urging action and a consensus forming around 
Hoover’s consortium proposal, the British government awaited a report 
from Denis Wright, head of the Economic Relations Department at the For-
eign Office, who had been sent to Iran in mid-December to assess the pros-
pects for an oil settlement. Zahedi, Foreign Minister Entezam, and Minister 
of Court Hossein ‘Ala, who spoke for the shah, told Wright that it would be 
impossible for AIOC’s position to be restored. Consultation with other mem-
bers of the diplomatic community in Tehran revealed near-unanimous 
agreement that AIOC could not reclaim its previous position without trig-
gering massive Iranian backlash. While he recognized that foreign assis-
tance would be necessary for production as well as marketing, Zahedi 
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argued that it would be necessary to “camouflage” foreign control in some 
way. Probed about British compensation demands, Wright declined to 
discuss specific figures but assured Zahedi that Britain had “no desire to 
bleed Persia white.” 61

Wright reported on 7 January that if the Iranian government agreed to 
restore AIOC’s control of Iran’s oil industry, it would be “courting disaster.” 
He recommended that the British government accept a settlement based on 
an international consortium composed of AIOC and the other major oil com-
panies. The cabinet accepted Wright’s recommendation immediately and 
decided to pursue discussions about a consortium, provided AIOC’s share 
was not “materially less than 50 percent.” Fraser told Eden on 8 January 
that it would be a “very serious step” to abandon AIOC’s claim for full res-
titution. Eden, who no doubt had been briefed by the Foreign Office that 
Fraser recognized that AIOC could not regain its previous position in Iran 
but was maintaining the fiction to strengthen his bargaining position, asked 
Fraser if AIOC really wanted to go back into Iran alone rather than sharing 
risks and costs with the other major companies. Fraser admitted that he 
would prefer the “consortium route.” 62 With Hoover’s assistance, Fraser 
drafted an invitation to the other majors and CFP to resume talks on a con-
sortium in London.63

With things moving ahead in London and Tehran, the major companies 
renewed their argument for antitrust protection. Meeting with the secretar-
ies of state, defense, and the treasury on 6 January, company heads warned 
that further progress toward a settlement could be hindered if the U.S. gov-
ernment did not offer full support and protection from antitrust action.64 
Hoover explained to the National Security Council on 21 January that it was 
necessary to allow the five major U.S. oil companies to participate in a con-
sortium to restore the Iranian oil industry because they were the only com-
panies besides Shell that were able to reintegrate Iranian oil into world 
markets without disrupting them.65 After Hoover’s presentation, Chairman 
of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Admiral Arthur W. Radford stated that it was “al-
most impossible to overstate the importance of an Iranian settlement from 
the point of view of national security.” Attorney General Herbert Brownell 
had given them “full clearance” to participate in the consortium on 20 Janu-
ary, and President Eisenhower directed that the record state that the “so-
called cartel case” was “an entirely separate matter from the Proposed 
Iranian Consortium Plan.” The National Security Council agreed to advise 
the attorney general that “the security interests of the United States” re-
quired U.S. companies to participate in a consortium in Iran.66
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Battling the British

Although AIOC’s demand that it be restored to its previous exclusive posi-
tion was largely a ploy to relieve the company (and Fraser) of responsibil-
ity should the final deal prove unsatisfactory, AIOC clearly wanted to 
dominate the consortium. In talks with Hoover and other U.S. government 
officials and with representatives of the other major companies in late 
January, AIOC, with the support of the British government, insisted that it 
have at least a 50  percent share in the consortium. Officials in the U.S. 
government and the other companies felt that 50 percent was too much. A 
long-term solution required the settlement be “defensible” to Iranian public 
opinion, and such a large share for AIOC would allow Iranian nationalists to 
claim the consortium was “indistinguishable” from the old AIOC concession. 
Hoover also warned that AIOC’s demand that Iran make direct compensa-
tion payments to AIOC risked Iran claiming that the payments constituted 
purchase of the concession. In any event, AIOC would receive compensation 
from the consortium members for their shares in the consortium.67

The British were concerned that the distribution of shares in the consor-
tium should not result in U.S. companies replacing AIOC in Iran “in fact or 
in the eyes of the public.” 68 In private, however, AIOC and the British gov-
ernment were prepared to accept a 40 percent share “as a last resort,” so 
long as AIOC was the largest single shareholder.69 On 15 February, the State 
Department recommended rejecting AIOC’s demand for a 50 percent share 
because it would give opponents of the Iranian government a “powerful 
weapon” against a settlement. Dulles assured Eden on 17 February that U.S. 
companies were not trying to gain shares in the consortium at the expense 
of AIOC and agreed that the overall U.S. share in the consortium should not 
be larger than AIOC’s share. Eden agreed that 50 percent for AIOC was 
“probably unobtainable,” but insisted that the overall British share—AIOC 
plus Shell—be around 50 percent.70

The United States issued an aide-mémoire to the British ambassador on 
19 February, stating that negotiations would halt unless the British position 
changed. After further bargaining, the United States told the British that it 
would accept a division of 40 percent for AIOC and the five U.S. companies, 
with most of the remaining 20 percent going to Shell.71 On 2 March, the 
AIOC board agreed to continue negotiations to form a consortium on this 
basis. Reflecting close ties between AIOC and CFP and AIOC’s long-standing 
rivalry with Shell, AIOC offered CFP an 8  percent share, thus reducing 
Shell’s share to 12 percent. Shell was not pleased but accepted the offer to 
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help keep Iranian oil out of “undesirable hands.” Angry at AIOC’s unilat-
eral action, the United States made it clear that it would not accept such a 
large share for CFP. Shell needed crude oil and products more than the 
others and giving it a large share would benefit the position of sterling. 
CFP, on the other hand, had access to plenty of oil through its share in the 
Iraq Petroleum Company, and French authorities had been discriminating 
against U.S. companies in West Africa to gain more outlets for CFP. After the 
British government agreed to cooperate in assuring working out a “suitable” 
distribution of shares between Shell and CFP, negotiations between the con-
sortium members resumed, focusing now on the issue of compensation.72

Despite the agreement on relative shares, AIOC almost brought talks 
to a standstill again with its compensation demands. Fraser argued that 
the other members should pay AIOC approximately £280 million (around 
$784 million) for their 60 percent share in the “oil resources Anglo-Iranian 
has proved and developed.” Fraser also wanted compensation from Iran, 
suggesting that Iran provide AIOC with 110 million tons of “free” oil over 
a twenty-year period, which at current prices (but not costs) would amount 
to about £530 million ($1.484 billion). The U.S. companies and Shell argued 
that AIOC’s price for shares in the consortium was “fantastically unrealistic 
and completely unacceptable.” They also pointed out that a key assump-
tion behind the consortium plan was that if Iran signed an operating 
agreement giving the consortium control over production, refining, and dis-
tribution with fifty-fifty profit sharing, AIOC was not entitled to compensa-
tion from Iran for loss of future profits. In effect, AIOC was demanding to 
be paid twice, once by its partners and then by Iran. Such a solution would 
not be “fair or durable.” 73

Ambassador Henderson felt that Fraser’s demands were “so fantastic and 
lacking in realism” that they were probably a maneuver to force the British 
government to intervene, thus sparing him the blame for not obtaining 
higher compensation for AIOC.74 In response to Hoover’s request that the 
U.S government give Britain a “full and frank statement” of the U.S. posi-
tion, Dulles told the British ambassador that the United States was “deeply 
troubled,” and warned that unless there was a “drastic change” in Fraser’s 
attitude the U.S. government would not oppose U.S. companies breaking 
off negotiations. Such a development might ultimately force the United 
States “to review the whole scope of our Middle East relationships.” Secre-
tary of Defense Charles E. Wilson was so angry at the British that he thought 
the United States should pull out of the talks and take $100 million out of 
U.S. aid to Britain and use it to keep Iran going. The British ambassador 
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warned the Foreign Office that if negotiations broke down American public 
opinion would blame the “obstinacy and unreasonableness” of AIOC and 
would support a much more independent U.S. policy in the Middle East.75

A National Security Council working group report endorsed the decision 
to “use exceptional pressure” to force the British toward an early settlement. 
The working group rejected other “independent actions” such as the U.S. 
government purchase of Iranian oil, purchase of Iranian oil by private 
U.S. companies, and continuing to subsidize the Iranian government by pro-
viding economic aid. In addition to the “almost insurmountable” problem of 
disposing of large amounts of oil, U.S. government purchase of Iranian oil 
would reward nationalization, undermine U.S. investments abroad, and se-
riously harm U.S. relations with Britain. The major U.S. oil companies with 
the capacity to handle large amounts of Iranian oil would not do so because 
it would reward nationalization without compensation. Although some U.S. 
independent oil companies were interested in buying Iranian oil at dis-
counted prices, even as a group they would not be able to buy sufficient oil to 
meet Iranian budget needs. In addition, their main market would be the 
United States, and domestic oil companies would strongly oppose large-scale 
imports. Subsidizing the Iranian government would remove a key incentive 
for it to reach an early settlement, and Congress would object to continuing 
aid without an oil settlement. After complaining about Churchill’s “Victo-
rian” attitude, President Eisenhower approved the working group’s recom-
mendation at a National Security Council meeting on 18 March.76

Faced with Dulles’s threat that further obstinacy might force the United 
States to “reconsider” its cooperation with the British in the Middle East, Eden 
told Fraser to reach a compromise with the other companies. On 20 March, 
Fraser told the U.S. companies and Shell that AIOC would agree to its con-
sortium partners paying AIOC a little over $600 million (£214.4 million) 
for their 60 percent share in the concession, provided that the British and 
Iranian governments could reach a “satisfactory” settlement on compensa-
tion from Iran. Arguing that Iran should be required to pay compensation 
for the difference between what AIOC’s enterprise in Iran was worth in 
1950 and “the value now put on it by the American companies,” they sug-
gested that £100 million ($280 million) was “eminently reasonable.” 77 Get-
ting AIOC to back down on its demands for compensation from Iran proved 
difficult, in part because the British government believed that heavy com-
pensation was necessary to deter other countries from nationalizing.78

The U.S members of the consortium and Shell refused to commit to such 
a settlement. Ambassador Henderson pointed out that that Iran would 
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accept an agreement that left the oil industry “in effect” in foreign hands 
so long as they were not also required to pay “any appreciable amount” of 
compensation to AIOC. Secretary of the Treasury Humphrey complained 
on 22 March that nationalization had been a “complete failure,” and forc-
ing Iran to pay damages was “rubbing salt in the wound.” The State Depart-
ment informed the British on 23 March that it could not accept asking Iran 
to pay AIOC £100 million in compensation. Dulles later informed Hum-
phrey he had told the British that AIOC should be satisfied with getting 
40 percent of the consortium and $600 million from its consortium part-
ners for the other 60 percent, which was a lot more than it had before the 
coup, “which was nothing,” adding “if they don’t change their tune, they 
will get nothing.” 79

As the disagreement dragged on, doubts grew among the British over 
the wisdom of driving a hard bargain. Ambassador Roger Makins warned the 
Foreign Office that “the hand having been played the way it has been we are 
in a fix” and pointed out that if the U.S. companies and the U.S. government 
pulled out of the negotiations, AIOC would get nothing. Eden reluctantly 
agreed that compensation would be set somewhere between £100 million as 
a maximum and the value of facilities to be turned over to Iran as a mini-
mum. Asked what would happen if AIOC refused to accept such a settle-
ment, a British official told Hoover on 25 March that “[Fraser] will have had 
his fun and will be through.” Hoover felt that the British proposal was the 
best solution under the circumstances, and the State Department agreed to 
support it. The Foreign Office informed the State Department on 25 March 
that the British government would handle the compensation negotiations, 
which would be separate from the negotiations on the consortium.80

Inter-company talks concluded on 9 April with the signing of a memo-
randum of understanding that provided for the formation of a consortium 
with AIOC holding 40 percent of the shares, Shell 14 percent, 8 percent each 
for the five U.S. companies (making the share held by U.S. companies equal 
to that of AIOC), and 6 percent for CFP. Shell’s 14 percent share assuaged 
Britain’s concern that British interests hold an overall majority in the con-
sortium while allaying Iranian concerns that Britain would control it di-
rectly through AIOC. To avoid congressional criticism, the U.S. companies 
would be permitted to transfer a portion of their shares in the consortium 
to other established U.S. oil companies if the British and Iranian govern-
ments did not object. The other companies would pay AIOC £32.4 million 
(around $90.7 million) in the first year and an overriding royalty of $0.10 a 
barrel for the oil they received from the consortium until they had paid an 
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additional £182 million ($509.6 million), which put the total price for their 
60 percent share in the consortium at £214.4 million ($600.3 million).81 As 
Daniel Yergin points out, Fraser’s tenacity paid off. AIOC “came out surpris-
ingly well” from the nationalization crisis. “It was the best deal Willie Fra-
ser ever made,” a high Shell official later noted. “After all, Anglo-Iranian 
actually had nothing to sell. It had already been nationalized.” 82

Negotiations with Iran

The next stage of negotiations took place in Iran. In one set of talks, con-
sortium and Iranian government representatives sought to define the na-
ture and degree of control the consortium would exercise over Iran’s oil 
industry. At the same time, the new British ambassador to Iran, Sir Roger 
Stevens, negotiated compensation with the Iranian government and British 
Treasury representatives worked out currency arrangements between Iran 
and the United Kingdom. Running negotiations for Iran was Minister of Fi-
nance ‘Ali Amini, a well-respected aristocrat with ties to the National Front 
(he had served in Mosaddeq’s first cabinet) and a knowledge of the oil 
industry.83

How the consortium would be managed emerged as one of the most 
important points of conflict. Company representatives insisted that the 
consortium have “full control” of production and refining operations as 
principals, not as agents. The companies wanted the consortium to have 

The Iranian oil consortium

Company Share Nationality

British Petroleum (AIOC) 40 UK
Royal Dutch/Shell 14 UK-Dutch
Standard Oil Company (New Jersey) 7 U.S.
Standard Oil Company of California 7 —
Socony-Vacuum Oil Company 7 —
Gulf Oil Corporation 7 —
The Texas Company 7 —
Iricon* 5 —
Compagnie française de pétroles 6 French

* A group of nine American independents that joined the consortium in 1955: Richfield Oil 
Corporation, American Independent Oil Company, Standard of Ohio, Getty Oil Company, 
Signal Oil and Gas Company, Atlantic Refining, Hancock Oil Company, Tidewater Oil 
Company, and San Jacinto Petroleum Company.

Source: Painter, Oil and the American Century, 196.
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lease rights to extract oil, with title to the oil passing to the consortium when 
it left the ground, as under the AIOC and other concessions. Amini insisted 
that the companies operate as agents of Iran. The companies feared that 
agreeing to an agency-type agreement would be an “open invitation to na-
tionalization,” because other countries would demand similar treatment. 
Having a property right to extract oil was also important to the U.S. com-
panies so they could claim U.S. tax credits for taxes they paid to Iran on 
their profits.84

The nationality of the two operating companies, one for production and 
the other for refining, the nationality of the top management of the coop-
erating companies, and the location of consortium headquarters also proved 
to be contentious issues. Supported by the British government, AIOC de-
manded that the companies be registered in Britain and led and staffed 
mainly by former AIOC employees. AIOC also wanted consortium headquar-
ters to be in AIOC headquarters at Britannic House in London. The British 
insisted on these points not only for reasons of prestige, but also because 
they involved management control of the consortium. British-registered 
companies would be subject to British financial and tax regulations. The 
taxes the companies would pay would be a boost to the British budget, and 
their financial activities and procurement of goods would be easier to 
control. U.S. registration was out of the question for currency reasons as 
well as prestige.85

Discussions with Iranian officials revealed the depth of opposition to the 
consortium’s proposals. Minister of Court ‘Ala, who was generally pro-
Western, complained to Ambassador Henderson on 22 April that AIOC was 
trying to get back its old position in Iran “behind the mask of the consor-
tium.” ‘Ala feared that AIOC, with the support of “British-controlled Shell” 
and “British dominated” CFP, would control the consortium and warned 
that “every patriotic Iranian” would oppose the consortium’s proposals. If 
the consortium refused to reach a satisfactory deal, Iran would sell or 
barter its oil to other purchasers. The shah and the Iranian negotiators 
pointed out that any agreement had to conform to the Nine-Point National-
ization Law, the essence of which was that Iran should control its oil indus-
try. What the consortium partners proposed was unacceptable, and the 
shah warned on 26 April that unless the companies changed their proposal 
there would be no agreement.86

The Iranians also insisted that it would be impossible to accept British 
nationality for the operating companies. The shah complained that this 
proposal was “particularly preposterous” and illustrated the consortium’s 
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ignorance or callousness regarding Iranian views. Ambassador Hender-
son pointed out that since the consortium insisted that it had to have man-
agement control, the agreement had to provide “some facade” that would 
make it possible for the Iranian government to claim that it did not violate 
the nationalization law. Location of company headquarters outside Iran 
would create the appearance that Iran’s oil industry would be run “by re-
mote control” from a foreign country.87 Amini indicated that Iran might 
accept the operating companies being based in a neutral location such as 
the Netherlands. Although the other consortium partners had initially 
agreed to support AIOC on the nationality issue in return for receiving 
certain sterling operating privileges from the British Treasury, they and 
U.S. officials were concerned that incorporating the operating companies 
in Britain, staffing them with former AIOC employees, and locating the 
consortium headquarters in London would be so objectionable to Iran that 
even if the shah accepted such terms, they would undermine the Iranian 
government and would not be viable in the long run.88

Faced with Iranian opposition, the British agreed that the two operating 
companies could be incorporated in Iran, but still wanted the holding com
pany to be incorporated in Britain to provide consortium members with pro-
tection in case of a dispute with the Iranian government. Ignoring that 
they had proposed that the operating companies be incorporated in Brit-
ain, the British now argued that Dutch incorporation of operating compa-
nies was “absolutely unacceptable,” since it would be inappropriate for the 
operating companies to be incorporated in one of the consortium’s mem-
ber states. The British also opposed incorporation in a neutral country, ar-
guing it would not provide sufficient diplomatic protection in case of a 
dispute with Iran. The U.S. companies, however, opposed Iranian registration 
of the operating companies, though they believed that their headquarters 
should be in Iran.89

The British government, which had taken over the compensation nego-
tiations from AIOC, conceded that Iran would not have to compensate AIOC 
for the loss of future profits, but insisted that Iran pay compensation for 
losses incurred by AIOC as a result of being deprived of access to Iranian 
oil. The British estimated that after Iranian counterclaims were considered, 
Iran should pay AIOC around £100 million ($280 million), a figure that 
included the Naft-e-Shah oil field, the Kermanshah refinery, and inter-
nal distribution facilities, including oil in storage for domestic use, which 
would be turned over to Iran. The Iranians countered that loss of access 
to Iranian oil was the company’s fault, pointing out that they had offered 
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to continue to deliver oil to AIOC after nationalization, but AIOC had re-
fused due to Iran’s demand that AIOC sign receipts recognizing national-
ization. The Iranians also argued that their counterclaims for damages 
resulting from the AIOC-led boycott of Iranian exports and other actions 
were as great, if not greater than the losses suffered by AIOC.90 The consor-
tium partners agreed with the British government that all payments for oil, 
including taxes, refining fees, and local expenditures should be in pounds 
sterling. The Iranians reluctantly agreed that the consortium conduct its 
business in sterling but insisted that Britain agree to convert sterling freely 
into other currencies as needed by Iran to purchase items from non-sterling 
countries.91

Convinced that the shah’s support would be needed for an agreement 
to be approved, Henderson and Hoover warned in mid-May that anything 
other than an agency agreement would bear too close a resemblance to 
the former AIOC concession to be acceptable to the Iranian public. “Effective 
management by private industry” was of “infinitely greater importance” 
than the legal and tax concerns the companies had about an agency agree-
ment. The Iranians were willing to give the consortium the same degree of 
management control under an agency agreement as would be inherent in 
a concession, and the Treasury Department could work out ways for U.S. 
companies to receive the same tax advantages they would receive under a 
concession. Failure to reach a settlement would lead to political and eco-
nomic chaos in Iran. Even if loss of Iran to the Soviets could be avoided, Ira
nian efforts to sell as much oil as possible on almost any terms would have a 
very serious effect on world oil markets. The Iranians had already made 
commitments to sell as much as 3 million tons a year to various countries. 
The State Department agreed that the “very great political, strategic and 
economic consequences” that might result from failure outweighed possible 
legal precedents stemming from an agency agreement.92

The heads of the major U.S. oil companies met with officials from the 
Treasury, State, and Defense Departments on 21 May and agreed that they 
could accept an agency-type contract provided that it met certain “minimum 
indispensable” conditions, including full and effective management control; 
fifty-fifty profit sharing, with taxes constituting the main portion of the 
money paid to Iran; duration approximately the same as the former AIOC 
concession; monopoly of production and distribution of oil produced in the 
contract area, though Iran could sell the small amount of “royalty oil” it 
received; and Majlis approval of the essential parts of the agreement. The 
companies expected the U.S. government to “exert maximum pressure” 
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on Iran to accept these requirements and to put pressure on the British on 
the questions of the nationality of the operating companies and their 
management.93

The threat of the Iranian government making deals with independent oil 
companies to handle Iranian oil exports increased pressure to reach a set-
tlement. The companies likely to make such deals lacked markets in the 
Eastern Hemisphere and would either need to cut prices to sell their oil or 
try to sell it in the United States. More Iranian oil in Eastern Hemisphere 
markets would also force Venezuelan oil into the U.S. and other Western 
Hemisphere markets.94 Oil imports were a contentious issue in American 
politics because even small quantities could upset the system that supported 
U.S. oil prices. Net U.S. imports rose from 116.2 million barrels (2.4 percent 
of demand) in 1948 to 230.9 million barrels in 1953 (8.17 percent of demand). 
The rise in imports led the Texas Railroad Commission (the agency manag-
ing oil output in Texas) to cut the level of production allowed in Texas oil 
fields from 100 percent to 65 percent between 1948 and 1953.95 Further cuts 
or policies supporting greater imports would trigger a political response in 
the United States.

Hoover and other U.S. officials also feared that these deals in the aggre-
gate could provide Iran with an alternative to reaching an agreement with 
the major oil companies. In addition to putting pressure on the existing price 
system, the deals could strengthen Iran’s negotiating position. Confident 
that Iranians would not be able to run their oil industry efficiently, the Brit-
ish had previously played down the impact of letting Iran try to produce 
and market oil on its own. By the spring of 1954, the British also began to be 
concerned that Iran might be able to export sufficient oil on its own to 
make nationalization a qualified success and a settlement with AIOC un-
necessary. Successful nationalization would threaten British investment 
throughout the Middle East, and indeed worldwide, an unwelcome devel-
opment for a nation dependent on foreign investment income.96

The extent of British Treasury control over conversion of sterling into dol-
lars also caused problems. Although the Treasury had offered to convert 
40 percent of consortium earnings into dollars for the use of the Iranian 
government, it wanted Iran to agree to use the dollars provided only to pur-
chase goods and service that were not available in the sterling area to 
limit the dollar drain caused by loss of monopoly control of Iranian oil and 
to avoid problems with Kuwait and Iraq, which also operated in sterling. 
The British insisted that they could not justify giving Iran more favorable 
treatment than other sterling area oil producers, “particularly in light of 
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past Iranian actions.” The U.S. companies, strongly supported by Secre-
tary of the Treasury Humphrey, argued that any discrimination against 
the dollar was unnecessary and unfair to U.S. companies. The disagree-
ment led to a series of heated exchanges between Humphrey and the Brit-
ish ambassador, but there was little the United States could do to pressure 
the British, because the bulk of Iranian oil would have to be sold in sterling 
markets. Sending it to the United States would disrupt the U.S. oil market 
and lead to congressional action to limit oil imports. Since Iranian oil would 
have to be sold in the sterling area, the British Treasury would have a de-
gree of control over convertibility. Having lost the battle over nationality 
of the operating companies, the British refused to change their policy on 
sterling convertibility, though they assured Humphrey that there was no 
way they could force Iran to abide by an agreement limiting its dollar ex-
penditures and that they had no intention of doing so.97

The final issue to be resolved was Iran’s compensation payment to AIOC. 
The British ambassador apparently told Amini on 28 June that Iran had to 
pay substantial compensation regardless of the merits of Iranian counter-
claims, and on 4 July the British presented Iran with calculations claiming 
to show that AIOC had suffered £263.5 million in damages and losses due to 
nationalization. The compensation issue was a dangerous problem for the 
Iranian government, and Ambassador Henderson warned that anything 
more than £15 million would “provoke serious consequences.” 98

Final Agreement

After weeks of arduous negotiations, consortium representatives and the 
Iranian government signed an agreement in principle on 5 August outlin-
ing the arrangements between Iran and the consortium.99 According to the 
terms of the agreement, NIOC retained title to Iran’s oil industry. In return 
for Iranian assurances that the consortium would have the same degree of 
management control as it would under a concession arrangement, the com-
panies agreed that the consortium would act as an agent of NIOC, thus 
rendering Iranian control largely symbolic. Two operating companies, one 
for exploration and production and another to handle refining, operated the 
industry. Similarly, though legally exercising their powers on behalf of 
NIOC, the operating companies were given “full and effective” management 
control of all operations, and their rights and powers could not be modified 
during the twenty-five-year term of the agreement. The operating companies 
would be incorporated in the Netherlands, with top management drawn 
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largely from Shell. Their headquarters would be in Iran, and most of their 
staff would reside there. The operating companies would be owned by a 
holding company incorporated in Britain and headquartered there, though 
Iran had the right to name two of each company’s directors. In a symbolic 
slap at Iran, a member of AIOC’s board of directors, H. E. Snow, was named 
head of the holding company. A service company in charge of supplying op-
erations in Iran would also be incorporated and located in Britain.100

Pricing provisions were complicated, but in effect allowed the operating 
companies to set prices based on prevailing posted prices in the region. The 
complicated tax provisions were similarly designed to result in fifty-fifty 
profit sharing, and royalties and taxes were adjusted so that U.S. compa-
nies could count their payments to Iran as tax credits against their U.S. in-
come taxes, as Aramco did in Saudi Arabia. The agreement placed the 
vitally important matter of the production level in the hands of the consor-
tium partners, though they promised to increase offtake from Iran in ac-
cordance with supply and demand for Middle East oil and increased target 
production levels slightly. According to estimates by U.S. intelligence agen-
cies, these volumes should bring in revenues of around $60 million in the 
first year, $150 million in the second year, and $175 million in the third year. 
Beginning in 1957, production levels would be determined by a complicated 
formula that ensured that the growth in Iranian production would not come 
at the expense of their other holdings in the Middle East. The agreement 
covered around 100,000 square miles and would remain in force for twenty-
five years with provisions for three five-year extensions. After the initial 
twenty-five years, the consortium would have to give up 20 percent of its 
total area with each five-year extension.101

With support from the U.S. government, Iranian and British Treasury rep-
resentatives reached a compromise agreement on the currency issue. The 
final agreement provided that the consortium would operate in sterling, but 
the British Treasury promised to convert up to 40 percent of total sterling 
receipts (the percentage U.S. companies held in the consortium) to dollars 
without limits. After the 40 percent limit had been reached, the British gov-
ernment would consider Iranian requests to convert additional amounts 
into dollars and other currencies on a case-by-case basis.102

Under strong pressure from the United States, the British government 
agreed to limit compensation from Iran to AIOC to £25 million ($70 million); 
£10 million for the properties Iran retained, the Naft-e Shah oil field located 
north of the main fields in Khuzestan, a small oil refinery at Kermanshah 
that served the field, and internal distribution facilities; and £15 million for 
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the losses and damages suffered by AIOC from 1951 to 1954. Iran would 
pay the interest-free amount in ten equal annual installments beginning on 
1 January 1957, in the form of free oil to AIOC. In a bit of creative accounting, 
the British were able to include in the final compensation total an additional 
£50 million ($140 million) that Iran had demanded under the never-ratified 
1949 Supplemental Agreement, a debt the British government had previously 
termed “fictitious” and never paid. In addition to making total compensation 
seem closer to the British goal of £100 million, this provision lowered AIOC’s 
British tax liability by approximately £25 million.103

Ambassador Henderson reported on 15 August that prospects for Majlis 
approval of the oil settlement appeared good. The shah supported approval 
and government-controlled newspapers branded opposition to the agree-
ment as communist inspired.104 Under pressure from the State Department 
and the CIA, the shah agreed to allow Zahedi to remain in office until the 
agreement had been ratified.105 The uncovering of a Tudeh network in 
the army in August and the subsequent arrest of hundreds of suspected 
Tudeh members dealt the party a sharp setback and gave the government a 
needed boost. The Tudeh “ring” in the army was confined to espionage, 
which suggested that the party had decided to limit its efforts to develop-
ing assets rather than attempting to seize control of the military.106 Despite 
these positive developments, the CIA warned that the shah’s long-term pros-
pects were threatened by the persistent low standard of living among ordi-
nary Iranians, pervasive corruption, government repression, and “nationalist 
resentment of foreign influence” over government affairs.107

The consortium agreement undermined the Justice Department’s anti-
trust suit against the major companies. Informed by Hoover of the com-
pletion of the oil agreement, Attorney General Brownell wrote President 
Eisenhower that he had reviewed the agreement and concluded that in 
light of the determination by the National Security Council that the secu-
rity interests of the United States required that U.S. oil companies partici-
pate in the consortium, it did not constitute a violation of the antitrust 
laws.108 This decision changed the focus of the antitrust suit from produc-
tion control to price-fixing and marketing agreements. Both had become 
superfluous to the companies’ management of markets, because once the 
vertically integrated majors were in control of almost all large foreign oil 
reserves, production, refining, and transportation, they could effectively 
control markets and set prices without fixing them directly. Not enough 
“free” oil was available to challenge their control.109
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Recognizing that it was essential that any oil agreement have the “un-
equivocal support” of the shah, the United States, on Hoover’s recommen-
dation, had withheld the additional military assistance desired by the shah 
until he gave his support.110 In September, General Robert A. McClure, chief 
of the U.S. military mission to the Iranian army and chief of the U.S. Mili-
tary Assistance Advisory Group, recommended that financial support for 
Iran’s military be increased from $30 million per year to $360 million spread 
over three years. Ambassador Henderson supported the proposal. During a 
12 October meeting, State Department officials argued that the imminent 
conclusion of an oil agreement offered the United States an opportunity “for 
advancing our objective of sewing Iran up firmly with the West,” which 
could be accomplished through an expanded program of military and eco-
nomic aid. The following day the department confirmed an aid package for 
Iran of $120 million.111

The final draft of the oil agreement was completed on 17 September, and 
Minister of Finance Amini presented the agreement to the Majlis on 21 Sep-
tember.112 Unsurprisingly, the carefully chosen members of the Majlis and 
the Senate approved the agreement: the Majlis vote on 21 October was 113 in 
favor, five opposed, with one abstention, and the Senate vote a week later 
was forty-one votes in favor, four opposed, and three abstentions. The shah, 
who had lobbied hard for an increase in military assistance, signed the bill 
on 29 October. The next day tankers, already dispatched to Abadan in an-
ticipation of the agreement’s approval, began loading Iranian oil for export, 
with an AIOC tanker at the head of the line.113

Conclusion

A National Intelligence Estimate in early December 1954 concluded Iran 
would remain a “basically unstable country” for quite some time. The shah 
had emerged as the most powerful force in political affairs through his con-
trol of the armed forces, which swore loyalty to him personally rather than 
to the nation. Despite the resumption of oil exports, which together with 
U.S. interim aid promised to provide Iran with substantial income, the shah 
and his allies had failed to achieve widespread popular support and were 
staying in power through the extensive use of authoritarian means such as 
martial law, strict press censorship, and use of the security forces to con-
trol demonstrations and suppress and imprison opponents of the regime. 
The shah and traditional conservative ruling groups would probably be able 
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to retain control for the next few years through authoritarian means, but 
they would remain vulnerable unless they made progress addressing Iran’s 
problems. Although the armed forces were a “fairly reliable instrument” for 
dealing with disorder, they were not immune from the grievances that mo-
bilized civilians, and a sharp decline in popular acceptance of the ruling 
group could undermine their reliability.114

In February 1953, oil consultant Max W. Thornburg advised his friend 
Allen W. Dulles, who had just been named head of the CIA, that the ques-
tion in Iran was not how to make an oil agreement that would bolster the 
government in Iran, but rather how to bolster a government in Iran that 
would reach a satisfactory oil agreement.115 Although his remarks were 
aimed at convincing Dulles that the United States should oust Mosaddeq and 
back the shah, they also offer an insight into U.S. policy toward Iran after 
the coup. The oil settlement reintegrated Iranian oil into world markets 
and provided Iran with substantial and growing oil revenues. It also re-
versed nationalization and strengthened, at least temporarily, control of 
the world oil economy by the major international companies. These “suc-
cesses” came at the cost of the Iranian people, as the settlement entrenched 
and strengthened authoritarian rule under an increasingly autocratic shah, 
dependent on support from the United States.
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The Iranian crisis of 1951–54 was a pivotal chapter in the history of the post–
World War II world. The crisis, which began with the nationalization of the 
Iranian oil industry in the spring of 1951 and ended with the reversal of na-
tionalization following the overthrow of nationalist Prime Minister Mo-
hammed Mosaddeq in August 1953, was also a crucial turning point in the 
global Cold War. The United States feared losing Iran and possibly the en-
tire Middle East and its oil to the Soviets, and the U.S. role in the ouster of 
Mosaddeq, a constitutional nationalist opposed to communism and West-
ern imperialism, became a model for future interventions in Latin Amer
ica, the Middle East, and Asia.

The outcome of the crisis, which returned Iran’s oil to foreign control, 
confirmed the dominance of Western corporations over the resources of the 
Global South for the next twenty years. The crisis also marked a milestone 
in the process by which the United States replaced Great Britain as the guar-
antor of Western interests in the Middle East, though it did not fully take 
over that role until the 1970s. Although the Anglo-Iranian dispute demon-
strated in vivid detail the weakness of Britain as a great power, the British 
nonetheless drew the lesson that they could rely on U.S. acquiescence and 
assistance in removing rulers in countries traditionally under their influ-
ence. These conclusions put Britain on the slippery slope to the Suez deba-
cle of 1956. Finally, the crisis was a major turning point in the history of 
modern Iran, a moment when liberal democracy and constitutional govern-
ment overcame the authoritarian impulses of Iran’s monarchy, only to be 
dashed by foreign intervention. After the coup, U.S. assistance helped en-
trench monarchical power, altering the course of Iranian development and 
entrenching an autocratic regime that would endure until it collapsed amid 
the Islamic Revolution of 1978–79.

Given its importance, it is not surprising that the history of the crisis re-
mains contested. The ongoing debate is partly the result of the uneven and 
delayed declassification of vital U.S. records, the British ban on releasing 
material dealing with intelligence operations, and the relative dearth of ar-
chival material on Iranian and Soviet policies and actions. It is also due to 
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the efforts of the U.S. and British governments, the shah and his support-
ers, and the major oil companies to erect self-serving narratives surround-
ing the events of 1951–54.

In the West, cold warriors depicted the August 1953 coup as a victory over 
communism. The U.S. and British governments and the oil companies laid 
the groundwork for this interpretation during the crisis by feeding stories 
to the Iranian and Western press depicting Mosaddeq as an incompetent ty-
rant who was either wittingly or unwittingly paving the way for a commu-
nist takeover of Iran. After the coup, U.S. and British newspapers held this 
line, and former U.S. and British officials often argued in interviews and 
memoirs that the threat of a communist Iran precipitated and justified Mo-
saddeq’s overthrow.1

No one worked harder to disseminate this narrative than Loy W. Hen-
derson, a storied U.S. Foreign Service officer who served as ambassador to 
Iran from late September 1951 to the end of December 1954. In interviews 
and letters over the subsequent decades, Henderson argued that although 
Mosaddeq was not a communist, his refusal to settle the oil dispute was cre-
ating conditions that sooner or later would have led to the loss of Iran to 
communism, and that his ouster was therefore necessary.2

Henderson was generally careful to deny U.S. involvement in the coup 
and characterize the events of August 1953 as a spontaneous anti-communist 
uprising. In an interview in 1973, Henderson tried to prove his point by 
arguing that “no matter how skilled the CIA might be, it could not have 
engineered the overthrow of Mossadegh if the people of Iran had not 
overwhelmingly been in favor of the return of the Shah.” 3 Writing to Bruce 
Riedel in 1975, Henderson claimed that the Tudeh had “controlled the 
streets” in the three days before the 19 August coup attempt, and the “over-
whelming majority” of Iranians “spontaneously” joined demonstrations 
calling for the shah to return.4 Henderson maintained in separate correspon-
dence that it was “impossible” for Iran to “survive as a democracy” when it 
lay so close to the Soviet Union, and contended that scholars who claimed 
the United States played a role in Mosaddeq’s ouster “[had] no sympathy 
for the Shah’s way of trying to modernize his backward country.” 5

This interpretation became so dominant that U.S. officials often expressed 
it in private until publication of Kermit Roosevelt’s 1979 memoir Counter-
coup exposed the falsity of such claims.6 Internal histories of the opera-
tion by the CIA similarly argued that the coup was necessary to prevent 
Iran’s “collapse” into communism.7 No serving American official publicly 
acknowledged U.S. involvement in Mosaddeq’s ouster until Secretary of 
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State Madeleine Albright admitted in a speech in 2000 that “the United 
States played a significant role in orchestrating the overthrow of Iran’s popu
lar prime minister.” Even though she conceded that the coup was “clearly a 
setback for Iran’s political development,” she maintained that the Eisenhower 
administration “believed its actions were justified for strategic reasons.” 8

In addition to not calling into question the morality of U.S. actions or un-
dermining the legitimacy of the shah, the United States had larger reasons 
for concealing its role in the crisis. The success of the coup suggested co-
vert action could be deployed as a cheap and effective tool of Cold War state-
craft. President Dwight D. Eisenhower noted in his diary on 8 October 1953 
that if the facts of the U.S. involvement became public, “our chances of doing 
anything of like nature in the future would almost certainly disappear.” 9 
The United States subsequently deployed the covert tactics used in Iran in 
a host of operations throughout the Global South.10

Beyond the coup, American interference in internal Iranian affairs dur-
ing the nationalization crisis period was kept secret, with CIA actions and 
Ambassador Henderson’s activities hidden from view through the withhold-
ing of sensitive material or careful editing of declassified documents. The 
extent of such censorship became evident with the publication in 2017 of a 
retrospective Foreign Relations volume on the crisis that contained hundreds 
of previously censored documents.11

Mohammed Reza Pahlavi claimed that the coup was a “national upris-
ing” that proved his popularity among the Iranian people and had the an-
niversary of the coup celebrated each year. The shah refrained from having 
Mosaddeq executed, for fear of making him a martyr. Instead, the former 
prime minister was sentenced to a three-year prison term followed by in-
ternal exile to his family estate in Ahmadabad, 100 kilometers from Teh-
ran.12 He died there in 1967, “a living legend, and the most popular unperson 
in the country,” according to historian Homa Katouzian.13

Interpretations of the settlement after the coup also reflected the differ
ent needs of the parties who had agreed to the consortium deal in 1954. 
For the oil companies and the U.S. and British governments, the success of 
the boycott and the reversal of nationalization confirmed the dominance 
of the major international oil companies and served as a warning to coun-
tries seeking control of their resources. “Oil without a market, as Mr. Mos-
sadeq learned many, many years ago, does not do a country much good,” 
U.S. President Richard M. Nixon told reporters, somewhat ironically in ret-
rospect, in September 1973 on the eve of the 1973–74 oil shock.14 Although 
the companies’ defeat of nationalization set back the cause of national 



206 History and Contested Memories

sovereignty over natural resources for years, Mosaddeq’s example inspired 
a generation of resource nationalists in the Global South.15

Iranians opposed to the shah’s rule viewed the failure of nationalization 
and reform as emblematic of Iran’s subjugation to foreign powers, symp-
toms of the country’s “Westoxification” under the Pahlavi regime.16 Toppling 
the shah from power in 1979, the new Islamic Republic of Iran denounced the 
United States as the “Great Satan” and decried its intervention in Iranian 
affairs. While the 1953 coup still warrants a mention at state events and in 
speeches and editorials written by regime officials, Iran’s post-1979 leader-
ship do not fully embrace Mosaddeq, a secular nationalist, and choose in-
stead to de-emphasize his role in the nationalization in favor of his clerical 
allies.17

Recovering the History of the Crisis

Myths and misperceptions, many originally propagated to justify opposi-
tion to nationalization and legitimize the coup, have long distorted under-
standing of the crisis. Some of the most common include the argument that 
U.S. policy throughout the crisis was driven by security concerns and had 
little or nothing to do with protecting the interests of U.S. and British oil 
companies; that the United States acted as an “honest broker” between Iran 
and Great Britain during negotiations to resolve the nationalization dispute; 
that Mosaddeq had a poor grasp of the international oil industry and his 
approach to oil issues was “irrational”; that Mosaddeq’s intransigence was 
the main reason why negotiations failed; that Mosaddeq’s policies were lead-
ing to communism; and that the coup was carried out mainly by Iranian 
“patriots” acting independently rather than supported and directed by 
Anglo-American agents.

No one who has been through U.S. records for this period would deny 
that national security concerns played a very important role in U.S. policy. 
That said, the historical record does not support the notion that the United 
States was more concerned about containing communism than combating 
nationalization, a myth propagated by the British at the time and accepted 
by many scholars since. This view is also conceptually flawed because it fails 
to understand the broad definition of national security held by American 
leaders. Ideas about national security are not given, but rather are shaped by 
the structures of power and influence in the society they are meant to de-
fend. As Melvyn P. Leffler points out, the U.S. conception of national secu-
rity has included preservation of such “core values” as “private property, 
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free enterprise, open markets and the rule of law as well as the safety of 
American lives, national sovereignty and territorial integrity.” 18

After considering a larger role for the government in international oil 
matters during World War II, in the postwar period the United States re-
verted to its traditional policy of relying on private oil companies to secure 
and maintain U.S. access to foreign oil supplies and markets.19 Reliance on 
private corporations as vehicles for the national interest fundamentally 
shaped the way the United States approached the Iranian crisis. A report to 
the National Security Council by the secretaries of state, defense, and the 
interior in January 1953 argued that the major international oil companies 
“provided the ingenuity, capital, and technology” that had developed the 
oil resources of Venezuela and the Middle East, and that “they alone” were 
capable of maintaining and expanding production from those areas to meet 
the rising demand for oil. If the companies’ assets were nationalized, “the 
oil from those areas would to a serious extent be lost to the free world.” 20

Relations between the government and the oil industry were even closer 
in Great Britain, where the interests of the government and the Anglo-
Iranian Oil Company were often the same. Anti-communism and opposition 
to nationalization were directly connected, not mutually exclusive. When 
Mosaddeq nationalized Iran’s oil industry in 1951, the U.S. and British gov-
ernments and major oil companies regarded it as a threat against West-
ern control of oil resources in the Global South. U.S. officials believed that 
losing Iran to communism would result in losing control of its oil. They also 
feared that successful nationalization would threaten Western control of 
raw materials, including oil, in the Global South, and limit Western access 
to these vital resources. The British shared these concerns and were also 
acutely aware of the economic consequences of Iran’s action. As Steve 
Marsh and Steven Galpern have shown, British leaders believed that con-
trol of Iran’s oil was crucial to Britain’s aspirations to remain a great power.21

Control of oil was a significant source of U.S. power and influence, and 
U.S. oil policy was integrally linked to Cold War strategic calculations. Con-
trol of oil helped the United States contain the Soviet Union; end destruc-
tive political, economic, and military competition among the core capitalist 
states; mitigate class conflict within the capitalist core by promoting eco-
nomic growth; and retain access to the raw materials, markets, and labor 
of the periphery in an era of decolonization and national liberation. Main-
taining access to oil became a key priority of U.S. foreign policy and led to 
U.S. involvement in the oil-producing areas of the Global South, often in 
ways that distorted development in those areas.22
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An independent non-communist Iran was of critical importance to the 
United States because of its strategic position and oil resources. Iran played 
a key role in the forward defense of the eastern Mediterranean and Persian 
Gulf area by blocking Soviet access to the Persian Gulf oil fields, which were 
of increasing importance to Western Europe and Japan. An oil settlement 
that would maintain Western control and access but also allow Iran to re-
ceive sufficient revenues from its oil resources to consolidate a pro-Western 
government was an essential step in keeping Iran in the free world and 
strengthening the U.S. position in Europe, the Middle East, and South Asia.23 
The stakes were high and, according to influential oil consultant Walter J. 
Levy, the crisis in Iran raised the question “whether in a situation where a 
vital national power position of the United States is at stake, it can afford to 
apply fully the normal and traditional laws of sovereign self-determination 
to the control of underdeveloped countries over the oil in their soil.” 24

The historical record also makes it clear that characterizing U.S. policy 
during the crisis as that of an “honest broker” is inaccurate. The oil nation-
alization dispute was a complex affair, but at its heart was the issue of who 
would control Iranian oil and the wealth produced by the sale of that oil on 
the global market.25 For most Iranians, nationalization meant sovereign con-
trol of the oil industry. Though American and British officials frequently 
complained that Mosaddeq’s stance shifted or changed during discussions, 
Mosaddeq held firm to his belief that Iran should manage the production 
and refining of its oil, that it should play a role in how that oil was sold, and 
that it should not be burdened by an onerous compensation obligation to 
AIOC. The U.S. and British governments as well as AIOC and the other in-
ternational oil companies refused to accept any settlement of the dispute 
that would allow Iran to control its oil industry. Yet critics of Mosaddeq still 
claim that negotiations failed due to his stubbornness and irrational attach-
ment to unrealistic expectations.

Between April 1951 and March 1953, the United States promoted mul-
tiple attempts to bring Britain and Iran to an agreement that recognized 
nationalization but left control in the hands of the oil companies. No agree-
ment was possible because the British refused to relinquish even the sem-
blance of control and demanded punishingly high compensation for the 
loss of their “enterprise” in Iran. Convinced of the correctness of their posi-
tion, the British used talks as a stalling tactic to buy time for the economic 
impact of their boycott of Iranian exports and covert actions inside Iran to 
remove Mosaddeq from power. The British also repeatedly sabotaged dis-
cussions whenever they believed they might lead to a settlement that would 
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threaten their interests. Despite pressure from the United States to take 
Iranian concerns into account, the British consistently maintained their 
position throughout the crisis.

Although the United States was somewhat more flexible over how to re-
spond to Iranian nationalism, U.S. policymakers eventually concluded that 
Mosaddeq would never agree to a settlement that left control of Iran’s oil in 
the hands of the major international oil companies, which was the only kind 
of settlement the United States would support. U.S. officials feared that fail-
ure to find a settlement to the oil dispute, which they mainly blamed on 
Mosaddeq, would lead to economic and political chaos and undermine the 
position of the shah, whom the United States had long seen as the key guar-
antor of Western interests in Iran. U.S. officials also worried that the Brit-
ish boycott of Iranian oil exports was breaking down and Iran would soon 
be able to sell enough oil to independent and state-supported oil companies 
to make nationalization a qualified success—a prospect that could threaten 
Western investment throughout the region and the world. Independent oil 
sales also threatened the postwar petroleum order established by the ma-
jor Anglo-American oil companies by undermining their control of reserves 
and production outside the United States and the Soviet Union. After the 
coup, the U.S. government took the lead in setting up an international con-
sortium to run the Iranian oil industry and reintegrate Iranian oil into the 
global oil market. Although the United States prevented the British from 
forcing Iran to pay extravagant compensation, the settlement effectively re-
versed nationalization and protected the interests of AIOC and the other 
major international oil companies.

The idea that Mosaddeq’s policies were leading to communist rule, much 
less the notion that he would surrender Iran to the communists, is not a fact, 
but a myth created in the build-up to the coup and repeated for years after 
to justify his ouster. It is true that assessments produced by the coup plan-
ners during the operation emphasized the communist threat to Iran and the 
need for immediate action. In addition, the coup’s operation plan stated 
explicitly that the replacement of Mosaddeq was necessary “as the alter-
native to certain economic collapse in Iran and the eventual loss of the area 
to the Soviet orbit.” 26 Richard Cottam, a CIA analyst in Washington during 
the coup, believed that fears of communism in Iran were “widespread” and 
“sincerely held,” even if they did not seem to be supported by intelligence.27 
Influential State Department official Henry A. Byroade admitted that evi-
dence proving Mosaddeq’s association with the Tudeh was lacking.28 Intel-
ligence estimates and reports from the U.S. embassy in Tehran consistently 
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concluded that the Tudeh was not prepared to seize power. A draft National 
Intelligence Estimate from 12 August 1953, written by analysts uninformed 
about the coup operation, concluded that “the odds still favor Mossadeq’s 
retention of power at least through the end of 1953.” These reports suggested 
that a general economic collapse from inflation or a fall in business activ-
ity was many months away, though American views of Iran’s long-term eco-
nomic outlook were generally pessimistic.29 Moreover, available evidence 
from Soviet archives indicates that the Soviet Union was preoccupied with 
events closer to home and was not interested in intervening in Iran, in part 
because Soviet officials viewed Mosaddeq’s government with suspicion.30 
Rather than proving that he was “soft” on communism, Mosaddeq’s policy 
toward the Tudeh reflected his belief in democracy and free speech, while 
the slight softening of his approach to the party in the months before Au-
gust 1953 was a tactical ploy to shore up his position against pressure from 
conservative elements marshaling behind Zahedi and the Anglo-American 
coup operation.

The drive to oust Mosaddeq meant that contrary analysis was often ig-
nored. CIA Director Allen Dulles relied on advisors like former oil execu-
tive Max W. Thornburg and General H. Norman Schwarzkopf, who had 
headed the U.S. advisory mission to Iran’s gendarmerie during World War II, 
instead of his agency’s analytical division when considering political condi-
tions within Iran.31 Tehran CIA station chief Roger Goiran had reserva-
tions regarding the wisdom of the coup operation.32 Ambassador Henderson 
also had concerns regarding the shah’s suitability as leader of Iran and 
doubted a coup would succeed, but once the decision was made he fully co-
operated with the operation. Furthermore, British and American covert 
activities inside Iran between April and August 1953 were designed to ex-
aggerate the communist threat and convince the shah and other Iranians 
that overthrowing Mosaddeq was necessary to save Iran from chaos and 
communism and to preserve the monarchy.33 In a textbook example of a 
self-fulfilling prophecy, U.S. and British actions to undermine Mosaddeq 
helped produce the conditions they were ostensibly designed to combat.

In recent years, pro-shah Iranians and others have attempted to revise 
the history of the coup. They downplay the significance and efficacy of U.S. 
and British involvement and attribute the coup’s success to Mosaddeq’s Ira
nian opposition rather than Anglo-American support and involvement.34 
The claim that the United States played a minor role in the downfall of Mo-
saddeq is difficult to maintain in the face of the evidence. American fi-
nancial and organizational support was decisive to the coup’s success on 
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19 August, though luck and the errors by the coup’s opponents in the gov-
ernment and Tudeh Party were also significant. British support for the 
coup was important. British agents, specifically the Rashidian family and 
British contacts within military and clerical circles, provided the United 
States with the tools needed to organize Mosaddeq’s downfall. In addi-
tion to coordinating and funding the coup plan, the single most important 
American contribution to the operation was securing the active participa-
tion of the shah. Without his involvement, it is unlikely the coup would 
have succeeded. As for the claim that the coup was a popular uprising, Ira
nian scholar Ali Rahnema and others have demonstrated that the coup’s 
success resulted from carefully planned and well-executed military ma-
neuvers and mercenary mobs. U.S. and British influence in the Iranian 
military was extensive, and it is probable that U.S. military advisors in 
Iran played an important role in the coup, though records regarding their 
activity are still classified, assuming they still exist.35 There is little dispute 
that American money paid for the mobs whose emergence set the stage for 
military action against Mosaddeq’s government.

The result of the coup was an authoritarian state dominated by the shah 
and the military. This outcome reflected Anglo-American preferences—the 
shah was seen to be pro-Western, anti-communist, and willing to acquiesce 
in continued foreign domination of the oil industry—yet it also reflected 
dominant prejudices regarding Iran’s ability to flourish as an independent, 
democratic, and constitutional society.36 Western leaders ultimately did not 
trust Mosaddeq or the National Front to safeguard Western interests in Iran. 
Rather than allow Iranians to determine their own destiny or control their 
own resources, the United States and Great Britain intervened to erect an 
order conducive to their interests. The ramifications of their intervention 
are still felt seventy years later, reflected in the bitterness affecting Iran’s 
relations with the West and the complicated legacy of Mohammed Mosad-
deq, Iran’s first and last nationalist prime minister dedicated to ruling ac-
cording to the 1906 constitution.

This study draws on previous scholarship, a wide range of primary 
sources, and the additional evidence that has become available in recent 
years to reexamine the origins, course, and consequences of the struggle 
for Iran between 1951 and 1954. It also draws on the methods historians use 
to make sense of the past—a stress on context, sensitivity to both continu-
ity and change, an emphasis on the interconnectedness of all aspects of the 
human experience, and close engagement with primary sources and schol-
arly studies.37 It argues that the history of the crisis is more complex than 
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existing narratives and myths suggest. The United States as well as Great 
Britain opposed nationalization because they saw it as a threat to Western 
control of the oil resources of the Global South. The coup took place not 
only because U.S. and British leaders feared Iran’s imminent loss to com-
munism, but because they desired a change in government to reverse na-
tionalization, restart the flow of Iranian oil to world markets, and forestall 
a “collapse” that would bring about internal political instability and poten-
tially the rise of a communist-controlled government. Their intervention 
halted the progress Iran had been making toward representative govern-
ment. Autocracy was the outcome.

History is not just about the past. Learning how the world got to be the 
way it is and the forces that govern its evolution is essential to understand-
ing the present and preparing to face the future. As Michael H. Hunt and 
Steven I. Levine point out: “without historical perspective we flounder in 
mid-ocean, the shore from which we came already out of sight, the land we 
seek well beyond the horizon.” 38 We now know much more about the Ira
nian crisis than we did only a few years ago. There is no guarantee that a 
more accurate understanding of this history will help us deal more effec-
tively with the present and think more creatively about the future. Cling-
ing to myths about the past, however, distorts our understanding of the 
present and hinders our ability to create a better future.
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